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2021 in  
numbers

Møller Mobility Group is a family-owned group involved in the import, sale, servicing and financing of 
Volkswagen, Audi, ŠKODA, SEAT and CUPRA vehicles. In Sweden, Møller Bil also deals in Porsche. Through 
Hyre, the Group is represented in a leading environment that is actively working to shape the sustainable 
mobility solutions of the future. The Group was founded by Harald Aars Møller in 1936. 

Møller Mobility Group in brief

Car Imports
Harald A. Møller AS is Norway’s largest car 
importer. The company is responsible for the 
import, distribution and servicing of Volks-
wagen, Volkswagen Commercial Vehicles, Audi, 
ŠKODA, SEAT and CUPRA in Norway. More than 
one in five new cars sold in Norway are imported 
through Harald A. Møller AS. Moller Baltic Import 
SE imports Volkswagen into Estonia, Latvia and 
 Lithuania and Audi into Latvia and Lithuania.

Car dealerships
Møller Mobility Group has a total of 69 car dealer-
ships in Norway, Sweden and the Baltics. Møller Bil 
Norge is Norway’s largest car dealership chain and 
has 44 dealerships and 12 specialized repair work-
shops spread across the country. Möller Bil is Swe-
den’s second largest dealership group covering 
Volkswagen, Audi, ŠKODA, SEAT and CUPRA with a 
total of 13 sales sites. In addition, Möller Bil bought 
the independent Porsche Center Örebro dealer-
ship in the autumn of 2020. The Porsche business 
will be growing further through the establishment 
by Möller Bil of Porsche Center Uppsala and Por-
sche Center Västerås, which will open in spring 
2023.  Moller Auto Baltic has 12 sales outlets in 
Estonia, Latvia and Lithuania, and a separate repair 
and paintwork company in Latvia. (Organization-
ally, the car dealerships and car importers in the 
Baltics are gathered into one single business area.)

Mobility services
Møller Mobility Services was established as 
a new business area in 2021, and includes the 
Group’s activities in financial services, mobility 
solutions and car maintenance services. Currently, 
the business area consists of the Group’s owner-
ship of the Volkswagen Møller Bil finans financing 
company, the Hyre car sharing company, the Mitt 
Dekkhotell tyre hotel chain, the LaserWash car 
wash chain, as well as smaller ownership interests 
in the Gire logistics platform and the Rebil used 
car business.

Financial Services
Volkswagen Møller Bilfinans AS is jointly owned 
by Møller Mobility Group (49 per cent) and 
Volkswagen Financial Services AG (51 per cent). 
The company offers loans, leasing products and 
insurance linked to the respective brands’ sales of 
new and used cars. Volkswagen Møller Bilfinans 
is Norway’s largest leasing company, and an inte-
gral part of the value chain of Volkswagen, Audi, 
ŠKODA, SEAT and CUPRA in Norway.

4,358
  > Employees in Norway, Sweden
 and the Baltics at 31.12.2021

36.1
>  Turnover for the year (NOK billions)

2.562
>  Profit before tax (NOK millions)

-17.2%
>  Total reduction in greenhouse  

gas emissions from 2020 to 2021

53,428
>  Cars imported 
 All brands in all markets

39,363
 >  New cars sold by Møller Bil 
 and Møller Auto

28,832
>   Used cars sold by Møller Bil
 and Møller Auto
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Our value chain

36,000
> Cars insured.

23,000
> Cars financed.

107,743
> Number of Hyre users in 2021.

53,428
> Cars imported in 2021 across all 
markets.

39,363
> New cars sold in Norway, Sweden 
and the Baltics in 2021.

8.3 million
> Cars manufactured by  
Volkswagen Group in 2021.

750,000
> Customer encounters in 2021.

The factory

The Volkswagen Group is one of 
the world’s largest automakers. With 
its vision of “Shaping mobility – for 
generations to come”, the company 
will provide answers to today’s 
and tomorrow’s challenges with its 
focused TOGETHER 2025+ corporate 
strategy. The Volkswagen Group’s 
goal is to make mobility sustainable 
for current and future generations. 
Volkswagen has also established 
a comprehensive decarbonisation 
programme with the aim of being 
fully carbon-neutral in all areas, from 
 vehicle fleet via manufacture to 
administration, no later than 2050: 
“Volkswagen Way To ZERO”. Volks-
wagen has thus committed fully to 
implementing the climate targets 
of the Paris Agreement. Møller 
Mobility Group has collaborated with 
Volkswagen AG since 1948, and the 
factory’s strategy has also inspired 
Møller Mobility Group’s strategy and 
operations.

The importers

Møller Mobility Group has two 
import companies: Harald A. 
Møller in Norway and Moller Baltic 
Import. Harald A. Møller imports the 
Volkswagen, Volkswagen Com-
mercial Vehicle, Audi, ŠKODA, SEAT 
and CUPRA brands into Norway, 
while Moller Baltic Import imports 
Audi into Latvia and Lithuania and 
Volkswagen into Latvia, Lithuania 
and Estonia. Through their market 
expertise and financial strength, 
the importers provide the dealer-
ships with the power to succeed. 
From 2018, Harald A. Møller started 
 importing and selling SEAT in 
 Norway. This is being done using a 
new sales model where sales are 
made directly from the importer 
to the end customer through a 
digital platform, and this model is 
now being further developed with 
CUPRA.

The dealerships

Møller Bil and Moller Auto are 
responsible for sales and aftersales 
service of our brands in Norway, 
Sweden, Lithuania, Latvia and 
Estonia. Our 69 dealerships aim to 
increase customer satisfaction and 
leverage the brand. NORWAY Møller 
Bil is Norway’s largest car dealer 
chain with 44 dealerships and 2,389 
employees. SWEDEN Möller Bil is 
Sweden’s second largest dealer-
ship group, covering Volkswagen, 
Audi, ŠKODA, SEAT and CUPRA with 
a total of 13 sales outlets, and also 
brought Porsche into the portfolio 
last year. Möller Bil Sverige has 
648 employees. ESTONIA Moller 
Auto has four dealerships and 175 
employees.  LATVIA Moller Auto has 
five dealerships and 206 employees. 
LITHUANIA Moller Auto has three 
dealerships and 161 employees.

New mobility

Financing
Through its competitive financing 
products, Volkswagen Møller Bilfinans 
is an important contributor to the 
dealerships’ success in Norway. 

Møller Mobility Services is a new 
business area responsible for the 
Group’s services within new mobil-
ity, financing and car maintenance 
services and currently holds shares 
in Volkswagen Møller Bilfinans, Hyre, 
Mitt Dekkhotell, LaserWash, Gire and 
Rebil.

Customers

Møller Mobility Group has more 
than 750,000 customer encoun-
ters each year. Our customers are 
our most important investment, 
meaning all Møller Mobility 
Group employees must create 
the best customer experiences 
every single day. Our core values 
translated into practice are an 
important foundation for creating 
positive experiences – for the 
customer and Møller Mobility 
Group alike. We shall always 
strive to provide our customers 
with the very best solutions, and 
it is important for us to address 
the customers’ requirements for 
future mobility.
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We have defined an ambitious strategy 
leading up 2025 that builds on the pillars 
of people, business and sustainability
”
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2021 was the year we expected everyday life to return to normal, but 
the pandemic made its mark on this year too, right up to late summer. 
Society then reopened, albeit only for a few weeks, before the omicron 
variant ensured a final round of lockdowns at the end of the year. 

Our vision “Dare To Move”  
to become our new mindset 

In the Baltics, infection control measures were 
even stricter than in the Nordic countries for much 
of 2021. 2022 began with the end of the pandemic, 
which was unfortunately quickly replaced by a 
new crisis with Russia’s invasion of Ukraine.

SOLID VALUE CREATION IN 2021
Despite the pandemic, in 2021 business thrived as 
never before. Car models that are well-received 
by the market, in combination with low interest 
rates, travel restrictions and the political will to 
invest in electrification have resulted in record 
turnover of some NOK 2.5 billion, an improvement 
of a full 54 per cent. 

RECORD SHARE OF ELECTRIC CARS
In passenger car sales in Norway, our share of 
electric cars exceeded 79 per cent of vehicles 
registered, well above the general average for 
Norway which was 64.5 per cent last year. New 
arrivals such as the Volkswagen ID.4, Audi Q4 

e-tron and ŠKODA Enyaq have really hit the mark. 
Of course, we are very pleased to be performing 
better than ever, and thereby demonstrating that 
green policies can be profitable. 

NEW STRATEGY IMPLEMENTED 
In 2021, Møller Mobility Group rolled out an ambi-
tious strategy for the years up to 2025. The strategy 
is based on the core pillars of people, business 
and sustainability. The Group will develop peo-
ple, excite the customer, exploit the full potential 
of the existing business, invest and transform for 
the future and make sustainable choices. The strat-
egy goes hand in hand with our vision to “Dare 
to move” and our mission: “We provide freedom 
to move”. 

In order to translate the strategy into practice, sev-
eral organizational measures were implemented 
with effect from May 2021. The largest of these 
was the creation of the new Møller Mobility Ser-

vices business area. Creating profitable growth in a 
changing industry is key to the strategy leading up 
to 2025. Through its strategy work, Møller Mobililty 
Group has prioritised several new growth areas, 
both inside and outside the current value chain. 
One of the ambitions is to successfully establish new 
service categories that contribute to increased cus-
tomer value, profitability over time – and not least, 
positioning Møller Mobility Group for the future. 
Møller Mobility Services is responsible for the 
Group’s services within new mobility and car main-
tenance services and car financing. Møller Mobility 
Services comprises the Group’s ownership positions 
in Volkswagen Møller Bilfinans, Hyre, Mitt Dekk hotell, 
LaserWash, Gire and Rebil.

As part of the strategy, the DRIVe groupwide 
transformation programme was initiated in 2021. 
Together with Microsoft, Annata and Netcompany, 
we will provide future-oriented customer expe-
riences and work processes by means of new 

Group CEO 
PETTER HELLMAN

“The end of the pandemic 
and a celebration of excellent 
results have been replaced 
by war and a new emergency 
situation”

CLIMATE-RELATED DISCLOSURES 2021 OTHER INFORMATION 2021SUSTAINABILITY REPORT 2021FINANCIAL STATEMENTS 2021ANNUAL REPORT 20216



systems and digital solutions. The initiative is an 
extension of our ambition to bring innovation to 
the industry. 

COMMITTED EMPLOYEES
The strategy revolves around three core areas: 
people, business and sustainability, and there is 
a good reason that people come first. Corporate 
cultural and competence-building measures for 
our employees will enable us to better meet the 
mobility needs of the future. In 2021, we took our 
work with Great Place to Work a step further. A 
record response rate for the third year in a row 
produced certification for Møller Mobility Group in 
all five countries. The result and certification offer 
visible proof that, in the Møller organisation, we 
have a high degree of trust in each other, enjoy 
great camaraderie and take pride in the job we 
perform. 

SUSTAINABILITY WORK CHANGED UP A GEAR
Good results enable us to continue to invest for 
the future and seize opportunities as they arise. 
2021 marked a change of gear for our sustainabil-
ity work. As the first in our industry, we submitted 
complete climate-related disclosures, and we are 
currently working on a number of measures to 
further reduce our emissions, to bring the Group 
below the 1.5 degree target by 2027. At the end 
of last year, we signed the Guide against Green-
washing, the first in the industry to do so, and we 
are in a good position to meet the aim of Norway’s 
policymakers to achieve 100 per cent electric new 
passenger car sales from 2025. 

THE WAR IN UKRAINE WILL AFFECT US 
Møller Mobility Group is the leading automotive 
group in the Nordic and Baltic countries and we 
have a clear ambition to further strengthen our 
position as a leading player in mobility in the years 
ahead. At the beginning of the year, the Group 
expected good progress in 2022, not least in terms 
of sales of electric vehicles. The Group estimates a 
share of up to 90 per cent in 2022, with the electric 
share of new vehicles also rising, with ID.BUZZ as 
one of the highlights.

However, as of March 2022, there are dark clouds 
in the sky. Russia has invaded Ukraine, and we are 
witnessing heartbreaking and terrifying scenes of 
war in the media. Car production is affected by 
the situation in Ukraine, creating delays because 
of subcontractors located in the country now 
under attack. It is currently too early to say how 
long these delays will be, and consequently what 
impact this will have on the business in 2022. 

It turns out that the emergency preparedness 
work we undertook during the pandemic will 
continue in 2022, but in a different form and with 
 different themes. The situation feels extraordinary 
on  several levels. Not least because we operate in 
the Baltics, and many of our employees are there-
fore close to the situation. Our most important task 
is to take care of our employees, and ensure good 
dialogue with our customers who are impacted by 
new delivery difficulties.

OUR VISION

OUR MISSION

OUR STRATEGY

OUR VALUES

Dare to move

We provide freedom to move
“Driven by a sustainable future, we develop our people and business, 

to excite our customers on their journeys.”

Develop
people

Excite 
our customers

Tap the 
full

potential

Invest and
transform for the 

future

Make
sustainable 

choices

Honest and 
trustworthy

Proactive Clear Open-minded 
and caring
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Møller Mobility Group is delivering a pre-tax profit of NOK 2,562 million in 2021. This is a solid result and NOK 897 million 
 better than 2020. Turnover is up 9.4 per cent from last year to NOK 36.1 billion, and the profit ratio has increased from 5 per 
cent last year to 7.1 per cent this year. The Group continues to lead the way in electrification of the car fleet, contributing 
to the green shift with an overall reduction in greenhouse gas emissions of 17.2 per cent from 2020 to 2021.

A solid result and 
new records in 2021

The year when we thought things would start 
normalising was again affected by the pandemic, 
but luckily the last quarter brought some positive 
signals with a reopening, more employees back in 
the offices and fewer infection control measures. 
In the Baltics, however, there were stricter infection 
control measures throughout the year than in the 
Nordic countries. 

Low interest rates and travel restrictions as a result 
of the pandemic, combined with the political will 
to continue promoting electric vehicles, have pro-
vided an excellent starting point for the auto motive 
industry in Norway. With a strong organization 
capable of unlocking its potential, and car mod-
els being well-received by the market, profit has 
improved from last year, driven by strong demand, 
higher average prices for new cars, a strong used 
car market, as well as good sales and efficiency 
increases in the aftersales market. The number of 
new car contracts signed was very high through-
out the whole year, but we nevertheless delivered 
fewer units than in the year before, due to parts 
shortages at the factories.

The total market for passenger cars in Norway 
reached a record 176,276 cars in 2021, an increase of 
25 per cent from 2020, and beating the old record 

from 1986 of 167,362 cars. There were 44,128 regis-
trations of cars from the Group’s brands in Norway, 
compared with 46,180 in 2020. The Group’s total 
market share for passenger car brands was thus 21.1 
per cent, compared with 26.7 per cent in 2020. The 
Swedish passenger car market increased by 3 per 
cent over 2020 and ended at 301,006 passenger 
cars in 2021, while the total market in the Baltics 
decreased by 4 per cent to 78,817 registrations. The 
market share for the Group’s brands fell somewhat 
in Sweden, but increased in the Baltics. There was a 
good turnover boost in the servicing market in all 
countries. Sales of used cars are increasing in the 
Baltics, and are static in Norway.

STRONG RESULT AND REDUCED INVENTORIES 
PROVIDE GOOD CASH FLOW 
In total, inventories had a value of NOK 3.6 billion 
at the end of 2021, which is an increase of NOK 0.2 
billion compared to 31 December 2020, but still low 
in relation to the number of cars sold. In addition, 
trade receivables have been reduced, and net 
working capital has been reduced by NOK 0.2 bil-
lion compared to the end of 2020. This, combined 
with the profit increase, means that the Group 
delivered cash flow from operations of NOK 3.2 bil-
lion in 2021. The liquidity and financing situation is 
good, and total dividend and group contributions 

“Low interest rates and travel 
restrictions as a result of the 
pandemic, combined with 
the political will to continue 
 promoting electric vehicles, 
have provided an excellent 
starting point for the auto
motive industry in Norway”CFO

ANNA NORD BJERCKE
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for 2021 increased to NOK 1.4 billion. The equity 
ratio is 40.5 per cent. 

EXPECTATIONS FOR 2022
2021 was the best year in the history of Møller 
Mobility Group, and with good momentum in the 
economy and a very large order book, the con-
ditions for the coming period are fundamentally 
sound. The Group’s greatest risk factor is delivery 
challenges due to high demand, the pandemic 
and geopolitical developments. Access to semi-
conductors has improved after a demanding year 
in 2021, but Russia’s invasion of Ukraine has led 
to new delivery challenges, primarily because 
the Volkswagen Group has subcontractors that 
manufacture critical car components in Ukraine. 
As of April 2022, all car factories are up and run-

ning, and replacement production lines are being 
established in other countries, but it is uncertain 
how long it will take for the supply chains to func-
tion normally again.

With good liquidity and financial strength, strong 
market positions and an ambitious development 
agenda, the Group has a strong foundation for 
tackling short-term challenges, and we take a fun-
damentally positive view of the Group’s long-term 
financial outlook.
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EMISSIONS 2019–2021, SCOPES 1, 2 AND 3 (measured in tCO2e)

1) The increase in Scope 2 for 2021 is due to three factors: Increased electricity consumption due to the cold period, increased 
charging of electric cars and new elements that we have not reported on before. See the climate-related disclosures on page 
122 for more information.
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Our social mission is an integral part of how 
we conduct longterm, profitable business”
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How can Møller Mobility Group contribute to 
a sustainable future? In 2021, we set clear and 
measurable goals for our sustainability work. We 
are a driving force in making the Norwegian fleet 
emissions-free, and we have already come a long 
way. 79 per cent of our passenger car sales in 
2021 were electric – this positions us well in the 
green shift. For Møller Mobility Group, it is natural 
to commit to the Paris Agreement goal of lim-
iting global warming to 1.5 degrees – we have 
accordingly also introduced our own climate-re-
lated disclosures in line with the GHG Protocol, an 
internationally recognised standard. 

But sustainability isn’t just about cars and emis-
sions – people are the most important resource 
for developing sustainability. We are accord-
ingly putting great efforts into creating internal 
commitment to sustainability through inspiration 
and competence building. This is an important 

Sustainability work  
shifting up a gear

“We have committed to the 
Paris Agreement and we aim 
to reduce our own emissions 
by 30 per cent by 2027”

EVP Communication and Sustainability
PAUL HEGNA

People, business and sustainability. These are the pillars of Møller 
 Mobility Group’s corporate strategy. We aim to occupy our proper 
place within the green shift, and have drafted a sustainable   
roadmap up to 2025.

20
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202720262025202420232022202120202019

The Science-Based Targets initiative (SBTi) is a framework to help companies 
set climate targets that are in line with the Paris Agreement.

tCO2e

SBTi Physical Intensity TargetEmissions intensity forecast

With updated forecasts for new car sales in the light of the programme of car models, Møller Mobility 
Group aims to reduce emissions intensity by 30 per cent by 2027 across the markets.

contribution to our ambition to be a good place 
to work. This is why we need to look at people, 
business and sustainability in the round.

Our sustainability initiative is prioritised into 
four main actions, through which Møller Mobility 
Group will: 

•  Be an active driving force for zero-emissions 
vehicles in our markets. 

•  Be among the best workplaces, regardless of 
sector. 

•  Work proactively for a sustainable value chain. 
•  Be an industry leader in new mobility solutions.

The core of our sustainability work emerges nat-
urally from our nearly 90-year history, throughout 
which accountability has always been a guideline. 

EMISSION INTENSITY TARGET BASED ON FORECAST OF NUMBER OF CARS SOLD

-44% CO2

-30% CO2

Scopes 1 and 2  2027

Scope 3  2027

* reduction in emissions intensity
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Our ambition is to be among the best workplaces in the Nordic 
 countries and the Baltic countries – regardless of sector. We can 
see that the effort of investing in our employees and in diversity 
produces results.

Committed employees

At the end of 2021, the Group’s total number of 
employees was 4,326, an increase of 4.4 per cent 
compared to 2020. Sweden had 648 employ-
ees, the three Baltics a total of 609 and Norway 
had 3,069. At the end of 2021, the proportion of 
women in the Group was around 16 per cent. 
There are three women in the Group manage-
ment and a growing number of women in senior 
positions in the Group in general. 

Møller Mobility Group’s core values are central 
to the Group’s corporate culture and an impor-
tant guideline for both managers and employees 
on how to treat each other and their customers. 
Despite another demanding year of manda-
tory working from home and a strong focus on 
infection control due to the pandemic, the work-
ing environment in the Group is considered to 
be good.

This impression was confirmed through the annual 
Great Place to Work (GPTW) survey, which was 
conducted in 2021 for the third year in a row. Its 
purpose is to shine a light on our organizational 
culture and systematize initiatives to develop the 
in-house working environment. This forms a natu-
ral part of the Group’s strategy, where one of the 
goals is to create a trust-based culture that lays 

the groundwork for developing the industry’s 
foremost experts.

The group’s average GPTW score was 79 per cent 
in 2021, which is an improvement of more than 
5 per cent over the previous year. Consequently, 
Møller Mobility Group is now certified as a Great 
Place to Work. The result and certification are vis-
ible proof that the members of the Møller organ-
ization have a high degree of trust in each other, 
enjoy great camaraderie and take pride in the job 
they perform.

Diversity and gender equality are high on the 
agenda in Møller Mobility Group. We find that 
diversity broadens the mind and contributes to 
better processes both strategically and operation-
ally. Precisely because the automotive industry is 
fundamentally strongly male dominated, we at 
Møller Mobility Group have worked for many years 
to increase the proportion of women generally, 
with a specific overarching goal of recruiting more 

women in leading roles. At the end of the year, 
the proportion of women in the group was 15.94 
per cent. Active efforts are being made through 
recruitment processes to attract more women, and 
this has yielded results: The proportion of female 
candidates for vacancies increased from 14 per 
cent in 2019 to 20 per cent in 2020. This, in turn, has 
resulted in an increase in the proportion of female 
candidates offered employment from 16 per cent 
in 2019 to 24 per cent in 2021. 

At Møller Mobility Group, there is full buy-in from 
all parts of the organization that we “develop peo-
ple and business in a sustainable way”.

Our ambition is to be among the best workplaces 
in the Nordic countries and the Baltic countries – 
regardless of sector. Based on our fundamental 
values, the Code of Conduct, the Great Place To 
Work tool and culture of development, improve-
ment and learning, we will continue to improve 
our corporate culture.

“The group’s average GPTW 
score was 79 per cent in 2021, 
which is an improvement of 
more than 5 per cent over 
2020”

EVP Human Resources
KRISTINE FRØBERG
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The expectations and behaviours of car industry customers are 
 changing rapidly. We are in the midst of a major shift towards the 
use of electric vehicles and new types of mobility solutions.

Gearing up the digital  
transformation in Møller 
Mobility Group 

In addition, the effects of the pandemic have 
accelerated the need for digital solutions, and 
we are seeing the emergence of digital sales and 
on-demand mobility that will increase customer 
flexibility. Companies that are able to rethink their 
digital business models and operations will per-
form best in the “next normal”.  

Møller Mobility Group is now in a phase where 
digitalisation will be essential to enable a number 
of important future improvement measures. We 
will deliver a seamless and personalised customer 
experience across products and services, chan-
nels and interfaces, and we will develop inte-
grated propositions that combine digital mobility 
services with physical products. The goal is to 
create the industry’s best customer experiences 
and increased customer loyalty. In addition, we 
will simplify and streamline our business processes 
and day-to-day work routines in our workshops 
and in the sales phase. 

Both the Group and the rest of the automotive 
industry face a wealth of opportunities, and the 
starting point for our new strategy up to 2025 and 
the “Dare to Move” vision is precisely to make the 
right decisions and create the Møller Mobility 
Group of tomorrow. 

In the best spirit of “Dare to Move”, the Group will 
implement the DRIVe transformation programme 
with an investment framework of several hundred 
million kroner over the next few years. This includes 
changes to all business areas’ work processes such 
as sales, servicing, and service functions. In addition, 
we will replace today’s core systems with new plat-
forms and systems, and we will improve and launch 
new digital customer solutions. 

Through DRIVe, we will simplify and improve 
today’s systems and processes, and this is a major 
task that will impact everyone’s work life in the 
years ahead. In 2021, we worked intensively to 
prepare a solid foundation for getting fully under-
way in 2022. 

KEY PARTNERS
In 2021, important collaboration agreements were 
signed with Microsoft and Annata, and a prelim-
inary study has been undertaken in conjunction 

with our integration partner Netcompany. The pre-
liminary study has given us valuable insight into 
how to succeed. In parallel, work was started over 
the autumn to strengthen Møller Digital. A recruit-
ment process is underway to ensure that Møller 
Digital has enough resources and the right exper-
tise to solve all the tasks that DRIVe brings with it. 
Many new appointments have been made, some 
new employees are already in post and more will 
arrive during the winter and spring.

New ways of working are also being elaborated 
together with the business units, involving the 
introduction of multidisciplinary teams.

We have a good starting point for the new year 
with dependable partners, good expertise in the 
team, and an ambitious progress plan. 

Chief Digital Officer 
Møller Digital
CATHRINE KLOUMAN

13

“We aim to ensure a more 
straightforward working 
day for our employees, 
with seamless, efficient and 
 automated processes – which 
in turn means more time to 
devote to customers”

REPORT FROM MØLLER DIGITAL
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Car models and services that have been 
well received by the market have contributed 
to record results
”

CLIMATE-RELATED DISCLOSURES 2021 OTHER INFORMATION 2021SUSTAINABILITY REPORT 2021FINANCIAL STATEMENTS 2021ANNUAL REPORT 202114



Managing Director 
Harald A. Møller AS
ULF TORE HEKNEBY

“In 2021, the overall market for 
new passenger cars in Norway 
surpassed by a good margin 
the old record from 1986”

The import business in Norway has come through a paradoxical year, 
with many challenges in the wake of the microchip shortage. At the 
same time, strong drivers in the market have led to a historically good 
market for new cars and a number of records for Harald A. Møller AS. 

New records in  
challenging times

Harald A. Møller (car imports Norway) achieved 
a pre-tax profit of NOK 1,220 million compared to 
NOK 730 million in 2020. The increase from last 
year is primarily due to higher average prices 
for new cars in combination with strengthened 
margins. The overall market for new passenger 
cars in Norway surpassed by a good margin the 
old record from 1986, ending at a total of 176,276 
 registrations in 2021. 

Both Audi and ŠKODA set new records in 2021, with 
10,381 and 9,853 cars delivered respectively. Both 
of these brands were important contributors to a 
very good 2021 for Harald A. Møller. For Audi, the 
e-tron has continued to contribute to good revenue 
growth, while the introduction of the Q4 e-tron to 
the market has further strengthened Audi’s position. 
The same is true of the fully electric brand builder 
e-tron GT, and overall Audi achieved an electric 
car share of over 90 per cent in 2021. For ŠKODA, 
2021 marked the real transition to the fully electric 

strength of the Volkswagen apparatus was also 
clearly demonstrated through an efficient and suc-
cessful software upgrade for the large number of 
ID.3s supplied to Norwegian customers since the 
introduction of this model. Our new passenger car 
brand CUPRA was also introduced to the Norwe-
gian market, and its first electric cars, CUPRA Born, 
were delivered to customers towards the end of 
the year. CUPRA delivers the cars to the custom-
er’s doorstep, as one of several concepts through 
which CUPRA is challenging the car industry’s tra-
ditional working methods. The launch of the new 
brand brought with it a new online store and new 

segment of the market. The Citigo-e iV was the 
brand’s first fully electric model, but the introduc-
tion of the ENYAQ iV family SUV has contributed 
greatly to ŠKODA taking large shares of a growing 
electric car market. Both Audi and ŠKODA now have 
a historically good year behind them, although both 
brands could have sold far more cars if the supply 
situation had been better. 

The shortage of microchips for the automo-
tive industry affected production of our models 
throughout 2021. This is also a crucial underlying 
cause of Volkswagen passenger cars having to 
cede its ranking as Norway’s largest passenger 
car brand after 11 consecutive years at the top. 
Demand for the ID.3 and ID.4 electric car models 
in particular helped generate a lot of activity, and 
the latter model finished third in the registration 
table in 2021. Based on market demand, Volkswa-
gen passenger cars will be well-positioned once 
the factory is able to resume full production. The 

REPORT FROM HARALD A. MØLLER AS
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 methods for buying, delivery and after-sales that 
consolidate CUPRA’s position as a challenger brand 
in the Norwegian market. 

Volkswagen Commercial Vehicles topped both 
the brand and model statistics for vans under 3.5 
tonnes in 2021. This is the 17th year in a row that 
Volkswagen Commercial Vehicles holds the brand 
top spot, and the brand also became number one 
in all segments in which its models compete – a 
very impressive achievement. The total market 
ended at just over 32,000 vans in 2021 – an increase 
of just under 2,000 vehicles compared with the 
previous year. Despite the increase, commercial 
vehicles are also affected by the supply challenges, 
and expectations were higher than results. Electrifi-
cation will take a firm hold on the van market in the 
years to come, including through ID. Buzz Cargo, 
and help increase the total market for vans.

Sales of parts and accessories increased by three 
per cent and overall turnover increased by 14 per 
cent compared to 2020. Within the logistics part of 
the business, a new agreement was entered into 
with the Port of Oslo for an extension of the lease 
for the logistics zone, and the parts and accessories 
logistics have set new records in productivity, qual-
ity, service level and the number of parts handled. 
The Autostore concept was realized both on time 
and on budget in 2021, and has already taken this 
part of the business to new heights through the 
automation of important processes in warehouse 
operations. 

Key to Harald A. Møller AS is also Marketing Oper-
ations, which have taken control of the customer 
dialogue through digital interfaces. They ensure 
as seamless and efficient dialogue as possible 
with customers, and through 2021 have further 
strengthened this work in close dialogue with the 
dealerships associated with Harald A. Møller AS. 

In this way, customers are guaranteed to receive 
relevant information about running their car, or tai-
lored offers when the time comes to change their 
cars or for other relevant services.  

In 2021, Harald A. Møller AS achieved a market 
share of 21.2 per cent, and imported more than 
one in five new passenger cars to the Norwegian 
market. Customer satisfaction for all brands in the 
servicing market remains high.

Harald A. Møller AS will be an active driving force 
for the electrification of the Norwegian vehicle 
fleet. 2021 demonstrates that it is a position we 
have a firm hold on, in a year where 79 per cent of 
passenger car sales were fully electric. The Group 
estimates that this share will increase to almost 90 
per cent in 2022. For Norway as a whole, electric 
cars now account for 64.5 per cent of passenger 
car sales. 

Everything is set for another good year for our 
brands. The electric car portfolio is strong for all 
brands, and launches through 2021 mean that we 
have a historically strong portfolio right from the 
start of the new year. In addition, ID.BUZZ and 
ID.BUZZ Cargo are launching in early 2022, offering 
even greater potential to Volkswagen in the quest 
to reclaim its place as Norway’s largest passenger 
car brand. At the same time, Commercial Vehicles 
will gain a new and powerful tool to contribute to 
even faster electrification rates in the van segment. 
Other new models that will also contribute dur-
ing 2022 are the Volkswagen ID.5 and the ŠKODA 
ENYAQ Coupé iV. 

We expect the situation caused by the microchip 
scarcity to affect the automotive industry in 2022 
as well. This means that there will still be a degree 
of unpredictability around the production of new 
cars, and a continuation of relatively long waiting 

times for new customers. The Volkswagen Group 
and its factories have implemented various meas-
ures to address the challenges, but it takes time for 
the industry to fully return to normality. In addition, 
we are part of an industry that is directly affected 
by other forms of global unrest. Russia’s invasion of 
Ukraine in March demonstrates this all too clearly. 
For the automotive industry, the impact on both 
the global economy and subcontractors’ ability to 
deliver may leave its mark on 2022. 

HIGHLIGHTS
The Norwegian authorities have announced the 
introduction of VAT for electric cars during the cur-
rent parliamentary session. The incumbent govern-
ment’s platform stipulates that this is to have effect 
initially above a threshold of NOK 600,000. It has 
not been announced that this will be introduced 
in 2022. 

The framework conditions for electric cars in Nor-
way and the EU are key parameters for Møller 
Mobility Group. The Group expects that the 

EU’s emissions targets will continue to promote 
increased investment in electric vehicles, and that 
no changes to tax policy will be introduced in Nor-
way in 2022 that could adversely affect electric 
vehicle development.

The Volkswagen Group is continuing work on 
its comprehensive decarbonization programme, 
with the aim of being fully carbon-neutral in 
all areas from vehicle fleet via manufacture to 
administration by 2050: “Volkswagen Way To 
ZERO”. Volkswagen has thus committed fully to 
implementing the climate goals of the Paris Agree-
ment. The company is investing EUR 35 billion in 
battery-electric cars and will be bringing out 20 
new all-electric car models by 2025 and 70 new 
models by 2030.

HARALD A. MØLLER AS

> Norway’s largest car importer
>  Record-high profit in Norway of NOK 1,220 million
> Turnover NOK 18.870 billion
>  In 2021, the electric share of passenger car sales was 64.5 per cent in the Norwegian market – for 

Harald A. Møller’s brands, the share of electric cars was as high as 79 per cent. 
>  Due to a difficult supply situation, Volkswagen became Norway’s second largest brand in terms of 

registrations, after 11 consecutive years as number one
>  Very successful and efficient software upgrade of the ID.3 model delivered to Norwegian Volkswagen 

customers across the country
>  Volkswagen Commercial Vehicles was the most purchased van brand for the 17th consecutive year
>  Both Audi and ŠKODA set new records in 2021, with historically good sales figures and electric car 

shares
>  Successful establishment of Autostore in the logistics business in Leiraveien
> New agreement with the Port of Oslo for an extension of the logistics zone
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Møller Bil (car dealerships in Norway and Swe-
den) achieved a pre-tax profit of a record NOK 
1,303 million compared with NOK 886 million in 
2020 – which was the dealership chain’s previous 
record year. All business areas – new car, used 
car, servicing market and repairs – excelled. Sales 
of new cars increased by 19 per cent in Norway, 
helped by the launch of the three electric mod-
els Volkswagen ID.4, Audi Q4 e-tron and ŠKODA 
ENYAQ, as well as good contributions from other 
electric models such as the Audi e-tron and e-tron 
GT, as well as the Volkswagen ID.3.

Used car sales were at the same level as in 2020. 
Servicing market turnover was up 4 per cent com-
pared to 2020. 

In Sweden, turnover was on a par with 2020. The 
servicing market turnover rose, but new and used 
car sales fell slightly. Overall, sales for Møller Bil are 
9 per cent higher than in 2020, while gross profit 

has been increased, particularly as concerns used 
cars. Total costs are higher than in 2020 due to 
increased turnover and the cost measures imple-
mented last year.

The coronavirus pandemic has continued to affect 
the business. There have been periods of closed 
sales premises, sales activities performed from 
home offices, combined with component short-
ages and strict infection control procedures. I am 
therefore impressed by the efforts that the Møller 
Bil team has put in throughout 2021. They have 
maximized the potential of the existing business 
and seen the opportunities that were there.

It is also very gratifying that Møller Mobility 
Group is now certified as a “Great Place to Work”. 
Møller Bil scores very highly in the survey, and 
our employees’ satisfaction with their workplace 
is fundamental to creating good customer experi-
ences over time. We aim to create the best work-

Managing Director
Møller Bil AS
SVERRE HELNO

“Our employees’   
satisfaction with their 
 workplace is  fundamental 
to creating good customer 
 experiences”

Møller Bil achieved its highest turnover and profit ever. 
 All the  business areas returned all-time highs, in both the  
Norwegian and Swedish markets. 

Exceptional
performances
REPORT FROM MØLLER BIL AS
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places, have the most satisfied customers and 
return the best results. 

HIGHLIGHTS
In March, Møller Bil bought the Fjetland family’s 
50 per cent interest in the Møller Bil Sør-Rogaland 
dealership business. The Fjetland family has laid 
the foundation for a success story that we will 
develop even more powerfully using our effi-
cient chain management, designed to meet the 
changes in store for our industry.

Since Møller Bil became a Porsche dealership 
through the acquisition of the Swedish Porsche 
dealer Sportbilar in Örebro in the autumn of 2020, 
investment in the German sports car brand has 
increased significantly. Møller Bil has been cho-
sen by Porsche Sweden for the establishment of 
two brand new Porsche Centers – Porsche Center 
Uppsala and Porsche Center Västerås. Both are 
expected to open in spring 2023.

Møller Mobility Group’s partnership with Laser-
Wash creates significant synergies for Møller Bil, 
and positions us even better as a mobility player 
that provides dependable and frictionless  services 
covering even more aspects of running a car.

THE WAY FORWARD
The industry is changing more rapidly and  deeply 
than ever. Møller Bil is affected by three transforma-
tion axes at once; digital changes, market changes 
and, as a consequence, organizational changes too. 
We will use these changes to grasp the opportu-
nities that emerge and secure our future success. 
The changes in the industry entail new roles for us, 
new ways of working, and our ability to switch to 
these new paradigms will be key to our future goal 
achievement. The customer must be at the centre 
of everything we do at Møller Bil. 

 MØLLER BIL 2021

Møller Bil (car dealerships in Norway and 
Sweden) achieved a pre-tax profit of NOK 
1.303 billion.

>  32,822 new cars delivered
>  25,217 used cars sold
>  Record-high new car contracts in Norway
>  Record income from the aftersales market
>  Record income from used cars
>  Record income from repairs
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BALTIC OPERATIONS

>  A significant player in the Baltics (Estonia, 
Latvia, Lithuania)

>  Comprises the companies Moller Baltic 
Import and Moller Auto Baltic

>  Pre-tax profit of NOK 84 million
>  The business achieved very good results on 

customer satisfaction
>  Highly efficient organization – 100 per cent 

productivity in the workshops 

2021 was a good year for the Baltic Operations unit, with an increase in 
market share and an increase in sales of used cars. Overall, the  outlook 
is favourable for 2022, but it may be affected by the geopolitical 
 situation and a certain ensuing unpredictability in the market. 

Good revenue growth  
in all parts of the business 

Overall, the Baltics achieved the best results in our 
history with a pre-tax profit of NOK 160 million. 
There was a good increase in turnover in all parts 
of the business in 2021, but the result was reduced 
due to a provision of 7.4 million euros concerning 
a fine from the Competition Authority of Latvia 
dating from 2014. Møller Mobility Group appealed 
the case in 2015, and was granted a hearing in the 
court of first instance, but in September 2021 the 
case was taken up by the Supreme Court, which 
has now sent the case back to the lower court for 
a new judgment. Møller Mobility Group disputes 
the scope and size of the fine, but is choosing to 
make the provision out of caution.

OUTLOOK FOR 2022
Expectations for 2022 are characterised by opti-
mism, but also great uncertainty, mostly as a direct 
consequence of the geopolitical situation in East-
ern Europe. There is high GDP growth in the region 
and a further market upturn and growth in busi-

import side and 94 per cent on the dealership 
side – which shows a high level of employee 
engagement. Improvement work continues.

ness is expected in all areas: new cars, used cars 
and the servicing market. 

The Baltic business consists of Moller Baltic 
Import and Moller Auto Baltic and has a total turn-
over just in excess of NOK 3.5 billion and more 
than 600 employees. Møller Mobility Group is a 
significant player in the Baltic car market and the 
purpose of separating out the Baltics as a dis-
tinct group area was the need for even closer 
cooperation between our import and dealership 
activities in order to ensure further growth and 
development.

GREAT PLACE TO WORK
As elsewhere in the group, employees adopted 
the Great Place To Work tool in 2019. Work was 
rendered more difficult during the pandemic, 
but the results for 2021 were greatly improved. 
All three Baltic countries are now certified. The 
response rate for 2021 was 98 per cent on the 

Head of Baltic Operations
TORE NILSEN BREEN

BALTIC OPERATIONS REPORT
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In order to translate the strategy leading up to 2025 into practice, 
 several organizational measures were implemented with effect 
from May 2021. One of the largest of these was the creation of 
Møller  Mobility Services (MMS).

Establishment of a new 
business area

“Møller Mobility Services will 
have an ambitious growth 
and development agenda in 
both existing and new service 
categories”

EVP Møller Mobility Services
HÅVARD ANDERSEN

Møller Mobility has set out an ambitious strategy 
up to 2025, which is based on the pillars of  people, 
business and sustainability. Key to this strategy 
is the creation of profitable growth in a chang-
ing industry. Through the strategy work, Møller 
 Mobility Group has prioritised several new growth 
areas, both inside and outside the current value 
chain. One of the main ambitions is to successfully 
establish new service categories that contribute to 
increased customer value, profitability over time, 
and not least, to positioning Møller Mobility Group 
for the future. 

Møller Mobility Services (MMS) is responsible for 
the Group’s services within new mobility, financing 
and car maintenance services. MMS comprises the 
Group’s ownership interest in Volkswagen Møller 
Bilfinans, the Hyre car sharing service, Mitt Dekk-
hotell and LaserWash, as well as smaller holdings 
in Gire and Rebil.

MMS will have an ambitious growth and devel-
opment agenda in both existing and new service 
categories. The business area is set up to han-
dle both industrial investments with a long-term 
and strategic ownership perspective, and finan-
cial investments with a shorter time perspective 
and exercise of ownership rights at arm’s length. 

Despite the fact that the companies under MMS 
are in different phases with different investment 
needs, the common denominator is that we will 
challenge established truths and have an ambi-
tious development agenda in line with the Group’s 
strategy leading up to 2025.

SOME HIGHLIGHTS
Since its creation, Hyre has experienced strong 
growth. In 2020, the company has shown that it 
can return a profit, and in 2021 the focus was again 
on growth. Turnover rose by 92 per cent to NOK 
92 million, and the car sharing service established 
itself in both Bergen and Trondheim, while the 
number of users more than doubled.

Møller Mobility Group entered into a partner-
ship with LaserWash last year, through which the 
Group acquired 50 per cent ownership. At that 
time, the car wash chain had 13 separate facilities, 
in addition to the agency for the washers and its 
own servicing network. Through 2021, the com-
pany doubled the number of wash facilities to 26 
through acquisitions and start-ups.

THE WAY FORWARD
So far, we have only seen the beginnings of the 
MMS’s and the portfolio companies’ ambitions. 

Hyre will grow sharply in 2022 through the estab-
lishment of the service in Sweden and Denmark 
and the expansion of the service proposition. Mitt 
Dekkhotell will open new tyre storage facilities in 
Lillestrøm and Tønsberg, among others, while 
LaserWash is developing the market concept and 
has an ambitious agenda for start-ups. 

In addition, we are working on completely new 
service categories that will help create an eco-
system of services that make running a car easier 
for customers. 

  MØLLER MOBILITY SERVICES

>  Separate business area established in 2021
>  Responsible for the Group’s services 

within new mobility, financing and car 
 maintenance services

>  Currently includes ownership positions 
in Volkswagen Møller Bilfinans, Hyre, Mitt 
Dekk hotell, LaserWash, Gire and Rebil
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Volkswagen Møller Bilfinans is one of Norway’s largest car  financing 
companies, with almost 80,000 active financing contracts.

Fortifies
its position

Volkswagen Møller Bilfinans is one of Norway’s 
largest car financing companies, with almost 
80,000 active financing contracts. 

Volkswagen Møller Bilfinans is an integral and 
important part of the value chain of Volkswagen, 
Audi, SEAT, ŠKODA and CUPRA in Norway. With 
approximately 24,000 new financing contracts and 
approximately 40,000 new insurance policies sold 
through our dealerships for new and used cars, 
Volkswagen Møller Bilfinans is very much part of 
the success enjoyed by Volkswagen, Audi, SEAT 
and ŠKODA.

In 2021, 8,612 new leasing agreements were signed 
at a total cost price of NOK 3,674 million and 14,299 
new promissory note loans worth just over NOK 
4.9 billion were made. This is a fall in the number 
of new contracts of 18 per cent compared to the 
previous year. 

Pre-tax profits in Volkswagen Møller Bilfinans were 

choose leasing. This is one of our priority areas 
for 2022, together with the development of loan 
products that can contribute to a good overall 
financing ratio. 

Delivery times for new cars are also longer in 2022 
than we are used to in Norway, and this means 
that, through 2022, we will be focusing intensely 

a record NOK 402 million, driven by higher net 
interest rates. The Group’s share of 49 per cent 
after tax amounts to NOK 112 million, compared 
with NOK 142 million in 2020. The decrease is 
due to a one-off effect related to a new financial 
 activity tax. 

The financing ratio for new cars is somewhat 
lower in 2021 than in 2020 (down from 42.5 per 
cent to 35 per cent). This change is largely due to 
the transition to fully electric cars, where leasing 
is not as attractive as for diesel and petrol cars. 
We envisage a continued high share of loans in 
the year ahead. 

Our brands have a large order book of unde-
livered cars, and we believe this means that the 
market will continue to be strong in 2022. In terms 
of the financing ratio we achieve, the market for 
financing electric vehicles is a little more demand-
ing than for ICE cars (diesel and petrol). Since 
there is no VAT on electric cars, fewer customers 

Managing Director
Volkswagen Møller Bilfinans AS 
ARNE LYSLO KRISTIANSEN

“The results from the 
 employee survey in 2021 
show that we still have good 
 employee satisfaction and 
we were certified as a “Great 
Place to Work” by a good 
margin”

REPORT FROM VOLKSWAGEN MØLLER BILFINANS
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on financing used cars. We believe that 2022 will 
be on a par with 2021 in terms of financing ratio 
and financing volume. The losses we realised 
in 2021 were very low, and, with interest rates 
 rising in 2022, we must probably expect this area 
to normalise. 

GREAT PLACE TO WORK
The results from the employee survey in 2021 
show that we still have good employee satisfac-
tion and the company was certified as a “Great 
Place to Work” by a good margin.

One of Volkswagen AG’s main objectives in 
its “Together 2025+” strategy is to become an 
 paradigm in the field of integrity and compliance. 
In 2020, the “Together for Integrity” (T4I) integrity 
programme was introduced, and this was contin-
ued in Volkswagen Møller Bilfinans AS in 2021. The 
programme aims to raise awareness and provide 
information about integrity through information 
campaigns, dialogue and various measures aimed 
at all employees. Integrity is about being consist-
ent in terms of what we believe in, what we say, 
what we do and what we are morally commit-
ted to; that there is a correlation between values, 
principles and actions. During 2021, Volkswagen 
Møller Bilfinans has conducted two “Perception 
Workshops”.

  VOLKSWAGEN MØLLER BILFINANS

>  Volkswagen Møller Bilfinans is one of 
Norway’s largest leasing companies for the 
automotive industry

>  Approximately 80,000 contracts in the 
portfolio

>  In total, 23,000 new contracts were signed 
and up to 36,000 cars insured in 2021
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2021 has given us a good 
foundation for investing 
for the future
”
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Will develop new and modern  
standards for the automotive industry

Solid value growth and excellent  
results for Møller Mobility Group
Møller  Mobility Group’s 2021 results were at record level in terms of both turn
over and profit. Profit before tax of NOK 2.562 billion is a full NOK 897 million 
better than the previous record result in 2020. 

Møller Mobility Group will implement the DRIVe transformation 
 programme with an investment framework of several hundred million 
NOK over the next few years. 

Low interest rates and travel restrictions 
as a result of the pandemic, combined 
with the political will to continue pro-
moting electric vehicles, have provided 
an excellent starting point for the auto-
motive industry in Norway. 

With a strong organization capable of 
unlocking its potential, and car mod-
els being well-received by the mar-
ket, profit has progressed from last 

year, driven by strong demand, higher 
average prices for new cars, a strong 
used car market, as well as good sales 
increases and efficiency in the servicing 
market. 

New contracts on new cars were very 
high throughout the year, but the num-
ber of cars delivered was still lower 
than last year due to a shortage of parts 
at the factories.

This includes changes to all business 
areas and processes that the Group 
currently has. Microsoft, Annata and 
Netcompany have been chosen as 
cooperation partners.

The automotive industry is undergoing 
rapid change. Internationally, tens of 
billions of NOK are invested annually 
in research and development, which 
has resulted in more environmentally 
friendly, safer and smarter cars. At the 
same time, there is a serious need for 
new digital platforms and structures. 

Norway is in a unique position when it 
comes to electrification of the fleet in 
Europe. At the same time, the fleet is 
among the oldest in Western Europe. To 
face up to this development, and to be 
prepared for the future, Møller Mobility 
Group is now investing heavily.

The DRIVe transformation programme 
has an investment framework of sev-
eral hundred million NOK over the 
next few years. This includes changes 
to all business areas’ work processes 
such as sales, servicing, and service 
functions. In addition, today’s core 
systems will be replaced with new 
platforms and systems, and the Group 

will improve and launch new digital 
customer solutions. 

“This agreement gives us a unique 
opportunity to move the digitalisation 
of our own business up a gear, while 
also occupying the driver’s seat for the 
development of the new digital indus-
try platforms,” says Petter Hellman, CEO 
of Møller Mobility Group.

“We want to understand the custom-
er’s needs before they arise, adapting 
our business quickly and smoothly as 
they change. Microsoft and Annata 
enable us to increase our flexibility 
and speed through modern platforms 
and solutions. This means that we can 
have a greater focus on innovation and 
customer experience,” says Cathrine 
Klouman, Chief Digital Officer at Møller 
Mobility Group. 

HIGHLIGHTS 2021
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Never before have more Audi and ŠKODA cars been registered in Norway. 
Volkswagen Commercial Vehicle was Norway’s largest van brand for the 17th 
year in a row, while Volkswagen became Norway’s second largest passenger 
car brand. At the same time, the importer achieved record results.

The Norwegian importer has a very 
good year under its belt, despite the 
coronavirus pandemic having caused 
both a shortage of components and 
logistical challenges at the factories. 
Several of Harald A. Møller’s brands 
have set records in the number of 
contracts, while the importer also per-
formed a successful launch of CUPRA.

The compact electric SUVs Volks wagen 
ID.4, Audi Q4 e-tron and ŠKODA ENYAQ, 
together with a number of other elec-
tric models, are significant contributors 
to the record result, along with both the 
servicing market and Møller Logistics.

HIGHLIGHTS 2021 Sustainability has become an integral 
part of the business

In May last year, CEO Petter Hellman 
was explicit: Sustainability will be a 
bigger part of our strategy, and will 
become a completely integral aspect 
of the business rather than something 
the Group does “in addition”. 

The Group still has a leading position 
in the electrification of the new car 
fleet in Norway, and, among passen-
ger car sales of its own brands, 79 
per cent were electric in 2021. Other 
 sustainability-related measures in 2021 

include the installation of solar panels 
at Møller Bil Hvam, as well as the deci-
sion that all company cars in the group 
should be fully electric.

The Group’s most important investment 
in social sustainability is through Møller 
Medvind, which in 2021 gained 49 new 
permanent employees; 8 employees 
from Møller Medvind were given per-
manent positions at Møller Bil during 
the year.

Møller Mobility Group has a greater focus on sustainability than ever, and 
has both committed to the Paris Agreement and signed the Guide against 
Greenwashing. 

Records line up for Harald A. Møller AS

More milestones 
for Møller Bil AS
Record results in Norway and 
 Sweden and the establishment of 
two new Porsche dealerships in 
Sweden are just some of the high
lights for the dealership chain. 

All business areas in the dealership 
chain – new cars, used cars, servicing 
market and repairs– delivered record 
results last year, despite the continued 
impact of the coronavirus pandemic. 
There have been periods of closed 
sales premises, sales activities per-
formed from home offices, combined 
with component shortages and strict 
infection control procedures. But cus-
tomers have still spent money buying 
and running their cars, and Møller Bil 
achieved a record pre-tax profit of a 
record NOK 1,303 million compared 
with NOK 886 million in 2020. 

Since Møller Bil bought the company that 
operates Porsche Center Örebro in 2020, 
Porsche Sweden has chosen Møller Bil 
for the establishment of two brand new 
Porsche Centers. Porsche Center Uppsala 
and Porsche Center Västerås will both 
open in spring 2023.
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HIGHLIGHTS 2021

Hyre is expanding
The Hyre car-sharing service, in which 
Møller Mobility Group is a majority 
shareholder, made a profit for the first 
time in 2020, showing that the business 
model can pay off. 

Last year, turnover grew by 92 per cent 
to NOK 92 million, helped by Hyre sur-
passing 1,000 cars in Oslo, as well as 
expanding into new cities. The ser-
vice expanded to cover both Trond-
heim and Bergen last year, and further 
expansion is due in both Denmark and 
Sweden, as well as further growth of 
the fleet.

In 2021, several cities were able to discover the positive effects of car sharing. 

Partnership with 
LaserWash
Møller Mobility Group has acquired 
50 percent ownership of the car 
wash chain. 

“Our ambition is to create a leading car 
wash chain aimed at the corporate and 
private market. We see great potential 
for value creation in this market,” says 
CEO Petter Hellman, and already the 
number of wash sites has doubled since 
the partnership was entered into.

The LaserWash Group is an established 
car wash chain that, when the partner-
ship was signed, had 13 separate facil-
ities, in addition to the agency for the 
washers and its own servicing network. 
Through 2021, the company doubled 

the number of wash facilities to 26 
through acquisitions and start-ups. 

“LaserWash has developed a custom-
er-friendly and profitable concept, which 
gives us a good starting point for further 
scaling up with our partner,” says Petter 
Hellman. 

Car washing is being developed as an 
independent focus area in the corpo-
rate structure of Møller Mobility Group, 
and comes under the Møller Mobility 
Services business area. In addition, the 
car wash chain will become a natural 
part of the customer proposition in the 
ecosystem of the Møller Bil car dealer-
ship chain.

“We bring a powerful distribution net-
work to the table, and look forward 
to allying it with the exciting car wash 
concept LaserWash has developed, the 
industry experience they possess and 
the established infrastructure they have 
already built up,” says Håvard Ander-
sen, Group Director of Møller Mobility 
Services.

Baltic Operations has notched up a successful year, with an increase in both 
market share and sales, especially of used cars.

The coronavirus has had a significant 
impact on operations in the Baltics. 
For example, showrooms in Latvia and 
Lithuania were closed for the first three 
months of the year. Nevertheless, there 
was a good increase in turnover in all 

parts of the business, and contract sign-
ings have never been higher. The work-
shops also performed especially well, 
with 100 per cent efficiency.

Increase in turnover in all parts  
of the Baltic business
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Møller Mobility Group continues  
to take the lead in the  electrification of 
the Norwegian fleet, and is contributing 
to the green shift

”
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Norway is to cut its emissions from transport by 50-55 per cent by 
2030. Electrification is clearly a natural driving force to achieve this. We 
are proceeding optimistically towards the 2025 target of new car sales 
being 100 per cent electric, but there are some speed bumps ahead.

Some speed bumps  
ahead for electric vehicles

2021 was another record year for the electric 
car. A full 64.5 per cent of passenger cars sold 
in  Norway in 2021 were electric. Among Møller 
Mobility Group’s passenger car brands, the share 
was even higher, with 79 per cent of new car sales 
being electric. This provides further inspiration for 
achieving our goal of ceasing to sell passenger 
cars that run on fossil fuels from 2025. 

All the same, certain challenges may slow the 
pace of electric car sales. The supply difficulties 
resulting from the microchip shortage have already 
affected the industry over a long period, and this 
is expected to impact production through 2022 
as well. The manufacture of modern electric cars 
is particularly dependent on microchips, which 
means that their pace of delivery to the Norwe-
gian market is also moderated by these challenges. 

Various initiatives have already been taken by the 
factories to eliminate the challenges of microchip 

scarcity, but we can probably still expect this to 
affect the share of electric vehicles in the registra-
tion statistics in 2022. 

The horrific situation in Ukraine after the Russian 
invasion has led above all to suffering for the 
Ukrainian people. But the situation has also cre-
ated ripple effects around the world and impacted 
the globalised economy. For our business, this has 
led to a period of reduced production of a num-
ber of in-demand electric car models that incor-
porate wiring from Ukrainian subcontractors. In 
periods when demand for electric cars is greater 
than production capacity, the full potential of a 
powertrain increasingly in demand by the market 
is not realised. 

Despite the challenges, new car sales are well on 
their way to being 100 per cent electric. One final 
factor that could create a speed bump on the road 
to the 2025 target is car taxes. 
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to help promote a more aggressive roll-out of the 
necessary infrastructure moving forward. 

NO REASON TO ABANDON THE TARGET 
There are some challenges in the short term, but 
there is no reason to abandon the target that all 
new passenger cars sold in Norway in 2025 should 
be fully electric.  

The discussions around electric cars and environ-
mental benefits create a lot of interest, but the fact 
is that the electric car is the most environmental 
and climate-friendly option. It is not only about 
emissions, but also about energy efficiency. The 
car’s energy efficiency describes how much of the 
fuel energy reaches the drive wheels and provides 
propulsion. Soon we will have to get used to talk-
ing about consumption not in litres per 100 km, 
but in kWh of energy consumed per 100 km. To 
exemplify this, we can compare a diesel- powered 
car and an electric one. The conventional car 
uses 5 litres of diesel per 100 km, the equivalent 
of 50 kWh/100 km. By comparison, an electric car 
needs only a quarter of the energy; approximately 
12.5 kWh/100 km. And when the charging current 
comes from renewable sources, the arguments 
for the electric car become even greener. This is 
one of many good reasons why the Volkswagen 
Group is investing in electric. 

A MANAGED DEVELOPMENT 
The electric car is also being given strong impetus 
by international and national targets for reduced 
emissions. This requires the most electrified vehi-
cle fleet possible, even when it comes to com-

mercial vehicles. At the same time, initiatives are 
being launched that will allow Norway to con-
tinue to be an international leader in transitioning 
to a greener fleet; for example, more affordable 
financing terms. In Oslo, the City Council has advo-
cated for the capital to have emissions-free traffic 
by 2030. This is in line with the EU taxonomy, to 
be introduced on 1 January 2023 and which has 
set a target of 100 emissions-free European cities 
by 2030. The taxonomy also stipulates that there 
should be at least 30 million zero-emission cars 
on European roads – and that automated mobility 
should be introduced on a large scale by 2030.

DECISIVE FEES
The platform of the current Government sets out 
that, during the current parliamentary session, 
VAT will begin to be introduced on electric cars. 
If the principle that the electric car must maintain 
its competitiveness against fossil fuel models is 
followed, the risk that the introduction of VAT will 
become a pitfall on the road to the 2025 target 
can be reduced. However, it is crucial that the Nor-
wegian market has access to sufficient volumes of 
electric cars at a time when they are increasingly in 
demand in other and larger markets. Diluting the 

incentives in the Norwegian market, in parallel with 
increasing incentives in the large European mar-
kets, may affect access to electric cars in Norway. 

New car customers in Norway want electric cars, 
and the model range has never been wider. Cus-
tomers living in less central areas have also gained 
access to models that meet the vehicle needs of 
those who drive a lot on a daily basis. For this part 
of the market, the charging infrastructure is likely 
to be particularly important, and the Government’s 
work on a national charging strategy is expected 

ENERGY AND FUEL EFFICIENCY OF VEHICLES
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The electric car is  leading 
us into a world of new 
 possibilities

The carbon footprint of every kilometre you drive with your car, measured in grams of CO2 equivalents. This is based on current 
emissions from production, a twelve-year life, 15,000 kilometres of driving a year and a modestly strict Nordic electricity mix.
Source: Thomas Horne, The Big Guide to Climate-Friendly Living.
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Møller Mobility Group is in no doubt that a commitment to  electrified 
mobility is the right course to follow. New  technologies, climate 
requirements and better battery solutions are drivers that elicit new 
opportunities for positive change.

Our mobility is changing, and the Government’s 
expert committee on technology in the transport 
system of the future describes it as follows in its 
Technology for Sustainable Freedom of Move-
ment and Mobility report: “There is a growing 
diversity of individual-oriented business models, 
tailored for flexible sharing of mobility services. 
Digital solutions have triggered the development 
of a number of innovative services that mean 
that individuals no longer need to invest in their 
own vehicle to meet their transport needs.” This 
accords with Møller Mobility Group’s commitment 
to the mobility of the future, in which we are pro-
moting more opportunities for more sustainable 
transport solutions. 

A SOUND AND SUSTAINABLE CHOICE 
Thomas Horne, author of “The Big Guide to Cli-
mate-Friendly Living”, confirms that electric cars 
are the sound choice. In an interview in D2 mag-
azine, he was asked what many of us are asking: 
If your internal combustion engine car is gnawing 
at your conscience, should you switch to electric? 
Horne’s answer is clear: “The answer to that is a 
big yes. No might be the correct answer in a few 

cases, but let me put it this way: If you need a car, 
it’s an electric car that you need – as long as it 
is possible to charge it where you drive.” Some 
people have also questioned the durability of the 
batteries, but Frank Blome, director of Volkswa-
gen’s Center of Excellence for Battery Cells, makes 
the following promise: “Our goal is for the battery 
to last as long as the car, and we guarantee a min-
imum capacity of 70 per cent after eight years or 
160,000 kilometres.” 

A SUSTAINABLE INVESTMENT 
The Volkswagen factory’s strategy and invest-
ments have garnered widespread attention. Pat-
rick Hummel, head of European and US Auto & 
Mobility research at the Swiss investment bank, 
UBS, provides the following analysis: “ID.3 shows 
that Volkswagen has developed a pure electric 
platform that is groundbreaking. This allows the 
Group to offer attractive electric vehicles across 
the entire product range. On this basis, UBS 
expects Volkswagen to be a market leader for 
pure electric vehicles in the years to come.” 

The most important goal, however, is a sustainable 

future, where the car – at least, one that is not 
powered by fossil fuels – still has an important role. 
A commitment to infrastructure provides benefits 
for both cars and people. The World Economic 
Forum notes that a €6 billion investment in electric 
car charging infrastructure could result in over €12 
billion in health benefits due to reduced pollution. 
At the same time, they argue that, by integrating 

electric cars into the cities’ energy systems, car 
batteries can provide electricity as a supplement 
to, for example, solar and wind power. This is yet 
another proof that the electric car offers a journey 
into a world of new, sustainable possibilities. 
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Volkswagen Group’s strategy powers our ambitions

CLIMATE CHANGE
•  Commit to working towards the 

Paris Agreement target of a max-
imum of two degrees increase in 
the Earth’s temperature.

•  By 2050, Volkswagen Group’s 
business will be climate neutral.

•  By 2025, the total lifecycle emis-
sions of greenhouse gases from 
passenger cars will be reduced by 
30 per cent compared with 2015.

USE OF RESOURCES
•  Optimize efficient utilization 

of resources and implement 
circular-economy measures for 
materials, energy and water.

•  By 2025, environmental gas 
emissions in production will be 
reduced by 45 per cent per vehi-
cle compared to 2010.

AIR QUALITY
•  Invest in electric mobility to 

improve air quality.

•  By 2025, the share of battery elec-
tric vehicles in the model portfolio 
will be 20–25 per cent.

•  This figure will be increased to 40 
per cent by 2030.

ENVIRONMENTAL COMPLIANCE
•  Aim to be a role model for a 

modern, transparent, successful 
business. 

•  Prioritize management systems 
that best manage the environmen-
tal impact of our mobility solutions 
throughout their lifecycle.

SHAPING MOBILITY – FOR 
GENERATIONS TO COME

Volkswagen’s goal is to develop 
sustainable mobility for us and 
future generations. With electric 
propulsion, digital networks and 
self-driving systems, the car will be 
emissions-friendly, quieter, smarter 
and safer. In this way, the car can 
continue to be an important con-
tributor to future mobility.

CORPORATE STRATEGY

“TOGETHER 2025”

BUSINESS GOALS CLIMATE AND ENVIRONMENT

Volkswagen Group is Møller Mobility Group’s most important partner. The automaker manufactures all the car brands we sell, which means that 
Volkswagen Group’s strategic choices affect our business. For Møller Mobility Group, having one of the world’s largest automaker as our partner is 
a strength. The factory has the power to make priorities that respond to the need for increased sustainability as well as the challenges that lie in the 
megatrends. Volkswagen Group has set specific goals for both climate and the environment as well as future mobility. Central to both the business 
strategy and the Group’s own commitments is a focus on increasing sustainability. These are goals we want to reach for and that harmonize with 
our sustainability ambitions.

CLIMATE-RELATED DISCLOSURES 2021 OTHER INFORMATION 2021SUSTAINABILITY REPORT 2021FINANCIAL STATEMENTS 2021ANNUAL REPORT 202131



Be among the best 
workplaces, regard

less of sector.

Be an active driving force 
for zeroemissions vehicles 

in our markets.

Work proactively for 
a sustainable value 

chain.

Be an industry 
leader in new 

 mobility solutions. Møller
 Mobility Groupk New forms of mobility (Norway)

k Innovative solutions/digitalisation

k Professionalism in the car sector

k Reuse of car parts and batteries

k Climate and environmental focus in purchasing

k Ethics and anti-corruption

k Electrification of the vehicle fleet

k A good, safe workplace

k  Diversity and equal 
opportunities

k Inclusive working life

k Employee development

k Investing in apprentices

The materiality analysis has shown 
the direction, but in order to give 
 adequate focus and drive to the issue 
of sustainability, the following four 
 strategic initiatives have been adopted 
leading up to 2025 – supported by 
12 sustainability domains.

Our four strategic 
 sustainability initiatives
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Møller Mobility Group will be the market leader 
in the sale and servicing of electric vehicles in our 
markets and take an active role in safeguarding 
the car’s place in society in line with new expec
tations for resource utilisation, urban space use 
and sustainable mobility.

In order to achieve this ambition, we have defined 
electrification of the fleet as the central sustain-
ability theme in this area. We’re well on our way: 
In 2021, 79 per cent of the Group’s passenger car 
sales in Norway were electric and we are now 
targeting the transition to emissions-free mobility 
in Sweden and the Baltics. 

Under the Paris Agreement’s provisions to limit 
global warming to 1.5°C, Norway and the EU have 
committed to reducing greenhouse gas emissions 
by at least 55 per cent by 2030. This requires rapid 
cuts in all sources of emissions and the transport 
sector represents both problem and solution in 
this context. A number of policy initiatives imple-
mented to phase in zero-emissions vehicles have 
made Norway the world’s leading electric car mar-

ket. Going forward, the EU Green Deal will energise 
the green shift, including through the “Fit for 55” 
reform package. This backdrop and the Volkswa-
gen Group’s ambitions for value chain decarbon-
isation reassure us that our contributions to the 
green shift matter. The automotive industry has 
been a large part of the problem, but we now find 
ourselves on the threshold of a new era in which 
zero-emissions technology is becoming both 
commercially available and possible to manufac-
ture with lower emissions.

We are committed to supporting customers by 
helping them make one of the most important 
pro-environment choices that can be made, 
alongside investing in a home and personal con-
sumption. Discussions about electric vehicles and 
environmental benefits generate much interest, 
but even from a lifecycle perspective, an electric 
vehicle is the most climate-friendly option.

We are making rapid progress towards achieving 
the goal of exclusively selling electric cars in Nor-
way by 2025. More than 79 per cent of all new 
passenger cars sold by Møller Mobility Group in 
Norway were electric in 2021, against an indus-
try average of around 65 per cent. We expect 
to achieve a share of up to 90 per cent electric 

passenger cars among our models in 2022, which 
realises Norwegian policymakers’ ambitions for 
100 per cent electric new car sales from 2025.

The electrification of commercial vehicles is five 
years behind passenger cars, but a lot points to 
this development also gathering pace in the next 
few years.

INCREASED SHARE OF ELECTRIC CARS IN SWEDEN
In 2021, 57,500 new electric cars were registered in 
Sweden, which corresponds to around 19 per cent 
of the year’s total new car registrations, from 10 per 
cent in 2020. According to forecasts from Bil Swe-
den, the electric vehicle share is set to increase to 
34 per cent of new vehicle registrations in 2022. 
A crucial factor in sustaining this trend will be the 
enlargement of the charging infrastructure at a rate 
matching the roll-out of electric vehicles onto the 
market.

PROMISING MARKET TREND IN THE BALTICS
In the Baltics, the market for electric vehicles 
doubled in 2021, but still only accounts for 3 per 
cent. A total of 2,200 new battery-electric vehicles 
were registered in the Baltics, of which Lithuania 
accounted for 58 per cent of newly registered 
vehicles, followed by Estonia with 22 per cent and 
Latvia with 20 per cent.

Be an active driving force for zeroemissions 
vehicles in our markets

“We will contribute to sound, 
responsible choices, both within 
our own business and in inter
actions with our customers”

Ida Pernille Hatlebrekke, 
Head of Climate and Environment,  

Møller Mobility Group

Sustainability domain: 
k Electrification of the car fleet

Sustainable development goals: 11, 13

Read more: Pages 91–94 for our reporting on this 
sustainability initiative.
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Møller Mobility Group aims to ensure a high 
degree of trust among employees in our mar
kets through continuous work on the company’s 
values, competence building and sustainability in 
its full extent, with a focus on inclusion, diversity 
and gender equality. 

To achieve this ambition, we have defined five 
sustainability domains: A good, safe workplace; 
diversity and equal opportunities; inclusive 
working life; employee development and invest
ing in apprentices. 

We want working for us to be stimulating, 
demanding and enjoyable. In 2021, the new steps 
we took to realise this ambition earned us our all-
time highest GPTW score. This motivates us even 
more to keep up these important efforts, because 
a strong culture is a key competitive advantage. At 
the end of 2021, a year profoundly marked by the 
coronavirus, the group’s total number of employ-
ees was 4,358.

Within Møller Mobility Group, our values Honest 

and Trustworthy, Clear, Proactive, and Open-
minded and Caring have proved to be real 
strengths. In abiding by these values, our aim is 
to build an improvement-driven, trust-based per-
formance culture. We are proud of our history, 
which dates back to 1936 when Harald Aars Møller 
established Strømmen Auto. This was the start of 
what is now one of Northern Europe’s leading car 
companies, but it was also the start of a mindset 
and set of values that are alive and well today. We 
have established robust systems with a code of 
conduct, whistleblowing channel and systematic 
training and work on the regulatory requirements 
for HSE.

Diversity and gender equality are high on the 
agenda in Møller Mobility Group. We find that 
diversity broadens the mind and contributes to 
better processes both strategically and opera-
tionally. The automotive industry is historically 
strongly male dominated, but efforts are being 
made through recruitment processes to attract 
more women, and this has produced good results. 
23 different nationalities are represented in Møller 
Mobility Group, and diversity is part of our culture.

One of the pillars of our strategy is to “develop our 
people”. The competition to recruit talent and spe-

cialists is intensifying, the industry is in upheaval 
and we need to put employee development high 
on the agenda to ensure our competitiveness in 
the years ahead. In 2021, we have been actively 
working on enhancing management development 
programmes, while Harald A. Møller Kompetanse-
senter has carried out instruction, training and 
certification in line with requirements from the 
Volkswagen factory.

Møller Mobility Group’s companies are investing in 
the talent of the future. The Møller Bil School is an 
officially accredited training centre where pupils 
from upper secondary schools sign an apprentice-
ship contract, normally for 24 months. The Møller 
Bil School follows an approved curriculum for an 
automotive technical education as a car mechanic, 
motor vehicle body repair technician, painter and 
spare parts adviser. The Møller Bil School had 
110 apprentices at year-end 2021 (2020 and 2021 
intake). The majority are offered a full-time job with 
Møller Bil once they have passed their apprentice 
examination.

Be among the best workplaces, regardless of sector
Sustainability domains: 
k A good, safe workplace
k Diversity and equal opportunities
k Inclusive working life
k Employee development
k Investing in apprentices

Sustainable development goals: 3,10

Møller Medvind
Diversity and gender equality are high on the 
agenda in Møller Mobility Group. We believe 
that the very best way to take care of young 
people who are excluded from ordinary 
working life is to provide them with work 
in our businesses, and Møller Medvind is an 
important investment in terms of diversity and 
inclusion.

Employees who are recruited are young people 
who have dropped out of school and work. 
Through employment in Møller Medvind, they 
gain a second chance to enter the labour mar-
ket, and the goal is to give everyone permanent, 
full-time positions. Several of the employees at 
Møller Medvind have graduated to full positions 
in our dealerships. At the end of 2021, there were 
50 young people working at Møller Medvind. 

Møller Medvind has also been used as a con-
sultative body in connection with the law crim-
inalizing the purchase of unregulated car care 
services, which comes into force in June 2022.

Find out more about Møller Medvind on pages 
102-103.

Read more: Pages 95–102 and 104–105 for our 
reporting on this sustainability initiative.
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Møller Mobility Group will work systematically 
for a sustainability perspective along our entire 
value chain, and to ensure that our suppliers 
operate in a climatefriendly, green, socially 
responsible and professional manner, in full legal 
and regulatory compliance, while abiding by the 
ethical standards we have set.

To achieve this ambition, we have defined a green 
focus in purchasing; ethics and anticorruption; 
professionalism in the car sector; and reuse of car 
parts and batteries as the most important sustain-
ability domains.

In 2021, we have expanded our climate-related 
reporting with more detailed information about our 
carbon footprint, so that the accounts serve as a 
tool for defining the cost-benefit effect of emission- 
reduction measures. This mapping is also essential 
for identifying climate-related risks in both our own 
operations and the supply chain, which in turn has 
laid the foundation for starting to report in accord-
ance with TCFD (see pages 84–85). 

Møller Mobility Group currently has a leading role 
in the electrification of the Norwegian fleet and is 
the clear market leader in the BEV segment (battery 
electric vehicles) in Europe, with a market share of 
around 25 per cent. Our ambition is to make a major 
contribution to fulfilment of the Norwegian govern-
ment’s goal for all new passenger cars sold to be 
zero-emissions by 2025. In addition, we will work 
purposefully to ensure sustainability throughout our 
business and value chain.

Møller Mobility Group has produced its own Code 
of Conduct to lay down guidelines on ethical prac-
tices. We have also established clear routines for 
whistleblowing. Through membership of the UN 
Global Compact, we are committed to doing our 
best to conduct business in line with the ten princi-
ples in the field of human rights, labour standards, 
the environment and anti-corruption. (See pages 
140–141.)

Møller Mobility Group has a zero-tolerance policy 
on any transactions intended to unfairly avoid or 
evade taxes or duties. Ever since the company was 
founded, we have honoured our pledge to live up 
to our founder Harald Aars Møller’s ever-relevant 
maxim: “Stick to the rules!”. We have formalized 
our environmental engagement with ISO 14001 

environmental certification, and other parts of our 
company follow other relevant ISO certifications, 
whether in Norway, Sweden or the Baltics.

If you look at the entire value chain and the 
resources required to produce an electric car, the 
car has a fairly significant environmental footprint. 
We need to look at the electric car from a lifecycle 
perspective and do what we can with our room 
for manoeuvre to keep the car on the road as long 
as possible for the customer so that it remains as 
environmentally friendly and safe as when it left 
the factory. The Volkswagen factory prioritizes the 
circular economy and reuse in its own logistics, 
with remanufacturing of high-voltage components 
such as batteries, battery modules and associated 
components, increased standardization of parts 
and a comprehensive replacement parts pro-
gramme for electric cars.

In addition, we monitor waste management and 
energy management in all our markets. When it 
comes to waste, going forward we will establish 
the most accurate reporting structure possible 
across our markets. Energy management is moni-
tored closely, and a commitment to, among other 
things, the installation of solar energy has been ini-
tiated to support the transition to green electricity.

Work proactively for a sustainable value chain
Sustainability domains: 
k Climate and environmental focus in purchasing
k Ethics and anti-corruption
k Professionalism in the car sector
k Reuse of car parts and batteries

Sustainable development goals: 11, 12, 13

Read more: Pages 106–118 for our reporting on 
this sustainability initiative.

“In 2020, we integrated climate
related accounting into our 
overall environmental strategy, 
and last year we expanded our 
reporting to ensure data quality 
and more detailed information 
about our climate footprint”
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In the future, Møller Mobility Group will excite 
its customers by responding to a wide range 
of mobility needs and aims to play a key role 
in smart, urban mobility solutions and concepts.

To achieve this ambition, we have defined new 
forms of mobility and innovative solutions/digi
talisation as the two most important sustainability 
domains. 

Mobility is an increasing priority for cities that have 
to accommodate an ever-increasing number of 
people and their needs, while active efforts are 
being made to reduce congestion and pollution, 
at the same time as people’s transport habits are 
changing. The development of zero-emissions 
technology, in combination with new ways of 
organizing mobility and running a car, means 
that a broader spectrum of mobility will form an 
important part of the solution for reducing future 
greenhouse gas emissions. 

Through the Hyre company, we have a stake in 
a leading environment that is actively working to 
shape the mobility solutions of the future. Hyre 
is one of the leading car sharing services in the 
Norwegian market and currently has over 3,000 
corporate customers. In 2021, both turnover and 
the number of cars doubled, which corresponds 
to a growth of more than 90 per cent. In May 
2021, Hyre was chosen as the supplier of car shar-
ing services for Bergen Municipality, while Sola 
 Municipality’s solution, also provided by Hyre, is 
getting under way.

Technology is already an integral part of how 
people and goods move in society, whether it’s 
unlocking a rented Hyre car or planning the use of 
public transport through mobile apps. We believe 
that an increased rate of change in digitalisation 
will drive new needs among customers who are 
increasingly demanding products and services 
that can make everyday life easier. 

Car sharing may contribute to more services being 
performed with fewer vehicles, and also reduce 
the use of private cars in professional use. Reduc-
ing the professional use of private cars will also 
eliminate employees’ need to drive to and from 
work. 

Møller Mobility Group is now in a phase where 
digitalisation is becoming essential for delivering 
a seamless and personalized customer experi-
ence across products and services, channels and 
interfaces. We will develop integrated proposi-
tions that combine digital mobility services with 
physical products. The goal is to create the indus-
try’s best customer experiences and increased 
customer loyalty. In addition, we will simplify and 
streamline our business processes and day-to-day 
work routines in our workshops and in the sales 
phase. The Group will therefore implement the 
DRIVe transformation programme with an invest-
ment framework of several hundred million NOK 
over the next few years. 

Car subscriptions are an increasingly popular 
option that provides increased flexibility for the 
customer. Compared to leasing, a car subscription 
is a simpler solution without a deposit or set-up 
fee. The only thing you need to think about is the 

monthly price which includes everything except 
fuel and road tolls. The contract term is also shorter 
than for a standard leasing agreement. Møller 
Mobility Group established the first subscription 
in 2019 with SEAT Frii, and we are now working 
on establishing CUPRA Frii where the user orders 
the car online, and can choose from a number of 
different financing and rental schemes, including 
the Born Frii subscription scheme. 

To be an industry leader in new mobility solutions
Sustainability domains: 
k New forms of mobility
k Innovative solutions/digitalisation

Sustainable development goal: 9

Read more: Pages 119–121 for our reporting on this 
sustainability initiative.

“From 2020 to 2021, Hyre 
achieved growth of more 
than 90 per cent and has 
 doubled the number of share 
cars from 500 to 1,000 in the 
major  Norwegian cities”
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The UN’s 17 Sustainable Devel-
opment Goals (SDGs) are 
the world’s shared plan of 
action to eradicate poverty, 
combat inequality and stop 
climate change by 2030. As 
the  Nordic region’s largest 
importer of and dealer in cars, 
we can contribute through 
an active commitment. Based 
on our efforts to develop our 
 sustainability initiatives, we 
have prioritised five of the UN 
SDGs where we will make a 
positive contribution.

Be among the  
best workplaces,  

regardless  
of sector.

Be an active driving  
force for zeroemissions vehicles  

in our markets.

Working actively  
for a sustainable  

value chain.

Be an  
industry leader  
in new mobility  

solutions. Møller
 Mobility Group

Our prioritised sustainable 
development goals
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Results 

2021
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“Our longterm ambition  
is to be among the best 
 workplaces in the Nordic 
and  Baltic  countries  
– regardless of  sector”

For over 85 years, the Møller family has played a central role in Norway's social development.  
Today, the family's ownership and activities are gathered into the family-owned holding  company 
Aars. The company's name goes back to Harald Aars Møller who founded what is now Møller Mobility 
Group. Nowadays it is members of the third and fourth generations who are the active owners.

A proud history  
to carry forward

SUSTAINABILITY IS OUR FUTURE STRENGTH
Sustainable business is a premise for Møller Mobil-
ity Group’s operations. Our customers,  employees, 
society and owners expect Møller Mobility 
Group to contribute to responsible and positive 
development.

Møller Mobility Group's founder, Harald A. Møller, 
had one maxim: “Stick to the rules!” This mantra 
has had a strong influence on the Group, and laid 
the foundation for Møller Mobility Group's core 
values of Honest and Trustworthy, Clear, Proactive, 
and Open-minded and Caring.

To “stick to the rules” has also been the premise of 
our approach to sustainable business.

Møller Mobility Group's new strategy for the 
organisation was launched in 2021. The strategy 
aims to strengthen the Group’s position, and sus-
tainability will be our future strength. Combined 
with a forward-leaning organisation and a proac-
tive factory that is investing heavily in zero-emis-
sions vehicles, we are well prepared to meet the 
expectations of the market and society. Our new 
strategy focuses on the connections between 
people, business and sustainability. 

that cares about its employees – and people in 
general. This is fundamental to our business. Skilled 
and dedicated employees are crucial for winning 
customers. Good business develops in good 
encounters between people.

An important part of our social mission is also to 
create new opportunities for people who are out 
of work. This is also what sustainability is about, 
and here we can count Møller Medvind a success.

It provides thorough training in car care of used 
cars and the vast majority of those taken on are 
offered permanent full-time employment, and 
can get their lives back on track. A certificate in 
car care was approved in early autumn 2021 and 
Møller Medvind was approved as an apprentice-
ship provider in car care soon after. For the group 
and society, this yields a number of benefits. We 
recruit important expertise, and we also contribute 
to proper conditions in an industry that is regretta-
bly known for its unregulated economy and poor 
working conditions.

“In a good and safe job, many of us find the joy of 
being able to contribute something that is  valuable 
and useful to others. Far too many young  people 
find that the door to ordinary employment is 

Sustainability means we must harvest and sow in 
a way that ensures that future generations have 
as good a starting point as we had. It is a matter 
of economic, social and environmental security. 
For us, in practice, it means the following: New 
customers have high expectations and increas-
ingly demand sustainable products and services. 
Employees want to work for companies that are 
involved in helping resolve our era’s challenges. 
Suppliers are expected to meet specific require-
ments set by private and public enterprises, which 
want to buy sustainable products from their sub-
contractors. Investors and lenders are increasingly 
demanding sustainability in their financing. 

These are the reasons why we at Møller Mobility 
Group have also placed sustainability at the top of 
the agenda, together with our genuine desire to be 
part of the solution, not the problem, in the future. 
At the end of last year, the group signed the Nor-
wegian Guide Against Greenwashing, the first in the 
industry to do so. This will be used as a guideline for 
the further sustainability work in the Group.

DRIVEN BY PEOPLE AND SUSTAINABILITY
Good employees who believe in what they do 
are a prerequisite for our success. Møller Mobility 
Group will be known as an enterprising company 

Chairman of the Board and owner of 
Møller Mobility Group and the Aars 
holding company
ØYVIND SCHAGE FØRDE
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closed to them. Troubles at school, health prob-
lems, a difficult adolescence, prejudice or simply 
bad luck may have placed obstacles on the road 
to a permanent full-time job. This is frustrating 
for the individual – and a costly waste of talent, 
productivity and revenue for society”, as Møller 
Medvind’s website states.

We have chosen to engage to help solve one of 
the most important societal challenges we face: to 
get people who are out of work into a job. Young 
people – and some seniors – recruited through 
the Norwegian Labour and Welfare Administra-
tion (NAV) are given practical work experience 
and vocational training before being offered a 
permanent full-time job in the Møller Medvind 
programme, and eventually moving on to one of 
our businesses or another company. 

AIMING FOR THE 1.5 DEGREE TARGET
As the first company in our industry, Møller Mobil-
ity Group submitted complete climate-related 
disclosures in 2021, and we are currently work-
ing on a number of measures to further reduce 
our emissions, to bring the Group below the 1.5 
degree target by 2027.

It is gratifying to see that Møller Mobility Group's 
main partner, the Volkswagen Group, continues to 
work towards a fundamental change in individual 
mobility, while consistently focusing on electrific 
vehicles and emissions cuts in all stages of the 
business.

The Volkswagen Group has established a compre-
hensive decarbonisation programme with the goal 

of achieving full carbon neutrality in all areas from 
the vehicle fleet via production to administration 
by 2050: “Volkswagen Way To ZERO”. Volkswagen 
has thus committed fully to implementing the cli-
mate goals of the Paris Agreement. Volkswagen 
Group’s huge investment in electric vehicles will 
consequently benefit all our brands. 

Møller Mobility Group will help us achieve the goal 
set by the Norwegian authorities that all new pas-
senger cars sold in 2025 will be emission-free. 

The demanding situation the whole world faces, 
with a continuing pandemic, and now the war in 
Ukraine, affects both the Group and us as  owners. 
Our most important task is to take care of our 
employees, and ensure good dialogue with our 
customers who are impacted by new delivery 
difficulties. In such a situation, it is good to note 
that the Group's vision and strategy provide a 
clear direction for how we will develop people, 
 business and sustainability.

AARS

>  Aars is today one of Norway's largest fami-
ly-owned businesses, with roots dating back 
to 1936 when Harald Aars Møller established 
his business. The automotive business, Møller 
Mobility Group, remains at the core.

>  Møller Medvind is a separate company under 
Aars.

>  In addition, Aars owns, operates and devel-
ops urban commercial properties through 
Møller Eiendom, and invests and engages 
in companies that can benefit from active 
ownership.

The maxim of founder Harald Aars Møller 

”
Man skal holde 

sin sti ren
[‘Stick to the rules’]
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The Board of Møller Mobility Group

Øyvind Schage Førde (1973)
Chairman and owner

Harald Møller (1958)
Board member and owner

Jon Morten Møller (1960)
Board member and owner

Jacob Schram (1962)
Consultant
Board member

Kristin S. Genton (1971)
CFO, REITAN AS
Board member 

Laxmi Akkaraju (1969)
SVP Strategic Customer Services, Cognite
Board member 
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KEY FIGURES

(Amounts in NOK millions) 2021 2020 2019 2018 2017

Operating revenue 36 136 33 017 30 561 26 173 28 273
Profit
Operating profit 2 415 1 393 1 001 762 1 038
EBITDA 1 2 782 1 877 1 417 1 179 1 389
Profit before tax 2 562 1 665 1 031 880 1 121
Profit for the year 2 010 1 326 826 689 861
Capital
Equity at 31 Dec. 4 542 4 076 3 704 3 286 3 225
Total assets at 31 Dec 11 209 10 025 9 787 8 172 8 050
Equity ratio 40,5 40,7 37,8 40,2 40,1
Profitability
Return on equity in % 2 48,8 36,0 23,8 23,3 29,4
Return on total assets in % 3 24,1 16,8 11,5 11,4 14,6
Number of employees
Number of employees 4 254 4 078 4 282 4 260 4 345
Total payrolland personnel costs 3 303 3 288 3 097 2 829 2 812

1) Including results in assosiated companies 
2) Return on equity: profit for the year as a percentage of average equity
3) Return on total assets: the result before tax plus financial costs as a percentage of average total assets.

Key figures Møller Mobility Group
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THE NATURE, SCOPE AND LOCATION  
OF THE GROUP
The core business of Møller Mobility Group is the 
import, sale, servicing, financing and repair of the 
Volkswagen, Volkswagen Commercial Vehicles, 
Audi, Škoda and SEAT and CUPRA automotive 
brands. The business is located in Norway, Swe-
den, Estonia, Latvia and Lithuania. Møller Mobil-
ity Group’s ambition is to be a leading provider 
of sustainable mobility, and its goal is to create 
value for its customers, employees, owners and 
partners. Ever since Harald Aars Møller started 
his own car company in 1936, the core values 
of Honest and Trustworthy, Clear, Proactive, and 
Open-minded and Caring have been central to 
the business. 

Møller Mobility Group has a proud history of 
more than 85 years of experience in distribut-
ing, financing and servicing major car brands 
and is now the leading car group in the Nordic 
and Baltic countries. The results are created by 
proactive owners, management and employees. 
At the same time, the Group now faces a major 
change whose outcome no one can predict with 
certainty – and which will require a very different 
adaptive capability. The “DARE TO MOVE” vision 
is the guiding star that we will always strive for: 
we deliver mobility and, as we have before, we 
face the coming decades with an ambitious 
energy.

Møller Mobility Group is owned by Aars AS. Aars 
AS is a holding company focusing on asset man-
agement and allocation of capital to its subsidi-
aries. Aars AS also owns Møller Eiendom, which 
owns a large share of Møller Mobility Group's 

car facilities. Møller Mobility Group leases the 
 premises on long-term contracts. 

Møller Mobility Group is managed through a 
group management consisting of the business 
areas Harald A. Møller (car imports Norway), 
Møller Bil (car dealerships in Norway and Swe-
den), Baltic Operations (import and dealership 
business in the three Baltic countries) and Møller 
Mobility Services (the Group's ownership interests 
in Volkswagen Møller Bilfinans as well as mobil-
ity and vehicle servicing companies), as well as 
Møller Digital and staff functions for finance and 
strategy, people and organization, sustainability 
and communication. Each business area is culti-
vated with an emphasis on independent responsi-
bility and authority within the agreed framework of 
strategies and targets, to achieve long-term value 
creation. Where appropriate, common functions 
are used to exploit economies of scale across the 
business areas. 

The Group mainly follows the recommendations 
of the Norwegian Corporate Governance Board 
in relation to principles and practices concerning 
corporate governance. This is described in more 
detail in a separate section of the annual report.

Harald A. Møller (car imports Norway)
Harald A. Møller AS is Norway’s largest car 
importer with a total market share of over 20 per 
cent in recent years. Volkswagen passenger cars, 
Volkswagen Commercial Vehicles, Audi and Škoda 
all have very solid market positions in the Norwe-
gian market. As of 2018, Harald A. Møller also sells 
SEAT and CUPRA in Norway through a new model 
where sales are made directly from importer to 

end customer through a digital platform. Harald A. 
Møller AS is the chain leader for all the car brands 
and is also in charge of logistics for vehicles, parts 
and accessories for all the dealerships in Norway.

Møller Bil (car dealerships in Norway  
and Sweden)
The car dealerships in Norway and Sweden are 
organised as a single business area with joint man-
agement and programme functions for new cars, 
used cars, the aftersales market, repairs centres, 
marketing and property across the markets. Møller 
Bil is subdivided into four regions: Greater Oslo, 
Western Norway, Central Norway and Sweden. 
The dealerships are engaged in the sale of new 
and used cars and the operation of mechanical 
workshops and bodywork shops. The dealerships 
operate as independent units, but work is coordi-
nated and experience is shared where appropriate 
– also across national borders.

In Norway, Møller Bil AS owns a significant part 
of the Norwegian dealership network. With 44 
dealerships and 12 specialised repair shops spread 
across the country, Møller Bil is Norway’s largest 
car dealership chain. For Volkswagen and Audi, 
Møller Bil covers about 60 percent of the market, 
with an emphasis on the largest cities. The market 
share for Škoda is around 50 per cent.

The Group’s dealerships in Sweden are also organ-
ised as a chain under the name Möller Bil. The 
chain consists of 13 dealerships for Volks wagen, 
Audi, Škoda, SEAT and Volkswagen Commer-
cial Vehicles, and a Porsche dealership acquired 
in 2020. With the exception of an Audi dealer 
in Gothenburg, the dealerships are located in 

Mälardalen, and all have a shared administration 
in Uppsala. Möller Bil Sverige accounts for about 10 
per cent of the Swedish importer’s sales.  

Baltic Operations
The Group’s import and dealership activities in the 
Baltic countries are consolidated under a single 
joint management. Moller Baltic Import imports 
Volkswagen passenger cars and Volkswagen 
Commercial Vehicles into all three Baltic countries 
and Audi into Latvia and Lithuania. The importer 
is located in Riga. The dealerships in the Baltics 
are organised in the same way as in Norway and 
Sweden under the name Moller Auto. The chain 
has shared management for the three countries, 
located in Riga. Moller Auto consists of 12 dealer-
ships, which are mainly located in the three capi-
tals: Riga, Tallinn and Vilnius.

Møller Mobility Services
Møller Mobility Services was established as a new 
business area in 2021, and includes the Group's 
activities in financial services and mobility solu-
tions. Currently, the business area consists of the 
Group's ownership in the Volkswagen Møller Bil-
finans financing company, the Hyre car sharing 
company, the Mitt Dekkhotell tyre hotel chain and 
the LaserWash car wash chain. 

The car financing company Volkswagen Møller 
Bilfinans AS, is jointly controlled with Volkswa-
gen Financial Services AG. Møller Mobility Group 
owns 49 per cent of the company, which offers 
loans, leasing products, and insurance linked to 
the respective brands’ sales of new and used cars 
in Norway.

Report of the Board of Directors
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The Hyre technology company was founded in 
2017 when Møller Mobility Group teamed up with 
talented entrepreneurs with the aim of making it 
easier to rent/lease, rather than own, a car. Møller 
Mobility Group owns 77.5 per cent of the com-
pany. Hyre has more than 1,000 cars available in 
Oslo, Bergen and Trondheim, and offers a wide 
choice of vehicles to meet customer needs. With 
increasing availability of car sharing services, we 
are also seeing growing demand from consum-
ers. Hyre is receiving very good feedback from 
customers and has grown strongly since its incep-
tion, and in 2021 the company achieved a turnover 
growth of 90 per cent. 

Mitt Dekkhotell offers modern and efficient tyre 
hotels, and has a strategic partnership with Møller 
Bil. With fleet electrification, the average dimension 
of tyres is increasing and, with it, the demand for 
simple and efficient tyre hotels. Today, the chain 
consists of 5 tyre hotels in the Oslo and Bergen 
region, and turnover from operating companies 
increased by 31 per cent in 2021. Møller Mobility 
Group owns 25 per cent of the Mitt Dekkhotell 
chain. 

The LaserWash car wash chain offers gentle, effec-
tive and brushless car washes and consists of 26 
facilities in 15 locations in the Drammen region, 
Vestfold, Østfold and Oslo. The company has a 
growth agenda and increased its turnover by 86 
per cent in 2021. Møller Mobility Group acquired 
50 per cent of the company from the founder in 
2021.

In March 2022, the Group also invested in the Rebil 
used car platform as well as the Gire logistics com-
pany. The Rebil company offers a digital platform 
for buying and selling used cars. The trend in dig-
italisation is incurring a strong rate of innovation 
in this area. Møller Mobility Group has acquired 
10 per cent of the company from the founder and 

majority owner, Askeladden. The Gire company 
sells transfer services for car sharing fleets. Møller 
Mobility Group acquired 7.14 per cent of the com-
pany from the founders.

MACRO-ECONOMICS AND FRAMEWORK 
CONDITIONS 
Macroeconomic trends were positive in 2021, with 
continued low interest rates and falling unemploy-
ment, but with clearly higher inflation, and particu-
larly large price increases in the energy markets. 
At the same time, the pandemic endured at full 
strength throughout the year, leading to contin-
ued limited travel activity. Overall, this resulted 
in very high demand for cars, with good order 
books during the year. However, the supply of 
new cars was lower than the high demand. The 
automotive industry faced major challenges in the 
supply chains, especially in relation to the shortage 
of semiconductors, which are key components of 
car making. The world semiconductor shortage 
has several causes, including increased demand, 
but also production challenges as a result of the 
pandemic and extreme weather events. 

The total market for passenger cars in Norway 
reached a record 176,276 cars in 2021, an increase 
of 25 per cent from 2020, and beating the old 
record from 1986 of 167,362 cars. Without restric-
tions on the supply of cars, the total market would 
have been even higher. The Swedish passenger 
car market increased by 3 per cent over 2020 and 
ended at 301,006 passenger cars in 2021, while the 
total market in the Baltics decreased by 4 per cent 
to 78,817 registered cars. The used car market was 
also strong and characterised by greater demand 
than access, and the aftersales market had a pos-
itive development in all of the Group’s markets.  

The production of electric vehicles continues to 
increase as a result of increased focus and require-
ments linked to climate and the environment. In 

Europe, this is strongly driven by the EU's emissions 
targets, which entail large fines if the average CO2 
emissions per registered car from a manufacturer 
exceed 95 g/km. The Volkswagen Group is invest-
ing heavily in electric vehicles, as well as techno-
logical progress in autonomous cars, digitalisation 
and mobility solutions. The Group's brands will 
launch 20 all-electric models by 2025 and 70 new 
all-electric models by 2030, and the plan means 
that Volkswagen will have electric versions of its 
entire model portfolio no later than 2030.

The favourable tax system for electric vehicles in 
Norway has been maintained through 2021, and is 
why Norway is still leading the way in the electrifi-
cation of the passenger car fleet in Europe and the 
world. They increased from 54 per cent of the total 
market for passenger cars in 2020 to 65 per cent in 
2021. Møller Mobility Group has a leading role in 
the electrification of the Norwegian car fleet, and a 
full 79 per cent of the Group's passenger car sales 
in 2021 were all-electric cars.

In Sweden, tax breaks are also issued for low-emis-
sion cars, and the proportion of rechargeable and 
electric vehicles continued to increase sharply 
in 2021. 45 per cent of new car sales in Sweden 
were rechargeable cars in 2021, up from 32 per 
cent in 2020. Plug-in hybrids dominate, but the 
share of electric cars doubled, accounting for 19 
percent of total passenger car sales. In the Baltics, 
there are no tax breaks for low-emission cars, and 
although sales of electric cars are increasing, they 
still account for only 3 per cent of total passenger 
car sales.

Due to developments in the macro picture, supply 
chain disruptions constitute the most prominent 
risk factor for the Group in the short to medium 
term. Beyond this, digitalisation, technological 
progress and sustainability are the most important 
mega trends affecting the automotive industry and 

the group. Market movements have intensified in 
several areas and are characterised by electrifi-
cation, connected cars, new sales models, new 
competitors, consolidation across the value chain, 
digitalisation and a focus on sustainability. Møller 
Mobility Group is well equipped to meet the 
future together with a forward-looking partner in 
Volkswagen AG, and an ambitious strategy where 
we will both exploit the full potential of existing 
business, while investing and transforming for 
the future.

ANNUAL FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
The Group's pre-tax profit for 2021 was NOK 2,562 
million, compared with NOK 1,665 million in 2020, 
and the profit ratio increased from 5.0 per cent last 
year to 7.1 per cent this year. The result in 2020 was 
by far the best in the group's history, but 2021 was 
even stronger and is a solid record result for the 
group. The result is due to good framework condi-
tions and a strong organisation that is able to make 
the most of the potential, driven by good demand, 
higher average prices for new cars, a strong used 
car market, as well as a good sales trend and effi-
ciency in the servicing market. 

Turnover for the Group was NOK 36.1 billion in 
2021, compared with NOK 33 billion in 2020. The 
increase is primarily due to higher average prices 
for new cars, but also positive developments in 
the aftersales market and the used car market. 
Contract signings for new cars were very good in 
2021, driven by the launch of new electric models 
such as the VW ID.4, Skoda Enyaq and Audi Q4 
e-tron.

Although contract signings for new cars were 
very high throughout the year, the number of 
cars delivered was still lower than last year due 
to a shortage of parts at the factories. There were 
44,128 registrations of cars from the Group’s 
brands in Norway, compared with 46,180 in 2020. 
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The Group’s total market share for passenger car 
brands was thus 21.1 per cent, compared with 26.7 
per cent in 2020. Market share for the Group’s 
brands fell somewhat in Sweden, but increased 
in the Baltics. In Sweden, the number of new 
cars delivered fell by 14 per cent to 7,368, while 
the number of registered cars from Moller Baltic 
Import was 9,358, an increase of 27 per cent. The 
number of used cars sold decreased by 10 per 
cent, after declines in both Norway and Sweden, 
while the Baltics increased slightly. A total of 28,832 
used cars were sold in 2021. Servicing market turn-
over increased in all markets in 2021.

All business areas delivered very good results in 2021, 
and it is especially the import business in  Norway 
and the dealerships chains in Norway and Sweden 
that achieved very large profit increases. Gross profit 
rose as a result of high average prices for new cars, a 
still-strong used car market and good turnover and 
productivity improvements in the servicing market. 
Costs have increased compared to last year, and 
what is driving the increase is particularly warranty 
and marketing costs, as well as costs associated 
with the Group’s digital transformation programme, 
in addition to the fact that last year’s figures included 
the effect of layoffs and other cost cutting ensuing 
from the pandemic. The profit share from the car 
financing business has decreased somewhat com-
pared to last year due to tax changes, while the 
financial result is characterised by positive currency 
effects, albeit lower than in 2021.

Investments, liquidity and financing
Cash flow from investment activities amounted to 
NOK 563 million in 2021, compared with NOK 284 
million in 2020. The investments went primarily to 
the purchase of the remaining 50 per cent of the 
shares in Møller Bil Sør-Rogaland and 50 per cent 
of the shares in the LaserWash car wash chain, as 
well as minor upgrades of dealership facilities and 
digital solutions.

Total inventories had a value of NOK 3.6 billion at 
the end of 2021, which is an increase of NOK 0.2 
billion compared to 31 December 2020. It is the 
used car inventory that is somewhat higher. Trade 
receivables were reduced by more than NOK 0.4 
billion, while accounts payable are unchanged, 
and net working capital has thus been reduced 
by NOK 0.2 billion compared to the end of 2020. 
This, combined with high earnings, means that 
the Group delivered cash flow from operations 
of NOK 3.2 billion in 2021.

The financing structure of Møller Mobility Group 
has been further strengthened by the establish-
ment of a NOK 2 billion syndicate loan due in 
December 2026. The loan replaces the previous 
syndicate loan of NOK 1 billion, and is a framework 
agreement with flexible drawing to finance on-
going fluctuations in working capital. In addition, 
the Group has three bond loans: one of NOK 400 
million due in March 2022, one of NOK 300 million 
maturing in December 2023, and one of NOK 600 
million maturing in March 2026. Of the NOK 400 
million loan, Møller Mobility Group AS has NOK 190 
million on its own books. In total, interest-bearing 
debt is NOK 1.1 billion at the end of 2021, while 
the Group has liquid assets of NOK 2.7 billion. Net 
interest-bearing debt is therefore positive at NOK 
1.6 billion, up from NOK 1 billion at the end of 2020. 
Liquidity and the financing situation are very good.

In order to optimise equity throughout the year, 
Møller Mobility Group normally distributes div-
idends each four months, and NOK 700 million 
was allocated to dividends and group contribu-
tions as of the 3rd four-month period of 2021. The 
total dividend and group contribution for 2021 was 
therefore increased to NOK 1.4 billion. The equity 
ratio is 40.5 per cent.

The Group’s dealerships have off-balance liabilities 
totalling NOK 6.4 billion linked to the future repur-

chase of cars from financing companies. This is a 
decrease of 10 per cent from 2020. There is always 
a risk that the market price of the cars will be lower 
than the guaranteed repurchase value. Continuous 
assessments are therefore made of the expected 
market price of the cars that are in the repurchase 
portfolio at all times, and provisions are made for 
potential losses where relevant. Overall, provisions 
were reduced in 2021 as a result of a positive devel-
opment in the used car market and reduced repur-
chase obligations, and the Board is of the opinion 
that the risk is under control, based on the current 
financial position and market conditions.

The constant increase in the sale of battery-electric 
cars entails a greater need for provisions related to 
the collection and processing of lithium batteries. 
The Volkswagen Group is responsible for new cars 
sold from 2020 onwards, but for all sales before 
2020, this responsibility lies with Møller Mobility 
Group. The Group makes continuous assessments 
of this obligation, for which, as of 31 December 
2021, it has a total provision of NOK 216 million, 
which is unchanged compared to the end of 2020.

When importing cars and parts, the transaction 
currency is euro, with the exception of imports 
of Škoda, where payment is made in Norwegian 
kroner. Prices in euro are regulated according 
to currency agreements with the factory, where 
most of the risk is borne by the factory. Møller 
Mobility Group bears the transaction risk during 
the credit period, as well as a long-term strategic 
risk associated with the eurozone’s competitive-
ness. In order to reduce settlement risk, currency 
spot and forward contracts are used. In addition, 
the Group's investments in Sweden and the Bal-
tics are subject to currency fluctuations. This risk 
is reduced by these businesses being financed in 
local currency. Equity is not hedged beyond the 
expected one-year dividend, which is secured by 
currency forward contracts until payment.

THE BUSINESS AREAS
Harald A. Møller (car imports Norway)
Harald A. Møller achieved a record pre-tax profit 
of NOK 1,220 million compared with NOK 730 mil-
lion in 2020. Although the number of cars sold is 
down 5 per cent from last year, increased average 
prices contribute to a total sales growth of 14 per 
cent. Skoda sales more than doubled following the 
launch of Skoda Enyaq, but Audi and Volkswagen 
also increased sales by 8 per cent with good help 
from the launches of the Volkswagen ID.4, Audi 
Q4 e-tron and Audi e-tron GT. Volkswagen Com-
mercial Vehicles is awaiting the launch of ID.Buzz 
and ID.Buzz Cargo in 2022, and sales decreased 16 
per cent compared to 2020, while sales of parts 
and accessories increased by 6 per cent. Overall, 
gross profit has been significantly increased, while 
costs have increased compared to 2020, primar-
ily driven by increased warranty costs, marketing 
costs and personnel costs. The latter two were 
significantly reduced last year due to significant 
cost measures throughout the spring and summer.

Møller Bil (car dealerships in Norway and 
Sweden)
Møller Bil achieved a total pre-tax profit of record-
high NOK 1,303 million compared with NOK 886 
million in 2020. Average prices for new cars were 
also the biggest contributor here. Sales of new 
cars increased by 19 per cent in Norway, while 
used car sales remained at the same level as in 
2020. Servicing market turnover was up 4 per cent 
compared to 2020. In Sweden, turnover was on a 
par with 2020. Servicing market turnover is increas-
ing, but new and used car sales are somewhat 
reduced. Overall, sales for Møller Bil are 9 per cent 
higher than last year, while gross profit has been 
boosted, particularly related to used cars. Total 
costs are higher than last year due to increased 
turnover and cost measures last year.



46 CLIMATE-RELATED DISCLOSURES 2021 OTHER INFORMATION 2021SUSTAINABILITY REPORT 2021FINANCIAL STATEMENTS 2021ANNUAL REPORT 2021

Baltics (Car imports and  
car dealerships in the Baltics)
Overall, operations in the Baltics achieved a pre-
tax profit of NOK 84 million compared with NOK 
78 million in 2020. The import business returned 
a profit of NOK 20 million, compared with NOK 
49 million in 2020, while the dealership business 
achieved a profit of NOK 64 million, compared 
with NOK 29 million in 2020. There was a good 
turnover increase in all parts of the business in 
2021, but the result is also affected by a 7.4 mil-
lion euro fine from the Competition Authority of 
Latvia from 2014. Møller Mobility Group appealed 
the case in 2015, and was granted a hearing in the 
court of first instance, but in September 2021 the 
case was taken up by the Supreme Court, which 
has now sent the case back to the lower court for 
a new judgment. Møller Mobility Group disputes 
the scope and size of the fine, but is choosing to 
make the provision out of caution.

Møller Mobility Services
Møller Mobility Services (MMS) includes the 
Group’s ownership interests in service provid-
ers other than car dealerships, i.e. Volkswagen 
Møller Bilfinans, Hyre, Mitt Dekkhotell and Laser-
Wash. MMS achieved a pre-tax profit of NOK 80 
million compared with NOK 145 million in 2020. 
The profit share of 49 per cent of profit after tax 
from Volkswagen Møller Bilfinans dominates, 
amounting to NOK 112 million compared to NOK 
142 million in 2020. The decrease is due to a 
one-off effect related to a new financial tax. Pre-
tax profits at Volkswagen Møller Bilfinans were 
a record NOK 402 million, driven by higher net 
interest rates, while the share of new car financ-
ing decreased from 43 per cent last year to 34 
per cent this year.

PERSONNEL, WORKING ENVIRONMENT,  
THE ENVIRONMENT AND CORPORATE SOCIAL 
RESPONSIBILITY
At the end of 2021, the group's total number of 
employees was 4,326, an increase of 4.4 per cent 
compared to 2020. Sweden had 648 employees, 
the three Baltics a total of 609 and Norway had 
3,069. The proportion of women in the Group was 
approximately 16 per cent at the end of 2021. There 
are three women in the Group management and 
a growing number of women in senior positions 
in the Group in general. There is an ambition to 
further increase diversity in the Group.

There has been an increase in sickness absence 
as a result of the pandemic. Sickness absence in 
the Group as a whole was 5.5 per cent in 2021, up 
from 5.2 per cent in 2020.  

In Norway in 2021, a total of 22 accidents and inci-
dents were reported from Møller Bil and  Harald 
A. Møller AS. In 14 of these cases, employees 
received emergency medical care, which in turn 
resulted in 6 medically certified sickness absences. 
Injuries sustained are mainly accidental or due to 
human error. There was no need to alter safety 
procedures other than to remind employees to 
use protective equipment. No major damage to 
property or materials was reported.

The working environment in the Group is con-
sidered to be good, despite another demanding 
year of mandatory working from home and a 
strong focus on infection control due to the pan-
demic. The Group conducts annual employee 
surveys and continuously works on measures 
to strengthen the working environment. Møller 
Mobility Group achieved a solid score in this year's 
performance of the Great Place to Work survey, 
and all parts of the group are now certified. In 
this year’s survey, the Group scored an average 
score of 79 per cent, which is an improvement of 

more than 5 percentage points compared to 2020. 
Efforts to engage employees will continue at full 
force in 2022, with the implementation of a new 
management development programme, and an 
ongoing survey of other HSE conditions is to be 
carried out in collaboration with the occupational 
health service.

The Group has adopted a goal of reducing emis-
sions in line with the Paris Agreement, and in 2021 
developed detailed goals and plans to succeed 
in this. In its annual report for 2020, Møller Mobil-
ity Group was the first in the industry to present 
complete climate-related disclosures, and those 
for 2021 show that the Group has reduced emis-
sions. In 2021, the GHG emissions of Møller Mobil-
ity Group totalled 1,394,871 tCO2e. Compared 
with the emissions in 2020, which were 1,684,582 
tCO2e, there was a decrease in greenhouse gas 
emissions of 17.2 per cent in 2021. 

Direct and indirect emissions in Scopes 1 and 2 
amount to 0.7 per cent in 2021, and supply chain 
emissions in Scope 3 account for 99.3 per cent. 
Møller Mobility Group’s climate-related disclo-
sures comprise Group operations in Norway, 
Sweden and the Baltics. The climate-related 
disclosures are based on the GHG protocol and 
include both direct emissions from the business, 
as well as indirect emissions in the form of total 
lifecycle emissions for the cars the Group imports 
and sells. The Group still has a leading position 
in the electrification of the new car fleet in Nor-
way, and, among passenger car sales of its own 
brands, 79 per cent were electric in 2021. Other 
sustainability-related measures in 2021 include 
the installation of solar panels at Møller Bil Hvam, 
piloting Kinver Green for tracking transport emis-
sions, optimising energy use for local server parks 
and a decision that all company cars in the group 
should be fully electric.

The Group’s most important investment in social 
sustainability is through Møller Medvind, which 
in 2021 gained 49 new permanent employees. 8 
employees from Møller Medvind were given per-
manent positions at Møller Bil during the year. At the 
end of the year, Møller Mobility Group signed the 
Guide against Greenwashing, the first in the industry 
to do so. This will be used as a guideline for the fur-
ther sustainability work in the Group. Furthermore, 
the Group has carried out an assessment of climate 
risk in line with TCFD guidelines, and the Group is 
also a member of the UN Global Compact. 

In line with legal requirements in Section 3.3 of 
the Accounting Act relating to corporate social 
responsibility, as well as Section 26 of the Equality 
and Anti-Discrimination Act, Møller Mobility Group 
works to ensure accountability in all parts of our 
value chain concerning personnel, the working 
environment, the environment and corporate 
social responsibility. This is described in more 
detail in the sustainability report, which forms a 
separate part of the annual report. For a more 
detailed description of these areas, please see 
this report.

MØLLER MOBILITY GROUP AS
The parent company, Møller Mobility Group AS, is 
in a solid financial position. The financial statements 
for 2021 have been prepared on the assumption 
that the parent company and the Group are going 
concerns, and the Board confirms that the basis for 
this assumption exists. It is the Board’s opinion that 
the annual financial statements and accompanying 
notes provide comprehensive information about 
the company’s operations and financial position 
at 31 December 2021. There have been no events 
following the end of the year that would affect an 
assessment of the company. In 2021, Møller Mobil-
ity Group AS had a profit after tax of NOK 1,964 
million, which the Board proposes be allocated 
as follows:
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Dividends and group 
contributions NOK 700 million

Transferred to other equity NOK 1,264 million

Total allocated NOK 1,964 million

In addition to this, an additional dividend of NOK 
700 million was distributed in 2021. The company 
had book equity of NOK 3,807 million at the end 
of 2021, up from NOK 3,242 million in 2020. The 
company had 47 employees at 31 December 
2021. The working environment is good, and the 
company does not pollute the external envi-
ronment. The company’s head office is in Oslo. 
The Board of Directors and senior executives 
are covered by the company’s ongoing board 
liability insurance. Within the framework of the 
insurance conditions, this insurance covers the 
personal liability that may be incurred as a board 
member or executive employee in accordance 
with applicable law.

OUTLOOK FOR 2022 AND BEYOND
Møller Mobility Group is the largest automotive 
group in the Nordic region and has a clear ambi-
tion to further strengthen its position as a leading 
player in mobility in the years ahead. At the begin-
ning of the year, the Group expected a positive 
development in 2022, with a very large order book 
and signs that the pandemic was ending. However, 
as of April 2022, there are dark clouds in the sky. 
Russia has invaded Ukraine, and we are witnessing 
heartbreaking and terrifying scenes of war in the 
media. Car production is affected by the situation 
in Ukraine, because the Volkswagen Group has 
subcontractors located in the country now under 
attack. It is primarily wiring nets and high-voltage 
cables for various electric car models that are 
produced in Ukraine, and which are now causing 
delays in production. Efforts to find solutions to this 
are underway, but it is too early to say how much 
impact this will have on the business in 2022. 

The geopolitical situation also has consequences 
for the macroeconomic outlook. Unemployment is 
low and the GDP outlook is favourable, but inflation 
is rising and is expected to increase further as a 
result of major disturbances in several value chains, 
including energy and food production. Despite 
very high demand, Møller Mobility Group believes 
there will be a decline in the new car market in 
Norway in 2022 due to limited access to new cars, 
estimating a total market of 150,000 passenger cars 
and 35,000 light commercial vehicles. In Sweden 
and the Baltics, a small increase is expected com-
pared to 2021. The Group estimates that around 
90 per cent of sales of the Group’s passenger car 
brands in Norway will become electric in 2022, 
driven by continued good framework conditions 
for electric vehicles in Norway and the EU.

The emergency preparedness work we have 
undertaken during the pandemic will thus continue 

in 2022, but in a different form and with different 
themes. Our most important task is to take care of 
our employees, and ensure good dialogue with 
our customers who are impacted by new car deliv-
ery challenges. From a financial standpoint, the 
Group is very solid, with large liquidity reserves, 
good financing frameworks and high financial 
strength. Despite the short-term challenges, the 
Group therefore still looks fundamentally posi-
tively at the long-term financial outlook and will 
continue to develop sustainably in an exciting 
mobility landscape.

The annual report is signed electronically

The Board of Møller Mobility Group AS
Oslo, 20 April 2022

 Øyvind Schage Førde Harald Møller Jon Morten Møller
 Chairman of the Board Board member Board member

 Jacob Schram  Kristin Solheim Genton Laxmi Akkaraju Petter Hellman
 Board member Board member Board member Group CEO
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Consolidated income statement (Møller Mobility Group)
CONSOLIDATED INCOME STATEMENT

(Amounts in NOK millions) Note 2021 2020
OPERATING REVENUE
Sales revenue 35 530 32 489
Other operating revenue 607 528
Total operating revenue 1 36 136 33 017

OPERATING COSTS
Cost of goods 27 754 26 018
Payroll and other personnel costs 2 3 303 3 288
Depreciation and write-downs 6 255 331
Other operating costs 3 2 407 1 987
Total operating costs 33 719 31 624
OPERATING PROFIT 2 417 1 393

FINANCIAL ITEMS
Income from investments in associated companies 4 110 153
Other financial income 5 272 341
Other financial costs 5 (237) (222)
Total financial items 145 272

PROFIT BEFORE TAX 2 562 1 665

Taxes 19 552 339
NET PROFIT 2 010 1 326

Majority 2 014 1 292
Minorities (4) 34

GROUP ASSETS AT 31 DEC.

(Amounts in NOK millions) Note 2021 2020
ASSETS
Deferred tax asset 19 362 380
Intangible assets 6 97 112
Goodwill 6 106 61
Total intangible assets 565 554

Tangible fixed assets 6 746 695

Investments in associated companies 4 1 753 1 491
Investments in shares 7 4 24
Other receivables 11 28 8
Total financial fixed assets 1 785 1 523

TOTAL FIXED ASSETS 3 096 2 772

Stock 9 3 609 3 417

Accounts receivable 10 1 266 1 678
Other receivables 11 529 614
Total receivables 1 795 2 291

Investments 803 -
Cash and cash equivalents 12 1 905 1 545

TOTAL CURRENT ASSETS 8 113 7 253

TOTAL ASSETS 11 209 10 025

GROUP EQUITY AND LIABILITIES AT 31 DEC.

(Amounts in NOK millions) Note 2021 2020
EQUITY
Share capital 13 48 48
Other equity 4 492 3 919
Minorities' interest 2 109
TOTAL EQUITY 17 4 542 4 076

LIABILITIES
Deferred tax 19 67 55
Pension liabilities 8 54 57
Other provisions and contingent liabilities 25 25
Total provisions for liabilities 146 136

Liabilities to financial institutions 898 509
Other non-current liabilities 14 425 401
Total non-current liabilities 16,17 1 323 910

Sertificate loan 210 -
Accounts payable 797 791
Tax payable 19 453 297
Public duties payable 563 669
Dividends and group contributions 723 729
Other current liabilities 14 2 453 2 418
Total current liabilities 5 198 4 903

TOTAL LIABILITIES 6 667 5 950

TOTAL EQUITY AND LIABILITIES 11 209 10 025

CONSOLIDATED CASH FLOW STATEMENT

(Amounts in NOK millions) Note 2021 2020
CASH FLOW FROM OPERATIONS
Profit before tax 2 562 1 665
Depreciation and write-downs 6 255 331
Gains from sale of fixed assets / companies (11) 70
Tax payable (362) (310)
Own financing 2 444 1 755
Change in stock (192) 1 200
Change in accounts receivable and payables 418 (36)
Change in other items (138) 213
NET CASH FLOW FROM OPERATIONS 2 532 3 132

CASH FLOW FROM INVESTMENTS
Investments in tangible and intangible assets (353) (273)
Sale of business assets (sales sum) 75 70
Payments in connection with purchase of shares in subsidiaries and businesses (281) (62)
Capital paid to AC (27) -
Proceeds and payments associated with financial fixed assets 23 (19)
NET CASH FLOW FROM INVESTMENTS (563) (284)

CASH FLOW FROM FINANCING
New loans 622 124
Repayment of loans - (1 300)
Dividends paid (1 428) (364)
NET CASH FLOW FROM FINANCING (806) (1 540)

Change in cash and cash equivalents during year 1 163 1 309
Cash reserve at 1 Jan. 1 545 236
Cash reserve at 31 Dec. 2 708 1 545

Specification of cash reserve at 31 Dec.
Means of payment 12 1 905 1 545
Investments 803 -
Cash reserve at 31 Dec. 2 708 1 545

Jon Morten Møller
Board member

Laxmi Akkaraju
Board member

Oslo, 20. april 2022

Harald Møller
Board member

Øyvind Schage Førde
Chairman of the Board

Jacob Schram
Board member

Kristin Solheim Genton
Board member

Petter Hellman
CEO
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Assets (Møller Mobility Group)

CONSOLIDATED INCOME STATEMENT

(Amounts in NOK millions) Note 2021 2020
OPERATING REVENUE
Sales revenue 35 530 32 489
Other operating revenue 607 528
Total operating revenue 1 36 136 33 017

OPERATING COSTS
Cost of goods 27 754 26 018
Payroll and other personnel costs 2 3 303 3 288
Depreciation and write-downs 6 255 331
Other operating costs 3 2 407 1 987
Total operating costs 33 719 31 624
OPERATING PROFIT 2 417 1 393

FINANCIAL ITEMS
Income from investments in associated companies 4 110 153
Other financial income 5 272 341
Other financial costs 5 (237) (222)
Total financial items 145 272

PROFIT BEFORE TAX 2 562 1 665

Taxes 19 552 339
NET PROFIT 2 010 1 326

Majority 2 014 1 292
Minorities (4) 34

GROUP ASSETS AT 31 DEC.

(Amounts in NOK millions) Note 2021 2020
ASSETS
Deferred tax asset 19 362 380
Intangible assets 6 97 112
Goodwill 6 106 61
Total intangible assets 565 554

Tangible fixed assets 6 746 695

Investments in associated companies 4 1 753 1 491
Investments in shares 7 4 24
Other receivables 11 28 8
Total financial fixed assets 1 785 1 523

TOTAL FIXED ASSETS 3 096 2 772

Stock 9 3 609 3 417

Accounts receivable 10 1 266 1 678
Other receivables 11 529 614
Total receivables 1 795 2 291

Investments 803 -
Cash and cash equivalents 12 1 905 1 545

TOTAL CURRENT ASSETS 8 113 7 253

TOTAL ASSETS 11 209 10 025

GROUP EQUITY AND LIABILITIES AT 31 DEC.

(Amounts in NOK millions) Note 2021 2020
EQUITY
Share capital 13 48 48
Other equity 4 492 3 919
Minorities' interest 2 109
TOTAL EQUITY 17 4 542 4 076

LIABILITIES
Deferred tax 19 67 55
Pension liabilities 8 54 57
Other provisions and contingent liabilities 25 25
Total provisions for liabilities 146 136

Liabilities to financial institutions 898 509
Other non-current liabilities 14 425 401
Total non-current liabilities 16,17 1 323 910

Sertificate loan 210 -
Accounts payable 797 791
Tax payable 19 453 297
Public duties payable 563 669
Dividends and group contributions 723 729
Other current liabilities 14 2 453 2 418
Total current liabilities 5 198 4 903

TOTAL LIABILITIES 6 667 5 950

TOTAL EQUITY AND LIABILITIES 11 209 10 025

CONSOLIDATED CASH FLOW STATEMENT

(Amounts in NOK millions) Note 2021 2020
CASH FLOW FROM OPERATIONS
Profit before tax 2 562 1 665
Depreciation and write-downs 6 255 331
Gains from sale of fixed assets / companies (11) 70
Tax payable (362) (310)
Own financing 2 444 1 755
Change in stock (192) 1 200
Change in accounts receivable and payables 418 (36)
Change in other items (138) 213
NET CASH FLOW FROM OPERATIONS 2 532 3 132

CASH FLOW FROM INVESTMENTS
Investments in tangible and intangible assets (353) (273)
Sale of business assets (sales sum) 75 70
Payments in connection with purchase of shares in subsidiaries and businesses (281) (62)
Capital paid to AC (27) -
Proceeds and payments associated with financial fixed assets 23 (19)
NET CASH FLOW FROM INVESTMENTS (563) (284)

CASH FLOW FROM FINANCING
New loans 622 124
Repayment of loans - (1 300)
Dividends paid (1 428) (364)
NET CASH FLOW FROM FINANCING (806) (1 540)

Change in cash and cash equivalents during year 1 163 1 309
Cash reserve at 1 Jan. 1 545 236
Cash reserve at 31 Dec. 2 708 1 545

Specification of cash reserve at 31 Dec.
Means of payment 12 1 905 1 545
Investments 803 -
Cash reserve at 31 Dec. 2 708 1 545
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Equity and liabilities (Møller Mobility Group)

CONSOLIDATED INCOME STATEMENT

(Amounts in NOK millions) Note 2021 2020
OPERATING REVENUE
Sales revenue 35 530 32 489
Other operating revenue 607 528
Total operating revenue 1 36 136 33 017

OPERATING COSTS
Cost of goods 27 754 26 018
Payroll and other personnel costs 2 3 303 3 288
Depreciation and write-downs 6 255 331
Other operating costs 3 2 407 1 987
Total operating costs 33 719 31 624
OPERATING PROFIT 2 417 1 393

FINANCIAL ITEMS
Income from investments in associated companies 4 110 153
Other financial income 5 272 341
Other financial costs 5 (237) (222)
Total financial items 145 272

PROFIT BEFORE TAX 2 562 1 665

Taxes 19 552 339
NET PROFIT 2 010 1 326

Majority 2 014 1 292
Minorities (4) 34

GROUP ASSETS AT 31 DEC.

(Amounts in NOK millions) Note 2021 2020
ASSETS
Deferred tax asset 19 362 380
Intangible assets 6 97 112
Goodwill 6 106 61
Total intangible assets 565 554

Tangible fixed assets 6 746 695

Investments in associated companies 4 1 753 1 491
Investments in shares 7 4 24
Other receivables 11 28 8
Total financial fixed assets 1 785 1 523

TOTAL FIXED ASSETS 3 096 2 772

Stock 9 3 609 3 417

Accounts receivable 10 1 266 1 678
Other receivables 11 529 614
Total receivables 1 795 2 291

Investments 803 -
Cash and cash equivalents 12 1 905 1 545

TOTAL CURRENT ASSETS 8 113 7 253

TOTAL ASSETS 11 209 10 025

GROUP EQUITY AND LIABILITIES AT 31 DEC.

(Amounts in NOK millions) Note 2021 2020
EQUITY
Share capital 13 48 48
Other equity 4 492 3 919
Minorities' interest 2 109
TOTAL EQUITY 17 4 542 4 076

LIABILITIES
Deferred tax 19 67 55
Pension liabilities 8 54 57
Other provisions and contingent liabilities 25 25
Total provisions for liabilities 146 136

Liabilities to financial institutions 898 509
Other non-current liabilities 14 425 401
Total non-current liabilities 16,17 1 323 910

Sertificate loan 210 -
Accounts payable 797 791
Tax payable 19 453 297
Public duties payable 563 669
Dividends and group contributions 723 729
Other current liabilities 14 2 453 2 418
Total current liabilities 5 198 4 903

TOTAL LIABILITIES 6 667 5 950

TOTAL EQUITY AND LIABILITIES 11 209 10 025

CONSOLIDATED CASH FLOW STATEMENT

(Amounts in NOK millions) Note 2021 2020
CASH FLOW FROM OPERATIONS
Profit before tax 2 562 1 665
Depreciation and write-downs 6 255 331
Gains from sale of fixed assets / companies (11) 70
Tax payable (362) (310)
Own financing 2 444 1 755
Change in stock (192) 1 200
Change in accounts receivable and payables 418 (36)
Change in other items (138) 213
NET CASH FLOW FROM OPERATIONS 2 532 3 132

CASH FLOW FROM INVESTMENTS
Investments in tangible and intangible assets (353) (273)
Sale of business assets (sales sum) 75 70
Payments in connection with purchase of shares in subsidiaries and businesses (281) (62)
Capital paid to AC (27) -
Proceeds and payments associated with financial fixed assets 23 (19)
NET CASH FLOW FROM INVESTMENTS (563) (284)

CASH FLOW FROM FINANCING
New loans 622 124
Repayment of loans - (1 300)
Dividends paid (1 428) (364)
NET CASH FLOW FROM FINANCING (806) (1 540)

Change in cash and cash equivalents during year 1 163 1 309
Cash reserve at 1 Jan. 1 545 236
Cash reserve at 31 Dec. 2 708 1 545

Specification of cash reserve at 31 Dec.
Means of payment 12 1 905 1 545
Investments 803 -
Cash reserve at 31 Dec. 2 708 1 545
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Consolidated cash flow statement (Møller Mobility Group)

CONSOLIDATED INCOME STATEMENT

(Amounts in NOK millions) Note 2021 2020
OPERATING REVENUE
Sales revenue 35 530 32 489
Other operating revenue 607 528
Total operating revenue 1 36 136 33 017

OPERATING COSTS
Cost of goods 27 754 26 018
Payroll and other personnel costs 2 3 303 3 288
Depreciation and write-downs 6 255 331
Other operating costs 3 2 407 1 987
Total operating costs 33 719 31 624
OPERATING PROFIT 2 417 1 393

FINANCIAL ITEMS
Income from investments in associated companies 4 110 153
Other financial income 5 272 341
Other financial costs 5 (237) (222)
Total financial items 145 272

PROFIT BEFORE TAX 2 562 1 665

Taxes 19 552 339
NET PROFIT 2 010 1 326

Majority 2 014 1 292
Minorities (4) 34

GROUP ASSETS AT 31 DEC.

(Amounts in NOK millions) Note 2021 2020
ASSETS
Deferred tax asset 19 362 380
Intangible assets 6 97 112
Goodwill 6 106 61
Total intangible assets 565 554

Tangible fixed assets 6 746 695

Investments in associated companies 4 1 753 1 491
Investments in shares 7 4 24
Other receivables 11 28 8
Total financial fixed assets 1 785 1 523

TOTAL FIXED ASSETS 3 096 2 772

Stock 9 3 609 3 417

Accounts receivable 10 1 266 1 678
Other receivables 11 529 614
Total receivables 1 795 2 291

Investments 803 -
Cash and cash equivalents 12 1 905 1 545

TOTAL CURRENT ASSETS 8 113 7 253

TOTAL ASSETS 11 209 10 025

GROUP EQUITY AND LIABILITIES AT 31 DEC.

(Amounts in NOK millions) Note 2021 2020
EQUITY
Share capital 13 48 48
Other equity 4 492 3 919
Minorities' interest 2 109
TOTAL EQUITY 17 4 542 4 076

LIABILITIES
Deferred tax 19 67 55
Pension liabilities 8 54 57
Other provisions and contingent liabilities 25 25
Total provisions for liabilities 146 136

Liabilities to financial institutions 898 509
Other non-current liabilities 14 425 401
Total non-current liabilities 16,17 1 323 910

Sertificate loan 210 -
Accounts payable 797 791
Tax payable 19 453 297
Public duties payable 563 669
Dividends and group contributions 723 729
Other current liabilities 14 2 453 2 418
Total current liabilities 5 198 4 903

TOTAL LIABILITIES 6 667 5 950

TOTAL EQUITY AND LIABILITIES 11 209 10 025

CONSOLIDATED CASH FLOW STATEMENT

(Amounts in NOK millions) Note 2021 2020
CASH FLOW FROM OPERATIONS
Profit before tax 2 562 1 665
Depreciation and write-downs 6 255 331
Gains from sale of fixed assets / companies (11) 70
Tax payable (362) (310)
Own financing 2 444 1 755
Change in stock (192) 1 200
Change in accounts receivable and payables 418 (36)
Change in other items (138) 213
NET CASH FLOW FROM OPERATIONS 2 532 3 132

CASH FLOW FROM INVESTMENTS
Investments in tangible and intangible assets (353) (273)
Sale of business assets (sales sum) 75 70
Payments in connection with purchase of shares in subsidiaries and businesses (281) (62)
Capital paid to AC (27) -
Proceeds and payments associated with financial fixed assets 23 (19)
NET CASH FLOW FROM INVESTMENTS (563) (284)

CASH FLOW FROM FINANCING
New loans 622 124
Repayment of loans - (1 300)
Dividends paid (1 428) (364)
NET CASH FLOW FROM FINANCING (806) (1 540)

Change in cash and cash equivalents during year 1 163 1 309
Cash reserve at 1 Jan. 1 545 236
Cash reserve at 31 Dec. 2 708 1 545

Specification of cash reserve at 31 Dec.
Means of payment 12 1 905 1 545
Investments 803 -
Cash reserve at 31 Dec. 2 708 1 545
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The consolidated financial statements present 
financial information about the Group when group 
companies are treated as a single accounting unit. 
The companies that Møller Mobility Group has a 
controlling influence over are consolidated. The 
consolidated financial statements include the 
parent company Møller Mobility Group AS and 
the companies listed in note 5 to Møller Mobil-
ity Group AS’s accounts, and their subsidiaries. 
Subsidiaries are consolidated from the moment 
control is transferred to the Group (acquisition 
date), and consolidation ceases when control of 
the subsidiary ceases. 

Elimination of internal transactions 
All transactions and balances between group 
companies are eliminated. Stock and other busi-
ness assets are adjusted for unrealised internal 
profit. 

Elimination of shares in subsidiaries 
Shares in subsidiaries are consolidated using the 
acquisition method. The cost price of the shares 
in the individual subsidiary is eliminated against 
the subsidiary’s equity on the acquisition date. The 
subsequent increase or decrease in value is added 
to the assets and liabilities on the balance sheet 
as increased / reduced value associated with 
and accounted for during the asset’s remaining 
lifetime. Increased / reduced values that cannot 
be attributed to specific assets or liabilities are 
recognised as goodwill / badwill in the balance 
sheet and depreciated over their financial lifetime. 

In the case of acquisitions of subsidiaries with a 
minority, 100 percent of identifiable assets and lia-

bilities are recognised in the balance sheet, while 
for goodwill only the majority share is recognised. 

Disposal of subsidiaries 
Where the Group reduces its stake to 50 percent 
or lower, profit/ (loss) is recorded as though the 
entire company had been sold. This means that 
the remaining stake is measured at fair value. 

Conversion of foreign subsidiaries 
Balance sheet items in foreign subsidiaries are 
converted using the closing rate (SEK 97,45 and 
EUR 19,9888), while earnings are converted using 
the weighted average exchange rate. Foreign 
exchange differences relating to foreign subsid-
iaries are charged to equity. 

Minority interests 
Minority interests are extracted as separate items 
in the income statement and on the balance sheet. 
In the income statement the minorities’ share of 
the result after tax is calculated and shown. 

Minority interests on the balance sheet represent 
the minorities’ share of the companies’ equity, tak-
ing into account the minorities’ share of increased 
/ reduced values and internal profits. 

Associated companies and joint ventures 
Shares in companies in which the Group holds 
between 20 and 50 percent, and over which 
the Group has significant influence and where 
the investment is long term in nature are consol-
idated in accordance with the equity method in 
the consolidated financial statements. This means 
the Group’s share of the net profit after tax and 

depreciation of any excess values are recognised 
under financial items and added to the carrying 
amount of the share. Internal sales of the business 
assets of associated companies are corrected for 
unrealised internal profit. 

Shareholdings in joint ventures are treated accord-
ing to the same policy. In the company accounts, 
associated companies are accounted for using 
the cost method. The investment is val-ued at the 
lower of cost and fair value. Impairment 

Individual shareholdings in smaller companies 
with limited value and profit are treated as ordi-
nary share investments, which are assessed at the 
lower of cost price and fair value. 

ACCRUALS, CLASSIFICATION  
AND MEASUREMENT POLICIES 
Fundamental accounting policies 
The financial statements have been prepared 
in accordance with the Norwegian Accounting 
Act and generally accepted accounting policies 
based on the fundamental principles of historical 
cost, comparability, going concern, congruence 
and prudence. Transactions are recognised at the 
value of the remuneration on the transaction date. 
Income is recognised when earned, and costs are 
matched with earned income. 

Classification of assets and liabilities 
Goods, current receivables and current liabilities 
include items due for payment within one year 
of their acquisition, and items related to the value 
chain. The current portion of non-current liabilities 
due within one year is classified as non-current 

liabilities. Other items are classified as non-current 
assets or non-current liabilities. 

Estimates 
Estimates are used to measure income, costs, bal-
ance sheet items and other liabilities for which there 
are no market values. This applies to the measure-
ment of warranty liabilities, impairment in stock, 
pensions, and goodwill, other long-term provi-
sions and deferred losses on repurchase liabilities. 
Future events may lead to changes in the estimates. 
Estimates and underlying conditions are assessed 
continually. Changes to accounting estimates are 
recognised in the period the change occurs. 

Income recognition 
The Group sells products and services, which 
are recognised on delivery. For sales of new cars 
with repurchase agreements, the sale is recog-
nised on delivery. Subsequent repurchases and 
sales of repurchased cars are recognised as sep-
arate transactions. Total repurchase liabilities are 
detailed in note 15. 

For sales of new cars, vehicle import tax to the 
State is not shown as revenue, but is only included 
as current liabilities in the financial statements. The 
proportion of sales revenue related to future after-
sales contracts is recognised as unearned income 
upon the sale and is recognised as income as the 
services are provided. 

Tangible and intangible fixed assets 
Tangible fixed assets and intangible assets on 
the balance sheet are stated at cost less ordinary 
depreciation. Ordinary depreciation and amortisa-

Accounting policies (Møller Mobility Group)
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tion in the income statement are on a straight-line 
basis and is based on estimates of the financial and 
technical lifespan. 

On indication that the carrying amount of a fixed 
asset is higher than its fair value, a test for impair-
ment will be conducted. The test is conducted 
for the lowest level of the fixed assets that have 
independent cash flow. If the carrying amount is 
higher than both the value and the recoverable 
amount (present value of continued use or owner-
ship), the asset is written down to the higher of 
sales value and recoverable amount. Write-downs 
are reversed if the basis for the write-down no 
longer exists. 

Lease agreements that are not recognised (oper-
ational leasing) are presented in the financial 
statements as an operational cost and the annual 
leasing amount is presented in note 6. Leased 
assets are recognised on the balance sheet if 
the lease transfers substantially all the risks and 
rewards incidental to ownership of the assets. 

Shares and investments
Shares in subsidiaries of a strategic nature and 
other long-term investments are classified as fixed 
assets and recognised at the lower of cost price 
and fair value. Dividends from subsidiaries are rec-
ognised in the same year as the company sells 
them. Dividends from other companies are rec-
ognised as income when the dividends are paid. 

Short-term investments are classified as current 
assets and are measured at the lower of cost price 
and fair value. 

Stock 
Stocks of cars are assessed at the lower of cost 
price and assumed retail price after sales costs. 
An individual assessment is made of each car. 
Parts and equipment are recognised at average 

procurement cost (in accordance with the FIFO 
principle). Write-downs are made for impairments. 

Accounts receivable and other receivables 
Accounts receivable and other receivables are rec-
ognised on the balance sheet at their nominal rate 
after the deduction of confirmed and expected 
losses. 

Other financial investments 
Short-term financial investments are recognised 
at market value. 

Taxes 
Taxes consist of tax payable and changes to 
deferred tax. Tax payable is fixed based on the 
year’s taxable result. Deferred tax on the balance 
sheet is calculated based on temporary differ-
ences between taxable and accounting values 
and tax losses carried forward. Deferred tax assets 
where future use is uncertain are not included. 
Deferred tax and deferred tax assets are presented 
net on the balance sheet when there is a basis for 
offsetting. If the tax rate has changed since the 
previous year, the new tax rate is used to calculate 
deferred tax. 

Deferred tax and deferred tax assets on acqui-
sitions are calculated based on the difference 
between fair value and book value in acquired 
companies for identifiable assets and liabilities. 
Deferred tax is not calculated on goodwill and 
increased value of properties upon acquisition. 
Deferred tax on temporary differences associated 
with investments in subsidiaries is included, unless 
the temporary difference is unlikely to be reversed 
in the near future. 

Pensions 
The Norwegian companies have a defined-contri-
bution group pension scheme, which is covered 
by insurance companies. 

In addition, the Norwegian companies have a few 
unfunded pension liabilities, which are charged 
directly to operations and calculated by an actu-
ary. Most of the Norwegian companies are cov-
ered by the contractual early retirement scheme 
(the “AFP” scheme) through the Norwegian Feder-
ation of Trade Unions (LO) and the Confederation 
of Norwegian Enterprise (NHO). Although this is 
a defined-benefit scheme, there is no direct allo-
cation of assets and liabilities for each individual 
company. The scheme is therefore treated as a 
defined-contribution plan for accounting purposes 
where premiums are charged as a cost as they 
are incurred. 

The Swedish companies have group pension 
schemes (defined-benefit and defined-contribu-
tion schemes), which are governed by collective 
agreements. The companies in Lithuania, Latvia 
and Estonia do not have pension plans. 

The accounting for pensions has now changed 
from following the Norwegian Accounting Stand-
ard (NRS 6) to accounting in accordance with IAS 
19. This means that on the transition date actuarial 
gains and/or losses were set to zero and charged 
to equity. In accordance with the new policy, the 

year’s actuarial gains and/or losses were charged 
to equity. 

Defined-contribution pensions are calculated on 
an ongoing basis in the financial statements, with 
the Group contributing a certain percentage share 
of the employee’s salary to the insurance com-
pany. The contributions are invested in funds, and 
employees can choose between various savings 
profiles. Apart from this, the Group has no other 
liabilities to its employees in this scheme. 

Financial instruments 
When hedging future interest costs, where the 

hedging instruments are intended to protect the 
Group from variations in future cash flows, the 
hedging instrument is not recorded in the bal-
ance sheet as long as the hedging is considered 
effective. Gains or losses are recorded at net in 
line with the result for the hedged item. For inter-
est rate swap agreements where the hedging is 
not considered effective, the hedging instrument 
is recorded at market value in the balance sheet. 
Changes in market value are recorded in the 
income statement as they arise. 

For currency forward contracts, the intention of 
which is to hedge assets and liabilities, where 
the hedge is considered to be effective, both 
the hedging instrument and the hedged item are 
evaluated at fair value, and gains and losses are 
recognised. When hedging net investments in 
foreign currency and where the hedge is consid-
ered effective, the currency forward contract is 
evaluated at fair value. Changes to fair value are 
charged directly to equity. 

Foreign currency 
Monetary items denominated in foreign curren-
cies are measured at the balance sheet date, and 
related foreign exchange gains/(losses) are rec-
ognised as financial items. This applies to cash 
and cash equivalents, receivables and liabilities. 
For non-cash items, the price at the transaction 
date is used as a basis for the acquisition cost and 
is not translated later. This applies mainly to stock 
and tangible fixed assets. The sale and purchase 
of goods and services in foreign currencies is cal-
culated at the exchange rate on the date of the 
transaction. 

The Group uses Norwegian kroner (NOK) as its 
common currency. The Group is exposed to 
changes in currency in SEK and EUR. Within the 
Group loans are granted in SEK and EUR. 
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Warranty liabilities
The Group incurs warranty liabilities through sales 
of new cars in accordance with the warranties 
provided by the various manufacturers and regu-
lations in the individual country. The manufacturers 
normally provide warranties according to applica-
ble guidelines, but importers and dealers provide 
warranties in addition to these in accordance with 
local laws and any goodwill payment. Warranty 
periods vary from one to 12 years. 

With the sale of used cars, the dealer generally 
handles the warranty liabilities, in addition to the 
remaining manufacturer’s warranty. 

Ongoing provisions and assessments are made 
for future liabilities. 

Contingent liabilities 
Contingent liabilities are not recognised in the 
financial statements. Contingent liabilities are rec-
ognised when it is more than 50 per cent likely that 
a liability will be incurred, and the liability can be 
measured reliably. 

Repurchase agreements 
The Group has a portfolio of sold new cars with 
guaranteed repurchase prices. The repurchase 
prices vary depending on the rental period, mile-
age and car model. The agreements are not rec-
ognised on the balance sheet. The liabilities are 
continuously assessed, and provisions are made 
for any expected losses. 

Cash flow statement 
The indirect method is used when preparing the 
cash flow statement. Liquid assets include cash, 
cash equivalents, financial investments (money 
market funds) and bank overdrafts. 

LONG-TERM PARTNERSHIP CONTRACTS 
Volkswagen AG, Audi AG, Škoda Automobilava 
AS, and SEAT S.A (companies in the Volkswagen 
Group) 
Harald A. Møller AS’s contracts with Volkswagen, 
Volkswagen Commercial Vehicles, Škoda and Audi 
have a mutual notice period of two years. 

All agreements can be terminated with 12 months’ 
notice if the factories are to change the entire 
distribution model. No agreements can be ter-
minated until 2024 at the earliest. The agreement 
with SEAT is a 5-year pilot agreement that can be 
renewed.

The agreements with Audi and Volkswagen in the 
Baltics have a mutual notice period of two years. 
The Volkswagen agreement applies to Estonia, 
Latvia and Lithuania, while the Audi agreement 
applies to Latvia and Lithuania.

Volkswagen Financial Services AG (company in 
the Volkswagen Group)
In 2009, Volkswagen Financial Services AG and 
Møller Mobility Group AS set up the company 
Volkswagen Møller Bilfinans AS to sell car financ-
ing products in Norway. Volkswagen Financial 
Services AG owns 51 per cent and Møller Mobility 
Group AS 49 per cent of the company. The current 
shareholders have preferential rights if shares are 
put up for sale. 

Volkswagen Møller Bilfinans AS is treated as an 
associated company and incorporated using the 
equity method.

.
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Notes (Møller Mobility Group)
NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

All figures are in NOK millions.

Note 1 - Segment information

The business consists of the following business areas: Harald A. Møller (car import Norway), Møller Bil (car dealers Norway and Sweden), Baltic Operations
(car import and dealers in the Baltic States) and and Møller Mobility Services (car financing and mobility services in Norway).

The business areas report the following key figures:
2021

Møller Bil Baltic Møller Mobility Other companies Eliminations Group       
Operations Services

Operating revenue 18 870 24 857 3 306 93 481 (11 469) 36 136
Operating profit/(loss) 1 224 1 327 88 -30 (159) (33) 2 417
Depreciation and write-downs 24 141 12 5 72 1 255
Income from investments in ass.comp. - - - 110 - - 110
EBITDA 1 248 1 469 100 85 (87) (32) 2 782
Other financial results (5) (25) (3) - 67 - 35 
Profit/(loss) before tax 1 220 1 303 84 80 (92) (33) 2 562

Assets 3 823 5 984 845 1 172 7 176 (7 792) 11 209

Car import Car Dealers Oslo West-Norway Mid-Norway Sweden
Operating revenue 2 397 2 738 8 691 6 478 4 880 4 725
EBITDA 24 76 554 527 293 203
Profit/(loss) before tax 20 64 519 477 272 167
Assets 370 475 1 557 1 306 927 783

2019
Møller Bil Baltic Møller Mobility Other companies   Elimations Group     

Operations Services

Operating revenue 16 542 22 881 2 863 48                           373 (9 691) 33 017
Operating profit/(loss) 724 920 81 3 (333) (2) 1 393
Depreciation and write-downs 26 129 16 5 154 1 331
Income from investments in ass.comp. - - - 142 11 - 153
EBITDA 750 1 049 98 149 (168) (1) 1 876
Other financial results 7 (34) (3) - 150 -                             119 
Profit/(loss) before tax 730 886 78 145 (172) (2) 1 665

Assets 3 389 5 689 914 927 5 325 (6 219) 10 025

Car import Car Dealers Oslo West-Norway Mid-Norway Sweden
Operating revenue 2 017 2 290 7 854 5 739 4 551 4 665
EBITDA 52 45 417 344 207 169
Profit/(loss) before tax 49 29 381 298 181 135
Assets 416 497 1 648 1 227 990 852

Harald A. 
Møller

Møller Bil  - Car Dealers

Møller Bil  - Car Dealers

Harald A. 
Møller

Baltic Operations

Baltic Operations
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

All figures are in NOK millions.

Note 1 - Segment information

The business consists of the following business areas: Harald A. Møller (car import Norway), Møller Bil (car dealers Norway and Sweden), Baltic Operations
(car import and dealers in the Baltic States) and and Møller Mobility Services (car financing and mobility services in Norway).

The business areas report the following key figures:
2021

Møller Bil Baltic Møller Mobility Other companies Eliminations Group       
Operations Services

Operating revenue 18 870 24 857 3 306 93 481 (11 469) 36 136
Operating profit/(loss) 1 224 1 327 88 -30 (159) (33) 2 417
Depreciation and write-downs 24 141 12 5 72 1 255
Income from investments in ass.comp. - - - 110 - - 110
EBITDA 1 248 1 469 100 85 (87) (32) 2 782
Other financial results (5) (25) (3) - 67 - 35 
Profit/(loss) before tax 1 220 1 303 84 80 (92) (33) 2 562

Assets 3 823 5 984 845 1 172 7 176 (7 792) 11 209

Car import Car Dealers Oslo West-Norway Mid-Norway Sweden
Operating revenue 2 397 2 738 8 691 6 478 4 880 4 725
EBITDA 24 76 554 527 293 203
Profit/(loss) before tax 20 64 519 477 272 167
Assets 370 475 1 557 1 306 927 783

2019
Møller Bil Baltic Møller Mobility Other companies   Elimations Group     

Operations Services

Operating revenue 16 542 22 881 2 863 48                           373 (9 691) 33 017
Operating profit/(loss) 724 920 81 3 (333) (2) 1 393
Depreciation and write-downs 26 129 16 5 154 1 331
Income from investments in ass.comp. - - - 142 11 - 153
EBITDA 750 1 049 98 149 (168) (1) 1 876
Other financial results 7 (34) (3) - 150 -                             119 
Profit/(loss) before tax 730 886 78 145 (172) (2) 1 665

Assets 3 389 5 689 914 927 5 325 (6 219) 10 025

Car import Car Dealers Oslo West-Norway Mid-Norway Sweden
Operating revenue 2 017 2 290 7 854 5 739 4 551 4 665
EBITDA 52 45 417 344 207 169
Profit/(loss) before tax 49 29 381 298 181 135
Assets 416 497 1 648 1 227 990 852

Harald A. 
Møller

Møller Bil  - Car Dealers

Møller Bil  - Car Dealers

Harald A. 
Møller

Baltic Operations

Baltic Operations

Note 2 - Payroll and other personnel costs

2021 2020
Salaries 2 617 2 658
Employer's NI contributions 398 359
Pension costs 187 175
Other personnel costs 102 96
Total payroll and other personnel costs 3 303 3 288

Average number of employees 4 166 4 180
Loans to employees 7 7

2021 2020
Salaries, bonuses, pension costs and other remuneration for the CEO 13 7
Board remuneration 5 5
Total remuneration of senior executives 18 12

Loans to employees are mainly interest-bearing car loans where the companies have security in a car. The interest rate on these loans is 1.3 percent. 
In the event of sale, liquidation or other reorganisation, general managers in the Group are entitled to salary for one year, under certain terms. 

2021 2020
Audit fees and audit-related services 5 4
Tax, fees and other consultancy services  1 1
Total auditor's fees (excl. VAT) 6 5

Note 3 - Other operating costs

2021 2020
Operating costs (rent, electricity, maintenance, car costs, etc.) 1 202 1 107
Sales costs (advertising, warranties, etc.) 758 506
Administration costs (IT services, fees, travel expenses, gifts, bad debts) 446 374
Total other operating costs 2 407 1 987

Note 4 - Investments in associated companies

Voting Equity Carrying Internal Share of profit Carrying
rights/ in company amount profit  after tax amount 

Company name stake 31.12.21 01.01.21 2021 31.12.21
Volkswagen Møller Bilfinans AS * 49,00 % 3 765 1 491 3 112 1 607
Wash Group Holding AS ** 50,00 % 44 - 112  (3) 109
Mitt Dekkhotell AS *** 25,00 % - - 38 - 38
Total 1 491 152 110 1 753

Investments in associated companies are incorporated in accordance with the equity method.

The group CEO is the CEO of Møller Mobility Group AS and is employed and paid by the parent company. Bonus schemes have been established here where the size of the 
payment depends on the results achieved for the year, combined with other qualitative assessment criteria, and where the bonus is considered to be part of the normal 
remuneration for this type of position. Bonuses are also allocated to a long-term incentive scheme from 2019. The bonus amount corresponds to a proportion of fixed salary for 
the CEO, and will be adjusted annually based on the development of the value of the Møller Mobility Group, as measured by an annual valuation of the Group. The allocation 
adjusted for value development will be paid as salary after three years. As of 31 December, the CEO and board members have a 0.5 percent ownership interest in Møller 
Mobility Group MI AS. Møller Mobility Group MI AS is an investment company where senior executives have the opportunity to invest. The CEO is entitled to up to 18 months 
of severance pay and a share of previously earned bonus in the event of significant reorganizations. 

*The main rule is that uniform accounting principles are used for similar transactions and events, to provide the most accurate information about the investor’s overall 
operations. Volkswagen Møller Bilfinans switched to IFRS on 1 January 2018. It is not practicable to restate the entire financial statements such that they are in accordance 
with the Norwegian Accounting Act and generally accepted accounting policies. We have therefore chosen to apply different principles, in accordance with Norwegian 
accounting standard NRS (F) Investments in associates and joint ventures (June 2018), section 3.8. The main difference in the accounting policies relates IFRS 9 and IFRS 
16. The conversion effect in Volkswagen Møller Bilfinans was posted in 2018.
**preliminary accounts as of 31.12.2021
***accounts as of 31.12.2021 have not been received
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Note 2 - Payroll and other personnel costs
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Employer's NI contributions 398 359
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*The main rule is that uniform accounting principles are used for similar transactions and events, to provide the most accurate information about the investor’s overall 
operations. Volkswagen Møller Bilfinans switched to IFRS on 1 January 2018. It is not practicable to restate the entire financial statements such that they are in accordance 
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**preliminary accounts as of 31.12.2021
***accounts as of 31.12.2021 have not been received

Note 5 - Other financial income and financial costs

2021 2020
Interest income 7 2
Currency gains 260 332
Other financial income 5 6
Total other financial income 272 341

Interest costs 26 29
Currency losses 195 177
Other financial costs 17 15
Total other financial costs 237 222

Note 6 - Tangible fixed assets, intangible assets and goodwill

Machinery and Vehicles Buildings Intangible Goodwill* Total
fixtures assets

Acquisition cost at 1 Jan. 1 163 153 569 799 152 2 835
Disposals in connection with purchase of companies - - - - 61                         61
Additions 115 119 74 45 - 353
Disposals (44) (90) (13) - - (147)
Currency translation difference (22) - -1                            - (9) (32)
Acquisition cost at 31 Dec. 1 211 182 629 843 204 3 070
Accumulated depreciation at 1 Jan. 826 22 341 687 92 1 968
Year's depreciation and write-downs 94 37 52 60 12 255
Disposals (43) (31) (9) - - (82)
Currency translation difference (12) (1) (2) - (5) (20)
Depreciated at 31 Dec. 865 28 383 747 99 2 121
Carrying amount at 31 Dec. 346 154 246 97 106 949
* Goodwill in connection with acquisition of new companies, and goodwill in company financial statements. 

Straight-line depreciation plan 3-7 years 3-7 years 20-50 years 3-10 years 5-10 years

Annual rental of off balance sheet business assets 23 496 519

Duration of rental of business assets 1-5 years 1-5 years 1-15 years

Tekst

Specification of goodwill in connection with acquisitions:
Business unit Acquisition Depreciation Acquisition Accumulated Carrying Year's 

date period cost* depreciation* amount* depreciation
Car Dealers Norway 2021 10 years 61 4 57 3
Car Dealers Norway 2020 10 years 5 1 4 1
Car Dealers Sweden 2020 10 years 40 5 35 4
Car Dealers Norway 2016 10 years 4 2 2 -
Car Dealers Sweden 2014 10 years 61 53 8 4

2011 10 years 33 33 0 1
Total goodwill in connection with acquisitions 204 98 106 12
* Incl. currency translation difference

Car Dealers Baltics

The amortization period for goodwill that is strategic investments is normally 10 years. These are investments where Møller Mobility Group has a long-term perspective and 
which is within the Group's core business. Other items are amortized over 3-10 years. Intangible assets of NOK 112 million relate to software and development costs for IT 
systems.
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systems.

Note 7 - Investments in other shares and units 

Company Ownership Value
Other investments in body and repair workshops and tyre hotels. 20 %-35% 4
Sum 4

Note 8 - Pensions 

2021 2021
Interest cost of pension liabilities 1 2
Year's pension costs for funded and unfunded pensions 1 2
Defined-contribution pension 131 121
Defined-benefit pension not calculated by an actuary 53 53
Total pension costs 185 176

Carrying amount pension obligations calculated by an actuary  
Calculated pension liabilities at 1 Jan. 2019 (57) (50)
Actuarial gains and/or losses are charged to equity 3 -
The year's pension costs (5) (3)
The year's pension payments 2 2
Currency translation difference 3 (6)
Pension liabilities (54) (57)

Number of people covered by all pension plans 4 040 3 536

Financial assumptions Sweden Norway
Return on pension assets - 0,0 %
Discount rate 1,8 % 1,5 %
Annual salary growth / annual G adjustment 2,0 % 0,0 %

The actuarial assumptions relating to demographic factors are the normal assumptions used by the insurance industry, adapted to the Group's 
age structure and retirement. All pension liabilities include the employers' National Insurance contribution.

Some subsidiaries in Møller Mobility Group have a number of minor equity investments with holdings of 20-35 percent, such as body and repair workshops and  tyre hotels. 
These are not treated as associated companies since the values are limited. 

The Norwegian and Swedish companies in the Group have secured collective pension agreements. The companies in the three Baltic states do not have pension plans. In 
Norway we have an ongoing defined-contribution scheme. The defined-contribution plan is charged as a cost on an ongoing basis in the financial statements as the Group 
pays an amount of savings to the insurance company based on the individual employee's salary. The scheme has been adapted to comply with the new Act on occupational 
pensions, and the threshold between the lower and the higher savings rate is 7.1 x the National Insurance basic amount ("G"). In addition to saving for a retirement pension, 
disability pension and surviving children's pension are also covered. These payments do not have a paid-up policy element, meaning there is no future liability related to 
disability and children's pensions beyond the current premium payments. 

The Group is a member of the contractual early retirement scheme (the "AFP" scheme) through the Norwegian Federation of Trade Unions (LO) and the Confederation of 
Norwegian Enterprise (NHO). The AFP scheme provides a life-long supplement to the standard pension. Employees can choose to start drawing on the AFP pension scheme 
from the age of 62. The pension scheme is a defined-benefit, multi-employer pension plan funded by premiums that are determined as a percentage of the individual's salary. 
There is no reliable measurement and allocation of liabilities and assets in the scheme. Therefore, in the financial statements the scheme is treated as a defined-contribution 
pension scheme where the premium payments are charged as a cost on an ongoing basis and no provisions are made in the financial statements. 

Our Swedish companies have pension plans in accordance with a collective agreement. The scheme in Sweden is a combination of defined-benefit and defined-contribution 
plans based on job category, age and income. The defined-benefit plan is partially financed by means of premium payments, while the rest is financed through the 
accumulation of pension liabilities in the balance sheet. The pension liabilities related to the part of the scheme that is not insured are calculated by an actuary. These 
liabilities will be reduced in line with the ongoing pension payments. All future pension savings are now insured, but these amounts are not calculated by an actuary, as the 
scheme is such that assets and liabilities are not allocated directly to the individual company in the collective pension fund. 
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Note 9 - Stock

2021 2020
New cars 1 675 1 689
Used cars and demo cars 1 556 1 358
Write -down used cars -9 -10
Spareparts and accesories 339 323
Other stock 49 57
Total stock 3 609 3 417

Note 10 - Account receivable

2021 2020
Account receivable 1 271 1 685
Provisions for bad debt (6) (10)
Account receivable Aars Group 1 2
Total account receivable 1 266 1 678

Note 11 - Other receivables

2021 2020
Loans to employees* - 1
Other long term receivables 28 7
Total non-current receivables 28 8

2021 2020
Pre-payment to suppliers 15 10
Loans to employees* 7 5
Net VAT credit 6 3
Other prepaid expenses 112 100
Accrued income 307 354
Other current receivables 81 141
Total current receivables 528 614
* note 2

Note 12 - Bank deposits
The Group has bank deposits totalling NOK 1 905 million. There are no restricted funds to cover tax owed. Tax deductions are secured by a bank guarantee 
(see note 16).

Note 13 - Share capital and shareholder information

Shareholders in Møller Mobility Group AS at 31 Dec. 2021 A-shares B-shares Number Stake
Jan H. Møller 103 1 104 0,378 %
Aars AS - 26 637 26 637 96,862 %
Møller Mobility Group MI AS - 759 759 2,760 %
Total 103 27 397 27 500 100,00 %

Note 14 - Other current liabilities and other non-current liabilites

2021 2020
Provision for warranties and other liabilities 579 518
"End of life" lithium batteries 216 216
Accrued costs and prepaid income 828 889
Vacation pay and accrued salary 475 460
Advances from customers 167 154
Provision for bonuses employees (LTI) 48 -
Other current liabilities 139 181
Total other current liabilities 2 453 2 418

Provision for liabilities 260 278
Provision for bonuses to employees (LTI) 165 123
Total other non-current liabilities 425 401

The share capital consists of 27,500 shares with a nominal value of NOK 1,734, in total NOK 48 million. There are two classes of shares. All shares have equal voting rights. 
Aars AS votes for 98.85 percent of the shares, 1.99 percent is indirectly through Møller Mobility Group MI AS. Møller Mobility Group MI AS is an investment company where 
senior executives have the opportunity to invest. Class A shares are guaranteed an annual dividend of NOK 5 million, collected from Møller Mobility Group AS and Møller 
Eiendom Holding AS. 

Provision for warranties and other liabilities
The warranties is an estimate based on historical warranty costs and and expectations of future developments in warranty costs on cars sold and delivered by Harald A. 
Møller AS. The warranty schemes against the different suppliers varies. The company is a self-insurer for a 5-year warranty for one of the car brands. From 2017 to 2019, the 
importer has made a provision of "end of life" handling of lithium batteries, from 2020 Volkswagen AG will take this responsibility.
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The Group has bank deposits totalling NOK 1 905 million. There are no restricted funds to cover tax owed. Tax deductions are secured by a bank guarantee 
(see note 16).

Note 13 - Share capital and shareholder information
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Accrued costs and prepaid income 828 889
Vacation pay and accrued salary 475 460
Advances from customers 167 154
Provision for bonuses employees (LTI) 48 -
Other current liabilities 139 181
Total other current liabilities 2 453 2 418

Provision for liabilities 260 278
Provision for bonuses to employees (LTI) 165 123
Total other non-current liabilities 425 401

The share capital consists of 27,500 shares with a nominal value of NOK 1,734, in total NOK 48 million. There are two classes of shares. All shares have equal voting rights. 
Aars AS votes for 98.85 percent of the shares, 1.99 percent is indirectly through Møller Mobility Group MI AS. Møller Mobility Group MI AS is an investment company where 
senior executives have the opportunity to invest. Class A shares are guaranteed an annual dividend of NOK 5 million, collected from Møller Mobility Group AS and Møller 
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Provision for warranties and other liabilities
The warranties is an estimate based on historical warranty costs and and expectations of future developments in warranty costs on cars sold and delivered by Harald A. 
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Note 15 - Related parties

Company Company relationship Transaction type 2021 2020
Volkswagen Møller Bilfinans AS Associated company Sale of cars 2 560 3 247
Total sales 2 560 3 247

Volkswagen Møller Bilfinans AS Associated company Purchase of cars 1 969 2 130
Møller Eiendom AS Associated group Rent costs 220 235
Total purchases 2 188 2 366

Volkswagen Møller Bilfinans AS Associated company Balances at 31 December 43 55
Møller Eiendom Holding AS Sister Balances at 31 December (1) -
Katalysator AS Sister Balances at 31 December 15 77
Medvind AS Sister Balances at 31 December 40 20
MMG MI AS Sister Balances at 31 December 19 19
Aars AS Parent Balances at 31 December 644 607

Note 16 - Pledges, guarantees and commitments 

2021 2020
Fixtures 62 50
Accounts receivable and stock 149 156
Total carrying amount of assets with encumbrances 211 206

Guarantees 2021 2020
Repurchase agreements for cars 6 392 7 139
Vehicle import duty, Customs Region Oslo and Akershus 176 176
Withholding tax 200 143

Note 17 - Share capital

2021 Majority Minorities Total
Equity at 1 Jan. 2020 3 967 109 4 076
Profit/(loss) for the year 2 014 (4) 2 010
Annual dividend* (1 318) - (1 318)
Group contributions (82) - (82)
Triggering of minority - (118) (118)
Currency translation differences this year, etc. (26) 15 (26)
Equity at 31 Dec. 2021 4 555 2 4 542
* Includes an additional dividend of NOK 350 million

Accumulated translation differences at 31 December 2021 amounted to NOK 22,1 million.

2020 Majority Minorities Total
Equity at 1 Jan. 2019 3 629 75 3 704
Profit/(loss) for the year 1 292 34 1 326
Annual dividend* (900) - (900)
Group contributions (100) - (100)
Currency translation differences this year, etc. 46 - 46
Equity at 31 Dec. 2020 3 967 109 4 076
* Includes an additional dividend of NOK 300 million

Møller Mobility Group has long-term financing through bond issues of  total NOK 1,300 million, a committed credit facility totalling NOK 2,000 million. At 31 December 2021 
no withdrawals had been made from this facility. Subsidiaries that comprise more than 80 percent of the gross turnover and equity in the Group are guarantors. In addition, 
Møller Mobility Group also has an overdraft facility of NOK 100 million, which is secured through joint and several liability (cashpool). At 31 December 2021 no withdrawals 
had been made from this facility.

The group has a total of 38.000 buyback cars. Of these cars, 31 percent will return in 2022, 29 percent will return in 2023 and 41 percent will return in 2024 or later.

The Group companies included in the joint registration of VAT have joint and several liability for any debt. At 31 December 2021 Møller Mobility Group AS owes NOK 204.9 
million in VAT, via the joint registration registered in Aars AS. 

EUR 7.4 million has been set aside in connection with a fine from the Competition Authority in Latvia from 2014. Møller Mobility Group appealed the case in 2015 which was 
upheld in the first instance, but in September 2021 the case was taken up by the Supreme Court in the Baltics. The case is now sent back to the lower court for a revised 
decision. Møller Mobility Group does not agree on the scope and size of the fine, but has chosen to make a provision for precautionary reasons.

Note 15 - Related parties

Company Company relationship Transaction type 2021 2020
Volkswagen Møller Bilfinans AS Associated company Sale of cars 2 560 3 247
Total sales 2 560 3 247

Volkswagen Møller Bilfinans AS Associated company Purchase of cars 1 969 2 130
Møller Eiendom AS Associated group Rent costs 220 235
Total purchases 2 188 2 366

Volkswagen Møller Bilfinans AS Associated company Balances at 31 December 43 55
Møller Eiendom Holding AS Sister Balances at 31 December (1) -
Katalysator AS Sister Balances at 31 December 15 77
Medvind AS Sister Balances at 31 December 40 20
MMG MI AS Sister Balances at 31 December 19 19
Aars AS Parent Balances at 31 December 644 607
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no withdrawals had been made from this facility. Subsidiaries that comprise more than 80 percent of the gross turnover and equity in the Group are guarantors. In addition, 
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decision. Møller Mobility Group does not agree on the scope and size of the fine, but has chosen to make a provision for precautionary reasons.

Note 18 - Debt, financing and financial risk

2021 2020
Bond issue 210 -
Total current interest-bearing liabilities 210 0

Bond issue 900 510
Arrangement costs (2) (1)
Total bond issue 898 509
Other long-term interest-bearing liabilities - -
Total non-current interest-bearing liabilities 898 509

Maturity
Due in less than 2 years 510 210
Due in 2-5 years 600 300
Total 1 110 510

Key figures
Unused committed credit facilities 2 100 2 200

LIABILITIES
Current liabilities
Møller Mobility Group has a committed credit facility of NOK 2,000 million that expires in 2026. The credit facilities are not secured, but all significant companies in Møller 
Mobility Group are jointly and severally liable for the liabilities. Møller Mobility Group AS is the registered borrower. At 31 December 2021 no withdrawals had been made from 
these facilities. There are covenants concerning financial key figures in the contracts, linked to equity and cash flow, which are fulfilled at the end of the year. These liabilities 
are classified as current liabilities since all withdrawals from the facility will be of a short-term nature. In addition, Møller Mobility Group has a committed credit facility of NOK 
100 million linked to the company's cash pool structure. For further information, see note 16. 

Non-current liabilities
Møller Mobility Group has long-term financing through bond issues of total NOK 1 300 million. The bond of NOK 400 million will mature in March 2022, the bond of NOK 300 
million will mature in December 2023 and the bond of NOK 600 million will mature in March 2026. The bond of 400 million, Møller Mobility Group AS has NOK 190 million in 
its own book.The bond issue is not secured, but is coordinated with the syndicated bank loan in terms of joint and several liability within the Group, and has the same equity 
ratio requirements. Other long-term interest-bearing liabilities are deposits from employees.

FINANCIAL RISK
The Group has companies involved in selling, financing and servicing cars. The Group's activities involve financial risk associated with currency, rates, credit and liquidity. The 
Group manages risk with the objective of ensuring predictable cash flows and sufficient liquidity to meet natural fluctuations in working capital.

Currency risk
The Group sells products in local currency. In Norway, the Group is exposed to short-term currency risk relating to imports of products in EUR. Car manufacturers bear 
significant long-term currency risk through agreements. Short-term currency risk is hedged in the spot and forwards market. The forward contracts are market-assessed 
(mark-to-market) and the value is recorded as foreign exchange gains at year-end. Unrealised exchange gain of NOK 0.4 million were recognised in the income statement at 
year-end.

In addition the Group has currency risk associated with the Swedish and Baltic companies. The risks are mitigated by having local external liabilities in the local 
currency. Møller Mobility Group does not generally hedge equity in foreign companies, but does strive to secure the expected dividend with a horizon of one year. Møller 
Mobility Group's total secured amount at year-end was EUR 9.6 million. Unrealised exchange gain amounted to NOK 3.0 million at year-end. 

Interest rate risk
Møller Mobility Group is largely financed through two long-term bond issues with a floating interest rate. This entails a risk related to developments in interest costs. This risk 
is partially hedged by a portion of the debt being swapped to fixed interest rates through interest rate swaps. At 31 December 2021 the Group had interest rate swap 
agreements of NOK 650 million with a fixed interest rate of 2.2 percent and a remaining term matching the underlying loans. The interest swap agreements hedge above 50 
percent of the interest costs related to the bond issue at year-end. The date for determining the liquid element in the hedging contract is adapted according to the rollover of 
the underlying loans. The agreements were signed with a view to running until maturity. In light of this, Møller Mobility Group has chosen to record the agreements as hedge 
agreements, which means that ongoing changes in market value are not recorded in the income statement. At the balance sheet date, the market value of the contract was 
positiv in the amount of NOK 7.5 million.

Credit risk
A significant part of the Group's turnover is cash-based. There will be a temporary credit risk associated with sales by importer companies to external dealers and in cases 
where cars or workshop services are sold on credit. The risks are hedged with tight credit procedures and close monitoring of accounts receivables. Historically, losses have 
been low. At 31 December 2021, NOK 6.2 million has been allocated for losses on claims and actual losses in 2021 were NOK 7.5 million.

Liquidity risk
The Group operates in a cyclical industry with relatively large fluctuations in working capital. There is therefore a risk associated with short-term access to liquidity. This is 
hedged by having flexible and committed framework financing of NOK 2.000 million where withdrawals are regulated according to need. 

Buy back agreements
The Group has risk associated with buy back agreements. Total buy back agreement liabilities were NOK 6.4 billion at 31 December 2021. The risk is associated with future 
market prices for used cars. The risk is hedged through certain procedures for entering contracts and returning cars. A continuous assessment of the liabilities is conducted, 
and provisions are made for any anticipated losses. 
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Note 19 - Taxes

Taxes in the income statement 
2021 2020

Profit before tax 2 562 1 665

Tax payable in Norway 447 275
Tax payable abroad 48 54
Tax on paid group contributions 23 28
Total tax payable 518 357

Change in deferred tax 20 (10)
Change in deferred tax abroad 15 (8)
Tax cost 552 339
Profit for the year 2 010 1 326

Effective tax rate 21,6 % 20,4 %

22% of the profit before tax (23% in 2018) 564 367
Actual tax cost 552 339
Deviation tax cost 11 28
The deviation comprises:
Permanent differences (including tax-free gains and dividends) 2 1
Profits in associated companies (24) (34)
Loss/gain on sales of shares 18 18
Amortisation goodwill / excess value buildings 2 1
Foreign companies (lower tax rate) (11) (3)
Shortfall / excess calculated tax in previous years 2 (11)
Total (11) (27)

Tax on balance sheet

The calculation of deferred tax takes into account the following temporary differences: 2021 2020
Accounts receivable and other receivables 4 6
Stock 315 295
Tangible fixed assets (140) (133)
Current and non-current liabilities 1 270 1 250
Liabilities 3 120
Loss and gain account 3 -
Deferred losses 1 3
Latent dividend tax – Estonia/Latvia (135) (75)
Total deferred tax 1 320 1 467

Norway 22 % 359 377
Sweden 20.6 % (38) (38)
Lithuania 15 % 1 1
Estonia 18 % (4) (1)
Latvia 20 % (23) (14)
Net deferred tax 295 326

Deferred tax asset on balance sheet 362 380
Deferred tax liability on balance sheet (67) (54)
Carrying amount net deferred tax 295 326
Deferred tax is included on the balance sheet as net within the various tax groups.

Change in deferred tax on the balance sheet is arrived at as follows:
Deferred tax at 1 Jan. 326 314
Deferred tax linked to internal profits in AC during the year* 1 1
Year's recognised change in deferred tax (34) 19
Currency translation differences 3 (8)
Net deferred tax at 31 Dec. 295 326
* Deferred tax linked to internal profits in AC (associated companies) is recognised on the balance sheet as part of the investment.

The tax payable on the balance sheet is arrived at as follows:
Tax payable on the income statement 518 357
Prepaid tax abroad (42) (32)
Tax on paid group contributions (23) (28)
Tax payable owed 453 297

The income tax rate in Norway is 22 percent, Sweden 20.6 percent and Lithuania is 15 percent. Estonia and Latvia does not have income tax, they have dividend tax. Latent 
tax has been allocated for dividends.
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Note 20 - Significant transactions in the financial year 

Transactions in 2021

This transaction had the following effect on the consolidated financial statements at 31 December 2021:
 Amount  Goodwill  Total 

Other assets 102  -                        102 
Net identifiable assets 102 0 102

Triggering of minority - 118 118
Goodwill - 61 61
Sales sum 102 179 281

Paid in cash 281
Acquired cash -
Net cash out 281

Transactions in 2020

This transaction had the following effect on the consolidated financial statements at 31 December 2020:
 Amount  Goodwill  Total 

Cash                            12  -                          12 
Accounts receivable 11  -                          11 
Business assets 4  -                             4 
Stock 22  -                          22 
Other assets 3  -                             3 
Accounts payable (15)  -                         (15)
Other interest-free liabilities (8)  -                           (8)
Interest-bearing liabilities (1)  -                           (1)
Net identifiable assets 26 0 26

Goodwill - 48 48
Sales sum 26 48 74

Paid in cash 74
Acquired cash 12
Net cash out 62

Note 21 - Subsequent event

On January 1st 2020 Møller Mobility Group bought 100 percent of the shares in Skaansar Auto AS and on September 1st 2020 100 percent of the shares in Sportbilar i 
Örebro AB. The profit and loss in Sportbilar i Örebro AB is only recognized in the group's ownership period. 

On May 1st 2021, Møller Mobility Group bought 50 per cent of the shares in Wash Group Holding AS and on June 1st 2021 the remaining 50 per cent of the shares in 
Møller Bil Sør-Rogaland AS. Møller Bil Sør-Rogaland AS has been 100 percent consolidated due to its controlling influence.

Russia has invaded Ukraine. Car production is affected by the situation in Ukraine, because the Volkswagen Group has subcontractors in the country who are now under 
attack. It is primarily wiring and high-voltage cables for several electric car models that are produced in Ukraine, and which are now causing delays in production. The work of 
finding solutions is underway, but it is too early to say what the actual consequences this will have for the business in 2022. Reference is also made to the discussion of the 
Ukraine situation in the annual report.
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Income statement (Møller Mobility Group AS)INCOME STATEMENT MOBILITY GROUP AS AT 31 DEC. 

(Amounts in NOK millions) Note 2021 2020
OPERATING REVENUE
Other operating revenue 1 67 36
Total operating revenue 67 36

OPERATING COSTS
Payroll and other personnel costs 2 115 107
Depreciation and write-downs 5 8 8
Other operating costs 64 145
Total operating costs 186 259
OPERATING PROFIT (120) (181)

FINANCIAL ITEMS
Income from investments in subsidiaries 3 2 471 1 521
Interest income from group companies 30 49
Other financial income 4 251 317
Interest costs from group companies (3) (2)
Other financial costs 4 (206) (207)
Total financial items 2 543 1 677

PROFIT BEFORE TAX 2 423 1 496

Taxes 15 460 312
NET PROFIT 1 964 1 184

Proposed allocations in Møller Mobility Group AS:
Group contributions after tax (82) (100)
Dividends (618) (600)
Transferred to/(from) other equity (1 264) (484)
Allocated (1 964) (1 184)

Additional dividends decided before AGM date (700) (300)
From other equity 700 300

ASSETS MØLLER MOBILITY GROUP AS AT 31 DEC. 

(Amounts in NOK millions) Note 2021 2020
ASSETS
Intangible assets 5 3 5
Total intangible assets 3 5

Tangible fixed assets 5 42 37

Investments in subsidiaries 6 1 191 1 151
Investments in associated companies 7 990 840
Investments in shares 1 21
Group receivables 9 1 119 1 168
Other receivables 27 5
Total financial fixed assets 3 328 3 185

TOTAL FIXED ASSETS 3 372 3 228

Other receivables 15 12
Group receivables 9 2 240 1 428
Total receivables 2 256 1 440

Investments 803 -
Cash and cash equivalents 11 1 724 1 344

TOTAL CURRENT ASSETS 4 783 2 784

TOTAL ASSETS 8 155 6 012

EQUITY AND LIABILITIES MØLLER MOBILITY GROUP AS AT 31 DEC 

(Amounts in NOK millions) Note 2021 2020
EQUITY
Share capital 48 48
Other paid-in equity 3 1
Other equity 3 757 3 193
TOTAL EQUITY 13 3 807 3 242

LIABILITIES
Pension liabilities 8 1 1
Total provisions for liabilities 3 3

Bond loans 898 509
Liabilities to group companies 9 1 894 783
Other non-current liabilities 25 14
Total non-current liabilities 2 817 1 306

Bond loans 210 -
Accounts payable 6 8
Tax payable 15 425 248
Public duties payable 7 6
Dividends and group contributions 9 723 728
Other current liabilities 45 48
Liabilities to group companies 9 112 424
Total current liabilities 1 527 1 461

TOTAL LIABILITIES 4 347 2 770

TOTAL EQUITY AND LIABILITIES 8 155 6 012

CASH FLOW STATEMENT MØLLER MOBILITY GROUP AS

(Amounts in NOK millions) 2021 2020
CASH FLOW FROM OPERATIONS
Ordinary profit before tax 2 423 1 495
Recognised dividends / group contributions 3 (2 471) (1 521)
Gains from sale of fixed assets / companies (1) 80
Depreciation 5 8 8
Taxes paid during the period (249) (120)
Change in accounts receivable and payables (2) 5
Change in intra-group receivables / liabilities 1 145 2 063
Change in other items (26) 4
Net cash flow from operations 828 2 014

CASH FLOW FROM INVESTMENTS
Investment in tangible fixed assets (20) (14)
Sales of tangible fixed assets 10 11
Investments in subsidiaries (119) -
Capital contributions in AC shares (10) -
Received dividends / group contributions 1 596 1 029
Payment / repayment related to financial fixed assets - (20)
Net cash flow from investments 1 457 1 005

CASH FLOW FROM FINANCING
Group contributions paid (413) (370)
Annual dividend (600) (6)
Additional dividends (700) (300)
Payment / repayment of private long-term borrowings 11 7
New / repayment of long-term debt 599 103

- (1 300)
Net cash flow from financing  (1 102) (1 866)

Net change in cash and cash equivalents during year 1 183 1 153
Cash reserve at 1 Jan. 1 344 190
Cash reserve at 31 Dec. 2 527 1 344

Specification of cash reserve at 31 Dec.
Means of payment 11 1 724 1 344
Investments 803 -
Cash reserve at 31 Dec. 2 527 1 344
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INCOME STATEMENT MOBILITY GROUP AS AT 31 DEC. 

(Amounts in NOK millions) Note 2021 2020
OPERATING REVENUE
Other operating revenue 1 67 36
Total operating revenue 67 36

OPERATING COSTS
Payroll and other personnel costs 2 115 107
Depreciation and write-downs 5 8 8
Other operating costs 64 145
Total operating costs 186 259
OPERATING PROFIT (120) (181)

FINANCIAL ITEMS
Income from investments in subsidiaries 3 2 471 1 521
Interest income from group companies 30 49
Other financial income 4 251 317
Interest costs from group companies (3) (2)
Other financial costs 4 (206) (207)
Total financial items 2 543 1 677

PROFIT BEFORE TAX 2 423 1 496

Taxes 15 460 312
NET PROFIT 1 964 1 184

Proposed allocations in Møller Mobility Group AS:
Group contributions after tax (82) (100)
Dividends (618) (600)
Transferred to/(from) other equity (1 264) (484)
Allocated (1 964) (1 184)

Additional dividends decided before AGM date (700) (300)
From other equity 700 300

ASSETS MØLLER MOBILITY GROUP AS AT 31 DEC. 

(Amounts in NOK millions) Note 2021 2020
ASSETS
Intangible assets 5 3 5
Total intangible assets 3 5

Tangible fixed assets 5 42 37

Investments in subsidiaries 6 1 191 1 151
Investments in associated companies 7 990 840
Investments in shares 1 21
Group receivables 9 1 119 1 168
Other receivables 27 5
Total financial fixed assets 3 328 3 185

TOTAL FIXED ASSETS 3 372 3 228

Other receivables 15 12
Group receivables 9 2 240 1 428
Total receivables 2 256 1 440

Investments 803 -
Cash and cash equivalents 11 1 724 1 344

TOTAL CURRENT ASSETS 4 783 2 784

TOTAL ASSETS 8 155 6 012

EQUITY AND LIABILITIES MØLLER MOBILITY GROUP AS AT 31 DEC 

(Amounts in NOK millions) Note 2021 2020
EQUITY
Share capital 48 48
Other paid-in equity 3 1
Other equity 3 757 3 193
TOTAL EQUITY 13 3 807 3 242

LIABILITIES
Pension liabilities 8 1 1
Total provisions for liabilities 3 3

Bond loans 898 509
Liabilities to group companies 9 1 894 783
Other non-current liabilities 25 14
Total non-current liabilities 2 817 1 306

Bond loans 210 -
Accounts payable 6 8
Tax payable 15 425 248
Public duties payable 7 6
Dividends and group contributions 9 723 728
Other current liabilities 45 48
Liabilities to group companies 9 112 424
Total current liabilities 1 527 1 461

TOTAL LIABILITIES 4 347 2 770

TOTAL EQUITY AND LIABILITIES 8 155 6 012

CASH FLOW STATEMENT MØLLER MOBILITY GROUP AS
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CASH FLOW FROM OPERATIONS
Ordinary profit before tax 2 423 1 495
Recognised dividends / group contributions 3 (2 471) (1 521)
Gains from sale of fixed assets / companies (1) 80
Depreciation 5 8 8
Taxes paid during the period (249) (120)
Change in accounts receivable and payables (2) 5
Change in intra-group receivables / liabilities 1 145 2 063
Change in other items (26) 4
Net cash flow from operations 828 2 014

CASH FLOW FROM INVESTMENTS
Investment in tangible fixed assets (20) (14)
Sales of tangible fixed assets 10 11
Investments in subsidiaries (119) -
Capital contributions in AC shares (10) -
Received dividends / group contributions 1 596 1 029
Payment / repayment related to financial fixed assets - (20)
Net cash flow from investments 1 457 1 005

CASH FLOW FROM FINANCING
Group contributions paid (413) (370)
Annual dividend (600) (6)
Additional dividends (700) (300)
Payment / repayment of private long-term borrowings 11 7
New / repayment of long-term debt 599 103

- (1 300)
Net cash flow from financing  (1 102) (1 866)

Net change in cash and cash equivalents during year 1 183 1 153
Cash reserve at 1 Jan. 1 344 190
Cash reserve at 31 Dec. 2 527 1 344

Specification of cash reserve at 31 Dec.
Means of payment 11 1 724 1 344
Investments 803 -
Cash reserve at 31 Dec. 2 527 1 344
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INCOME STATEMENT MOBILITY GROUP AS AT 31 DEC. 

(Amounts in NOK millions) Note 2021 2020
OPERATING REVENUE
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Total operating revenue 67 36
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Other financial costs 4 (206) (207)
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Taxes 15 460 312
NET PROFIT 1 964 1 184
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Group contributions after tax (82) (100)
Dividends (618) (600)
Transferred to/(from) other equity (1 264) (484)
Allocated (1 964) (1 184)

Additional dividends decided before AGM date (700) (300)
From other equity 700 300

ASSETS MØLLER MOBILITY GROUP AS AT 31 DEC. 
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Total intangible assets 3 5
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Investments in shares 1 21
Group receivables 9 1 119 1 168
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TOTAL FIXED ASSETS 3 372 3 228

Other receivables 15 12
Group receivables 9 2 240 1 428
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Other equity 3 757 3 193
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Total provisions for liabilities 3 3

Bond loans 898 509
Liabilities to group companies 9 1 894 783
Other non-current liabilities 25 14
Total non-current liabilities 2 817 1 306
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Accounts payable 6 8
Tax payable 15 425 248
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Other current liabilities 45 48
Liabilities to group companies 9 112 424
Total current liabilities 1 527 1 461

TOTAL LIABILITIES 4 347 2 770

TOTAL EQUITY AND LIABILITIES 8 155 6 012

CASH FLOW STATEMENT MØLLER MOBILITY GROUP AS

(Amounts in NOK millions) 2021 2020
CASH FLOW FROM OPERATIONS
Ordinary profit before tax 2 423 1 495
Recognised dividends / group contributions 3 (2 471) (1 521)
Gains from sale of fixed assets / companies (1) 80
Depreciation 5 8 8
Taxes paid during the period (249) (120)
Change in accounts receivable and payables (2) 5
Change in intra-group receivables / liabilities 1 145 2 063
Change in other items (26) 4
Net cash flow from operations 828 2 014

CASH FLOW FROM INVESTMENTS
Investment in tangible fixed assets (20) (14)
Sales of tangible fixed assets 10 11
Investments in subsidiaries (119) -
Capital contributions in AC shares (10) -
Received dividends / group contributions 1 596 1 029
Payment / repayment related to financial fixed assets - (20)
Net cash flow from investments 1 457 1 005

CASH FLOW FROM FINANCING
Group contributions paid (413) (370)
Annual dividend (600) (6)
Additional dividends (700) (300)
Payment / repayment of private long-term borrowings 11 7
New / repayment of long-term debt 599 103

- (1 300)
Net cash flow from financing  (1 102) (1 866)

Net change in cash and cash equivalents during year 1 183 1 153
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Means of payment 11 1 724 1 344
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Cash flow statement (Møller Mobility Group AS)

INCOME STATEMENT MOBILITY GROUP AS AT 31 DEC. 

(Amounts in NOK millions) Note 2021 2020
OPERATING REVENUE
Other operating revenue 1 67 36
Total operating revenue 67 36

OPERATING COSTS
Payroll and other personnel costs 2 115 107
Depreciation and write-downs 5 8 8
Other operating costs 64 145
Total operating costs 186 259
OPERATING PROFIT (120) (181)

FINANCIAL ITEMS
Income from investments in subsidiaries 3 2 471 1 521
Interest income from group companies 30 49
Other financial income 4 251 317
Interest costs from group companies (3) (2)
Other financial costs 4 (206) (207)
Total financial items 2 543 1 677

PROFIT BEFORE TAX 2 423 1 496

Taxes 15 460 312
NET PROFIT 1 964 1 184

Proposed allocations in Møller Mobility Group AS:
Group contributions after tax (82) (100)
Dividends (618) (600)
Transferred to/(from) other equity (1 264) (484)
Allocated (1 964) (1 184)

Additional dividends decided before AGM date (700) (300)
From other equity 700 300

ASSETS MØLLER MOBILITY GROUP AS AT 31 DEC. 

(Amounts in NOK millions) Note 2021 2020
ASSETS
Intangible assets 5 3 5
Total intangible assets 3 5

Tangible fixed assets 5 42 37

Investments in subsidiaries 6 1 191 1 151
Investments in associated companies 7 990 840
Investments in shares 1 21
Group receivables 9 1 119 1 168
Other receivables 27 5
Total financial fixed assets 3 328 3 185

TOTAL FIXED ASSETS 3 372 3 228

Other receivables 15 12
Group receivables 9 2 240 1 428
Total receivables 2 256 1 440

Investments 803 -
Cash and cash equivalents 11 1 724 1 344

TOTAL CURRENT ASSETS 4 783 2 784

TOTAL ASSETS 8 155 6 012

EQUITY AND LIABILITIES MØLLER MOBILITY GROUP AS AT 31 DEC 

(Amounts in NOK millions) Note 2021 2020
EQUITY
Share capital 48 48
Other paid-in equity 3 1
Other equity 3 757 3 193
TOTAL EQUITY 13 3 807 3 242

LIABILITIES
Pension liabilities 8 1 1
Total provisions for liabilities 3 3

Bond loans 898 509
Liabilities to group companies 9 1 894 783
Other non-current liabilities 25 14
Total non-current liabilities 2 817 1 306

Bond loans 210 -
Accounts payable 6 8
Tax payable 15 425 248
Public duties payable 7 6
Dividends and group contributions 9 723 728
Other current liabilities 45 48
Liabilities to group companies 9 112 424
Total current liabilities 1 527 1 461

TOTAL LIABILITIES 4 347 2 770

TOTAL EQUITY AND LIABILITIES 8 155 6 012

CASH FLOW STATEMENT MØLLER MOBILITY GROUP AS

(Amounts in NOK millions) 2021 2020
CASH FLOW FROM OPERATIONS
Ordinary profit before tax 2 423 1 495
Recognised dividends / group contributions 3 (2 471) (1 521)
Gains from sale of fixed assets / companies (1) 80
Depreciation 5 8 8
Taxes paid during the period (249) (120)
Change in accounts receivable and payables (2) 5
Change in intra-group receivables / liabilities 1 145 2 063
Change in other items (26) 4
Net cash flow from operations 828 2 014

CASH FLOW FROM INVESTMENTS
Investment in tangible fixed assets (20) (14)
Sales of tangible fixed assets 10 11
Investments in subsidiaries (119) -
Capital contributions in AC shares (10) -
Received dividends / group contributions 1 596 1 029
Payment / repayment related to financial fixed assets - (20)
Net cash flow from investments 1 457 1 005

CASH FLOW FROM FINANCING
Group contributions paid (413) (370)
Annual dividend (600) (6)
Additional dividends (700) (300)
Payment / repayment of private long-term borrowings 11 7
New / repayment of long-term debt 599 103

- (1 300)
Net cash flow from financing  (1 102) (1 866)

Net change in cash and cash equivalents during year 1 183 1 153
Cash reserve at 1 Jan. 1 344 190
Cash reserve at 31 Dec. 2 527 1 344

Specification of cash reserve at 31 Dec.
Means of payment 11 1 724 1 344
Investments 803 -
Cash reserve at 31 Dec. 2 527 1 344
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INCOME STATEMENT MOBILITY GROUP AS AT 31 DEC. 

(Amounts in NOK millions) Note 2021 2020
OPERATING REVENUE
Other operating revenue 1 67 36
Total operating revenue 67 36

OPERATING COSTS
Payroll and other personnel costs 2 115 107
Depreciation and write-downs 5 8 8
Other operating costs 64 145
Total operating costs 186 259
OPERATING PROFIT (120) (181)

FINANCIAL ITEMS
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Interest income from group companies 30 49
Other financial income 4 251 317
Interest costs from group companies (3) (2)
Other financial costs 4 (206) (207)
Total financial items 2 543 1 677

PROFIT BEFORE TAX 2 423 1 496

Taxes 15 460 312
NET PROFIT 1 964 1 184

Proposed allocations in Møller Mobility Group AS:
Group contributions after tax (82) (100)
Dividends (618) (600)
Transferred to/(from) other equity (1 264) (484)
Allocated (1 964) (1 184)

Additional dividends decided before AGM date (700) (300)
From other equity 700 300
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Total intangible assets 3 5
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Investments in subsidiaries 6 1 191 1 151
Investments in associated companies 7 990 840
Investments in shares 1 21
Group receivables 9 1 119 1 168
Other receivables 27 5
Total financial fixed assets 3 328 3 185
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Other receivables 15 12
Group receivables 9 2 240 1 428
Total receivables 2 256 1 440

Investments 803 -
Cash and cash equivalents 11 1 724 1 344

TOTAL CURRENT ASSETS 4 783 2 784
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EQUITY AND LIABILITIES MØLLER MOBILITY GROUP AS AT 31 DEC 

(Amounts in NOK millions) Note 2021 2020
EQUITY
Share capital 48 48
Other paid-in equity 3 1
Other equity 3 757 3 193
TOTAL EQUITY 13 3 807 3 242
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Pension liabilities 8 1 1
Total provisions for liabilities 3 3

Bond loans 898 509
Liabilities to group companies 9 1 894 783
Other non-current liabilities 25 14
Total non-current liabilities 2 817 1 306

Bond loans 210 -
Accounts payable 6 8
Tax payable 15 425 248
Public duties payable 7 6
Dividends and group contributions 9 723 728
Other current liabilities 45 48
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Total current liabilities 1 527 1 461

TOTAL LIABILITIES 4 347 2 770
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CASH FLOW STATEMENT MØLLER MOBILITY GROUP AS

(Amounts in NOK millions) 2021 2020
CASH FLOW FROM OPERATIONS
Ordinary profit before tax 2 423 1 495
Recognised dividends / group contributions 3 (2 471) (1 521)
Gains from sale of fixed assets / companies (1) 80
Depreciation 5 8 8
Taxes paid during the period (249) (120)
Change in accounts receivable and payables (2) 5
Change in intra-group receivables / liabilities 1 145 2 063
Change in other items (26) 4
Net cash flow from operations 828 2 014

CASH FLOW FROM INVESTMENTS
Investment in tangible fixed assets (20) (14)
Sales of tangible fixed assets 10 11
Investments in subsidiaries (119) -
Capital contributions in AC shares (10) -
Received dividends / group contributions 1 596 1 029
Payment / repayment related to financial fixed assets - (20)
Net cash flow from investments 1 457 1 005

CASH FLOW FROM FINANCING
Group contributions paid (413) (370)
Annual dividend (600) (6)
Additional dividends (700) (300)
Payment / repayment of private long-term borrowings 11 7
New / repayment of long-term debt 599 103

- (1 300)
Net cash flow from financing  (1 102) (1 866)

Net change in cash and cash equivalents during year 1 183 1 153
Cash reserve at 1 Jan. 1 344 190
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Means of payment 11 1 724 1 344
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INCOME STATEMENT MOBILITY GROUP AS AT 31 DEC. 

(Amounts in NOK millions) Note 2021 2020
OPERATING REVENUE
Other operating revenue 1 67 36
Total operating revenue 67 36

OPERATING COSTS
Payroll and other personnel costs 2 115 107
Depreciation and write-downs 5 8 8
Other operating costs 64 145
Total operating costs 186 259
OPERATING PROFIT (120) (181)

FINANCIAL ITEMS
Income from investments in subsidiaries 3 2 471 1 521
Interest income from group companies 30 49
Other financial income 4 251 317
Interest costs from group companies (3) (2)
Other financial costs 4 (206) (207)
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PROFIT BEFORE TAX 2 423 1 496

Taxes 15 460 312
NET PROFIT 1 964 1 184

Proposed allocations in Møller Mobility Group AS:
Group contributions after tax (82) (100)
Dividends (618) (600)
Transferred to/(from) other equity (1 264) (484)
Allocated (1 964) (1 184)

Additional dividends decided before AGM date (700) (300)
From other equity 700 300

ASSETS MØLLER MOBILITY GROUP AS AT 31 DEC. 

(Amounts in NOK millions) Note 2021 2020
ASSETS
Intangible assets 5 3 5
Total intangible assets 3 5

Tangible fixed assets 5 42 37

Investments in subsidiaries 6 1 191 1 151
Investments in associated companies 7 990 840
Investments in shares 1 21
Group receivables 9 1 119 1 168
Other receivables 27 5
Total financial fixed assets 3 328 3 185

TOTAL FIXED ASSETS 3 372 3 228

Other receivables 15 12
Group receivables 9 2 240 1 428
Total receivables 2 256 1 440

Investments 803 -
Cash and cash equivalents 11 1 724 1 344
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(Amounts in NOK millions) Note 2021 2020
EQUITY
Share capital 48 48
Other paid-in equity 3 1
Other equity 3 757 3 193
TOTAL EQUITY 13 3 807 3 242

LIABILITIES
Pension liabilities 8 1 1
Total provisions for liabilities 3 3

Bond loans 898 509
Liabilities to group companies 9 1 894 783
Other non-current liabilities 25 14
Total non-current liabilities 2 817 1 306

Bond loans 210 -
Accounts payable 6 8
Tax payable 15 425 248
Public duties payable 7 6
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Other current liabilities 45 48
Liabilities to group companies 9 112 424
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CASH FLOW FROM OPERATIONS
Ordinary profit before tax 2 423 1 495
Recognised dividends / group contributions 3 (2 471) (1 521)
Gains from sale of fixed assets / companies (1) 80
Depreciation 5 8 8
Taxes paid during the period (249) (120)
Change in accounts receivable and payables (2) 5
Change in intra-group receivables / liabilities 1 145 2 063
Change in other items (26) 4
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CASH FLOW FROM INVESTMENTS
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Sales of tangible fixed assets 10 11
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Capital contributions in AC shares (10) -
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Payment / repayment related to financial fixed assets - (20)
Net cash flow from investments 1 457 1 005
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Annual dividend (600) (6)
Additional dividends (700) (300)
Payment / repayment of private long-term borrowings 11 7
New / repayment of long-term debt 599 103

- (1 300)
Net cash flow from financing  (1 102) (1 866)
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Cash reserve at 1 Jan. 1 344 190
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INCOME STATEMENT MOBILITY GROUP AS AT 31 DEC. 

(Amounts in NOK millions) Note 2021 2020
OPERATING REVENUE
Other operating revenue 1 67 36
Total operating revenue 67 36

OPERATING COSTS
Payroll and other personnel costs 2 115 107
Depreciation and write-downs 5 8 8
Other operating costs 64 145
Total operating costs 186 259
OPERATING PROFIT (120) (181)

FINANCIAL ITEMS
Income from investments in subsidiaries 3 2 471 1 521
Interest income from group companies 30 49
Other financial income 4 251 317
Interest costs from group companies (3) (2)
Other financial costs 4 (206) (207)
Total financial items 2 543 1 677

PROFIT BEFORE TAX 2 423 1 496

Taxes 15 460 312
NET PROFIT 1 964 1 184

Proposed allocations in Møller Mobility Group AS:
Group contributions after tax (82) (100)
Dividends (618) (600)
Transferred to/(from) other equity (1 264) (484)
Allocated (1 964) (1 184)

Additional dividends decided before AGM date (700) (300)
From other equity 700 300

ASSETS MØLLER MOBILITY GROUP AS AT 31 DEC. 

(Amounts in NOK millions) Note 2021 2020
ASSETS
Intangible assets 5 3 5
Total intangible assets 3 5

Tangible fixed assets 5 42 37

Investments in subsidiaries 6 1 191 1 151
Investments in associated companies 7 990 840
Investments in shares 1 21
Group receivables 9 1 119 1 168
Other receivables 27 5
Total financial fixed assets 3 328 3 185

TOTAL FIXED ASSETS 3 372 3 228

Other receivables 15 12
Group receivables 9 2 240 1 428
Total receivables 2 256 1 440

Investments 803 -
Cash and cash equivalents 11 1 724 1 344

TOTAL CURRENT ASSETS 4 783 2 784
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(Amounts in NOK millions) Note 2021 2020
EQUITY
Share capital 48 48
Other paid-in equity 3 1
Other equity 3 757 3 193
TOTAL EQUITY 13 3 807 3 242
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Pension liabilities 8 1 1
Total provisions for liabilities 3 3

Bond loans 898 509
Liabilities to group companies 9 1 894 783
Other non-current liabilities 25 14
Total non-current liabilities 2 817 1 306

Bond loans 210 -
Accounts payable 6 8
Tax payable 15 425 248
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CASH FLOW STATEMENT MØLLER MOBILITY GROUP AS

(Amounts in NOK millions) 2021 2020
CASH FLOW FROM OPERATIONS
Ordinary profit before tax 2 423 1 495
Recognised dividends / group contributions 3 (2 471) (1 521)
Gains from sale of fixed assets / companies (1) 80
Depreciation 5 8 8
Taxes paid during the period (249) (120)
Change in accounts receivable and payables (2) 5
Change in intra-group receivables / liabilities 1 145 2 063
Change in other items (26) 4
Net cash flow from operations 828 2 014

CASH FLOW FROM INVESTMENTS
Investment in tangible fixed assets (20) (14)
Sales of tangible fixed assets 10 11
Investments in subsidiaries (119) -
Capital contributions in AC shares (10) -
Received dividends / group contributions 1 596 1 029
Payment / repayment related to financial fixed assets - (20)
Net cash flow from investments 1 457 1 005

CASH FLOW FROM FINANCING
Group contributions paid (413) (370)
Annual dividend (600) (6)
Additional dividends (700) (300)
Payment / repayment of private long-term borrowings 11 7
New / repayment of long-term debt 599 103

- (1 300)
Net cash flow from financing  (1 102) (1 866)

Net change in cash and cash equivalents during year 1 183 1 153
Cash reserve at 1 Jan. 1 344 190
Cash reserve at 31 Dec. 2 527 1 344

Specification of cash reserve at 31 Dec.
Means of payment 11 1 724 1 344
Investments 803 -
Cash reserve at 31 Dec. 2 527 1 344
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Notes (Møller Mobility Group AS)
NOTES MØLLER MOBILITY GROUP AS

All figures are in NOK millions.

Note 1 - Other operating revenue
2021 2020

Revenues from joint services in the group 61 73
Other operating revenue 6 5
Total other operating revenue 67 78

Note 2 - Payroll and other personnel costs
2021 2020

Salaries 101 90
Employer's NI contributions 14 10
Pension costs 4 4
Other personnel costs 6 3
Total payroll and other personnel costs 125 107

Average number of employees 47 37

For information about the remuneration of senior executives, including the salary of the CEO of Møller Mobility Group, see note 2 to the consolidated financial 
statements.

Remuneration to the auditors in 2021 amounted to NOK 651,557 for auditing and NOK 110,900 for other consulting services. All amounts are stated exclusive 
of VAT.

Note 3 - Income from investments in subsidiaries

2021 2020
Harald A. Møller AS 1 139 873
Møller Bil AS 1 332 648
Total income from investments in subsidiaries 2 471 1 521

Note 4 - Other financial income and financial costs

2021 2020
Currency gains 245 316
Other financial income 6 1
Total other financial income 251 317

Currency losses 173 172
Other financial costs 33 36
Total other financial costs 206 207

Note 5 - Tangible fixed assets and intangible assets 

Tangible Intangible Total
fixed assets* assets

Acquisition cost at 1 Jan. 45 18 63
Additions 20 - 20
Disposals (13) - (13)
Acquisition cost at 31 Dec. 52 18 70
Accumulated depreciation at 1 Jan. 8 13 21
Year's depreciation and write-downs 6 2 8
Disposals (3) - (3)
Depreciated at 31 Dec. 10 15 25
Carrying amount at 31 Dec. 42 3 45

Straight line depreciation plan 3-7 years 3-10 years
* Cars, fixtures and furnishings 
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NOTES MØLLER MOBILITY GROUP AS

All figures are in NOK millions.

Note 1 - Other operating revenue
2021 2020

Revenues from joint services in the group 61 73
Other operating revenue 6 5
Total other operating revenue 67 78
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2021 2020

Salaries 101 90
Employer's NI contributions 14 10
Pension costs 4 4
Other personnel costs 6 3
Total payroll and other personnel costs 125 107

Average number of employees 47 37

For information about the remuneration of senior executives, including the salary of the CEO of Møller Mobility Group, see note 2 to the consolidated financial 
statements.

Remuneration to the auditors in 2021 amounted to NOK 651,557 for auditing and NOK 110,900 for other consulting services. All amounts are stated exclusive 
of VAT.
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2021 2020
Harald A. Møller AS 1 139 873
Møller Bil AS 1 332 648
Total income from investments in subsidiaries 2 471 1 521

Note 4 - Other financial income and financial costs

2021 2020
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Other financial income 6 1
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Total other financial costs 206 207

Note 5 - Tangible fixed assets and intangible assets 

Tangible Intangible Total
fixed assets* assets

Acquisition cost at 1 Jan. 45 18 63
Additions 20 - 20
Disposals (13) - (13)
Acquisition cost at 31 Dec. 52 18 70
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Disposals (3) - (3)
Depreciated at 31 Dec. 10 15 25
Carrying amount at 31 Dec. 42 3 45

Straight line depreciation plan 3-7 years 3-10 years
* Cars, fixtures and furnishings 

Note 6 - Investments in subsidiaries

Business Stake/ Equity Carrying
office voting 31.12.2021 amount

Company name rights
Harald A. Møller AS Oslo 100 % 587 992 472
Møller Bil AS Oslo 100 % 376 1 158 313
Møller Digital AS Oslo 100 % 73 33 333
Møller Synergi AS Oslo 100 % 4 (3) 18
Hyre AS Oslo 78 % 10 (18) 55
Total investments in subsidiaries 1 051 2 162 1 191
* Includes dividends received / group contributions from subsidiaries totalling NOK 1,520 million.

The above table only shows shares owned directly by Møller Mobility Group AS. In total, the Group consists of 33 companies directly and indirectly owned
by Møller Mobility Group AS. 

Note 7 - Investments in associated companies

Business Voting  Equity Profit/(loss) Carrying
office rights/ in company  after tax amount 

Company name stake 31.12.2021 2019 31.12.2021
Volkswagen Møller Bilfinans AS Oslo 49,00 % 3 765 229 840
Wash Group Holding, Vestfossen * 44 12 112
Mitt Dekkhotell AS, Oslo ** Oslo 20,55 % - - 38
Total investments in associated companies 3 810 241 990
* preliminary accounts
** accounts for 2021 have not been received

The share of the profit/(loss) is not incorporated into the company financial statements; it is only incorporated into the consolidated financial statements 
of Møller Mobility Group. 

Note 8 - Pensions 

Pension costs 2021 2020
Defined-contribution pension 3 3
Pension costs 3 3

Carrying amount net pension obligations  
Calculated pension liabilities 1 1
Net carrying amount pension liabilities 1 1

Number of people covered by all pension plans 59 36

Financial assumptions
Return on pension assets 0,0 % 0,0 %
Discount rate 1,5 % 1,8 %
Annual salary growth / annual G adjustment 0,0 % 0,0 %

All pension liabilities include the employers' National Insurance contribution.

Profit/(loss) for 
the year 2021

The company currently has a defined-contribution pension that has been adapted to comply with the new Act on occupational pensions. The defined-contribution pension 
is covered by the company through ongoing payments to an insurance company. The company has no further obligations beyond this.

The company is affiliated with the contractual early retirement scheme (the "AFP" scheme) through the Norwegian Federation of Trade Unions (LO) and the Confederation 
of Norwegian Enterprise (NHO). The new AFP scheme is a defined-benefit, multi-employer pension plan, and since the assets cannot be attributed to individual members, 
the scheme is treated as a defined-contribution pension scheme in the financial statements, and future obligations are not recognised on the balance sheet.The remaining 
pension liabilities in the balance sheet relate to a handful of unfunded pensions paid through operations. 
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Note 6 - Investments in subsidiaries
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the scheme is treated as a defined-contribution pension scheme in the financial statements, and future obligations are not recognised on the balance sheet.The remaining 
pension liabilities in the balance sheet relate to a handful of unfunded pensions paid through operations. 
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by Møller Mobility Group AS. 
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Business Voting  Equity Profit/(loss) Carrying
office rights/ in company  after tax amount 

Company name stake 31.12.2021 2019 31.12.2021
Volkswagen Møller Bilfinans AS Oslo 49,00 % 3 765 229 840
Wash Group Holding, Vestfossen * 44 12 112
Mitt Dekkhotell AS, Oslo ** Oslo 20,55 % - - 38
Total investments in associated companies 3 810 241 990
* preliminary accounts
** accounts for 2021 have not been received

The share of the profit/(loss) is not incorporated into the company financial statements; it is only incorporated into the consolidated financial statements 
of Møller Mobility Group. 

Note 8 - Pensions 

Pension costs 2021 2020
Defined-contribution pension 3 3
Pension costs 3 3

Carrying amount net pension obligations  
Calculated pension liabilities 1 1
Net carrying amount pension liabilities 1 1

Number of people covered by all pension plans 59 36

Financial assumptions
Return on pension assets 0,0 % 0,0 %
Discount rate 1,5 % 1,8 %
Annual salary growth / annual G adjustment 0,0 % 0,0 %

All pension liabilities include the employers' National Insurance contribution.

Profit/(loss) for 
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The company currently has a defined-contribution pension that has been adapted to comply with the new Act on occupational pensions. The defined-contribution pension 
is covered by the company through ongoing payments to an insurance company. The company has no further obligations beyond this.

The company is affiliated with the contractual early retirement scheme (the "AFP" scheme) through the Norwegian Federation of Trade Unions (LO) and the Confederation 
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Note 9 - Balances with companies in the Aars Group

2021 2020
Møller Bil Norge 817 741
Møller Digital 175 214
Møller Bil Sverige 25 -
Moller Auto Baltic 87 214
Hyre AS 15 -
Total non-current receivables 1 119 1 168

The receivables consist of operating capital and loans to group companies (cashpool). The receivables are long-term financing of subsidiaries 
and have no specified repayment structure. The items must, in their entirety, be regarded as continuing for more than one year after the closure of the  
financial year. 

2021 2020
Bank deposits in subsidiaries (cashpool) 1 894 783
Total non-current liabilities 1 894 783

2021 2020
Receivables from group companies – dividends / group contributions 2 236 1 360
Accounts receivable group 4 33
Other receivables group - 35
Total current receivables 2 240 1 428

2021 2020
Group contributions 105 128
Dividends 618 600
Total group contributions and dividends 723 728

Group contributions to group companies 52 285
Accounts payable group 7 42
Other current receivables group 53 98
Total current liabilities to group companies 112 424

Note 10 - Related parties

Company Company relationship Transaction type 2021 2020
All subsidiaries Subsidiary Financial income 30 49
All subsidiaries Subsidiary Sale of administrative services 61 73
Total sales 90 122

All subsidiaries Subsidiary Financial costs 3 2
Møller Synergi AS Subsidiary Purchase of accounting services, etc. 11 8
Møller Digital AS Subsidiary Purchase of IT-, telephonyservices 2 3
Total purchases 16 13

Note 11 - Bank deposits

Møller Mobility Group AS has bank deposits totalling NOK 1,724 million. The company has provided guarantees for tax owed by the subsidiaries amounting 
to NOK 119 million.

Note 12 - Guarantees and commitments 

Guarantees and commitments 2021 2020
Non-recurring duty, Customs Region Oslo and Akershus 176 176
Withholding tax 200 143
Employees 70 60

Guarantees apply to subsidiaries.
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and have no specified repayment structure. The items must, in their entirety, be regarded as continuing for more than one year after the closure of the  
financial year. 

2021 2020
Bank deposits in subsidiaries (cashpool) 1 894 783
Total non-current liabilities 1 894 783

2021 2020
Receivables from group companies – dividends / group contributions 2 236 1 360
Accounts receivable group 4 33
Other receivables group - 35
Total current receivables 2 240 1 428

2021 2020
Group contributions 105 128
Dividends 618 600
Total group contributions and dividends 723 728

Group contributions to group companies 52 285
Accounts payable group 7 42
Other current receivables group 53 98
Total current liabilities to group companies 112 424

Note 10 - Related parties

Company Company relationship Transaction type 2021 2020
All subsidiaries Subsidiary Financial income 30 49
All subsidiaries Subsidiary Sale of administrative services 61 73
Total sales 90 122

All subsidiaries Subsidiary Financial costs 3 2
Møller Synergi AS Subsidiary Purchase of accounting services, etc. 11 8
Møller Digital AS Subsidiary Purchase of IT-, telephonyservices 2 3
Total purchases 16 13

Note 11 - Bank deposits

Møller Mobility Group AS has bank deposits totalling NOK 1,724 million. The company has provided guarantees for tax owed by the subsidiaries amounting 
to NOK 119 million.

Note 12 - Guarantees and commitments 

Guarantees and commitments 2021 2020
Non-recurring duty, Customs Region Oslo and Akershus 176 176
Withholding tax 200 143
Employees 70 60

Guarantees apply to subsidiaries.
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Note 13 - Share capital

Share Other paid-in Other Total
capital equity equity

Equity at 1 Jan. 2019 48 1 3 193 3 242
Group contributions paid -                             - (82) (82)
Group contributions -                             1 - 1
Additional dividends -                             - (700) (700)
Profit/(loss) for the year -                             - 1 964 1 964
Allocated to dividend -                             - (618) (618)
Equity at 31 Dec. 2019 48 3 3 757 3 807

Share Other paid-in Other Total
capital equity equity

Equity at 1 Jan. 2018 48 1 3 006 3 055
Group contributions paid -                             -                             (100) (100)
Additional dividends -                             -                             (300) (300)
Profit/(loss) for the year -                             -                             1 184 1 184
Currency hedging of equity in foreign subsidiaries -                             -                             3 3
Allocated to dividend -                             -                             (600) (600)
Equity at 31 Dec. 2018 48 1 3 193 3 242

For information about share capital and shareholder information, see note 13 to the consolidated financial statements.

Note 14 - Liabilities, financing and financial risk

Current liabilities 2021 2020
Bond loans 210 -
Total current interest-bearing liabilities 210 0

Non-current liabilities
Bond loans 900 510
Arrangement costs (2) (1)
Total bond issue 898 509
Other long-term liabilities 25 14
Debt to other companies in Møller Mobility Group 1 894 783
Total non-current liabilities 2 817 1 306

Maturity
Due in less than 2 years 510 300
Due in 2-5 years 2 517 1 006
Total 3 027 1 306

Key figures
Unused committed credit facilities 2 100 2 100

Møller Mobility Group AS is Møller Mobility Group's internal bank. 
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Note 15 - Taxes

Taxes in the income statement 
2021 2020

Profit before tax 2 423 1 495

Tax payable in Norway 437 283
Tax on paid group contributions 23 28
Total tax payable 460 311

Change in deferred tax - 1
Tax cost 460 312
Profit for the year 1 964 1 184

Effective tax rate 19,0 % 20,9 %

22% of the profit before tax 533 350
Actual tax cost 460 332
Deviation tax cost 73 18
The deviation comprises:
Permanent differences (74) (36)
Total (73) (18)

Tax on balance sheet
The calculation of deferred tax takes into account the following temporary differences: 2021 2020
Tangible fixed assets 4 4
Unrealised exchange rate losses on forward contracts 3 7
Amortised borrowing costs 2 1
Pension (1) (4)
Total deferred tax 9 8

Norway 22% 2 2
Net deferred tax 2 2

Change in deferred tax on the balance sheet is arrived at as follows:
Deferred tax at 1 Jan. (2) (1)
Year's change in deferred tax - (1)
Net deferred tax at 31 Dec. (2) (2)

The tax payable on the balance sheet is arrived at as follows:
Tax payable on the income statement 459 311
Tax on capital deposits (11) (35)
Tax on paid group contributions (23) (28)
Tax payable owed (425) (248)
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Auditor’s report

PricewaterhouseCoopers AS, Dronning Eufemias gate 71, Postboks 748 Sentrum, NO-0106 Oslo
T: 02316, org. no.: 987 009 713 MVA, www.pwc.no
Statsautoriserte revisorer, medlemmer av Den norske Revisorforening og autorisert regnskapsførerselskap

 

To the General Meeting of Møller Mobility Group AS 

 

Independent Auditor’s Report

Opinion

We have audited the financial statements of Møller Mobility Group AS, which comprise: 

• the financial statements of the parent company Møller Mobility Group AS (the Company), 
which comprise the balance sheet as at 31 December 2021, the income statement and cash 
flow statement for the year then ended, and notes to the financial statements, including a 
summary of significant accounting policies, and

• the consolidated financial statements of Møller Mobility Group AS and its subsidiaries (the 
Group), which comprise the balance sheet as at 31 December 2021, the income statement 
and cash flow statement for the year then ended, and notes to the financial statements, 
including a summary of significant accounting policies.

In our opinion

• the financial statements comply with applicable statutory requirements,
• the financial statements give a true and fair view of the financial position of the Company as at 

31 December 2021, and its financial performance and its cash flows for the year then ended in 
accordance with Norwegian Accounting Act and accounting standards and practices generally 
accepted in Norway, and

• the financial statements give a true and fair view of the financial position of the Group as at 31 
December 2021, and its financial performance and its cash flows for the year then ended in 
accordance with Norwegian Accounting Act and accounting standards and practices generally 
accepted in Norway.

Basis for Opinion

We conducted our audit in accordance with International Standards on Auditing (ISAs). Our 
responsibilities under those standards are further described in the Auditor’s Responsibilities for the 
Audit of the Financial Statements section of our report. We are independent of the Company and the 
Group as required by laws and regulations and the International Ethics Standards Board for 
Accountants’ International Code of Ethics for Professional Accountants (including International 
Independence Standards) (IESBA Code), and we have fulfilled our other ethical responsibilities in 
accordance with these requirements. We believe that the audit evidence we have obtained is sufficient 
and appropriate to provide a basis for our opinion.

Other Information

The Board of Directors and the Managing Director (management) are responsible for the information 
in the Board of Directors’ report and the other information accompanying the financial statements. The 
other information comprises information in the annual report, but does not include the financial 
statements and our auditor’s report thereon. Our opinion on the financial statements does not cover 
the information in the Board of Directors’ report nor the other information accompanying the financial 
statements.
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In connection with our audit of the financial statements, our responsibility is to read the Board of 
Directors’ report and the other information accompanying the financial statements. The purpose is to 
consider if there is material inconsistency between the Board of Directors’ report and the other 
information accompanying the financial statements and the financial statements or our knowledge 
obtained in the audit, or whether the Board of Directors’ report and the other information 
accompanying the financial statements otherwise appear to be materially misstated. We are required 
to report if there is a material misstatement in the Board of Directors’ report or the other information 
accompanying the financial statements. We have nothing to report in this regard.

Based on our knowledge obtained in the audit, it is our opinion that the Board of Directors’ report

• is consistent with the financial statements and
• contains the information required by applicable legal requirements.

Responsibilities of Management for the Financial Statements

Management is responsible for the preparation of financial statements that give a true and fair view in 
accordance with the Norwegian Accounting Act and accounting standards and practices generally 
accepted in Norway, and for such internal control as management determines is necessary to enable 
the preparation of financial statements that are free from material misstatement, whether due to fraud 
or error.

In preparing the financial statements, management is responsible for assessing the Company’s and 
the Group’s ability to continue as a going concern, disclosing, as applicable, matters related to going 
concern. The financial statements use the going concern basis of accounting insofar as it is not likely 
that the enterprise will cease operations.

Auditor’s Responsibilities for the Audit of the Financial Statements

Our objectives are to obtain reasonable assurance about whether the financial statements as a whole 
are free from material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error, and to issue an auditor’s report that 
includes our opinion. Reasonable assurance is a high level of assurance, but is not a guarantee that 
an audit conducted in accordance with ISAs will always detect a material misstatement when it exists. 
Misstatements can arise from fraud or error and are considered material if, individually or in aggregate, 
they could reasonably be expected to influence the economic decisions of users taken on the basis of 
these financial statements.

For further description of Auditor’s Responsibilities for the Audit of the Financial Statements reference 
is made to: https://revisorforeningen.no/revisjonsberetninger  

 
Oslo, 20 April 2022
PricewaterhouseCoopers AS
 
 
 
Vidar Lorentzen
State Authorised Public Accountant
 

Note: This translation from Norwegian has been prepared for information purposes only.
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Møller Mobility Group has private owners, and 
follows the Norwegian code of practice for cor-
porate governance where relevant and in line with 
best practice. Information about the code of prac-
tice can be found at nues.no. The “Policy for Gov-
ernance and Control” was adopted by the Board in 
the autumn of 2020 and is updated as needed. The 
policy describes the organisation of the Group, 
clarifies roles and responsibilities between the 
governing bodies, as well as defining the most 
important processes for ensuring good corporate 
governance.

ORGANISATION
Board
Møller Mobility Group's Board of Directors has 
overall responsibility for the management of 
Møller Mobility Group AS. The Board also super-
vises the day-to-day management delegated to 
the CEO and the business in general. The owners 
exercise their ownership through the Board. The 
main tasks of the Group's Board of Directors and 
the framework for addressing the Board's activities 
are documented in "Board instructions for Møller 
Mobility Group". 

The purpose of the board instructions is to regu-
late the board’s work, case processing and legal 
capacity, as well as the CEO’s duties and obliga-
tions vis-à-vis the board. The instructions are based 

on best practices. The members of the Board shall 
exercise their directorships loyally and, in the per-
formance of their offices, safeguard the compa-
ny’s interests. Board members are expected to act 
independently of special interests. 

The Board of Directors of Møller Mobility Group 
is composed of representatives from the owners 
as well as external board members with relevant 
expertise and experience. The Chairman and two 
directors represent the Group’s owners and are 
not part of the company’s administration.

CEO and Group Management
The CEO is appointed by the Board of Directors. 
The CEO is responsible for exercising day-to-day 
management of Møller Mobility Group AS. The 
CEO shall lead and coordinate Møller Mobility 
Group's overall activities within the guidelines, 
authorities and instructions issued by the Board in 
accordance with statutory provisions, regulations 
and articles of association.

Group Management is an advisory and executive 
body for the CEO, appointed by the CEO. Group 
Management shall contribute to ensuring that the 
CEO’s decisions are made on a sound basis and 
ensure implementation within their respective 
areas of responsibility.

Management of subsidiaries
The management and control of all the compa-
nies included in the Group shall be based on the 
same principles of governance, regardless of 
organisation.

In wholly owned subsidiaries of Møller Mobility 
Group, ongoing management of the company's 
values takes place primarily through the line. The 
Board's task in wholly owned subsidiaries is to 
fulfil the requirements of the Norwegian Limited 
Liability Companies Act, as well as to ensure good 
involvement of, and engagement with, employee 
representatives, where appropriate. 

General meeting
Møller Mobility Group holds general meetings in 
accordance with the provisions of the Norwegian 
Limited Liability Companies Act.

Internal auditor
Internal auditing is an independent, objective veri-
fication and advisory function that assists the Board 
and Group Management in fulfilling their respon-
sibilities in respect of the supervision of corporate 
governance, risk management and internal control.

External auditor
All companies in Møller Mobility Group shall have 
an independent external auditor elected by the 

general meeting at the recommendation of the 
company's Board of Directors. As far as possible, 
the same firm of auditors will be used in all the 
companies in Møller Mobility Group.

The Board of Directors shall ensure that, each year, 
the auditor presents the main features of a plan for 
performing the audit work. The Board of Direc-
tors shall summon the auditor to meetings for a 
review of annual financial statements. In addition, 
the Board of Directors shall review the company’s 
internal control in conjunction with the auditor.

Factory auditing
The car imports division and all car dealerships are 
subject to factory certification requirements and 
brand standards. Regular audits and reviews are 
carried out by the factories.

MANAGEMENT PROCESSES 
Strategy development
It follows from the Board’s instructions that the 
Board, together with the CEO, shall establish over-
all objectives and set the course for achieving the 
objectives by determining strategy, action plans 
and performance management. An overall roll-
ing strategy process shall be undertaken, setting 
long-term strategic and financial objectives for the 
Group. Risk assessment shall be an integral part of 
the strategy development process.

Corporate governance

Good corporate governance strengthens confidence in Møller Mobility Group and will contribute to the greatest 
possible value creation over time, for the benefit of owners, employees and other stakeholders. Good relations with 
society and the stakeholders affected by the business are also of great importance to the company.

https://nues.no
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Annual strategic sub-goals and action plans are to 
be defined within the adopted long-term strategy. 
The overall strategy plan and the annual sub-goals 
for the Group are voted on by the Board of Directors.

PERFORMANCE MANAGEMENT AND FOLLOW-UP
Performance management in the Group entails 
setting annual financial and operational objec-
tives for the Group as a whole and for the various 
business divisions. Furthermore, action plans are 
drawn up for achieving the objectives. The facto-
ries provide clear frameworks and requirements 
that must be incorporated into the performance 
management and action plans. The overall annual 
financial objectives of the Group are adopted by 
the Board of Directors, and the objectives per busi-
ness area are determined by the CEO together 
with the Group Director Finance and Strategy. The 
objectives are further broken down within the 
respective business areas as appropriate.

Continuous monitoring of the financial position 
of the enterprise is maintained through regular 
KPI reporting, monthly financial reporting and 
rolling 16-month forecasts that are updated every 
four months. Planning of long-term financing and 
liquidity management is an integral part of the 
four-monthly forecasting process.

Four-monthly Business Reviews are conducted in 
all of the Group’s business areas. The purpose of 
the Business Reviews is corporate governance in 
the form of verification of the accounting position 
relative to objectives, updated forecasts relative to 
objectives, risk management and internal control, 
strategic projects as well as organisational devel-
opment. Business Reviews are intended to ensure 
the Group has good action plans for achieving its 
objectives and managing risk. 

ORGANISATIONAL DEVELOPMENT
Møller Mobility Group will focus on the develop-
ment of people, organisation, culture and values 

with an ambition to be among the most attractive 
workplaces in the Nordic and Baltic countries. 
The Group shall have a trust-based and develop-
ment-oriented performance culture.

The Group shall have good development pro-
grammes for managers and employees. Relevant 
common rules and routines for management 
and employeeship shall be described and made 
 available to the users.

A SUSTAINABLE SOCIAL MISSION
Møller Mobility Group shall transparently provide 
internal and external information on all essential 
matters that determine how the Group operates 
and is judged by the outside world. The ethi-
cal guidelines describe the use and handling of 
 internal and external information.

Møller Mobility Group shall strive to have a sus-
tainable social mission that actively contributes to 
combating climate change and its consequences, 
as well as contributing to gender equality and 
diversity. The Group's sustainable social mission 
will be an integral part of how the company con-
ducts long-term, profitable business. Further infor-
mation can be found in the sustainability report 
for 2021.

GUIDELINES FOR REPORTING FINANCIAL 
INFORMATION
Møller Mobility Group publishes interim reports 
every four months, in addition to the annual report. 
The interim reporting also represents a stock 
exchange announcement, and this is a require-
ment as a result of the Group being partly financed 
through bond loans. Furthermore, stock exchange 
announcements are published when there are 
 significant changes in the company.

RISK MANAGEMENT AND INTERNAL CONTROL
The Board of Directors has overall responsibility for 
Møller Mobility Group's organisation, risk manage-

MANAGEMENT PRACTICE IN MØLLER MOBILITY GROUP  
ANNUAL WHEEL 2021

Møller

 Mobility Group

ANNUAL WHEEL

2021

January
• Business Review
• “Top 50” meeting
•  Performance and 

appraisal meetings

February
• Board meeting
•  Strategy meeting 

(Group Manage-
ment)

May
•  Strategy meeting 

(Group Management)
•  “Top 50” meeting

April
• Board meeting

June
• Board meeting
• Business review

December
• Board meeting

November
• Strategy meeting 

(Group Management)

October
• Board meeting

• Business review

September
• Board meeting

• “Top 50” meeting

August
• Performance and 
appraisal meetings

In addition, Group Executive Management meetings and departmental meetings are held every  
other week throughout the year.

ment and internal control. The Board shall continu-
ously assess the content of governing documents 
with a view to continuous improvement, and shall 
adapt governing documents as well as possible to 
the activities carried out at all times and to changes 
in prevailing market conditions.

Ownership of the main processes lies with the 
members of Group Management. The Group 
Directors have overall responsibility for ensuring 
that there are governing documents covering their 
area of responsibility. They will also ensure further 
development of the main processes, which will be 
operationalised through multidisciplinary teams.
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Møller Mobility Group's internal control frame-
work is based on the internationally recognised 
COSO internal control framework. The goal is for 
risk management to be a continuous process that 
is carried out at all levels throughout the com-
pany and across all functions. The process shall 
be designed to identify potential events that may 
affect the business and to manage risk so that it 
complies with the company’s risk appetite, and so 
provide a reasonable degree of security for goal 
achievement. The framework complies with best 
practice in internal control, and at the same time 
is a systematic and cost-effective way to achieve 
internal control.

The use of the internal control framework contrib-
utes to: 

•  Ensuring that it is easier to adapt to changes in a 
moving risk landscape and changes in regulatory 
requirements

 •  Ensuring effective reporting and compliance 
with laws and regulations

The model below describes how internal control 
is employed continuously throughout the year:

Møller Mobility Group's internal control framework 
is based on the “three lines of defence”. The model 
highlights roles and duties (responsibilities) related 
to internal control. The model is designed to help 
internal control function as intended and allow us 
to continuously take account of changes in the 
balance of risks. 

•  First line of defence: Line management is 
responsible for day-to-day risk management. 
They shall at all times ensure that risk manage-
ment and risk exposure are within the limits and 
overall management principles adopted by the 
Board of Directors or group management. 

•  Second line of defence: Control functions include 
Controlling in the business areas, the quality and 
environmental functions of Harald A. Møller, 
Moller Baltic Import and Möller Bil Sverige, the 
data security and IT security function in Møller 
Digital, the people and organisational functions 
of the Group (including HSE functions), the sustain-
ability and communications department of Møller 
Mobility Group and the central purchasing depart-
ment of the Group. These control functions shall 
actively provide information, training and support 
to the first line of defence. They shall monitor risk, 

monitor and quality-assure processes and follow 
up control activities and non-conformities within 
their area. The Controlling function is responsible 
for ensuring active risk management through the 
compilation and regular updating of risk matrixes 
and associated action plans. 

•  Third line of defence: In order to empower 
improvement work related to internal control, 
Møller Mobility Group has deliberately chosen 
to gather typical tasks from a reinforced 2nd 
line of defence, along with tasks related to inter-
nal control plans and internal audits, into the 

Møller Mobility Group works systematically on risk assessment  
at all stages of the business to achieve corporate goals as well  
as legal and financial obligations.

Risk management 

MONTHS 9-12

•  Annual risk assessment 
(overall and process) incl. 
self-assessment

•  Interim audit performed by 
external auditor

•  Establishment of internal 
control plan

•  Report to the Board (risk and 
internal control plan)

•  Perform controls in accord-
ance with internal control 
plan

MONTHS 1-4

•  The Board's review and 
assessment of governing 
documents

•  Overall risk assessment 
and status of measures 
(BR)

•  Perform controls in 
accordance with internal 
control plan

• Follow-up measures

ANNUAL WHEEL FOR ENSURING CONTINUOUS WORK ON INTERNAL CONTROL

MONTHS 5-8

•  Overall risk assessment and status 
of measures (BR)

•  Perform controls in accordance 
with internal control plan

• Follow-up measures
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matrixes. In 2022, we have carried out an analysis 
of climate-related risk factors and opportunities 
based on the Task Force on Climate Related Dis-
closures (TCFD) framework. Among other things, 
the analysis revealed significant transitional risks 
associated with raw material availability as a 
result of an increased need for vulnerable miner-
als and resources when the electrification of the 
fleet accelerates in earnest. The availability of raw 
materials is also affected by geopolitical factors 

such as war and conflict, as well as physical and 
acute changes predicted by extreme weather 
events such as precipitation, floods and droughts. 
Going forward, we will strengthen monitoring in 
this area and have close dialogue with our part-
ner Volkswagen Group to ensure that we take into 
account any changes in raw material availability 
and are prepared to meet this.

central department of Compliance and Inter-
nal Control. This deviates from the usual theory 
where only internal auditing stands as an inde-
pendent party in the third line of defence, but 
is a practical delimitation that Møller Mobility 
Group has made. As a third line of defence, the 
function shall underpin the board and manage-
ment’s responsibility and has a right and a duty 
to report directly to the board. The function 
shall contribute to the implementation of inter-
nal audits/controls and cater for independent 
internal audits if necessary or requested by the 
Board. The department shall monitor that inter-
nal control is targeted, effective and functions 
as intended.

KEY RISK FACTORS IN 2021 
Møller Mobility Group regularly conducts risk 
assessments. These consist of identifying risks 
that may threaten target achievement, and then 
analysing the probability of the risk occurring and 
the financial consequence if it does occurs. Risk 
matrixes are used to summarize the risk assess-
ments and measures to be followed up. 

In 2021, key risk factors have been linked to deliv-
ery challenges that have resulted in limited access 
to cars. This is closely related to the shortage of 
semiconductors that have impacted large parts 
of the automotive industry. The semiconductors 
or microchips form the basis of the entire mod-
ern microelectronics of cars. One of the reasons 
for the delay is a supply deficit of the raw material 
silicon. New sales models are also getting into full 
swing in the industry. This can affect margins and 
brings to the fore the need to equip for the future 

with targeted investments in digital solutions and 
good processes for strategic planning.

Macroeconomic factors involve risk factors related 
to foreign exchange, interest rates and inflation. 
Higher inflation and interest rates can reduce 
demand for cars and thereby influence how the 
overall market develops. Here we are actively 
working on scenarios and contingency plans to 
plan for any interest rate increases and inflation 
drivers. 

COVID-19 has also led to factory closures and has 
affected the supply of cars. This has made it nec-
essary to adapt the sales processes and commu-
nications to the customer. Regulatory changes at 
national and European levels also present a risk 
factor that can put pressure on volume that in turn 
affects the margin picture.

The EU's ambitious “EU Green Deal” restructuring 
agenda aims for 30 million electric cars on Euro-
pean roads by 2030 and presents a number of 
measures to phase out fossil fuel cars and tighten 
emissions requirements for European carmakers. 
Norway has long been the world’s premier elec-
tric car market, but, as more European countries 
begin to electrify their fleets, European carmak-
ers may also prioritize other growing markets. 
A good dialogue with both carmakers and the 
authorities is necessary to ensure that we stay on 
top of developments and changes in framework 
conditions that will affect our customers. 

Climate risk is also part of our general risk man-
agement and is included in the Group’s risk 

THE THREE LINES OF DEFENCE IN MØLLER MOBILITY GROUP

1ST LINE

Own and manage risk

Line management

Group Management

Group Board of Directors

G
overnm

ent requirem
ents / factory requirem

ents

External auditor

3RD LINE

Ensure and monitor 
compliance, ensure 
good internal auditing

Compliance and internal 
control

2ND LINE

Monitor risk

Controlling

Quality and environment

Data security 
and IT security

People and organisation, 
HSE

Purchasing

Sustainability and 
 communication
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The recommendations of the G20 countries' Task 
Force on Climate Related Financial Disclosures 
(TCFD) have established themselves as the cen-
tral framework for how climate risk should be 
analysed and reported. We follow these recom-
mendations in our reporting and have included a 
summary of the analysis in this report.

WHAT IS TCFD?
The TCFD recommendations are organized into 
four reporting areas that represent the core of 
how organizations operate: governance, strat-
egy, risk management and metrics and targets. 
Furthermore, the framework divides recom-
mended reporting into three main scenarios: Risks 
associated with the transition to a lower carbon 
economy, risks associated with the physical con-
sequences of climate change, and climate-related 
opportunities. TCFD has also incorporated poten-
tial financial consequences as an integral part of 
its recommendation on what to report.

TCFD AND MØLLER MOBILITY GROUP
2022 will be the first year that Møller Mobility 
Group reports climate-related risks and opportuni-
ties in line with the TCFD recommendations. As the 
leading automotive group in the Nordic and Baltic 
countries, the core business of the company is the 

import and sale of mainly electric cars and vans, 
as well as associated services such as servicing, 
maintenance and financing services. 

The business also invests in new mobility solutions. 
TCFD's focus and guidance on climate-related 
economic impact and scenario analysis will be an 
important process – both to ensure transparency, 
but also to improve our understanding of how 
climate-related problems can affect us, and how 
Møller Mobility Group will mitigate the coming 
changes.

The model on the right describes the framework 
for TCFD. On the following page, we provide sta-
tuses on how we at Møller Mobility Group have 
responded to the four reporting areas.

Climate risk in Møller Mobility Group
Climate risk is about how the business is affected by climate change and, for Møller Mobility Group,  
it is highly important to understand how different climate-related factors and opportunities have an impact  
on our strategy in the years to come. 

Governance Strategy Risk management Metrics and targets

Describe the organisation’s 
governance of climate-re-
lated risks and opportu-
nities.

Describe the actual and 
potential impacts of 
climate-related risks and 
opportunities on the 
organisation’s businesses, 
strategy, and financial 
planning.

Describe how the company 
identifies, assesses and 
manages climate-related 
risk.

Disclose the metrics and 
targets used to assess 
and manage relevant 
climate-related risks and 
opportunities.

Recommended reporting Recommended reporting Recommended reporting Recommended reporting

A.  A description of the 
board's oversight of 
climate-related risks and 
opportunities.

A.  Describe climate-related 
risks and opportuni-
ties identified by the 
organisation in the short, 
medium and long term.

A.  Describe the processes 
the company uses to 
identify and assess 
climate-related risk.

A.  Describe the methods 
the company uses to 
assess climate-related 
risks and opportunities 
in light of its strategy 
and risk management 
processes.

B.  Describe the manage-
ment's role in assess-
ing and managing 
climate-related risks and 
opportunities.

B.  The importance of 
climate-related risks 
and opportunities for 
business, strategy and 
financial planning.

B.  Describe the company's 
processes for managing 
climate-related risk.

B.  Businesses should report 
on Scope 1, Scope 2, and, 
if appropriate, Scope 3 
greenhouse gas emis-
sions, and the related risk 
factors.

C.  Describe the potential 
importance of various 
scenarios, including a 
2C scenario, on your 
business, strategy, and 
financial planning.

C.  Describe how pro-
cesses for identifying, 
assessing and managing 
climate-related risk 
are integrated into the 
company's overall risk 
management.

C.  Describe the metrics 
the company uses to 
manage climate-related 
risks and opportunities 
and results in relation to 
the targets.
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Governance Strategy Risk management Metrics and targets

Describe the organisation’s governance of climate-related 
risks and opportunities.

Describe the actual and potential impacts of climate-related 
risks and opportunities on the organisation’s businesses, 
strategy, and financial planning.

Describe how the company identifies, assesses and man-
ages climate-related risk.

Disclose the metrics and targets used to assess and man-
age relevant climate-related risks and opportunities.

Our response Our response Our response Our response

a)  Climate-related issues are an integral part of the overall 
business strategy in Møller Mobility Group and the entire 
Board, led by the Chairman, bears ultimate responsibility. 
All risks and opportunities are subject to a full risk assess-
ment that is assessed by the Board on an annual basis.

a)  Climate-related risks and opportunities affect all areas of 
our economic planning and Møller Mobility Group sees 
a number of relevant risk factors that we must address 
and take into account in strategic decisions in the short, 
medium and long term. Physical risks, especially in the 
form of extreme weather that affects the production and 
supply of critical components, have been identified as 
one of our main risks, in addition to flooding and heavy 
rain that threaten production facilities and infrastructure. 
Access to raw materials has been identified as one of the 
most important transitional risks as the race for critical 
minerals needed for the electrification of transport 
intensifies.

a)  Our process of identifying and assessing climate-related 
risks is integrated into our interdisciplinary compa-
ny-wide risk management process. A management-level 
risk assessment takes place every 4 months in the Group 
Management meetings, as well as the monthly business 
reviews where line managers report on their key per-
formance goals. Twice a year there is also a formal and 
more detailed review of the risk matrix. When it comes 
to general supervision of risk management, Møller 
Mobility follows the principle of a "three-line defence" 
that integrates climate risk and opportunities.

a)  Møller Mobility Group is in the process of developing 
metrics used to measure and manage climate-related 
risks and opportunities.

b)  Group Management, led by the CEO, is responsible for 
assessing and managing climate-related risks and oppor-
tunities. Their responsibilities include taking a proactive 
role in understanding the climate risks associated with a 
project, reviewing and monitoring climate assessments 
for new and existing projects. Group Management 
reports directly to the Board of Directors. A manage-
ment-level risk assessment takes place every 4 months 
in the Group Management meetings, as well as the 
monthly business reviews where line managers report on 
their key performance goals. Twice a year there is also a 
formal and more detailed review of the risk matrix.

b)  Our strategy is influenced by climate-related risks and 
opportunities in all business areas, including our own 
operations, value chain, products and services, and 
investments in new mobility solutions. We also adjust 
our strategic decision-making according to changes in 
external and internal risk factors that may affect business 
goals and financial planning.

b)  Line managers monitor risk management on a daily 
basis. They will at all times ensure that risk management 
and risk exposure are in accordance with the overall 
principles of governance laid down by the Board of 
Directors and Group Management.

b)  In 2021, the total greenhouse gas emissions for Møller 
Mobility Group amounted to 1,394,870.5 tCO2e. Com-
pared to emissions in 2020, at 1,684,582 tCO2e, our GHG 
emissions decreased by 17.2 per cent from 2020 and by 
32.9 per cent from 2019.

c)  In 2022, we aim to perform a scenario analysis in line 
with the TCFD recommendations.

c)  The second line of defence includes control in the 
business areas. These controlling functions should 
actively provide information and support for the first 
line of defence. The third line of defence is handled by 
the Compliance and Internal Control Department, which 
reports directly to the Board of Directors and Group 
Management. This function will contribute by conducting 
an annual audit and ensuring external audits should this 
be requested by the board/management.

c)  We have set an absolute reduction target for Scopes 1 
and 2 where the ambition is to reduce our emissions by 
44 per cent from 2019 to 2027. For scope 3, our ambition 
is to reduce carbon intensity by 30 per cent by 2027. 

d)  The result of our climate-related risk review is a risk 
matrix that shows all our key risks that define potential 
impacts at financial, reputational and organisational 
levels. The matrix is presented by the Group Man-
agement of the Board of Directors both monthly and 
annually where new risks, deterioration or existing risks 
are highlighted.



Sustainability Report 
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A full 79 per cent of the Group’s passenger car sales in Norway 
were electric in 2021, which consolidates the Group's leading role 
in the electrification of the Norwegian car fleet. 

Contributing to a 
sustainable society

Møller Mobility Group’s operations shall help pro-
mote human rights, good labour practices and 
environmental standards, and zero tolerance for 
corruption.

A key element in this work is our Code of Conduct, 
which clarifies our basic ethical principles and pro-
vides guidelines – and our participation in the UN 
Global Compact.

CLIMATE-RELATED DISCLOSURES
For the reporting year 2021, we worked to improve 
and extend the reporting framework for our cli-
mate-related disclosures in line with best practices. 
Our climate-related disclosures meet the require-
ments of the GHG Protocol for our Group-wide 
operations as well as extended Scope 3 report-
ing that includes a lifecycle assessment of all cars 
sold. In 2021, we also used our climate-related 
accounting and reporting system for performing 
a comprehensive mitigation analysis as a basis 
for mapping emissions reductions actions and a 
defined emission trajectory for Scopes 1 and 2 in 
line with the 1.5°C target (SBTi Absolute Contrac-
tion Approach). For Scope 3, we have set emis-
sions intensity targets based on current electric 
vehicle sales forecasts. The full disclosures can be 
found on pages 122–137.

Møller Mobility Group has a leading role in the 
green shift in Norway through the electrification 
of the Norwegian car fleet. We will continue to 
be an active driving force for ensuring that an 
ever-increasing share of the fleet becomes emis-
sions-free. At the same time, within our own organ-
isation we are committed to ensuring both social 
and environmental sustainability at every level of 
our business and value chain. In 2021, this involved 
setting clear, quantifiable targets to maintain the 
direction and momentum of our sustainability 
efforts going forward. We have chosen to commit 
to the Paris Agreement’s provisions to limit global 
warming to 1.5°C, and have set science-based 
emissions reduction targets in line with the rec-
ommendations of the Science Based Targets ini-
tiative (SBTi). People, business and sustainability 
are core dimensions in our Group Strategy and 
they also represent mutually independent action 
areas. This is why we are also working to foster 
engagement in and ownership of sustainability 
activities through inspiration, insight and compe-
tence building in the interests of concerted action. 

OUR CONTRIBUTIONS TO A SUSTAINABLE 
SOCIETY ARE DEFINED IN THE FOLLOWING FOUR 
MAIN INITIATIVES:
•  Be an active driving force for zeroemissions 

vehicles in our markets. We will be a market 
leader in sales and servicing of electric vehicles in 
Norway and the Baltics and assume an active role 
in safeguarding the car’s place in society in line 
with new expectations regarding resource utili-
sation, urban space use and sustainable mobility.

•  Be among the best places to work regardless 
of sector. We will ensure a high degree of trust 
among our employees through a continuous 
focus on our values, competence building and 
sustainability. We are recognised as a leading 
workplace with a focus on inclusion, diversity 
and gender equality in the markets in which we 
operate. Møller Medvind will create new inclu-
sive workplaces and help abolish the industry’s 
use of undeclared labour.

•  Work proactively for a sustainable value chain. 
We will work systematically for a sustainability 
perspective along our entire value chain, and 
to ensure that our suppliers operate in a cli-
mate-friendly, green, socially responsible and 
professional manner, in full legal and regulatory 
compliance, while abiding by the ethical stand-
ards we have set.

•  To be an industry leader in new mobility solu
tions. We will excite our customers through the 
further development of the Hyre car sharing ser-
vice and investments in new mobility solutions.

“Møller Mobility 
Group’s operations 
will help promote 
 human rights, fair 
 labour  practices and 
high  environmental 
standards, and 
zero  tolerance of 
 corruption”

Head of Climate and Environment
IDA PERNILLE HATLEBREKKE
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Throughout Møller  Mobility 
Group’s nearly 90-year 
 history, ethical conduct and 
 accountability have always 
been our guiding principles. As 
early as in the 1990s, the Group 
took responsibility for putting 
the  environment on its agenda, 
and the coming strategy period 
 confirms that sustainable choices 
are a high priority.

In recent years, we have organised our sustaina-
bility reporting around four priority areas (environ-
ment and climate; mobility; society; employees), 
but this year we have aligned our reporting with 
four strategic sustainability initiatives. 

These are the outcome of the comprehensive 
stakeholder and materiality analysis we performed 
in 2020 in parallel with our commencement of a 
new strategy period towards 2025 platformed on 
“Making Sustainable Choices”. We are now direct-
ing our efforts at four priority areas where we can 
make a real difference. Our results, ambitions and 
goals are discussed in the chapter “Sustainability 
Report 2021”. 

In 2020, we boosted our reporting with robust, 
externally prepared climate-related disclosures for 
the entire Group in line with the GHG Protocol, 
which are presented on pages 122–137.

For 2021, we have also adopted the Task Force on 
Climate-related Financial Disclosures (TCFD) frame-
work as part of our climate-related reporting.

NEW REPORTING REQUIREMENTS
As a responsible business, we monitor new reg-
ulatory requirements closely. We welcome these, 
knowing that this will strengthen our overall busi-
ness strategy.

The Norwegian Act relating to enterprises’ trans-
parency and work on fundamental human rights 

and decent working conditions (Transparency Act) 
enters into force on 1 July 2022. This Act serves to 
protect human rights and ensure decent working 
conditions throughout our supply chain and is the 
result of increased expectations regarding ethical 
conduct.

In 2020, the EU launched a green regulatory frame-
work with a goal of making the EU climate-neu-
tral (defined as net zero emissions of greenhouse 
gases) by 2050. The classification of sustainable 
activities, the taxonomy, will affect our business 
and our various activities. Its purpose is to make it 
easier for our stakeholders and the general public 
to see that we operate in line with the ambitions 
of the Paris Agreement. The taxonomy is expected 
to enter into force in 2022.

About our reporting

Møller Mobility Group’s corporate governance

1996–1999

•  The Group formally commits to improving its envi-
ronmental performance

•  Implements reporting of environmental measures

2011

•  Reports according to the GRI standards (core)

2013

•  Updates reporting format with separate social 
responsibility report

•  Organises reporting in the domains Employees, 
Society, Environment

2015

•  Joins the UN Global Compact initiative

2016

•  Realigns from sponsorships to direct engagement 
through initiatives integrated with the core business

•  Publishes its first integrated annual and CSR report
•  Maps stakeholders’ requirements and expectations 

of our business

2017

•  Changes name and Mobility is established as a 
separate reporting domain 

•  Reports on selected UN SDGs

2019

•  Defines indicators for the domains Employees, 
Society, Environment, Mobility

•  UN Global Compact CoP reporting

2020

•  Strategy 2020–2025 with sustainability as the core 
driver 

•  Publishes complete climate-related disclosures
•  Conducts a renewed stakeholder and materiality 

analysis
•  Introduces all-new Strategic Sustainability Initiatives

Highlights of our reporting over the past 25 years
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In the Group’s main strategy towards 2025 “Dare to move”, sustainability 
is one of five key target areas where the aim is to be recognised for 
our contribution to a sustainable society. 

Materiality and  
stakeholder dialogue

We have chosen to call our own strategy in this 
domain “Make Sustainable Choices”. This is based 
on close dialogue with our stakeholders and a 
comprehensive materiality analysis emphasising 
domains of strategic importance and relevance to 
the Møller Mobility Group and our key target audi-
ences. This allows us to direct our efforts at goals 
we are uniquely positioned to achieve such as 

supporting green consumer choices, implement-
ing targeted measures within our own business 
or doing our part to reduce transport emissions 
through electrification of the car fleet. 

Sustainable business is a prerequisite for positive 
change. Møller Mobility Group works purposefully 
to both realise our own ambitions and meet our 

stakeholders’ expectations. On that premise, in 
2020, we carried out a comprehensive materiality 
and stakeholder analysis in the interests of optimis-
ing our sustainability efforts.

This analysis was carried out for the first time in 
2016, but much has changed since then. Going for-
ward, we will be updating our materiality analysis 
at regular intervals to ensure that our momentum 
and focus are in line with expectations of us and 
update topics of relevance to our business. 

IN-DEPTH STAKEHOLDER DIALOGUE
Møller Mobility Group’s main stakeholders are 
employees, customers, partners, authorities and 
non-profit organisations. Owners, the Board and 
managers have also participated actively in the 
work.

Such a thorough analysis has never been carried 
out for Møller Mobility Group before, and its con-
clusions provided targeted guidelines for our new 
strategy: “Make sustainable choices”.

The basis for the analysis was in-depth interviews 
with representatives of all our key stakeholders, 
enabling them to offer their views and input on 
important sustainability topics. In addition, a ques-
tionnaire-based survey was conducted that went 
out to employees, customers, students and other 
external groups. 

A thorough evaluation of how Møller Mobility 
Group already communicates and reports on its 
sustainability initiatives was also carried out.

INPUT TO OUTPUT
The analysis revealed many opportunities and 
challenges, and many topics were highlighted. 
Nevertheless, the many inputs led to a consistent 
conclusion. Sustainability domains took highest 
priority:

• Electrification of the car fleet
• A good, safe workplace
• Diversity and gender equality
• Inclusive working life
•  A green focus in procurement and the value 

chain

But other opportunities were highlighted that we 
can help realise. Møller Mobility Group has a clear 
focus on ethics and anti-corruption and we are 
working actively to promote professionalism in 
the automotive industry. An important sustaina-
bility measure is increased reuse of car parts and 
batteries. Employee development and investment 
in apprentices make valuable contributions, as do 
investments in innovative solutions centred on dig-
italisation. At the same time, we are committed to 
realising our strategy by advancing new forms of 
mobility.

Our business can promote positive development 
and change within all the key domains, with these 
as some of the priority areas ahead:

• Strengthen our market share of electric car sales
•  Set stricter environmental and sustainability 

requirements for our 8,000 suppliers
•  Ensure robust HSE work in all parts of our business
•  Invest in Møller Medvind, our company that gives 

people a second chance and contributes to 
increased professionalism in the car care industry

•  Conscious recruitment for equality and diversity
•  Incentivise car subscriptions and increased car 

sharing

All of these opportunities fit naturally into our pri-
oritised sustainable development goals.

Climate and workplace conditions are identified as the most important sustainability 
domains for Møller Mobility Group

Importance for Møller Mobility Group
Low Medium High
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In recent years, the Group has created a solid foun-
dation for implementing and reporting on relevant 
sustainability initiatives. Our climate-related disclo-
sures are a core element in Møller Mobility Group’s 
sustainability strategy towards 2025 and are used 
actively as a tool to identify emissions reductions 
initiatives and new business opportunities. In 
2021, we finalised our vision for operationalising 
sustainability, initiating the process by identifying 
how climate-related risk factors and opportunities 
will impact our business and value chain. This also 
defines specific guidelines for our new corporate 
strategy, which was implemented in 2020.

Our foundation relies on the following interactions 
on sustainability: 
• Close dialogue with our stakeholders. 
•  Møller Mobility Group’s prioritisation of sustain-

able development goals (SDGs) for which our 
business can help drive change.

•  International and national principles for docu-
menting our sustainability efforts. 

Møller Mobility Group uses the following key tools 
to contribute to sustainable development:

STAKEHOLDER AND MATERIALITY ANALYSIS
In order to be able to focus on developing both 
people and business, we need insight into our 
stakeholders’ requirements and expectations of 
our operations. In 2020, the Group conducted a 
new stakeholder survey that provided valuable 
insight into how our social mission should be 
put into practice. Our stakeholders prioritised the 
 following focus areas:

• Electrification of the car fleet
• A good, safe workplace
• Diversity and gender equality
• Inclusive working life
• A green focus in purchasing

This provides guidelines for our business and a 
targeted strategy and dedicated deliverables 
in response to stakeholders’ requirements and 
expectations. For more information, see page 89.

WE BELIEVE IN THE 1.5 °C TARGET
As a mobility market leader in the green transi-
tion, we are committed to making best efforts to 
reduce emissions in our own business and value 
chain. To that end, we have committed to reduc-
ing our greenhouse gas emissions in line with 
science-based climate targets and the Paris Agree-
ment’s provisions to limit global warming to 1.5°C. 

Sustainable business 
is our premise

Sustainable business is a premise for Møller Mobility Group’s   
operations. Our target audiences expect Møller Mobility Group  
to contribute to positive and responsible development for society,  
the climate and the environment. 

44%
Target for Scope 1 and 2 
emissions reductions  
2019–2027

30%
Reduction in Scope 3 
 carbon emissions intensity 
2019–2027
Emissions reduction targets and actions have 
been identified with 2022 as the first reporting 
year. Learn more about how we calculated our 
emissions targets in the Sustainability Report. 
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Møller Mobility Group aims to be an active driving force for zero- 
emission vehicles in our markets. We will contribute to the green shift 
by supplying the best electric vehicles on the market while ramping 
up to meet the increasingly shared, flexible and fossil-free mobility 
 priorities of the future.

In 2021, 79 per cent of the Group’s passenger car 
sales in Norway were electric, and we are now 
targeting the transition to emissions-free mobility 
in Sweden and the Baltics. 

Electrification of the car fleet k
Under the Paris Agreement’s provisions to limit 
global warming to 1.5°C, Norway and the EU have 
committed to reducing greenhouse gas emissions 
by at least 55 per cent by 2030. This transition to 
a renewable energy society requires rapid reduc-
tions in all emissions sources, and the transport 
sector represents both the problem and the solu-
tion in this context. Almost one-third of Norwegian 
overall greenhouse gas emissions come from the 
transport sector, with more than half from road 
traffic. Within the EU, emissions from transport 
have increased steadily in recent years, and now 
account for 31.1 per cent of total emissions.

A number of policy initiatives implemented to 
phase in zero-emission vehicles have made 
Norway the world’s leading electric car market. 
Meanwhile, key segments of Norway’s road trans-
port sector, and its outlying regions are only just 
beginning to gain access to car models that meet 
essential range, size and quality requirements. 
Going forward, the EU Green Deal will be action-
ing its ambitions to finance the green transition 
through the ‘Fit for 55’ reform package propos-
ing more restrictive vehicle emissions standards, 
accelerated deployment of vehicle charging infra-
structure and at least 30 million electric vehicles on 
European roads by 2030. 1)

This backdrop and the Volkswagen Group’s ambi-
tions for value chain decarbonisation reassure us 

Halt climate change:
Møller Mobility Group will play an active 
role by offering electric vehicles and 
supporting electrification of the transport 
sector.

Be an active driving force for zeroemissions vehicles  
in our markets

1) EUs klimapakke Klar for 55 (Fit for 55 ) on the Norwegian 
government website at regjeringen.no

Sustainability domain: 
k Electrification of the car fleet

Sustainable development goal: 13
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that our contributions to the green shift matter. The 
automotive industry has been part of the problem, 
but we now find ourselves on the threshold of 
a new era in which zero-emissions technology is 
both becoming commercially available and possi-
ble to manufacture with lower emissions.

We are committed to supporting customers 
by helping them make one of the most impor-
tant pro-environment choices that can be made 
alongside investing in a home and personal con-
sumption. Discussions about electric vehicles and 
environmental benefits generate much engage-
ment, but even from a lifecycle perspective, an 
electric vehicle is the most climate-friendly option.

A new German study from Universität der Bunde-
swehr in Munich looked at the CO2 emissions of 
many passenger car variants with different power-
trains and energy sources. The researchers studied 
total life cycle emissions from production, during 

utilisation through to recycling. The findings are 
based on data from 790 different car models. The 
main conclusion is that the CO2 emissions of an 
electric vehicle are up to 89 per cent lower than 
for a petrol car over the entire vehicle life cycle 
‘from cradle to grave’.

While a petrol car is responsible for 49.6 tonnes 
of CO2 equivalent, the total emissions of an elec-
tric car powered by renewable energy sources, 
such as hydro-solar or wind power, amount to 5.5 
tonnes. This is not to say that an electric vehicle is 
wholly sustainable or that everyone will own their 
own car in future, but we do believe that passen-
ger cars will still have a place in society, and that 
opting for an electric vehicle is the best option. 2)

FUEL SEGMENT TRENDS 2008–2021
(number of passenger cars out of the total market)
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STRONG INCREASE IN ELECTRIC CARS
Harald A. Møller AS forecasts an electric vehicle share of sales of new passenger cars in the 
Norwegian total market of up to 90 per cent in 2022. We believe that the share of electric cars 
will increase annually as follows:
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The geopolitical situation in 2022 may affect the forecasts.
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CO2 EMISSIONS FROM NEW PASSENGER CARS 2005–2021
CO2 emissions in 2021 for all passenger cars amounted to 28 g/km
(Figures for 2021 may be slightly lower than total registered cars, as CO2 emissions data are not available for some cars.)

2) Publication: Elektrofahrzeuge weisen die beste CO2-Bilanz 
aus – Home (unibw.de)
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In 2021, 57,500 new electric vehicles were regis-
tered in Sweden, which equates to around 19 per 
cent of this year’s total new vehicle registrations 
against 10 per cent in 2020. According to forecasts 
from Mobility Sweden, the electric vehicle share 
is set to increase to 34 per cent of new vehicle 
registrations in 2022. A crucial factor in sustaining 
this trend will be the enlargement of the charg-
ing infrastructure at a rate matching the roll out of 
electric vehicles onto the market. 3)

PROMISING MARKET TREND IN THE BALTICS
In the Baltics, the market for electric vehicles has 
doubled, but still only accounts for 3 per cent. 
While the overall market in the Baltic countries 
fell by 4 per cent in 2021, battery-electric vehicles 
showed a 101 per cent increase in 2021 compared 
to 2020. A total of 2,200 new battery-electric 
 vehicles were registered in the Baltics, of which 
Lithuania accounted for 58 per cent of newly reg-
istered vehicles, followed by Estonia with 22 per 
cent and Latvia with 20 per cent.

Increased range, as well as a wider variety of elec-
tric vehicles available on the market, coupled with 
rising petrol, diesel and CNG prices and enlarge-
ment of public charging networks, have swayed 
general public opinion in favour of electric pas-
senger cars and commercial vehicles. Many car 
sharing companies have included electric vehicles 
in their fleets, thereby familiarising a wider public 
with the technology.

Policy instruments and subsidies to incentivise 
faster transition from fossil to electric are still in 
short supply, but Lithuania is keeping up its strong 
use of incentivisation instruments and in 2022, Lat-
via will be introducing a subsidisation programme 
worth EUR 10 million granting EUR 4,500 towards 
the purchase of each new electric vehicle, while 
second-hand electric and hybrid vehicles are 
 eligible for a subsidy of EUR 2,250.

THE 100 PER CENT TARGET FOR ZERO-EMISSION  
SALES IS ATTAINABLE IN NORWAY
We are making rapid progress towards achieving 
the goal of exclusively selling electric cars in Nor-
way by 2025. More than 79 per cent of all new 
passenger cars sold by Møller Mobility Group in 
Norway were electric in 2021, against the national 
industry average of around 65 per cent. We 
expect to achieve a share of up to 90 per cent 
of electric passenger cars out of our models in 
2022, which realises Norwegian national political 
ambitions for 100 per cent of new cars sold to be 
electric as of 2025. 

Electrification of commercial vehicles is lagging 
behind passenger cars, but there is every indi-
cation that this will take off in the years to come 
with increased uptake of electric commercial 
vehicles and policy instruments to incentivise a 
positive market trend. At the end of 2021, one of 
the measures introduced by the Norwegian gov-
ernment included zero-emission requirements in 
public procurement of passenger cars from 2022, 
light vans from 2023 and city buses from 2025. This 
measure is estimated to result in a reduction in 
emissions of around half a million tonnes of CO2 
equivalents over the period 2022–2030.

“We will contribute to sound, 
responsible choices, both 
within our own business 
and in interactions with our 
 customers”

Ida Pernille Hatlebrekke, 
Head of Climate and Environment,  

Møller Mobility Group

3) Billigast att köra elbil oberoende av var man bor (Electric 
passenger cars cost least to run regardless of where the 
owner lives in Sweden). Mobility Sweden
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Be an active driving force for zeroemissions  
vehicles in our markets

Our ambition is to be the LEADER  
across regions Commentary on performance 2021 

Status 
2021 Goals 2022 Goals 2025

Electrification of the car fleet  
(Norway)

Over 79 per cent of all new passenger cars we sold in 2021 
were electric, compared with an industry average of around 
65 per cent. We expect to achieve a share of up to 90 per cent 
electric passenger cars out of our models in 2022, and need to 
be able to achieve the Norwegian national political goal for new 
car sales to be 100 per cent electric as of 2025. The ambition 
for commercial vehicles is lower, but we are well on track for 
this segment too, and in the period up to 2025 will be aided by 
factors such as new requirements for public procurements of 
light vans to be electric. 

Norway: 90 per cent electric share of 
passenger cars sold.
Norway: 20 per cent electric share of com-
mercial vehicles sold.

Norway: 100 per cent electric share of passenger cars 
sold.
Norway: 40 per cent electric share of commercial 
vehicles sold.

Electrification of the car fleet  
(Sweden)

We are well on track in sales of electric passenger cars in 
Sweden. In 2021, new electric vehicles accounted for 19 per 
cent of total vehicle sales, but forecasts from Mobility Sweden 
estimate that for 2022 the figure will leap to over 30 per cent, 
assuming continued development of the charging infrastructure 
for electric vehicles. 

Sweden: 25 per cent electric share of 
passenger cars sold.
Sweden: 10 per cent electric share of com-
mercial vehicles sold.

Sweden: 75 per cent electric share of passenger cars 
sold.
Sweden: 25 per cent electric share of commercial 
vehicles sold.

Electrification of the car fleet (Baltics) Although the total market in the Baltic states contracted by 4 per 
cent in 2021, sales of battery electric vehicles doubled relative 
to 2020. Fiscal instruments and subsidies remain modest in the 
Baltics, but we consider our respective targets for 2022 and 2025 
to be realistic. 

10 per cent electric share of passenger cars 
sold.
3 per cent electric share of commercial 
vehicles sold.

30 per cent electric share of passenger cars sold.
30 per cent electric share of commercial vehicles 
sold.

We intend to consolidate our first-mover position in 
the Baltic market through system services supporting 
electrification (charging, car sharing, subscription).

We will be a market leader in sales and servicing of electric vehicles in our markets and assume an  
active role in safeguarding the car’s place in society in line with new expectations regarding resource  
utilisation, urban space use and sustainable mobility.

We are committed to transparency in our reporting on our performance within our defined sustainability initiatives and sustainability domains. 
The “traffic lights” show our progress towards the goals we have set for 2025.
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To be among the best workplaces, regardless of sector

Møller Mobility Group continues to put people high on the agenda.  
Our ambition is to be among the best workplaces in the Nordic 
 countries and the Baltic countries – regardless of sector. 

We want working for us to be stimulating, demand-
ing and enjoyable. In 2021, the new steps we took 
to realise this ambition earned us our all-time 
highest GPTW score. This motivates even more to 
keep up these important efforts. Concepts can be 
copied, but a strong culture is virtually impossible 
to “steal”, making it a key competitive advantage. 
When the right people do right by other people, 
they get the right results. In 2021, we boosted our 
HR department, and to show that we really mean it 
when we say we put people high on the agenda, 
we changed the name of the HR department to 
“People and Organisation”. Kristine Frøberg joined 
the Group as Chief Human Resources Officer at 
the end of 2021. 

The People and Organisation department’s main 
mission is to ensure that we are an attractive and 
responsible employer taking good care of our 
human resources through the entire employee 

journey. We will be building an organisation capa-
ble of maximising potentials while being geared 
for transformation in the time to come. 

STATUS YEAR-END 2021
At year-end 2021, the Group had a total of 4,358 
employees – up 248 on the previous year. Swe-
den had 648 employees, the three Baltic States 
had a total of 609 employees, and in Norway we 
had 3,069 employees. 

A good, safe workplace k
THE PANDEMIC
2021 was yet another year under the shadow of 
the pandemic, with intense focus on infection 
control and compliance with, and enforcement of, 
official orders and restrictions. Throughout, Møller 
Mobility Group worked to its stated aim of taking 
good care of people – both our employees and 
our customers. With this as our highest priority, 

Decent work and economic growth: 
Møller Mobility Group will promote inclu-
sive and sustainable growth and decent 
work for our employees.

Reducing inequality:
Møller Mobility Group will be charac-
terised as a leading workplace where 
inclusion, diversity and gender equality are 
prioritised.

Sustainability domains: 
k A good, safe workplace
k Diversity and gender equality
k Inclusive working life
k Employee development
k Investing in apprentices

Sustainable development goal: 8,10
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Distribution of men, women and average age as at 31 Dec. 2021:

Men Women

Country
Number of 
employees Avg. age %share Avg. age %share Avg. age

Norway 3,101 39 84.3 37 15.7 40

Sweden* 648 40 84.7 40 15.3 38

Estonia 179 36 82.7 36 17.3 36

Latvia 264 38 78.4 37 21.6 41

Lithuania 166 40 85.5 39 14.5 42

Total 4,358 39 84.0 39 16 39

The table only includes permanent employees and apprentices
* Porsche Örebro is included in the total number for Sweden, but unfortunately not included in the calculation of average age, as the 
necessary data were not available

our emergency management teams were well- 
organised and worked intensively throughout the 
pandemic. Demand for information was high, and 
many meetings and briefings were held online. 
For the part of the organisation that had to spend 
a lot of time working alone from home, the focus 
was on managers seeking to “keep in touch” with 
their staff. Business units were encouraged to hold 
meetings in alternative formats such as in ‘walks & 
talks’ or in open public meeting places in order 
to take best care of our employees while follow-
ing strict infection control recommendations and 
despite head office being closed periodically. 

In 2021, we piloted a “flexible workplace” project 
to meet requests within the organisation to have 
the option of continuing a more flexible workday 
once the pandemic permitted people to return 
to the office. Surveys were conducted over the 
year, and the result was a clear majority in favour 
of continuing a hybrid scheme. We will be work-
ing to determine the right format for hybrid office 
working in spring 2022. 

VALUES AND CULTURE
Within Møller Mobility Group, our values Honest 
and Trustworthy, Clear, Proactive, and Open-
minded and Caring have proved to be real 
strengths. In abiding by these values, our aim is to 
build an improvement-driven, trust-based perfor-
mance culture. The trust-based relations between 
employees, managers and our customers are 
key in enabling us to fulfil the ambitious business 
goals we set ourselves. In an industry prone to 
fast-paced change, we have to be constantly on 
the offensive, and challenge the market and each 

other to find the best solutions for our customers. 
To succeed in this, we are completely dependent 
on trust and high performance standards as well 
as an honest and trusting feedback culture so that 
we are confident in our ability to excel together.

We are proud of our history, which dates back to 
1936 when Harald Aars Møller established Strøm-
men Auto. That was the start of what is now one 
of Northern Europe’s leading car trading groups 
with more than 4,200 employees, but it also saw 
the birth of a mindset and a set of values that are 
alive and well today. For Møller, the Group’s core 
values are more than ink on paper – they inform 
the attitudes and practices we uphold in devel-
oping the strong trust-based culture we pride 
ourselves on. 

GREAT PLACE TO WORK (GPTW)
With trust as the basis for employee welfare, a 
stimulating work life and solid employee perfor-
mance, regular surveys are conducted concerning 
trust within the Group. For the past three years, 
Møller Mobility Group has worked closely with 
Great Place to Work to focus on our own organi-
sational culture and systematise internal initiatives 
to develop the working environment. This forms 
a natural part of the Group’s strategy, where one 
of the goals is to foster a trust-based culture as the 
foundation for developing the industry’s leading 
experts.

Like the actual results of the survey, participation 
and response rates been encouraging since 2019. 
In 2021, a full 93 per cent of the 4,200 Møller Mobil-
ity Group employees responded to the survey, 

which is an improvement of six percentage points 
since the first questionnaire was sent out. 

For the outcomes of the survey, the Group earned 
an average score of 79 per cent, which is an 
improvement of more than 5 per cent over the 
previous year. As a result, Møller Mobility Group is 
now certified as a Great Place to Work. The result 
and the certification are proof that the members 
of the Møller organisation have a high degree of 
trust in each other, great camaraderie and pride in 
the work they do.

In the light of our “Dare to Move” vision, it is 
particularly gratifying to see that Møller greatly 
improved on statements concerning opportunities 
for developing professional skills, that trying out 
new ways of working is appreciated, and that peo-
ple perceive suggestions and ideas as welcome.

CODE OF CONDUCT
Møller Mobility Group has produced its own Code 
of Conduct to lay down guidelines on ethical prac-
tices. We have also introduced internal procedures 
to spread the word about the procedures we have 
in place for whistleblowing.

Our Code of Conduct applies our core values 
to real-world business practices, in which all 
 employees are to have an equal basis for mak-
ing safe and appropriate choices. Møller Mobility 
Group has operations in five countries; Norway, 
Sweden, Estonia, Latvia and Lithuania. This requires 
a firm foundation and daily vigilance. We will 
achieve this through diligence and a high degree 
of integrity and without compromising on ethical 
norms and good business practice. This means 
that all employees in our organisation are required 
to do their utmost to make sound decisions that 
benefit Møller Mobility Group, our customers, 
society – and themselves.
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In 2021, the whistleblowing system received a 
total of 7 reports of irregularities, which is a radi-
cal reduction on previous years. Five notifications 
were of matters of concern in Norway and two 
related to matters in Latvia. No whistleblowing 
reports concerned financial crime and no whistle-
blowing case revealed violations of the national 
occupational health and safety legislation.  

HSE
Systematic work on Health, Safety and Environ-
ment (HSE) is a statutory requirement in Norway. 
The purpose of this work is to make sure that the 
working methods used at all levels within Møller 

Møller Mobility Group’s Code of Conduct is 
available to all employees through publication 
on  various information platforms. Training in the 
Code of Conduct is also included as a part of the 
onboarding process.

WHISTLEBLOWING
The Group has established a whistleblowing sys-
tem that is available to all employees, whereby 
any concerns are reported to DeLoitte and exam-
ined by legal professionals. This ensures that any 
concerns raised are dealt with in accordance 
with the national legislation and by a neutral 
third party.

Trend in sickness absence rate in the business areas, 2019–2021 Trend in sickness absence rate in the Group, 2019–2021
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Mobility Group ensure that HSE is systematically 
assessed and taken into account in the planning, 
preparation and execution of work. Møller Mobil-
ity Group is proactive in keeping short-term and 
long-term sickness absences at a stable low level 
and in preventing and averting harm. 

In Norway in 2021, a total of 22 accidents and inci-
dents were reported from Møller Bil and  Harald 
A. Møller AS. In 14 of these cases, employees 
received emergency medical care, which in turn 
resulted in 6 medically certified sickness absences. 
Injuries sustained are mainly accidental or due to 
human error. There was no need to alter safety 

procedures other than to remind employees to 
use protective equipment. No major damage to 
property or materials was reported. 

PREVENTIVE HEALTH PROTECTION
All our companies in Norway have an occupa-
tional health service (OHS) agreement, and our 
high-risk groups – mechanics, technicians, painters 
and panel beaters – are offered a targeted health 
check every three years. The targeted health 
check includes spirometry, audiometry, blood 
pressure, and a discussion about hereditary and 
acquired conditions, and is conducted by the local 
occupational health service provider. 

SICKNESS ABSENCE FOLLOW-UP
From 2020 to 2021 an increase was recorded in 
sickness absences at Møller Bil Norge and at Har-
ald A. Møller. The increase in the sickness absence 
rate in Norway should be seen in the context of 
the pandemic and the periodic prevalence of 
more contagious variants of the coronavirus. In 
Sweden, however, the sickness absence rate in 
2021 was almost the same as in the previous year.

HSE COURSES 
•  Møller Bil conducted an online HSE course for 

safety representatives and working environment 
committee representatives in 2021. The HSE 
course was customised to make it relevant for 
the automotive industry

•  In 2021, Harald A. Møller Logistics Bekkelaget 
held HSE courses for all new employees, elec-
tive first aid courses, and safety representative 
courses for working environment committee 
representatives 
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•  Møller Bil School organises its own HSE courses 
for apprentices 

To strengthen this important HSE work, a new 
head of HSE has been appointed, to take up the 
position in spring 2022. Key tasks for this role will 
be: 

•  Establishing and overseeing HSE Group Structure
•  Preparing and implementing an annual HSE plan 

for the Group 
•  Assisting and following up on the Group’s 

employees with HSE responsibilities (including 
the chemicals unit in the chain) and managers

•  Responsibility for maintenance of the Group’s 
HSE handbook 

•  Managing the Group occupational health ser-
vice agreements, and overseeing their regulatory 
compliance

•  Reporting internally and externally
•  Conducting and managing agreements with pro-

viders of HSE courses and safety representative 
courses 

•  Filing claims with insurers 

Diversity and gender equalityk
Diversity and gender equality are high on the 
agenda in Møller Mobility Group. We find that 
diversity broadens the mind and contributes to 
better processes both strategically and operation-
ally. Our aim is to be one of the best places to 
work in our markets, regardless of industry. 

The automotive industry is fundamentally strongly 
male dominated, and in Møller Mobility Group we 
have worked for many years to increase the pro-

portion of women generally, with a specific over-
arching goal of recruiting more women in leading 
roles. At the end of the year, the proportion of 
women in the group was 15.91 per cent. Active 
efforts are being made via recruitment procedure 
to attract more women, including through the use 
of images and the wording of our job advertise-
ments. As a result, the proportion of female can-
didates for our vacancies increased from 14 per 
cent in 2019 to 20 per cent in 2020. This, in turn, has 
resulted in an increase in the proportion of female 
candidates offered employment from 16 per cent 
in 2019 to 24 per cent in 2021. The aim is to always 
have candidates representing both sexes in the 
recruitment shortlist. 

Within Group Management, three in nine are 
women and in the “Top 50” executive group, more 
than one third are women. Besides the owners’ 
representation on the board, we have three exter-
nal board members, two of whom are women.

23 different nationalities are represented in Møller 
Mobility Group, and diversity is part of our culture. 
Our goal of ensuring diversity within the organi-
sation is enshrined in our governing documents, 
including in our Code and Conduct. There is zero 
tolerance of discrimination based on gender, 
 gender identity, sexual orientation, age, disability, 
ethnicity, religion and belief. Should this never-
theless arise, our employees are urged to raise 
a concern through our whistleblowing channel. 

In our retailer chain, we recruit many apprentices 
every year through our own Møller Bil School 
traineeship programme. This is one of Norway’s 
largest programmes in automotive skills. Here, too, 
the proportion of girls is low, but we are actively 
working to recruit more girls to automotive 
industry careers, including through our marketing 
in which we demonstrate that girls fit very well 
into this industry. Møller Bil School wants to work 
closely with the industry going forward to increase 
accreditation of automotive disciplines, which we 
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also believe will encourage more girls to apply. 
The proportion of girls among the apprentices at 
Møller Bil currently amounts to 9 per cent.

At Møller Mobility Group, we are committed to all 
employees achieving a healthy work-life balance. 
We offer full pay for mothers and fathers taking 
parental leave, not just the proportion of their 
pay covered by the state. In 2021, 154 employees 
were on parental leave; 33 women and 121 men. 
On average, women took 104 days’ parental leave 
over the calendar year, while men on average 
took 70 days. 38 men opted to take longer leave 
than the father’s quota. We facilitate arrangements 
to allow those who can to work from home during 
periods where this suits the employee best. 

The Group has a very low proportion of part-time 
positions. The majority of those we do have are 
either elective part-time positions or to accommo-
date partial disability. 

We value our senior employees and their exper-
tise and experience. In order to retain seniors, we 
have an active senior policy to help ensure that 
as many as possible keep their jobs for longer. 
Among other incentives, we offer extra days 
off with pay so as to provide breaks from busy 
workdays. 

Every year, we conduct an employee survey with 
a section covering fairness and mutual respect. 
In 2021, we achieved a response rate of 93 per 
cent. To questions about whether employees are 
treated fairly regardless of cultural or ethnic affil-
iation, 93 per cent responded “yes”. 92 per cent 

of respondents agreed that employees are fairly 
treated regardless of their gender, while 94 per 
cent agreed that employees are treated fairly 
regardless of sexual orientation. 

Through 2022, we will be continuing our efforts 
on diversity and gender equality as one of several 
focus areas to achieve our goal of becoming one 
of the best places to work in our markets, regardless 
of industry.

See pages 142–143 for comprehensive reporting in 
accordance with the statutory activity and reporting 
obligation concerning gender equality and anti-dis-
crimination (“ARP”).

Inclusive working life k
We believe that the best way to help young 
people who have been marginalised from the 
labour market is to offer them a job at one of 
our businesses.

Møller Medvind is an important project within the 
Group in terms of diversity and inclusion. This busi-
ness details used cars for the Møller Bil chain, and 
its employees are recruited among young people 
who have dropped out of school and the labour 
market. Through employment in Møller Medvind, 
they gain a second chance to enter the labour 
market, and the goal is to give everyone perma-
nent, full-time positions. Several of the employees 
at Møller Medvind have gained full employment 
with our dealerships.

See the Møller Medvind feature on pages 102–103. 
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Employee developmentk
One of the pillars of our strategy is to “develop 
our people”. The competition to recruit talents 
and specialists is intensifying, the industry is in 
upheaval and we need to put employee devel-
opment high on the agenda to ensure our com-
petitiveness in the years ahead. Throughout 2021, 
owing to the limited options for meeting physi-
cally, we partnered with Videocation. This portal 
contains both Møller-specific courses, as well as 
access to a catalogue of different courses on a 
variety of topics. This initiative was well received 
by the organisation. 

MANAGER DEVELOPMENT
In Møller Mobility Group, we have managers who 
wish to develop their leadership skills. There has 
long been demand for more management training 
and throughout 2021 we have worked hard to put 
in place a manager development programme for 
our managers. Throughout the year, People and 
Organisation together with a wide range of man-
agement-level employees have defined a set of 
leadership expectations. This will serve as a guide 
for management behaviours in Møller and are 
founded on our values. 

DARE TO LEAD
Based on the leadership expectations, mapping of 
best practices internally, as well as research, anal-
ysis and trends, we spent the autumn of 2021 cre-
ating a manager development programme called 
“Dare to lead”, for roll-out in early 2022.

Dare to lead is a managerial and cultural pro-
gramme aimed at enabling the organisation to 
deliver on the goals in the strategy towards 2025, 
boost individual managers’ capabilities, and foster 
a Group-wide pro-development culture. Dare to 
lead is designed to be an inspiring and engaging 
learning and development programme for Top-
500 managers in Møller Mobility Group.

With this programme, the aim is to boost aware-
ness, confidence, know-how and skills for fully 
embracing the leadership role in order to realise 
the desired development and fulfil the strategy of 
the Møller Mobility Group. Furthermore, we aim 
to inspire and build a Group-wide common cul-
ture, ensure individual development and increased 
motivation, strengthen the company’s transforma-
tional capabilities and foster a culture of continu-
ous learning.

Annual performance reviews will be a key tool 
going forward for ensuring strategic development 
of our employees, nurturing our many talents and 
upcoming managers and boosting our competi-
tiveness. In 2021, we have been working on digi-
talising this in order to assist our managers in team 
appraisal and follow-up. By the end of 2021, the 
review system was ready for use in our “Møller 
Connect” HRM system and we will be launching 
and implementing this version of the annual per-
formance review in the first Dare to lead module. 

COURSES AND TRAINING
The Harald A. Møller Kompetansesenter (training 
centre) organises all training based on the needs 
of Volkswagen Group and the brands represented 
in Norway such as Audi, ŠKODA, Volkswagen pas-
senger cars and Volkswagen Commercial Vehicles 
as well as CUPRA and SEAT. 

The training centre also provides further training 
beyond this to match requirements in Norway. 
The centre is co-located with Møller Logistikk at 
Leiraveien, Lillestrøm. The new training centre has 
seven training workshops with associated class-
rooms and one standalone classroom.

HONEST AND TRUSTWORTHY
How to build trust
1.  I create a sense of security, give people responsi-

bilities, listen actively, and seek feedback
2.  I keep what I promise, I say what I mean, and I 

talk to (and not about) others
3.  I involve people, share information, and collabo-

rate well with everyone
4.  I put the company’s interests ahead of my own 

and am loyal once decisions have been made

PROACTIVE
How to create opportunities
5.  I am results-oriented, I want to win, and I am 

always looking for opportunities for improvement
6.  I encourage innovation and continuous improve-

ment, ensure progress in projects and initiatives, 
and evaluate in order to learn

7.  I challenge established truths and speak up when 
I disagree

8.  I am open to change and committed to personal 
development

OPEN-MINDED AND CARING
How to take care of others
 9.  I motivate others and ensure that managers and 

employees master their roles and grow 
10.  I care for others, contribute to a good work 

environment and develop my team
11.  I confront behaviour that hinders good perfor-

mance or a good working environment
12.  I contribute to satisfied customers and sustaina-

ble development in society

CLEAR
How I provide direction
13.  I create enthusiasm through communication of 

the vision and direction for my team
14.  I ensure ambitious, attainable targets with clearly 

defined roles and responsibilities
15.  I make decisions, determine priorities, and 

delegate
16.  I communicate clearly, specify expectations, and 

give constructive feedback
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Due to national guidelines and strict infection con-
trol during the pandemic, holding the courses was 
challenging in 2021. Within the technical disciplines 
especially, it was difficult to conduct courses, as 
they entail practical training, which in turn requires 
physical attendance at the centre. 

Despite the challenges, the training centre pro-
vided the following in 2021: 

OVERVIEW OF TRAINING MAN DAYS (TMD)
• Total TMD 5,101
•  Sales/Service/Management, Physical Attendance

 1,529
• Technical, physical attendance 1,308
• TMD, digital attendance 1,464
• E-learning courses (number of attendees) 1,594

CERTIFICATIONS
In 2021, 113 new high-voltage experts were certi-
fied, as well as 120 new high-voltage technicians 
for their specific brand. In addition, basic techni-
cal training (for new employees) was conducted 
for 303 attendees. Additionally, 204 people were 
certified in these roles; warranty (19), parts (27), 
aftersales manager (6), service greeters (46) and 
sales manager (19). We also certified 87 people in 
the brand new “Digital Genius” (VW) role.

CHANGE MANAGEMENT PROGRAMME
This 4-module programme, based on behavioural 
economics principles, which addresses theoretical 
skills and practical tools for driving change has so 
far been conducted for a total of 150 managers 
within the organisation. 

Investing in apprentices k
THE MØLLER BIL SCHOOL 
Møller Mobility Group’s companies invest in the 
talent of the future. The Møller Bil School is an offi-
cially accredited training centre where pupils from 
upper secondary schools sign an apprenticeship 
contract, normally for 24 months. During this time, 
the apprentice has to combine the theory he or 
she has learned at school with the practical know-
how needed to pass the apprenticeship exami-
nation and become a skilled worker. The Møller 
Bil School follows an approved curriculum for an 
automotive technical education as a car mechanic, 
motor vehicle body repair technician, painter and 
spare parts adviser. 

At the Møller Bil School, we guarantee that the 
trainees will work with the latest techniques and 
equipment used for servicing and diagnostics of 
cars that are technical leaders in areas such as 
safety, the environment, etc.

The Møller Bil School had 110 apprentices at year-
end (2020 and 2021 intakes). The majority are 
offered a full-time job with Møller Bil once they 
have passed their apprentice examination.
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Møller Medvind

Our ambition – help young 
people who have been 
 marginalised from the labour 
market. Møller Medvind’s 
mission is to offer permanent, 
full-time jobs to young people 
under the age of 30.

We believe that the best way to help young 
people who have been marginalised from the 
labour market is to offer them a job at one of 
our businesses. Young people under 30, and 
some seniors, recruited through the Norwe-
gian Labour and Welfare Administration (NAV), 
are provided with a work experience place-
ment and vocational training before being 
offered a permanent full-time job with the 
Møller Medvind programme, and eventually 
move on to one of our businesses or external 
companies.

Møller Medvind was established in spring 2017 
and opened its doors in Alnabru in April 2018. 
The company is helping to address one of the 

greatest challenges in society today: young 
people under the age of 30 who have fallen 
outside the labour market. A truly unique part-
nering agreement between Møller Medvind 
and the Norwegian Labour and Welfare 
Administration (NAV), has been crucial for both 
the progress and quality of the work that has 
been done.

At the end of 2021, there were 50 young 
 people working at Møller Medvind. 49 
employees have gained permanent, full 
employment since the Møller Medvind pro-
gramme started, with 16 employees gaining 
full, permanent employment in 2021. What sets 
Møller Medvind apart from many other similar 
programmes is the very fact that we offer per-
manent, full-time employment. For disadvan-
taged youth, a steady job is an important first 
step to getting their lives on track.

CLEANING UP THE INDUSTRY
All dealerships in Oslo, as well as Møller Bil 
Hvam, used Møller Medvind for the detailing 
of their used cars in 2021. In this way, Møller 
Medvind and our customers have been 
instrumental in professionalising the car care 
industry. 

Sustainability initiatives:  
Be among the best
places to work, 
regardless of industry.

Sustainable development goal: 3.10
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Møller Medvind had the pleasure of opening 
Møller Medvind in Trondheim in October 2020. At 
this new branch, the employees will be working 
with the rest of the detailing department to ensure 
that the cars look their best when handed over 
to customers. On 1 December 2021, the first three 
employees gained their full, permanent positions.

CONTRIBUTING TO THE NEW  
TRANSPARENCY LEGISLATION 
Møller Medvind has also been formally con-
sulted by regulators in connection with the 
Norwegian Act that will now finally come into 
force in June 2022. This Act criminalises the pur-
chasing of undeclared car care services, and an 
accreditation scheme, combined with certifica-
tion of qualified service providers, will help to 
professionalise the car care industry. 

CERTIFICATION IN CAR CARE
A milestone was reached in September 2021 
when the certificate of completed appren-
ticeship in car care formally recognised the 
occupation as a skilled trade. The head of 
department at Alnabru has contributed for 
many years to the design of the certificate and 
worked actively on the course curriculum last 
autumn. Møller Medvind became one of the 
very first accredited training providers, and wel-
comed its first two apprentices.

ESTABLISHMENT OF MØLLER  
MEDVIND UTVIKLING
Møller Medvind been networking every step 
of the way and has been formally consulted by 
regulators on key issues concerning labour mar-

ket inclusion. The Møller Medvind method is 
in demand, which made establishing Medvind 
Udvikling AS a natural move. Through the 
Medvind method, this company has ambitions 
for far more businesses to include marginalised 
people in full, permanent positions. Addition-
ally, unskilled labour is in high demand in many 
industries. This will require a new mindset, and, 
not least, inter-industry collaboration, which will 
challenge pre-existing systems.

EMPLOYEES PROGRESS 
TO EMPLOYMENT ELSEWHERE
Several Møller Medvind employees also gained 
employment with various Møller Bill dealer-
ships. Their job is to ensure that the cars are 
polished to a high shine in the various show-
rooms, and they get along well with their col-
leagues. A total of eight employees took up full, 
permanent positions with Møller Bil dealerships 
in Oslo, at Hvam and in Follo in 2021.

MØLLER MEDVIND STATUS AND AMBITIONS

Møller Medvind
Total since startup  

2018 to 2021 New recruits in 2021 Ambitions for 2022

Number of employees 68 18 10

Permanent full-time 
positions 49 16 10

Permanent employment 
elsewhere 13 8 10

Number of cars detailed 5,300 2,500 3,000

All employees are recruited via the Norwegian Labour and Welfare Administration (NAV).

About Møller 
Medvind
Møller Medvind is a company established 
by the Møller family, in which young 
 people, through close partnering with the 
Norwegian Labour and Welfare Adminis-
tration (NAV), are offered full, permanent 
employment. The aim was to establish 
a company wholly integrated into other 
business activities under family ownership, 
and with a car care industry characterised 
by undeclared labour and social dumping, 
it was natural to start here.
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To be among the best workplaces, regardless of sector

Our ambition is to be the LEADER  
across regions Commentary on performance 2021 

Status 
2021 Goals 2022 Goals 2025

A good, safe workplace We are committed to training and upskilling to ensure that we 
always have the industry’s leading specialists in the “ chemicals” 
and “high-voltage” disciplines. All our workshops are now 
 capable of doing battery repairs, and the foundation is in place 
for establishing interdisciplinary collaboration in 2022.

We will create an interdisciplinary chemicals and 
high-voltage group to perform full audit of proce-
dures, emergency preparedness and rules.

We intend to be the best in the industry at 
safety and quality. 

We are already reporting transparently, but as of 2021 have not 
established a system for reporting work injury rates.

We will pursue our vision-zero policy on injuries 
and accidents as well as report transparently on 
injury rates. 

We will work proactively on prevention and 
pursuing our vision-zero policy on injuries and 
accidents.

Inclusive workplace Thanks to our long-term partnership with Møller Medvind since 
2017, we have met targets in 2021 and will meet targets for 2022.

35 permanent full positions with Møller Medvind. 
Annually, we are required to let 10-15 employees 
go for permanent employment in the private 
 sector. At least 10 are to be recruited to Møller Bil.

Møller Medvind is to serve as an inclusion 
model for the entire Group. 

Gender equality Although gender equality is high on the Møller Mobility Group 
agenda, the car industry is still male-dominated. We have parts 
of our 2021 target, and expect to see long-term results towards 
2025.

i.  Map the proportion of women at different 
levels in our business.

ii.   Review pay conditions with reference to 
gender in compliance with the Norwegian 
Anti-Discrimination Act.

iii.  Work proactively to improve recruitment 
 practices.

iv.  The aim is to always have candidates represent-
ing both sexes in the recruitment shortlist.

We are committed to achieving equal 
 gender balance among the Group’s 50 senior 
 executives.
1/3 of general managers shall be women.

We will ensure a high degree of trust among our employees through a continuous focus on our values, 
competence building and sustainability. We are recognised as a leading workplace with a focus on inclusion, 
diversity and gender equality in the markets in which we operate. Møller Medvind will create new inclusive 
workplaces and help abolish the industry’s use of undeclared labour.
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Our ambition is to be the LEADER  
across regions Commentary on performance 2021 

Status 
2021 Goals 2022 Goals 2025

Diversity As in the case of gender equality, there is high awareness 
throughout the organisation of dynamic diversity in the full 
sense of the word: in gender, language, nationality, disability, 
ethnicity and LGBT. During 2021, we strengthened our insight with 
a quantitative and qualitative data set enabling us to develop a 
diversity strategy with goals and initiatives in 2022. An important 
tool is “Great Place to Work” (GPTW), where the Group achieved 
an average score of 79 per cent in 2021; an improvement of over 
5 per cent compared to last year.

In the 2021 GPTW survey, over 92–94 per cent of our employees 
respond that they are fairly treated regardless of their cultural 
or ethnic affiliation, gender or sexual orientation – which is far 
above average compared to other companies.

i.  Develop a diversity strategy defining specific goals 
and actions.

ii.  Increase our statistical data and knowledge within 
our own organisation through benchmarking.

iii.  All employees should be made aware of why 
diversity is important to Møller Mobility Group.

iv.  Increase knowledge and awareness of sexual 
orientation as part of workplace diversity.

i.  All Møller Mobility Group entities shall have 
employees with minority backgrounds 
(gender, language, nationality, disability, 
ethnicity, LGBT).

ii.  All employees of Møller Mobility Group 
should feel fairly treated. Goal of 90 per 
cent GPTW score.

iii.  We wish to be known as an open-minded, 
safe and inclusive place to work, regardless 
of sexual orientation. Goal of achieving an 
average GPTW score of 95 per cent.

Employee development 2021 was also characterised by the pandemic and infection 
control, which limited the number of physical meetings. In order 
to follow up our “develop our people” strategy ambition across 
regions, we conducted courses and training under the Harald A. 
Møller Kompetansesenter (training centre) as well as manager 
development programmes using alternative arrangements, 
 including a portal solution. We completed 5,101 training man days 
(TMD) in 2021 which is a decrease compared to 5,847 in 2020.

i.  Through our “Dare to lead” manager development 
programme, we will be boosting the organi-
sation’s leadership within people, business and 
sustainability. 

ii.  In 2022, the top 170 will be taking the “Dare to lead” 
programme. By 2023, all managers in the organisa-
tion will have completed the same programme. 

iii.  We will be boosting internal training by enlarging 
our skills portal and offering a good skills pro-
gramme for basic and specialist qualifications.

iv.  Increase our Trust Index Score from 79 per cent to 
81 per cent.

We want to be among the best places to 
work, regardless of sector. We will be increas-
ing our Trust Index score to 87 per cent.

Investing in apprentices To give impetus to our ambition to nurture future talent, Møller 
Bil School is now an officially accredited training centre, where 
 upper secondary school leavers enrol under a traineeship 
 contract of nominally 24 months. Møller Bil School had 110 
 apprentices at the turn of the year (intake 2020 and 2021), and 
most of them are offered permanent jobs with Møller Bil on 
gaining their apprenticeship certificate.

We will be stepping up our commitment to appren-
ticeships in both numbers and trades. We will be an 
important driving force in encouraging more school 
leavers to opt for a vocational education.

Møller Mobility Group intends to be a player 
within the apprenticeship scheme for more 
trades in addition to the conventional auto-
motive trades. We intend to be one of the 
best apprenticeship institutions in Norway, 
and to excel at apprentice recruitment and 
training provision.
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In 2020, Møller Mobility Group started work on climate-related 
 accounting and reporting as an integral element in its corporate 
 environmental strategy. In 2021, we broadened the scope of our 
 reporting and have been working to assure the quality of our data 
and source more detailed information on our climate footprint.

The purpose of our climate-related disclosures is 
primarily to obtain an overview of the direct and 
indirect greenhouse gas emissions associated with 
the business and its associated value chain. For 
Møller Mobility Group, climate-related accounting 
and reporting has served as an important tool in 
defining emissions-mitigation measures and the 
cost-benefits they provide. Keeping an inven-
tory of greenhouse gas emissions sources is also 
 crucial in identifying emissions-related risk in our 
own organisation and along the supply chain, and 
we have broadened our scope by undertaking 
TCFD reporting. 

The climate-related disclosures of Møller Mobility 
Group have been prepared in accordance with 
the Greenhouse Gas Protocol (GHG Protocol), 
which is the most widely used method worldwide 

for measuring greenhouse gas emissions. Møller 
Mobility Group has followed the GHG Protocol’s 
operational control approach and performed cor-
porate value chain assessments based on finan-
cial relevance and general emissions-reduction 
opportunities. 

Møller Mobility Group currently has a leading role 
in the electrification of the Norwegian  vehicle 
fleet, and we are committed to being a strong 
contributor to the Norwegian authorities’ goal for 
all new passenger cars sold in 2025 to be emis-
sions-free. In addition, we will be focusing our 
efforts on ensuring sustainability across our busi-
ness and value chain in various ways, right from 
devising innovative repair concepts to imposing 
stricter ESG requirements on our suppliers. 

Halt climate change:
Møller Mobility Group 
will play an active role by 
offering electric vehicles 
and supporting electrifica-
tion of the transport sector.

Work proactively for a sustainable value chain

Decent work and eco-
nomic growth: 
Møller Mobility Group 
will promote inclusive 
and sustainable growth 
and decent work for our 
employees.

Responsible consumption 
and production:
Møller Mobility Group 
will work systematically 
to fulfil social criteria, act 
professionally and uphold 
our code of conduct.

Sustainability domains: 
k Green focus in purchasing
k Ethics and anti-corruption
k Professionalism in the car sector
k Reuse of car parts and batteries

Sustainable development goal: 8, 12, 13
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CORE ELEMENTS OF THE TCFD FRAMEWORK

chain. Within steel and aluminium production, 
there are huge savings to be made.

The goal by 2025 is to reduce life-cycle CO2 emis-
sions from the total vehicle fleet by 30 per cent, 
compared to 2015. To that end, the Volkswagen 
Group is electrifying its range of models and 
maintaining its e-offensive in support of individual 
mobility, spearheaded by electric cars.

EV MARKET LEADER IN EUROPE
In 2021, 472,300 electrified vehicles were delivered 
in the EU, including in Norway and Iceland; 64 per 
cent more than in the previous year. The share 
of battery-electric vehicles (BEVs) and plug-in 
hybrids (PHEV) rose to 17.2 per cent of total deliv-
eries (2020: 10.1 per cent). This makes the Group 
the market leader by far in the BEV segment in 
Europe, with a market share of around 25 per cent. 
Based on preliminary figures, the Group averaged 
CO2 emissions of 118.5 g/km in 2021 for its new 
passenger car fleet in the EU, which is around 2 
per cent below target.

Volkswagen Group is investing EUR 35 billion in 
battery-electric cars and will be bringing out 20 
new all-electric car models by 2025 and 70 new 
models by 2030.

VOLKSWAGEN PRESENTS WAY TO ZERO
Volkswagen Group is Møller Mobility Group’s 
most important partner. The automaker manu-
factures all the car brands we sell, which means 
that Volkswagen Group’s strategic choices affect 
our business. For Møller Mobility Group, having 
the world’s largest automaker as our partner is a 
strength. Møller Mobility Group has a long-stand-
ing and good connection with the Volkswagen 
Group. The Volkswagen importer contract was 
signed back in 1948.

Increased electric mobility is an important step 
towards CO2 neutrality. No less than 29 per cent 
of European greenhouse gas emissions come 
from transport, with 15 per cent coming from light 
passenger cars. Volkswagen is investing system-
atically in its green economy offensive, and has 
established a comprehensive decarbonisation 
programme, with the goal of achieving full car-
bon neutrality in all areas, from the vehicle fleet 
through production to administration by 2050: 
“Volkswagen Way To ZERO”. Volkswagen has thus 
committed fully to implementing the climate goals 
of the Paris Agreement. 

To achieve the goal of full CO2 neutrality by 2050, 
the Volkswagen Group is pursuing three princi-
ples: First: reduce CO2 effectively and sustainably. 
Second: transition to renewable sources of elec-
tricity. Third: compensate for unavoidable CO2 
emissions.

To improve the CO2 balance of vehicles through-
out their life cycle, Volkswagen is implementing 
measures along its entire vehicle parts supply 

and reporting climate risk. Through a series of 
internal workshops, we have identified climate- 
related risk factors that are focal for our strategy 
and our ability to achieve financial targets. Risk 
and probability factors are external events and 
circumstances directly or indirectly impacting the 
company. Through scenario analyses, we have 
explored how these factors might change in light 
of different future scenarios. For more detailed 
information on our TCFD process, read the sum-
mary on pages 84–85.

CLIMATE RISK MAPPING
Climate change and climate policy are key factors 
for business and industry. As a result, companies 
such as Møller Mobility Group are increasingly 
expected to openly disclose their climate risks – 
and how the various impacts of climate change 
will affect our business and value chain. In 2021, 
we consequently opted to initiate reporting on 
climate risk in line with the recommendations of 
TCFD, the G20 countries’ Task Force on Climate 
Related Financial Disclosures. This has become 
established as the main framework for analysing 

Governance

Strategy

Risk management

Objective
and targets

GOVERNANCE

Disclose the organisation’s governance around 
climate-related risks and opportunities.

STRATEGY

Disclose the actual and potential impacts of 
climate-related risks and opportunities on the 
organisation’s businesses, strategy, and financial 
planning.

RISK MANAGEMENT

Disclose how the organisation identifies, assesses, 
and manages climate-related risks.

METRICS AND TARGETS

Disclose the metrics and targets used to assess 
and manage relevant climate-related risks and 
opportunities.
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is committed to partnering with our suppliers on 
continuous improvement along the value chain. 
The Norwegian Transparency Act that comes into 
force in 2022 makes this commitment mandatory. 
This new legislation will promote businesses’ 
respect for universal human rights and decent 
working conditions, and ensure public access 
to information. The Act imposes a duty of dis-
closure on businesses and makes due diligence 
mandatory.

As part of the sustainability efforts in the Group, 
the purchasing department works to ensure a sus-
tainable value chain. This now has an even higher 
priority in the department, which is focusing its 
efforts on planning and structuring.

Group-wide working groups have been estab-
lished to address measures for reducing our CO2 
footprint related to transport and travel, and for 
2022 the department has the following measures 
planned:
•  Map categories and suppliers with the greatest 

sustainability potential
•  Conduct risk assessments of Møller Mobility 

Group’s supplier portfolio
•  Improve supplier approval and evaluation 

procedures
•  Update evaluation criteria for sustainability in 

purchasing procedure
•  Regular upskilling within the sustainability domain 

in the purchasing department

These measures also support compliance with the 
requirements of the new Norwegian Transparency 
Act which enters into force on 1 July 2022.

system will encourage access to, and demand for, 
new and used electric cars in Norway.

Our ambition is to make a major contribution to 
fulfilment of the Norwegian government’s goal for 
all new passenger cars sold to be zero-emission 
by 2025. The array of new electric cars strength-
ens our confidence in the zero-emission vision for 
2025. At the same time, we would emphasise that 
electric vehicle incentives remain crucial, particu-
larly for the segments lagging behind in electrifi-
cation, such as leasing and light vans. In addition, 
charging infrastructure is key to achieving the 
2025 target, especially now that the four-wheel 
drive and longer-range family versions are readily 
available. 

ELECTRIC VEHICLES EXCEED  
15 PER CENT OF THE TOTAL
The Norwegian electric car fleet now consists 
of over 450,000 electric cars. This amounts to 
15.95 per cent of the fleet while the rest is split 
relatively equally between petrol and diesel cars, 
which total around 2 million vehicles combined. 
Rechargeable hybrids make up 11 per cent. Of 
176,276 first-time registered new passenger cars 
in 2021, 113,715 were electric. This amounts to a 64 
per cent market share for electric vehicles. If sales 
continue at the current rate, within the first half of 
2022 there will be at least 500,000 electric passen-
ger cars in Norway. 

A green focus in purchasingk
RESPONSIBLE PURCHASING 
As a large-scale purchasing organisation with sub-
stantial purchasing volume, Møller Mobility Group 

The Volkswagen Group’s commitment to electric 
mobility summed up:
•  Eoffensive: Volkswagen has launched the 

world’s largest electric offensive. The Group is 
investing EUR 35 billion in its five-year plan.

•  Models: By 2030, Volkswagen Group will have 
launched around 70 all-electric models.

•  ID. family: The newly developed family of 
all-electric models was launched in 2020.

•  Major goals: By 2025, the Volkswagen brand 
intends to be selling more than 1 million electric 
cars annually worldwide.

•  MEB: The modular electric drive matrix (MEB) 
is the technical and financial backbone of the 
e-offensive.

•  Eproduction: The new electric cars will be built 
at eight MEB plants in Europe, China and the US.

WE BELIEVE IN THE ZERO-EMISSIONS  
VISION FOR 2025
Volkswagen Group’s massive investment in elec-
tric vehicles will benefit all our brands. Møller 
Mobility Group has a leading role in the electrifi-
cation of the Norwegian car fleet and we will be 
continuing to contribute to this green shift. A full 
79 per cent of the sales of the Group’s passenger 
car brands in Norway were electric in 2021, and the 
Group estimates that this share is set to increase 
up towards 100 per cent in 2025. Meanwhile, the 
electrification of commercial vehicles is five years 
behind passenger cars. The framework conditions 
for electric cars in Norway and the EU are key 
parameters for Møller Mobility Group. The Group 
expects that EU emissions targets and aggressive 
climate policy will continue to drive up produc-
tion of electric cars, and that the current road tax 
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A milestone was reached in September 2021 when 
the certificate of completed apprenticeship in car 
care formally recognised the occupation as a 
skilled trade. Møller Medvind has for many years 
contributed to the design of the certificate and 
it worked actively on the course curriculum last 
autumn. Møller Medvind became one of the very 
first accredited training providers, and welcomed 
its first two apprentices in 2021. 

ISO 14001 ENVIRONMENTAL CERTIFICATION
ISO 14001 is the internationally recognised environ-
mental management standard. This generic stand-
ard is suitable for organisations in all industries.

Developed by the International Organization for 
Standardization (ISO), the standard is based on 
two concepts: continuous improvements and 
legal compliance (source: DNVGL).

In December 2011, Harald A. Møller AS was certified 
in accordance with the ISO 14001 environmental 
management system. The certification formalises 
our environmental pledge, and commits us, to 
an even greater degree, to taking environmen-
tal responsibility and implementing measures to 
reduce the overall environmental impact of our 
business.

The ISO 14001 standard requires us to make an 
inventory of all environmental impacts and take 
action to rectify procedures in priority areas. ISO 
14001 establishes a precautionary practice for our 
environmental impact. Continuous improvement 
and compliance are the mainstays of ISO 14001. 
The certification is carried out by an independent 
third party (TÜV).

All Møller Bil dealerships are certified individually 
according to the 9001:2105 and 14001:2015 stand-
ards by TÜV SÜD. Møller Bil repair centres are all 
certified according to ISO 14001:2015 by A3 Cert 
Certifiering AB. Møller Logistikk klargjøring, which 

UN GLOBAL COMPACT
Møller Mobility Group has been a member of the 
United Nations Global Compact since February 
2016, and we are committed to striving to con-
duct business in line with the Ten Principles in the 
domains human rights, labour, environment and 
anti-corruption. See also pages 140—141.

WHISTLEBLOWING
The Group has a low-threshold whistleblowing 
system available to the Group's employees via all 
internal communication channels and for external 
parties via the corporate website. The whistle-
blowing hotline services is provided by Deloitte. 
See also page 97.

Professionalism in the car sector k
CLEANING UP THE INDUSTRY
Every industry is prone to rogue operators, com-
panies or individuals performing undeclared work. 
Møller Mobilty Group has a zero-tolerance pol-
icy on any trade intended to avoid taxation and 
unfairly cut costs. Ever since the company was 
founded, we have honoured our pledge to live up 
to our founder Harald Aars Møller’s ever-relevant 
maxim: “Stick to the rules!”.

With Møller Medvind, we also want to help the 
car-care sector, where, all too often, corners are 
cut, and working conditions generally fail to meet 
the standards we expect in Norway. We cannot 
do this alone, but we aim to make a difference in 
the best possible way.

Møller Medvind has been formally consulted by 
regulators in connection with the Norwegian Act 
that will now finally come into force in June 2022. 
This Act criminalises the purchasing of undeclared 
car care services, and an accreditation scheme, 
combined with certification of qualified service 
providers, will help to professionalise the car care 
industry.

a firm foundation and daily vigilance. We will 
achieve this through diligence and a high degree 
of integrity and without compromising on ethical 
norms and good business practice. This means 
that all employees in our organisation are required 
to do their utmost to make sound decisions that 
benefit Møller Mobility Group, our customers and 
society – and themselves.

In 2021, we provided training in the general prin-
ciples of competition law and its specific impli-
cations for the Group’s activities. All employees 
have easy access to information on our corpo-
rate code of conduct in the Group handbooks on 
our platforms, and all new employees receive an 
introduction to the Group’s core values and Code 
of Conduct as part of the Group’s onboarding 
programme. 

The purchasing department works closely with 
entities such as the import business Harald A. 
Møller and other key departments in the Group 
to ensure full compliance and respect for universal 
human rights along our value chains.

Ethics and anti-corruptionk
CODE OF CONDUCT
Møller Mobility Group has produced its own Code 
of Conduct to lay down guidelines on ethical prac-
tices. We have also introduced internal procedures 
to spread the word about the procedures we have 
in place for whistleblowing.

Our Code of Conduct applies our core values 
to real-world business practices, in which all 
 employees are to have an equal basis for mak-
ing safe and appropriate choices. Møller Mobility 
Group has operations in five countries; Norway, 
Sweden, Estonia, Latvia and Lithuania. This requires 

IDENTIFY AND ASSESS 
ADVERSE IMPACTS 
in operations, supply chain 
and business relationships

PROVIDE FOR 
OR COOPERATE 
in remediation 
where appropriate

CEASE, PREVENT 
OR MITIGATE 
adverse impacts

TRACK 
implementation 

and results

COMMUNICATE 
how impacts are addressed

EMBED RESPONSIBLE BUSINESS CONDUCT
into policies and management systems

1

2

6

34

5

In working to map due diligence, the Møller Mobility Group follows a model based on the OECD Due Diligence Guidance for Respon-
sible Business Conduct.
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warehouses in Kassel and Audi’s warehouse in 
Ingolstad as well as deliveries from sub-suppliers 
of various components and parts. In 2021, Møller 
Logistikk carried out a pilot project with Kinver 
Green to map the climate footprint of transport 
operations and aggregated this into a database 
that will enable us to implement measures for opti-
misation and emissions reduction. 

Volkswagen, for its part, is increasingly prioritising 
the circular economy and reuse in its own logistics:

•  Remanufacturing of high-voltage components 
such as battery cells, battery modules and adja-
cent components

• Increased standardisation of parts
• Comprehensive replacement parts programme 
for electric vehicles

In our own operations, we work daily to reduce 
the number of parts replaced at our workshops 
through heavy investment in equipment and 
upskilling. Since 2014, through the “carbon mir-
acle” project, we have reduced the number of 
parts replaced by 25 per cent and have devised 
innovative repair concepts that make it possible, 
for example, to repair headlights and bumpers 
using sensor-based technology without having to 
replace any reparts. Our automotive repair special-
ists have long collaborated with paint suppliers to 
develop processes to prevent disruption of sensor 
systems by, for example, applying decals to parts 
requiring extra care during a paint-job. 

By building up professional battery expertise, our 
experts have also obtained permission to replace 
a large proportion of battery base clamps, so that 
repairs can be made more easily without having 
to replace the entire battery pack. These are all 
examples of how we have devised techniques to 
enable repairs compliant with the manufacturer’s 
guidelines.

INVESTING IN HIGH-VOLTAGE EXPERTISE
With over 450,000 electric vehicles on the Norwe-
gian roads, it is becoming increasingly important 
to have access to enough specialist expertise in 
handling and repairing high-voltage batteries. Our 
commitment to training and upskilling will ensure 
that we always have the industry’s leading spe-
cialists in the field. All of our workshops are now 
capable of carrying out battery repairs and we 
serve our customers with full transparency for their 
complete confidence about what has happened 
to their battery, and how it has been handled at 
our workshops. 

UPSCALING USED PARTS
At the same time, our goal is to increase the 
repairs share of used parts with safety and quality 
as the main criterion. Together with NBF (Norwe-
gian Motor Trade Association) and our insurance 
partners, we are exploring how this can be better 
systematised. In 2021, a memorandum of under-
standing was drawn up to formalise cooperation 
on increasing the use of equivalent used parts. 
Importer Harald A. Møller participated in the 
working group that defined key tasks, and stressed 
that the cooperation should be subject to the fol-
lowing guiding principle: “Equivalent used parts 
shall be reused when feasible, prudent and safe”. 
Our trade specialists are also represented in NBF’s 
resource group in this area, and an interdisciplinary 
internal project has been launched with the aim 
of mapping our position in the used parts value 
chain. 

At the end of a vehicle’s useful life, the take-back 
scheme for end-of life vehicles and batteries 
ensures that the resources are recovered for 
recirculation. For 15 years, members of Norwe-
gian Automobile Importers’ Association (BIL), have 
taken responsibility for the collection and recycling 
of end-of life vehicles (ELVs) in Norway through 
their ownership of Autoretur AS, the Norwegian 
national vehicle take-back and treatment scheme. 

details all vehicles arriving in Norway, is also ISO 
14001-certified. 

Möller Bil Sverige AB is certified according to 
the Swedish SS-EN ISO 14001:2015 standard. In 
the Baltics, importers and dealerships are ISO 
9001-certified. ISO 14001-certification is also under 
consideration. The importer is the certifying body 
for the dealerships, and also has the role of raising 
awareness of environmental impacts, regulatory 
requirements and environmental goals. 

Reuse of car parts and batteries k
CIRCULAR ECONOMY IN PRACTICE
Looking at the entire value chain and the 
resources required to manufacture an electric 
car, the car itself has a significant environmental 
footprint. As an industry we have to be com
pletely honest about that. This is why we need 
to consider each electric car from a lifecycle per
spective and do what we can, with the scope 
that we have, to keep each car on the road for 
as long as possible. 

OUR MISSION IS TO KEEP EACH CAR ON THE 
ROAD FOR AS LONG AS POSSIBLE
Møller Mobility Group is a comprehensive service 
partner for customers in the vehicle use phase 
through our workshops and repair centres, both 
during and after the warranty period. Our mission 
is to keep each car on the road as long as possible 
for the customer and through our services ensure 
that the car remains as “green” and safe as when 
it left the factory. From this perspective, Møller 
Logistikk makes a big difference. This logistics 
business ensures that retailers get the parts and 
accessories they have ordered within specified 
turnaround times, and it has as many as 14,000 
outgoing order lines daily. At the central ware-
house, they even have their own railway line all 
the way into the storage hall. Annually, around 600 
rail freight wagons transport car parts to the ware-
house. These are parts from Volkswagen’s parts 

“Our mission is to make sure 
that each car is kept on the 
road as long as possible, to 
repair as much as possible 
and reuse as many car parts 
as possible. That’s the circular 
economy in practice”

Tom Christian Nordby, 
Director Group After Sales, Harald A. Møller AS
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Take-back is undertaken in accordance with the 
so-called ‘extended producer responsibility’, that 
is, the responsibility of manufacturers for the prod-
uct they bring to market for the ‘cradle-to-grave’ 
life of the product, including when the product is 
destined for recycling.

Since it started in 2007, vehicle recycling has been 
improving steadily. 2021 was a record year, as the 
Autoretur network reported a materials recov-
ery rate of 87.8 per cent and a total recovery 
rate of 97.8 per cent, up 0.2 per cent from 2020. 
That means that only 2.2 per cent of the vehicle’s 
weight has no residual value. We are also seeing 
an increase in re-use before vehicles are sent to 
the scrapyard. At some locations, many parts are 
dismantled before the vehicle is consigned to the 
vehicle collection facility and then transported to 
the fragmentation facility, where the materials are 
shredded into increasingly smaller fragments. The 
fragments are separated by type of material; mag-
netic metal, non-magnetic metal, plastic, residual 
waste and other materials are separated. These 
separation processes have become increasingly 
complex in recent years. The treatment facilities 
are now separating millimetre-sized fragments, 
enabling the materials to be recycled and turned 
into new input factors in industry. 

The total weight of ELVs destined for recycling 
in 2021 was 174,275 thousand tonnes, making the 
Autoretur system one of the largest operators in 
the Norwegian recycling industry.

NATIONWIDE COLLECTION
The backbone of the Autoretur system is a net-
work of 140 vehicle collection facilities and 12 
fragmentation facilities. The vehicle collectors 
depollute the vehicles and dismantle saleable 
parts, and at the fragmentation facilities, the vehi-
cles are shredded and the recyclable fractions are 
separated and sold on as raw materials for brand 
new products.

VEHICLE SCRAP DEPOSIT
The vehicle scrap deposit payable to vehicle own-
ers was introduced in order to salvage disused 
cars. The vehicles are handed over to an author-
ised vehicle collection facility for licensed depol-
lution, and the last owner is then paid the vehicle 
scrap deposit, which is currently NOK 3,000. This 
scheme is organised by the Norwegian state.

TRAINING
Over the last 15 years, the network of vehicle col-
lectors has undergone comprehensive upskilling. 
A number of training programmes and quality sys-
tems have been implemented. 

Today, the Autoretur system consists of tech-
nological and efficient waste management and 
valorisation enterprises that make a substantial 
contribution to the circular economy. Meanwhile, 
the enterprises are also continually adapting to 
new environmental requirements and training 
their employees in treatment of ELVs posing 
new  recycling challenges, such as vehicles with 
high-energy batteries.

RECYCLING OF HIGH-ENERGY BATTERIES
The batteries are a component of the vehicle, 
which is why the regulations on recycling also 

apply to the high-energy batteries. The EU Direc-
tive on End-of Life Vehicles defines the product life 
cycle and recycling requirements that the vehicle 
importers must comply with when scrapping and 
recycling vehicles. The manufacturers’ responsi-
bility for the product life cycle is referred to as the 
extended producer responsibility (EPR).

Norwegian Automobile Importer’ Association (BIL), 
Autoretur AS and Batteriretur AS (the approved 
recycling company for all categories of batteries) 
identified this challenge early on. Back in 2016, they 
established the company Batteriretur Høyenergi 
AS and a system for recycling high-energy bat-
teries. This is a reliable processing system for all 
Norwegian vehicle collection enterprises. 2021 
also saw the opening of Hydrovolt, the world’s 
first large-scale plant for high-voltage battery 
recycling, with the Swedish battery manufacturer 
Northvolt and the Norwegian Hydro industrial 
group as owners. Through this system, 70 per cent 
of battery cells undergo materials recovery with 
the aim of increasing this to 90 per cent within 5 
years. The remainder is used for energy recovery. 
Fractions surrounding the battery, including steel, 
copper, aluminium and plastic, are also recovered 
in Norway, where they become input factors in 
new industrial production. 

TOTAL RECYCLING AND RECOVERY DATA, NORWAY, FOR 2021 FROM AUTORETUR
Total

Number of scrapped cars 129,222 

Total weight (tonnes) 174,275 

Reuse (tonnes) 7,544 

Materials recycling (tonnes) 145,530 

Materials recycling + energy recovery (tonnes) 162,831 

Reuse + materials recycling (tonnes) 153,075 

Reuse + total recycling (tonnes) 170,375 

Reuse recovery rate + materials recycling 87.8%

Total reuse recovery rate + materials recycling + energy recovery 97.8%
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Waste
In general terms, consistent and standardised 
waste management reporting has not yet 
been established Groupwide due essentially 
to regional and national differences in waste 
management systems. Waste categories, 
regulations and infrastructure are very varied 
between Norway, Sweden and the Baltics. 
The ambition going forward is to establish a 
standardised and precise reporting structure 
and categorisation across the Group. 

WASTE MANAGEMENT, NORWAY
Møller Mobility Group has an agreement with 
Ragnsells AS on waste management in Norway 
and is targeting procedures, waste reduction and 
separation. The waste statistics for Møller’s own 
retailers from 2020 to 2021 show an improvement 
in waste separation rates from 80.16 per cent to 
82.73 per cent. At the same time, the total waste 
volume has been slightly reduced from 2020 to 
2021 from 3,351.61 tonnes to 3,471.2 tonnes.

WASTE MANAGEMENT, SWEDEN
In 2019, Sweden started up environmental training 
in partnership with Nemax, which manages both 
hazardous and non-hazardous waste. This was 
continued in 2020 with a focus on compliant waste 
separation, but with a temporary suspension in 
2021. The aim of the training is to raise awareness 
and increase waste separation at all the Swedish 
organisation’s sites. 

The training covers:
•  Sustainability – an asset for businesses
•  The Swedish Environmental Code – Municipal 

Waste Ordinance
•  Waste – Hazardous waste
•  Acts and ordinances
•  Separation – where the waste goes
•  Labelling and marking of waste/containers
•  Correct separation and labelling and marking 

– as cost determinants
•  The waste hierarchy – Lansink’s Ladder

In 2021, Möller Bil Sweden installed a new monitor-
ing system for all waste oil cisterns, allowing it to 
optimise both filling and transportation. 

Waste statistics for Møller Bil 2019/2020

Waste type
Tonnes 

2019
Share  
2019

Tonnes 
2020

Share  
2020

Tonnes 
2021

Proportion 
2021

Metals 734 22% 744 22% 830 24%

Residual waste 653 20% 665 20% 600 17%

Cardboard, paper, paper-
board 453 14% 486 15% 440 13%

Other ordinary waste 352 11% 396 122% 451 13% 

Waste oil 373 11% 323 10% 330 10%

Oil-contaminated solids 187 6% 231 7% 276 8%

Wood 140 4% 173 5% 181 5%

Other hazardous waste 162 5% 135 4% 140 4%

Plastics 143 4% 123 4% 123 4%

Organic solvents 68 2% 66 2% 83 2%

Other contaminated water 6 0.2% 10 0.3% 19 0.6%

Total 3 272 3 352 3 471

Source separation rate (%) 80% 80% 83%

Regions included
Tonnes 

2019
Tonnes 

2020
Tonnes  

2021

Region Harald A. Møller 607 532 689

Region Møller Bil Central Norway (7 legal entities) 422 431 548

Region Møller Bil Greater Oslo (3 legal entities) 1,131 1,233 1,116

Region Møller Bil Western Norway (4 legal entities) 1,112 1,155 1,118

WASTE MANAGEMENT, NORWAY

Waste statistics for Möller Bil Sverige (Sweden) and Porsche Örebro

Waste type Møller Bil Sverige Porsche Örebro Total, Sweden

Waste for recycling (kg) 426,283 5,482 431,765

 Waste for incineration (kg) 50,057 5,151 55,208

 Hazardous waste for recycling (kg) 38,835 1,521 40,356

 Hazardous waste for incineration (kg) 8,039,146 1,490 8,040,636

Water/waste water (kg) 280,302 5,925 286,227

WASTE MANAGEMENT, SWEDEN
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Recycling of waste and residual products results 
in significantly lower CO2 emissions compared 
to using virgin raw materials. During 2021, Möller 
Bil Sweden reduced its total waste volume by 
3,640 tonnes. Möller Bil Sweden has worked 
intently on reducing the use of disposable bat-
teries through the use LED lights, for example. 
2021 saw an increase in the use of disposable 
batteries in some areas, but the use of LED lights 
has increased from 172 to 210. To encourage 
increased reuse in its own value chain, Möller Bil 
Sverige has signed up to the “Bumper” plastics 
project in which used bumpers are reclaimed 
and repurposed as high-value plastic furniture. 
If a repair workshop scraps 2 bumpers a week, 
that equates to 528 kg of plastic/year = 1,426 kg 
of CO2. Bumper is committed to help reduce 
these emissions by using the products as input 
factors for new applications. This initiative was 
mounted by Volvo Cars, Volkswagen Group, MRF 
(Swedish Association for Motor Retail Trades and 
Repairs), Din Bil (automotive group representing 
Volkswagen, Audi, SEAT, ŠKODA, Porsche, and 
Volkswagen Transport), Jönköpings Bildemon-
tering (salvage recycling business), RISE Research 
Institutes of Sweden, Sculptur (additive manufac-

turing and circular transition), Stena Recycling and 
Mobility Sweden.

WASTE MANAGEMENT, BALTICS
The dealerships in the Baltics comply with the 
waste management and reporting requirements 
applicable in Lithuania, Estonia and Latvia. This 
means that all the dealerships have procedures 
for waste management and have also signed 
agreements with companies that utilise the waste, 
including hazardous waste such as batteries and 
tyres. For Latvia, Lithuania and Estonia, there are 
major differences in how waste is managed and 
access to local systems. Lithuania is distinct for its 
high standards, and the suppliers demonstrate 
a high level of professionalism and accuracy in 
their reporting. In Latvia and Lithuania, landfill is 
still very common and up to 35 per cent of total 
waste is sent to landfill. Our ambition is to coordi-
nate reporting on waste in all five countries, and 
we are exploring options for improvement in the 
Baltics by identifying waste management service 
providers more invested in waste separation and 
recycling. In 2021, the total waste volume was 781 
tonnes in the Baltics. 

Energy management
Energy management in Møller Mobility Group
Environmental protection has good buy-in in 
the Group, and substantial resources have been 
invested in reducing our energy consumption and 
our environmental footprint. Through a partnership 
with the company Esave, we have established a 
scheme for active energy monitoring of all sites, 
where the focus is on optimisation, reduction 
measures and preventive efforts. Simple meas-
ures that yield easy gains have been prioritised 
in collaboration between local managers/oper-
ational staff and centrally contracted experts. An 
investment in a solar power installation has been 
launched to support the transition to green elec-
tricity. More extensive measures are discussed with 
the building owner before investments are initiated.

Energy management in Norway
The figures for 2021 show that the total consump-
tion of Møller Mobility Group in Norway increased 
compared to the previous year. The figures show 
that the majority of buildings reported increased 
consumption. Data indicate that this increase 
is largely attributable to increased demand for 
space heating. In 2020, the measured total con-
sumption for Norway was 40,260,077 kWh, but for 
2021 was 45,468,634 kWh. 1)

For 2021, the conclusion would be that the first 
two and last two months of the year were sig-
nificantly colder compared to the previous year. 
Temperature data indicate that the trend was sim-
ilar for all regions of Norway.

2021 saw temperatures more like the norm for the 
past 30-year period, but with more cold periods 
in the winter months. This was a contributing fac-
tor for the increased demand for heating, and also 
increased demand for energy for heating outdoor 
areas that need to be kept ice-free. A steadily increas-
ing proportion of electric cars are also impacting 
consumption as a result of increased charging activ-
ity. This remains a challenge for our reporting, since 
EV charging has not been separated from other con-
sumption at all sites, and consequently impacts the 
energy performance of our building stock. Ongoing 
assessment in consultation with charging system sup-
pliers will determine how we can separate out the 
energy attributable to EV charging, as they are able 
to provide the data needed.

We also note that electricity prices are rising, and 
expected to remain high. This means that many 
energy efficiency projects and initiatives will be 
more profitable than in the past. From a build-
ing systems perspective, this warrants efforts to 
increase the efficiency of any energy performance 
factors (insulating materials in walls/roofs/win-
dows, ventilation, heating sources, etc.). 

A large percentage of our sites are owned by the 
property management company Møller Eiendom, 
which has been working systematically for several 
years to realise large and small-scale energy-sav-
ing measures in our property portfolio. In autumn 
2021, an audit was performed of potential ener-
gy-saving measures in the Møller Bil portfolio. This 
is a generalised initiative for 15 priority properties 
with projects now in progress as:
• Møller Bil Drotningsvik, Janaflaten 20, Bergen
•  Møller Bil Trondheim, Ingvald Ystgaards vei 19, 

Trondheim

If the measures are realised for the entire portfolio, 
the energy performance improvement is poten-
tially 20 per cent. 

WASTE REPORT, BALTICS 2021

Total waste 
(tonnes)

Recycled 
waste

Recycled 
hazardous 

waste
Incinerated 

waste

Incinerated 
hazardous 

waste
Total landfill 

(tonnes)
Landfill- 

proportion

Estonia 237 80 70 0 3 84 36%

Latvia 255 71 62 0 0 122 48%

Lithuania 315 108 91 19 10 66 21%

Total 807 260 222 19 13 273 34%

Share of total 
waste 100% 32% 28% 2% 2% 34%

1) For the 2021 reporting, three new properties have been 

added to the list, and 1 was removed. Meters were also dis-

covered to be missing for some buildings. These changes 

add more than 1,000,000 kWh, and make direct comparison 

of the figures challenging.
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erate around 270,000 kWh of electricity annually, 
representing around 25 per cent of the property’s 
annual consumption.

As to previously installed capacity, Møller Eien-
dom’s solar array at Leiraveien and Møller Bil Forus 
are still the trailblazers in Møller Mobility Group’s 
solar energy programme. The array at Leiraveien 
consists of around 800 solar panels, capable of 
generating 175,000 kWh per annum. 

The electricity generated by the Leiraveien array 
is fed directly into Møller’s own operations in 
the logistics premises, which are also served by 
their own railway line to reduce the need for 
road-based parts transportation by trailer. Møller 
Mobility Group’s car imports company, Harald A. 
Møller, is the tenant in this property. The electric-
ity generated by the new Leiraveien solar array is 
equivalent to the annual charging requirement for 
100 electric vehicles.

The Møller Bil Forus and Møller Bil Stavanger 
have installed charging points for customer cars, 

to substantially scale up our green energy in line 
with our target of 50 per cent installed solar power 
at our sites by 2025. This corresponds to the instal-
lation of around 3–5 systems per annum. We are 
also looking with great interest at the possibilities 
of installing battery storage systems that can help 
reduce peak demand and reduce consumption 
from the grid, which in turn may reduce the costs 
substantially. 

In 2021, two new photovoltaic plants opened at 
Møller Bil Hvam and at Møller Bil in Drotningsvik.

In the past two years, Møller Bil Hvam has 
upgraded its property in a sustainable direction. 
It all began with new infrastructure around the 
charging station in 2019, where the dealership 
went from two to 52 charging points. In addition, 
all lighting has been replaced with LED lights, air 
conditioning units have been replaced and the 
roof has had insulation retrofitted. Air curtains have 
also been fitted to doors and gates to prevent 
heat loss. In summer 2021, 224 solar panels were 
installed on the roof at the dealership. These gen-

Several dealerships are located in properties not 
under Møller Eiendom ownership. Some of these 
dealerships report it as a challenge to get the 
owner of their premises to agree to investments 
that would improve energy performance, such as 
upgrades to obsolete, inefficient equipment or 
other essential but underperforming operating 
systems.

In the light of increased electricity prices, stricter 
regulatory requirements and the EU taxonomy for 
sustainable investment, we hope that more prop-
erty owners will be amenable to implementing 
measures that will result in a more attractive prop-
erty and greener, more energy-efficient operation 
for the tenant. 

* Figures for 2019 and 2020 are inclusive of the 
headquarters at Frysja. This was not included in 
last year’s report.

Installation of solar power
By 2021, a total of 7 sites in Møller Mobility Group 
had installed solar energy systems, but the plan is 

ENERGY DISTRIBUTION 2021

Norway Sweden Baltics Harald A. Møller Grand total

SCOPE 1 
Stationary 
combustion 
(kWh):

Natural gas: 590,172 Natural gas: 0 Natural gas 3,672,601 Natural gas: 0 Natural gas: 4,262,773

Bio-oil: 0 Bio-oil: 319,570 Bio-oil: 139,482 Bio-oil: 0 Bio-oil: 459,052

Fossil fuel oil: 0 Fossil fuel oil: 0 Fossil fuel oil: 0 Fossil fuel oil: 0 Fossil fuel oil: 0

SCOPE 2
(kWh)

Electricity 
consumption: 32,105,642 Electricity 

consumption: 7,626,66 Electricity 
consumption: 3,322,509 Electricity 

consumption: 2,442,354 Electricity 
consumption: 45,497,165

District heating 5,218,124 District heating 7,860,853 District heating 853,524 District heating 1,474,690 District heating 15,407,191

TOTAL: 37,323,766 TOTAL: 15,487,513 TOTAL: 4,176,033 TOTAL: 3,917,044 TOTAL: 60,904,356

Cold outdoors, 
warm indoors

Not surprisingly, there is a direct correlation 
between the outdoor temperature and power 
consumption. The graph above shows how the 
increase in consumption for Møller Bil Sweden 
was largely determined by outdoor tempera-
tures in 2021. Breaking down the figures and sep-
arating out energy for space heating reveals a 
32 per cent increase in energy for space heating 
for 2021. The increase in consumption may be 
interpreted as being directly linked to changes in 
outdoor temperatures over the year.

For fixed-price electricity supplied on a contract 
basis, consumption in 2021 increased by 8 per 
cent compared to 2020 for Møller Bil Sweden. 
Electricity consumption was up throughout the 
year, but a slightly more rising trend in the cold 
months. The reasons for this are complex, but 
increased charging activity was a contributing 
factor along with the fact that a number of heat-
ers are electric. 

Continuous monitoring allows us to strategically 
reduce energy consumption. Specific measures 
implemented in 2021 include replacing lighting 
sources to more energy-efficient alternatives and 
continuous monitoring of system operations.

kWh Degrees

Source: Esave
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pumps. Work is in progress to provide guidelines 
for servicing these. Following an inspection at the 
Volkswagen plant in Vilnius, Lithuania, new meas-
ures have been proposed for sun-screening and 
more efficient cooling of the workshop premises. 
A large volume of natural gas is used for space 
heating and spray booths in the Baltics. Energy 
consumption for space heating is not always 
measured separately. Efforts are underway to sep-
arate out energy consumption for spray booths so 
that stationary energy consumption in buildings 
can be reported more precisely.

A lot of gas is generally used in Latvia, Lithuania 
and Estonia. In the short term, transitioning to 
green power when purchasing guarantees of ori-
gin is a measure for reducing emissions related to 
energy use. The plan is also to certify dealerships 
to the ISO 14001 standard, which may strengthen 
focus on energy-efficiency and environmental 
management. High gas prices and lower solar 
panel costs also make it more attractive to invest 
more in solar power, insulation, heat pumps and 
cooling systems.

improvement measures. In 2021, for example, Swe-
den conducted full transilllumination scanning of 
compressors, all of which were in good condition. 
So far, two properties in Sweden have installed 
solar power. Audi Møller Bil in Gothenburg, gen-
erated 222,447 kWh of solar power in 2021, corre-
sponding to around 51 per cent of energy-related 
consumption. 

Energy management in the Baltics
Energy consumption in the Baltics has been 
reduced from 7,117,825 kWh in 2020 to 4,176,033 
kWh in 2021. Of this, 1.6 mill kWh was green power. 
Two smaller sites have installed solar power today, 
but several new installations are planned, including 
at the new Audi plant scheduled for construction 
in Riga which is also planned to run on fossil free 
space heating. In Tallinn, older sites have been 
phased out to make way for a new property 
south of Tallinn airport. A large, state-of-the-art 
repair centre has also been built at this site. The 
relocation to new facilities provides improved 
measurement data, and hence a basis for energy 
management. Some sites, including the one at 
Krasta in Latvia, have installed air-to-water heat 

because not all sites allow us to separate out the 
energy used for vehicle charging from that used 
purely for building operation. For this reason, meas-
uring kWh per m2 is not viable for these premises. 
We are working to resolve these issues in order to 
achieve satisfactory measurement of actual energy 
consumption in our premises.

2022 – the way forward
2021 was somewhat disrupted by abnormal social 
circumstances in the light of Covid 19, which lim-
ited the desired level of dealership inspection vis-
its. Nonetheless, the general managers and staff in 
the dealership network continued to show their 
commitment to achieving further energy efficien-
cies in daily operations. The biggest challenge for 
further energy-efficiency measures lies with the 
owners of the buildings occupied by dealerships. 
These are the decision-makers who have to want 
to invest in upgrades with a reasonable propor-
tional distribution of entailed expenses reflected 
in the rent. Meanwhile, the focus is on optimis-
ing building operation, improved access to con-
sumption data and investments in technology for 
smart power management such industrial control 
systems. 

Energy management in Sweden
Like Norway, Sweden reported a consumption 
increase linked to increased heating demand in the 
first months of the year, which were colder than 
in 2020. In 2021, total energy-related consumption 
for Sweden was 15,487,513 kWh against 13,689,309 
kWh in 2020. All sites in Sweden have supplied 
with green power through Entelios, which offers 
purchase of Guarantees of Origin. The plan is to 
scale up solar power so that more facilities and 
their associated charging infrastructure can be 
powered by on-site energy generation. Besides 
active energy monitoring through Esave, energy 
audits are required by law in Sweden. This is ful-
filled through a consultant who audits status and 

employee cars and test-drive cars. The charging 
points are powered by solar systems on the roof 
of the Møller Bil Forus and on the roof of the park-
ing garage dealership’s Audi showroom and on 
the roof of the parking garage at the Møller Bil 
Stavanger dealership.

On-site power is generated by east and west- 
oriented rooftop solar panels. In addition to own 
substations at Lyse, these solar arrays power all 
the vehicle charging stations at the dealerships.

At Møller Bil Forus, the solar array has an installed 
capacity of 268 kWh and an estimated annual 
output of 210,000 kWh. On the north side of the 
property there are 20 charging points through 
10 double Salto 22 kW AC chargers as well as a 
Delta 150 kW DC fast charger, and on the west side 
there are six charging points through three double 
Technagon 11 kW AC chargers.

Møller Bil and Fjetland Eiendom have also installed 
solar arrays at Møller Bil Stavanger.

Electric vehicle chargers
All the dealerships have installed a large number of 
AC chargers in addition to a DC fast charger. This 
work was demanding at some locations owing 
to a lack of access to 400 V electricity as well as 
inadequate capacity in some local transformers so 
that we had to order increased capacity. Despite 
this, the programme of establishing the charging 
infrastructure was completed in 2020. At most of 
the dealerships, the fast charger has an output 
power of 150 kW. This makes our network of deal-
erships well equipped to handle a large number of 
electric vehicles in the aftersales market, test-drive 
vehicles and delivery of new EVs.

The establishment of this charging infrastructure 
presents us with a number of challenges in terms 
of measuring energy consumption in our buildings, 

Møller Bil Forus has installed solar systems with an estimated annual production of 210,000 kWh. This corresponds 
to the average annual requirement of around 13 Norwegian households.
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Work proactively for a sustainable value chain

Our ambition is to generate 
 IMPROVEMENT across regions Commentary on performance 2021 

Status 
2021 Goals 2022 Goals 2025

A green focus in purchasing Before we can impose requirements on our partners and sub-suppli-
ers, we first need to ensure that our own performance is exemplary. 
Last year was the first time we published comprehensive climate- 
related disclosures, which we further improved in 2021 by including 
additional parameters. As part of the sustainability efforts in the 
Group, the purchasing department works to ensure a sustainable 
value chain. This now has an even higher priority in the department, 
which is focusing its efforts on planning and structuring.

i.   Map categories and suppliers with the greatest sus-
tainability potential.

ii.   Sustainability should be incorporated as an award 
criterion in all contract purchasing.

iii.   Call for climate accounting and science-based climate 
targets (the 1.5°C target) from all of our major suppliers.

iv.   Map and assess implementation of a comprehensive 
supply-chain control and supplier evaluation system.

i.  Møller Mobility Group wishes to have a 
reputation with all our suppliers for setting 
clear-cut requirements and as a sustain-
ability partner.

ii.   All major suppliers (annual turnover over 
MNOK 1) are required to report on their 
sustainability efforts and climate impacts 
under Scopes 1, 2 and 3.

Energy efficiency By 2021, a total of 7 sites in Møller Mobility Group had installed solar 
energy systems, but the plan is to scale up our green energy in line 
with our target of 50 per cent installed solar power at our sites by 
2025. In Norway, this objective has become highly relevant given 
the increase in electricity prices. Generally, electricity consumption 
in both Norway and Sweden increased in 2021 compared to 2020 
due partly to colder outdoor temperatures, whereas in the Baltics, 
electricity consumption decreased in 2021 compared to 2020.

i.  All new sites are to have solar power installed.
ii.  A total of 3-5 sites are to be energy-upgraded 

 annually.

i.  We will be implementing the Volkswagen 
Group’s Sustainability@retail initiative at 
dealership level across all of our markets.

ii.   We will be working to ensure that up to 
50 per cent of our sites have installed solar 
power.

Flights As in our 2020 climate-related disclosures, we have also reported 
flights taken for business travel in 2021. This has given us the insight to 
be able to establish a Group-wide travel policy and action plan for 
reducing our air travel towards 2025.

i.  We will establish a corporate travel policy requiring 
everyone in the Group to measure their climate footprint 
from travel activities

ii.   In 2022 we will establish an explicit action plan for 
reducing air travel towards 2025.

Target figures will be set in 2022. 

We will work systematically for a sustainability perspective along our entire value chain, and to ensure that 
our suppliers operate in a climate-friendly, green, socially responsible and professional manner, in full legal 
and regulatory compliance, while abiding by the ethical standards we have set.
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Our ambition is to generate 
 IMPROVEMENT across regions Commentary on performance 2021 

Status 
2021 Goals 2022 Goals 2025

Company car In 2021, a decision was made that all company cars in Norway 
should be all-electric.

All employees should be encouraged to choose 
all-electric when replacing their company car.

100 per cent of company cars electric in 
Norway.
25 per cent of company cars electric in the 
Baltics.
25 per cent of company cars electric in 
Sweden.

Transportation As a large-scale purchaser, Møller Mobility Group is committed 
to partnering with our suppliers on measures to reduce our 
carbon footprint from transportation, and the Group’s purchasing 
department has specific plans for 2022 to map the categories and 
suppliers with the greatest sustainability potential; improve supplier 
approval and evaluation procedures; and update evaluation crite-
ria for sustainability in purchasing contracts. Competence building 
in sustainability will be carried out in parallel in the purchasing 
department.

Møller Mobility Group will drive emissions-free on 
all routes where this is feasible and in 2022 carry 
out a pilot project for battery-electric “last mile” 
transportation.

By 2025, all transportation for Møller Mobility 
Group shall be fossil-free by means of bat-
tery-electric, hydrogen or biofuel transporta-
tion.

Ethics and anticorruption Møller Mobility Group abides by a Code of Conduct maintained 
and updated by the Group on a regular basis in line with new due 
diligence requirements. The document provides important guid-
ance. All employees have easy access to the information, and all 
new employees receive an introduction as part of the group’s on-
boarding program. In 2021, training in the Norwegian  Competition 
Act was also provided.

We will identify negative impacts and risks in 
our supply chain according to the due diligence 
requirements of the Norwegian Transparency Act 
and update key governance documents for the 
minimum requirements we impose on suppliers.

Møller Mobility Group will operate a vision- 
zero policy on corruption and be an industry 
leader in ethical and responsible corporate 
governance.

Professionalism in the automotive 
industry

Møller Mobility Group has a zero-tolerance policy on any 
transactions intended to unfairly avoid or evade taxes or duties. 
We will be stepping up these efforts in 2022by setting further 
requirements for our entire value chain of partners, suppliers and 
subcontractors.

In 2021, Møller Medvind was also formally consulted by regulators 
in connection with the new Norwegian Act criminalising the pur-
chase of undeclared car care services. An accreditation scheme 
and the requirement for service providers to be certified will help
professionalise the car care industry (new Norwegian legislation 
comes into force in June 2022).

i.  Møller Mobility Group will be a driving force 
for supplier and sub-supplier compliance with 
statutory requirements for pay and working 
conditions.

ii.   Our main sub-suppliers will be required to 
submit proof of their systematic HSE work.

iii.   All suppliers are required to sign our Code 
of Conduct, now updated with requirements 
regarding diversity, gender equality and sus-
tainability.

iv.   All sub-suppliers of car care services should be 
accredited by the official scheme.

Møller Mobility Group will pursue a vision- 
zero policy on social dumping and the 
use of  undeclared labour. We will main-
tain our  reputation as a driving force for 
 professionalising the automotive industry,  
in all our markets.
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Our ambition is to generate 
 IMPROVEMENT across regions Commentary on performance 2021 

Status 
2021 Goals 2022 Goals 2025

Reuse and repair Our mission is to keep each car on the road for as long as 
 possible. This means addressing the lifecycle perspective, and 
ensuring through our services that each car is kept as “green” and 
safe as when it left the factory. The Volkswagen factory is proac-
tively prioritising the circular economy and reuse in its own logis-
tics. In our own operations, we work continuously to reduce the 
number of parts replaced at our workshops through investment in 
equipment and upskilling. An example of this is the Carbon Miracle 
project, which has reduced the number of parts replacements by 
25 per cent since 2014. 

In order to realise our ambition to be a driving force in the indus-
try, the importer Harald A. Møller in partnership with NBF (Norwe-
gian Motor Trade Association) and our insurance partners drew up 
a memorandum of understanding in 2021 entitled “Equivalent used 
parts shall be reused when feasible, prudent and safe”.

i.  We will be a driving force for the development 
of an industry standard for quality assurance of 
used parts.

ii.  We will work to increase the repairs share of 
used parts with safety and quality as the main 
criterion.

i.  Møller Mobility Group aims to be the indus-
try leader in high-voltage battery repairs.

ii.   We will position ourselves strategically in the 
circular economy by investing in upskilling, 
unique repair concepts, high recovery rates 
and reuse.
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In the future, Møller Mobility Group will need to cater for wide- ranging 
mobility needs and aim to play a key role in smart, urban mobility 
 solutions and concepts. 

Through ownership of companies such as Hyre, 
Rebil, LaserWash and Mitt Tire Hotell, we are rep-
resented in businesses that are actively shaping 
the future of mobility and automotive solutions. 

New forms of mobilityk
Mobility is an increasing priority for cities that have 
to accommodate an ever-increasing number of 
people and their needs, while active efforts are 
being made to reduce congestion and pollution. 
In addition, customer transportation habits are 
changing.

The development of zero-emissions technology, in 
combination with new ways of organising mobil-
ity and running a car, means that more diversified 
mobility will form an important part of the solution 
for reducing future greenhouse gas emissions. 

OVER 90 PER CENT GROWTH
Hyre has established itself as one of the leading 
car sharing services in the Norwegian market and 

in 2021 it doubled both its turnover and number 
of cars, which corresponds to growth of over 90 
per cent. In addition, the number of users more 
than doubled compared to the previous year. An 
effective, hard-working team, a continuous focus 
on achieving customer satisfaction as well as a scal-
able technology platform are the main reasons for 
a positive financial performance surpassing the 
original business plan.

CAR SHARING BECOMES A BIGGER ELEMENT IN 
URBAN MOBILITY
The Hyre technology company was founded in 
2017 when Møller Mobility Group teamed up with 
talented entrepreneurs with the aim of making it 
easier to rent/lease, rather than own, a car. Already 
in the spring of 2018, the company went live with 
the Hyre car sharing service, which was the first to 
provide a fully digitalised customer journey on the 
Norwegian market. In recent years, the car sharing 
service has increasingly penetrated the business 
sector and currently has over 3,000 businesses 

To be an industry leader in new mobility solutions

Innovation and infrastructure:
Møller Mobility Group aims to excite 
customers through investments in 
new mobility solutions.

Sustainability domains: 
k New forms of mobility
k Innovative solutions/digitalisation

Sustainable development goal: 9
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road tolls. The subscription contract term is also 
shorter than for a standard leasing agreement.

Car subscriptions can lower the threshold for 
driving electrically, as more customers get to 
test-run the user experience and benefits of an 
emissions-free vehicle. In addition, car subscrip-
tions may increase the car utilization rate, ensuring 
that the vehicle is fully used for its entire lifetime, 
whether it finds its way into the used car market or 
continues as a subscription or shared car. 

Møller Mobility Group first established subscrip-
tion in 2019 with SEAT Frii, hitting the spot in the 
market in terms of the fee and product. We 
booked more than 700 subscriptions, but due to 
lack of production and models, we decided to 
suspend this service. 

We are now in the process of establishing CUPRA 
Frii, offering the car under a completely different 
sales process, where the prospective subscriber 
books the car online, and has a choice of various 
financing and leasing options, including the Born 
Frii subscription scheme. 

Over the past year, Hyre more than doubled its 
car fleet and in the summer of 2021 the company 
had 1,050 vehicles in operation. This represents a 
sharp increase from 500 share vehicles in the pre-
vious year. Around 20 per cent of the vehicles are 
vans. In line with its mission to strengthen its posi-
tion in Norway’s main urban centres, Hyre has an 
ambition to transition a larger share of its fleet to 
battery-electric driveline. However, this will entail 
provision of sufficient parking facilities for share 
cars from public and private property operators 
that have infrastructure and options for vehicle 
charging. 

MOBILITYLAB
In 2017, we took the initiative for establishing 
MobilityLab in association with StartupLab and 
a number of influential corporates. MobilityLab 
aims to help foster more dynamic tech compa-
nies capable of generating solutions to future 
transport challenges, and creating new jobs and 
new socially and economically beneficial mobil-
ity solutions in Norway. Facilitating knowledge 
sharing and partnering across new start-ups and 
established operators in the mobility industry is an 
important part of this work.

CAR SUBSCRIPTION
The car market is evolving fast and more and more 
people are opting for new ways of running a car 
that require less maintenance and provide the pre-
dictability of all expenses billed on a single invoice. 
In this arena, car subscriptions are an increasingly 
popular option that provides increased flexibility 
for the customer. Many people also opt for leasing 
as a more familiar type of contract. While the two 
services are similar, for leasing, an initial leasing fee 
is payable, and the lessee is responsible for car 
maintenance. By subscribing, the user pays neither 
a deposit nor a start-up fee. The only thing the 
Norwegian user needs to consider is the monthly 
charge, which includes everything except fuel and 

ate the industry's best customer experiences and 
increased customer loyalty. In addition, we will 
simplify and streamline our business processes 
and day-to-day work routines in our workshops 
and in the sales phase. The Group will therefore 
implement the DRIVe transformation programme 
with an investment budget of several hundred mil-
lion NOK over the next few years. This includes 
changes to all business areas’ work processes 
such as sales, servicing, and service functions. In 
addition, we will replace today’s core systems with 
new platforms and systems, and we will improve 
and launch new digital customer solutions. A 
strong digital backbone will be a crucial enabling 
factor for these efforts, and will contribute, among 
other things, to improved resource efficiency, less 
energy-intensive data storage and reduced emis-
sions when migrating to the Cloud.

In 2021, important collaboration agreements were 
signed with Microsoft and Annata, and a prelim-
inary study has been undertaken in conjunction 
with our integration partner Netcompany. We 
see great potential in the Microsoft systems and 
will further explore how they can strengthen our 
digital customer journey and the entire associated 
infrastructure. 

INCREASED UTILISATION RATES WITH FEWER 
VEHICLES
Car sharing may contribute to more services being 
performed with fewer vehicles, and also reduce 
the use of private cars in professional use. Reduc-
ing the professional use of private cars will also 
eliminate employees’ need to drive to and from 
work. Green Strategy – Climate and Energy Action 
Plan for Bergen aims for Bergen to promote shared 
mobility in order to reduce the number of cars per 
household throughout the Municipality. By making 
use of car sharing services itself, the municipality is 
helping to ensure that this service is made acces-
sible to citizens in several districts.

registered with Hyre. There is also every indication 
that car sharing is set to become a key element in 
Norwegian urban mobility. The municipalities of 
Bergen, Trondheim and Sola exemplify the trend 
in public sector contracting of car sharing services 
for municipal use. In May 2021, Hyre was chosen 
as the supplier of car sharing services for Bergen 
Municipality, and Sola Municipality’s solution, like-
wise provided by Hyre, is also getting under way.

The Bergen Municipality public procurement refers 
to “the climate and environmental plan for own 
undertaking” in which the Municipality’s main 
aim for transportation calls for “the municipali-
ty’s employees to use the most environmental-
ly-friendly means of transport both during work 
hours and on their way to and from work”. Further-
more, a goal has been set for the Municipality’s 
in-service driving to be fossil-free by 2025, for a 
reduction in the vehicle fleet as well as a reduction 
in the use of private cars for in-service driving.

Innovative solutions/digitalisationk 
A STRONG DIGITAL BACKBONE TO ENABLE 
SUSTAINABILITY
Technology is already an integral part of how 
people and goods move in society, whether it’s 
unlocking a rented Hyre car or planning the use of 
public transport through mobile apps. We believe 
that an increased rate of change in digitalisation 
will drive new needs among customers who are 
increasingly demanding products and services 
that can make everyday life easier. 

Møller Mobility Group is now in a phase where 
digitalisation will be essential in realising a num-
ber of important future improvement measures. 
We will deliver a seamless and personalised cus-
tomer experience across products and services, 
channels and interfaces, and we will develop inte-
grated propositions that combine digital mobility 
services with physical products. The goal is to cre-

“With increasing availability 
of car sharing services, we are 
also seeing growing demand 
from consumers. From 2020 to 
2021, Hyre achieved growth 
of more than 90 per cent and 
doubled the number of share 
cars from 500 to 1,000 in the 
major Norwegian cities”
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To be an industry leader in new mobility solutions

Our ambition is to be the LEADER 
Norway. Commentary on performance 2021 

Status 
2021 Goals 2022, Norway Goals 2025, Norway

New forms of mobility (Hyre) Hyre has established itself as one of the leading car sharing 
services in the market and in 2021 it doubled both its turnover 
and number of cars, which corresponds to growth of over 
90 per cent. By winning public tenders in Bergen and Sola 
municipalities, Hyre is also strengthening the political framework 
conditions.

i.  Strengthen Hyre’s ESG profile by reporting envi-
ronmental benefits and sustainability strategy.

ii.  Strengthen political framework conditions for 
car sharing, in particular by facilitating charging 
infrastructure, VAT exemption for short-term 
leases and access to parking.

Quantifiable objectives for 2025 will be clarified 
through work on the Sustainability Strategy.

Carwash services (LaserWash) Møller Mobility Group has a 50 per cent share in the LaserWash 
carwash chain, which expanded in 2021 and now operates 26 
carwash  facilities. Efforts to establish a comprehensive sustain-
ability  strategy and define pro-environment initiatives are now 
in progress as part of the LaserWash business strategy to be 
realised in 2022.

i.  Map current environmental impact and develop 
a comprehensive sustainability strategy.

ii.  Start piloting more pro-environment projects, 
including water recycling plants and Nordic 
Swan Ecolabelling of selected chemicals.

LaserWash needs to build its reputation as a 
responsible developer of the industry’s best 
car wash systems in line with current require-
ments regarding resource use, environment 
and social conditions. This will be expressed 
through reputational surveys.

Innovative solutions/digitalisation Møller Mobility Group is already in a phase where digitalisation 
has been given high priority. The benefit is twofold: It ensures 
that we enhance seamless and personalised customer experi-
ences across products and services, channels and touchpoints, 
while simplifying and streamlining business processes and daily 
operations. Both will contribute to sustainability in practice.

i.  Sustainability will be incorporated as a principle 
in digital design and service development.

ii.  We will reduce server park energy consump-
tion though optimisation.

iii.  We will mount a digital awareness campaign 
within the Group concerning data storage and 
data use.

i.    We will automate climate-related accounting 
as part of our digital strategy.

ii.    We will reduce emissions from data storage 
and use by migrating to cloud services.

We will excite our customers through the further development of the Hyre proposition  
and investments in new mobility solutions.
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Reliable reporting of Møller 
Mobility Group’s green-
house gas emissions is 
essential in our mission to 
achieve the long-term goal 
of  reducing emissions in line 
with  science-based climate 
 targets by 2027.

We reduce 
emissions

SCOPE 1
Direct emissions (operat-
ing assets we have direct 

control over)

5,122 tCO2e
(Reduction of 7.4 per 

cent from 2020)

SCOPE 2
Indirect emissions  

from purchased energy

5,205 tCO2e
(Increase of 31.7 per cent from 2020)

SCOPE 3
Indirect emissions from purchased goods, 

services and the lifecycle of the cars we sell

1,384,544 tCO2e
(Reduction of 17.3 per cent from 2020)

All told, we reduced our emissions by
341,560 tCO2e from 2020 to 2021.

This corresponds to the emissions of  
651,101 roundtrip flights 

for one person  
London–Rome–London.

(Source for calculation: DEFRA/UK.)

-44% CO2

-30% CO2

Scopes 1 and 2  2027

Scope 3  2027

* reduction in emissions intensity
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This report covers Møller Mobility Group (Nor
way, Sweden and the Baltics).

The information used in the climaterelated dis
closures comes from both external and internal 
sources, and has been converted into tonnes 
of CO2 equivalents. The analysis is based on “A 
Corporate Accounting and Reporting Stand
ard”, which was developed by the Greenhouse 
Gas Protocol Initiative (GHG Protocol). This 
is the most commonly used methodology 
globally for measuring GHG emissions. The ISO 
standard 14064I is based on the GHG Protocol. 

The analysis was prepared by the consultancy 
firm CEMAsys.com.

In 2021, Møller Mobility Group GHG emissions 
totalled 1,394,871 tCO2e. Compared to emissions 
in 2020, at 1,684,582 tCO2e, our GHG emissions 
decreased by 17.2 per cent from 2020 and by 
32.9 per cent from 2019. This decrease is mainly 
due to emissions from the use phase in Scope 3 
category ‘Use of sold products’, for which we 
achieved a reduction in average emissions per 
km driven in 2021 per car brand. The change in 
these emission factors amounted to a reduction 
of 341,560 tCO2e from 2020 to 2021.

The direct and indirect emissions in Scopes 1 and 2 
totalled 0.7 per cent in 2021, and emissions related 
to the supply chain in Scope 3 accounted for 99.3 
per cent. Møller Mobility Group’s climate-related 
disclosures comprise Group operations in Norway, 
Sweden and the Baltics.

Greenhouse gas emissions had the following 
distribution in 2021:

Scope 1 5,122 tCO2e (0.4%)
Scope 2 5,205 tCO2e (0.4%)
Scope 3 1,384,544 tCO2e (99.3%)

SCOPE 1
The total emissions from stationary combustion 
were reduced by 57.4 per cent, from 94 tCO2e 
in 2020 to 40 tCO2e in 2021. A slight reduction 
occurred in consumption of fossil fuel oil in the 
Baltics as well as a change in consumption in Swe-
den from fossil heating oil to bio-oil. In Norway, 
there was no consumption of bio-oil or fuel oil in 
2021, which is a result of the ban on the use of fossil 
fuel oil from 1 January 2020. 1)

Scope 1 also includes consumption of natural gas 
(CNG) in Norway and the Baltics, and brings total 
greenhouse gas emissions to 816 tCO2e in 2021. 
This is an increase of 16.4 per cent compared to 
2020 when CNG emissions totalled 701 tCO2e.

The consumption of fossil fuels by company cars 
and test-drive vehicles is reported as actual con-

sumption figures in litres for the Baltics, and as 
estimates based on fleet composition in the 2021 
reporting year for Norway and Sweden. These 
estimates are based on the assumption that each 
company and test-drive car clocks an average 
of 20,000 km annually, and this is then multiplied 
by an emission factor representing emissions per 
kilometre driven. The total emissions from mobile 
combustion went from 4,734 tCO2e in 2020 to 
4,266 tCO2e in 2021. This corresponds to a total 
emissions reduction of 9.9 per cent in 2021. Swe-
den and the Baltics achieved emissions reductions 
of 6.1 per cent and 31.2 per cent respectively for 
mobile combustion. Norway achieved a reduction 
of 14.5 per cent for mobile combustion. The share 
of fossil-fuel-powered company and test-drive 
cars in Norway was 45 per cent in 2020, which 
fell to 32 per cent in 2021. In 2021, the proportion of 
fossil-fuel-powered company and test-drive cars 
in Sweden was 79 per cent and in the Baltics was 
88 per cent.

SCOPE 2
Energy management and active energy monitor-
ing are focal in Møller Mobility Group2). Electrical 
energy consumption increased by a total of 16.5 

Climaterelated disclosures 2021

The purpose of this report is to present the overview of the organisation’s greenhouse gas (GHG)  emissions, 
as an integral part of an overall climate strategy. Climate-related disclosures are an important tool in 
 identifying specific measures to reduce energy consumption and associated GHG emissions. This annual 
report enables the organisation to measure key performance indicators and thereby self-evaluate over time.

1) https://lovdata.no/dokument/SF/forskrift/2018-06-28-1060 (Regulation banning use of mineral oil for heating of buildings from 2020)
2) Find out more about energy management on page 71, 2019-report.

sustainability management
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per cent, from 61,023 MWh in 2020 to 71,070 MWh 
in 2021. This increase resulted in an overall increase 
in emissions from electricity for Møller Mobility 
Group of 16.2 per cent, from 3,802 tCO2e in 2020 
to 4,418 tCO2e in 2021.3)

The emission factors used to calculate CO2e emis-
sions related to electricity are updated annually 
based on changes in regional energy composi-
tions. From 2020 to 2021, there was a reduction in 
the emission factor for the Nordic electricity mix, 
and for Lithuania and Estonia, and an increase in 
the emission factor for the electricity mix in Latvia 4)

For 2021, we have also included district heating in 
the climate-related disclosures for all the countries. 
Greenhouse gas emissions from district heating 
totalled 579 tCO2e in 2021.

GHG emissions from electric cars make up a very 
small share of the total climate-related disclosures 
for Møller Mobility Group. However, we are seeing 
an increase in GHG emissions from electric cars 
of 38.1 per cent compared to 2020. This is mainly 
due to the fact that for 2021 we have also included 
electric company and test-drive cars for Sweden 
and the Baltics, but also due to the increase in 
electric vehicle charging.

In 2020, GHG emissions from electric vehicles 
came to 150 tCO2e, and in 2021 emissions from 

this category came to 208 tCO2e. In line with the 
Norwegian zero-emissions vision, Møller Mobility 
Group is actively working to electrify the Norwe-
gian car fleet, including the electrification of the 
company cars it owns and uses.5) This activity 
resulted in an electric and hybrid share of 55 per 
cent in the Group’s own car fleet in 2021. 

The graph on the right refers to the emissions 
in Scope 2, for Møller Mobility Group. The total 
consumption of electricity has increased, which 
therefore shows an increasing value for emissions 
related to electricity from 2019 to 2021. Emissions 
from electric vehicles have increased by 38.1 per 
cent since 2020 as a result of increased consump-
tion for customers and employees, but also in that 
emissions for Sweden and the Baltics are included 
in 2021. 

Consumption of district heating has not previously 
been reported in the climate-related disclosures of 
Møller Mobility Group, which is why this emissions 
value has increased relative to previous years. 

SCOPE 3
The largest share of emissions in the climate-re-
lated disclosures can be found in the supply 
chain, which accounts for 99.3 per cent of GHG 
emissions in 2021. In total, in Scope 3, there was 
a decrease of 17.5 per cent, corresponding to 
293,111 tCO2e, from 2020 to 2021. The majority of 

the Scope 3 emissions are associated with the pro-
duction phase and use phase of the cars sold in 
each country. Less than 1 per cent of emissions in 
Scope 3 relate to daily operations such as waste 
and business travel.

Purchased Goods and Services: Purchased goods 
and services includes emissions from the produc-
tion phase and lifecycle emissions6) related to new 
car sales in the Group. Emissions from this cate-
gory have been calculated using average lifecycle 

analyses for cars per powertrain and multiplying 
this by new car sales per country. This results in 
total emissions of 628,768 tCO2e in 2021 which is an 
increase of 5.2 per cent from 2020 when emissions 
amounted to 597,575 tCO2e. The emissions from 
this category account for 45.2 per cent of total 
emissions from the Møller Mobility Group in 2021.

Møller Mobility Group aims to be a strong contrib-
utor to Norway’s zero-emissions vision for 20257) 
and to increase sales of electric vehicles. From a 
lifecycle perspective, more electric cars in the fleet 
will mean higher emissions from the production 
phase, with a relatively greater reduction in the 
use phase over the long term.

Upstream transportation and distribution: Emis-
sions from upstream transportation and distribution 
totalled 6,058 tCO2e, which is a heavy increase of 
101.6 per cent from 2020 when emissions totalled 
3,005 tCO2e. This increase is mainly attributable to 
improved quality of data, which is more detailed 
compared to 2020 when estimates were used to 
determine upstream transportation and distribu-
tion emissions. For 2021, the data were received 
from Kinver Green which calculates detailed 
emissions broken down by road, air and sea 
transportation.

Waste: Emissions from waste amounted to 2,619 
tCO2e in 2021, which is an increase of 63.3 per 

3)  Calculated using the location-based method. Emissions calculated using a market-based perspective are presented in the tables at the bottom of pages 130 and 131. The practice of presenting emissions using two different methods is further explained in the GHG Protocol. 
4) Nordic mix 24.4 per cent reduction, electricity Estonia 20.6 per cent reduction, electricity Lithuania 5.8 per cent reduction, electricity Latvia 9 per cent increase.
5) Find out more about electrification of the fleet and the zero-emissions vision for 2025 on pages 67–68, 2019-report.
6)  The lifecycle stages included in the climate-related disclosures are A1-A4 (production and transportation), as well as B1 (use phase). The use phase for new car sales is estimated at 200,000 km. Find out more about waste management and the circular economy on pages 69–70, 2019-report.
7) Find out more about electrification of the fleet and the zero-emissions vision for 2025 on pages 67–68, 2019-report.

Electricity, 
total

Electric cars, 
total

District 
heating*

Emissions in tCO2e

Scope 2 emissions, Møller Mobility Group
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* District heating figures were not available in 2019 and 2020.
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cent compared to 2020 when these emissions 
amounted to 1,604 tCO2e. This increase is mainly 
due to the fact that data quality has improved 
and is more detailed compared with previous 
years. In the  Baltics especially, the waste figures 
are reported at an improved level of detail and 
are broken down into several waste categories 
for 2021.

Business travel: Emissions from business travel 
amounted to 61 tCO2e in 2021 and include data 
on flights and hotel accommodation. This is a 
reduction of 61 per cent compared to 2020 when 
emissions from business travel came to 156 tCO2e. 
The emissions data for Norway and Sweden are 
from travel agencies, and for the Baltics have been 
estimated for 2021. Travel agencies in Norway and 
Sweden only collect data from journeys booked 
through their service, and therefore do not include 
journeys booked separately. Emissions from this 
category are thus not complete, and actual emis-
sions may be slightly higher for 2021.

Downstream leased assets: This category includes 
emissions from cars through HYRE and VW Møller 
Bilfinans. Emissions from leased cars were calcu-
lated using the average mileage from SBB of 11,288 
km in 20218) multiplied by the number of cars in the 

leasing portfolio. This results in total emissions of 
28,611 tCO2e in 2021, which is an increase of 86.7 
per cent from 2020 when emissions amounted to 
15,327 tCO2e. This increase is attributable to the 
increase in the leasing portfolio of VW Møller Bil-
finans. Møller Mobility Group aims to be a strong 
contributor to Norway’s zero-emissions vision for 
2025 and is thus committed to including more 
electric vehicles in its leasing portfolio. The share 
of electric cars and hybrid cars in 2021 was 67 per 
cent in HYRE’s leasing portfolio and 42 per cent in 
VW Møller Bilfinans’s leasing portfolio.

Use of sold products: This category includes the 
use phase of all cars sold and accounts for the 
largest share of the climate-related disclosures 
with 51 per cent of total emissions in 2021. Emis-
sions from the use phase have been calculated 
using emission factors showing average CO2 per 
km driven for 2021 per car brand reported by the 
Information Council for Road Traffic (OFV) in Nor-
way, Vroom in Sweden and from Møller Mobility 
Group for the Baltics(9). The calculations include 
both new car sales and used car sales10). The life-
time of the cars is estimated as 200,000 km for 
new car sales and the remaining lifetime of used 
cars is estimated from the kilometres registered at 
the time of sale (average) and up to 200,000 km.

The use of sold products shows emissions of 
715,873 tCO2e in 2021. This is a reduction of 32.3 per 
cent from 2020 when the emissions were 1,057,433 
tCO2e, and the reduction is mainly due to a reduc-
tion in the emission factors for average emissions 
per km driven in 2021 per car brand.

Fuel and energyrelated activities: This category 
includes well-to-tank and upstream emissions 
from fossil fuels and electricity reported in Scopes 
1 and 2. This category is new in our 2021 climate-re-
lated disclosures and shows an emissions value of 
2,554 tCO2e.

8) Statistics from Statistics Norway on average mileages 2021 https://www.ssb.no/transport-og-reiseliv/landtransport/statistikk/kjorelengder
9)  Average CO2 emissions figures for mileages in 2020 per car brand in Norway received from the Information Council for Road Traffic (OFV) were not complete when the 2020 climate-related disclosures were finalised, so these emission factors have been updated and corrected in the 

climate-related disclosures for 2021.
10)  To avoid double counting, only outside brands are included for used car sales, with an estimated use phase based on average mileage at the time of sale in the reporting year.
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Methodology
The GHG Protocol has been developed by the 
World Resources Institute (WRI) and the World 
Business Council for Sustainable Development 
(WBCSD). The analysis for this report was per-
formed in accordance with “A Corporate Account-
ing and Reporting Standard Revised edition”, one 
of four accounting standards under the GHG 
Protocol. The standard includes the following 
greenhouse gases, which are converted into CO2 
equivalents: CO2, CH4 (methane), N2O (nitrous 
oxide), SF6, NF3, HFCs and PFC gases.

This analysis is based on the operational con-
trol aspect, which thus defines what should be 
included in the climate-related disclosures of an 
organisation’s fixed assets, as well as distribution 
between the different scopes. In the methodol-
ogy, a distinction is made between operational 
control and financial control. If the operational 
control criterion is used, then emission sources 
that the reporting organisation physically controls, 
but does not necessarily own, are included. Con-
sequently, emissions sources the reporting organ-
isation owns but does not control are likewise not 
reported (e.g. the tenant, not the landlord, reports 
electricity consumption in Scope 2).

The climate-related disclosures are divided into 
three levels (scopes) consisting of both direct 
and indirect emission sources. Scope 1 Mandatory 
reporting includes all emission sources related to 
fixed assets over which the reporting organisation 
has operational control. This includes all use of fos-
sil fuels for stationary use or transportation needs 
(owned, rented or leased vehicles, oil-fired boilers, 
etc.). Furthermore, any direct process emissions (of 
the six greenhouse gases) are included.

Scope 2 Mandatory reporting of indirect emis-

sions related to purchased energy: electricity or 
district heating/cooling. This applies, for example, 
to buildings that the reporting organisation leases 
and does not necessarily own. The emission fac-
tors used by CEMAsys for electricity are based on 
national gross production mixes from the Inter-
national Energy Agency’s statistics (IEA Stat). The 
Nordic mix factor covers production in Sweden, 
Finland, Norway and Denmark and reflects the 
common Nordic power market area (Nord Pool 
Spot). For district heating emission factors, either 
actual production mix is used based on informa-
tion obtained from the individual producer, or 
average mixes based on IEA statistics (see source 
reference).

In January 2015, the GHG Protocol’s (2015) new 
guidelines for calculating emissions from elec-
tricity consumption were published. This allowed 
two-part reporting of electricity consumption.

In practice, this means that enterprises that report 
their GHG emissions must present both real GHG 
emissions derived from the production of elec-
tricity and the market-based emissions associated 
with the purchase of guarantees of origin. The pur-
pose of this change, on the one hand, is to show 
the effect of energy efficiency and savings meas-
ures (physical), and on the other hand to show the 
effect of entering into the purchase of renewable 
electricity through guarantees of origin (market). 
This shed light on the effect of all measures that an 
enterprise can implement in relation to the con-
sumption of electricity.

Physical perspective (locationbased method): 
This emission factor is based on actual emissions 
related to electricity production within a specific 
area. Within this area, various energy producers 
use a mix of energy carriers, where the fossil 
energy carriers (coal, gas, oil) cause direct GHG 

emissions. These greenhouse gases are reflected 
in the emission factor and are thus distributed to 
each individual consumer.

Marketbased perspective: The calculation of the 
emission factor is based on whether the business 
chooses to purchase guarantees of origin or not. 
When purchasing guarantees of origin, the sup-
plier documents that purchased electricity comes 
only from renewable sources, which provides an 
emission factor of 0 grams of 2e per kWh.

Electricity that is not linked to guarantees of origin 
will have an emission factor based on the pro-
duction remaining after the guarantees of origin 
for the renewable share have been sold. This is 
called the residual mix, and is normally significantly 
higher than the location-based factor.

Scope 3 Voluntary reporting of indirect emissions 
related to purchased goods or services. These 
are emissions that can indirectly be linked to the 
organisation’s activities, but which take place out-
side their control (hence indirect). Typical scope 3 
reporting will include flights, logistics/transport of 
goods, waste, consumption of various raw mate-
rials etc.

In general, climate-related disclosures should 
include enough relevant information so that they 
can be used as a decision support tool for the man-
agement of the organisation. In order to achieve 
this, it is important to include those elements that 
have economic relevance and weight, and which 
are capable of being altered.
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Emission source Country Consumption Unit
Energy 
(MWh)

Emissions 
tCO2e Emission share

Total transport 23,680 5,082 0.4%

Diesel Norway 578,280 litre 6,020 1,206 0.1%

Petrol Norway 470.260 litre 4,557 1,100 0.1%

Petrol Norway 3,780 kg 49 12 -

Petrol Baltics 147,634 litre 1,431 345 -

CNG Norway 590,172 kWh 590 108 -

CNG Sweden - kg - - -

CNG Baltics 3,672,601 kWh 3,673 673 -

CNG Baltics 13,788 kg 191 35 -

Diesel Sweden 267,600 litre 2,786 555 -

Petrol Sweden 343,280 litre 3,254 761 0.1%

Diesel Baltics 105,751 litre 1,129 286 -

Total stationary combustion 459 40 

Biofuel (100%) Norway - kWh - - -

Light fuel oil Sweden - kWh - - -

Light fuel oil Baltics 139,482 litre 140 34 -

Biodiesel (100%), ME, stationary Sweden 319,570 litre 320 6 -

Scope 1 total 24,139 5,122 0.4%

Emission source Country Consumption Unit
Energy 
(MWh)

Emissions 
tCO2e Emission share

Total electricity 71,070 4,418 0.3%

Electricity Nordic mix Norway 45,468,632 kWh 45,469 1,410 0.1%

Electricity Nordic mix Sweden 16,461,178 kWh 16,461 510 -

Electricity Estonia Estonia 2,205,565 kWh 2,206 1,487 0.1%

Electricity Estonia Estonia 225,186 kWh 225 152 -

Electricity Lithuania Lithuania 2,103,314 kWh 2,103 137 -

Electricity Latvia Latvia 4,605,997 kWh 4,606 723 0.1%

Scope 1

Scope 2
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Emission source Country Consumption Unit
Energy 
(MWh)

Emissions 
tCO2e Emission share

Total electric vehicles 5,987 208 

Electric cars Nordics Norway 174,000 kWh 174 5 -

Electric cars Nordics Norway 26,720,000 km 5,077 160 -

Electric cars Nordics Sweden 139,200 kWh 139 4 -

Electric cars Nordics Sweden 2,680,000 km 509 16 -

EV EU27 Estonia 100,000 km 19 5 -

EV EU27 Lithuania 100,000 km 19 5 -

EV EU27 Latvia 120,000 km 23 6 -

EV EU27 Baltics 140,000 km 27 7 -

Total district heating site total 14,554 452 

District heating Norwegian mix Norway 6,692,814 kWh 6,693 98 -

District heating SE/Goteborg Sweden 7,860,853 kWh 7,861 354 -

Total general district heating 854 127 

District heating Estonia mixed Estonia 347,869 kWh 348 41 -

District heating CHP plant Latvia 505,655 kWh 506 86 -

Scope 2 total 92,464 5,205 0.4%

Emission source Country Consumption Unit
Energy 
(MWh)

Emissions 
tCO2e Emission share

Total goods and services purchased  628,768 45.1%

Car, compact (diesel) Norway 10,298 quantity - 58,493 4.2%

Car, compact (diesel) Sweden 1,982 quantity - 11,258 0.8%

Car, compact (diesel) Baltics 2,296 quantity - 13,041 0.9%

Car, compact (petrol) Norway 1,877 quantity - 10,183 0.7%

Car, compact (petrol) Sweden 2,762 quantity - 14,984 1.1%

Car, compact (petrol) Baltics 5,237 quantity - 28,411 2.0%

Car, compact (electric) Norway 29,483 quantity - 424,555 30.4%

Car, compact (electric) Sweden 1,748 quantity - 25,171 1.8%

Car, compact (electric) Baltics 717 quantity - 10,325 0.7%

Car, compact (PHEV) Norway 2,412 quantity - 19,007 1.4%

Car, compact (PHEV) Sweden 724 quantity - 5,705 0.4%

Car, compact (PHEV) Baltics 969 quantity - 7,636 0.5%

Scope 3

Scope 2, cont.
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Emission source Country Consumption Unit
Energy 
(MWh)

Emissions 
tCO2e Emission share

Total waste  2,619 0.2%

Hazardous waste, incinerated Baltics 13,081 kg - 32 -

Hazardous waste, incinerated Norway 688,520 kg - 1,664 0.1%

Wastewater treatment Baltics - m3 - - -

Wastewater treatment Sweden 286,227 kg - 0 -

Hazardous waste, recycled Sweden 8,080,992 kg - 172 -

Hazardous waste, recycled Baltics 222,360 kg - 5 -

Hazardous waste, recycled Norway 139,500 kg - 3 -

Residual waste, incinerated Sweden 55,208 kg - 28 -

Residual waste, incinerated Norway 1,069,320 kg - 537 -

Residual waste, incinerated Baltics 19,010 kg - 10 -

Sorted waste, recycled Sweden 431,765 kg - 9 -

Sorted waste, recycled Norway 1,573,860 kg - 34 -

Residual waste, landfill Baltics 272,769 kg - 122 -

Residual waste, recycled Baltics 259,600 kg - 6 -

Total business travel  61 

Flights, Continental/Nordics Norway 257,860

person kilo-

metres - 40 -

Flights, Continental/Nordics Baltics 25 flights - 4 -

Flights, Continental/Nordics Sweden 26 flights - 4 -

Hotel nights, Nordics/Europe Norway 234 bed nights - 4 -

Hotel nights, Nordics/Europe Sweden 357 bed nights - 6 

Hotel nights, Nordics/Europe Baltics 138 bed nights - 3 -

Hotel nights, Nordics/Europe Norway 13 bed nights - 0 -

Hotel nights, Nordics/Europe Sweden 3 bed nights - 0 -

Total use of sold products  715,873 51.3%

Volkswagen Norway 3,385,200,000 km - 104,941 7.5%

Volkswagen, van Norway 1,360,200,000 km - 103,375 7.4%

Audi Norway 2,071,000,000 km - 14,290 1.0%

Scope 3 cont.
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Emission source Country Consumption Unit
Energy 
(MWh)

Emissions 
tCO2e Emission share

ŠKODA Norway 1,971,200,000 km - 68,204 4.9%

SEAT Norway 26,400,000 km - 164 -

Volkswagen Sweden 555,000,000 km - 52,725 3.8%

Volkswagen, van Sweden 160,600,000 km - 15,418 1.1%

Audi Sweden 329,800,000 km - 33,969 2.4%

ŠKODA Sweden 238,000,000 km - 20,230 1.5%

SEAT Sweden 100,800,000 km - 9,979 0.7%

Volkswagen Baltics 1,371,600,000 km - 189,281 13.6%

Volkswagen, van Baltics 317,400,000 km - 58,084 4.2%

Audi Baltics 154,800,000 km - 25,542 1.8%

Car avg.

Norway (used cars, external 

brands) 187,345,073 km - 19,671 1.4%

Total upstream transport and distribution  6,058 0.3%

Tractor-trailer 33t+ Norway 4,701 tCO2e - 4,701 0.3%

Tractor-trailer 33t+ Baltics 1,033,929 kgCO2e - 1,034 0.1%

Sea cargo, avg. Baltics 317,175 kgCO2e - 317 -

Domestic air freight Norway 7 tCO2e - 7 -

Total downstream leased assets  28,611 2.1%

Car avg. Norway (Hyre) 7,693,901 km - 808 0.1%

Car avg. Norway (leasing) 254,641,477 km - 26,737 1.9%

Electric cars Nordics Norway (Hyre) 3,560,235 km - 25 -

Electric cars Nordics Norway (leasing) 148,712,627 km - 1,041 0.1%

Total fuel and energy-related activities - 2,554 0.2%

Diesel (WTT) Baltics 105,751 litre - 67 -

Diesel (WTT) Norway 578,280 litre - 364 -

Diesel (WTT) Sweden 267,600 litre - 168 -

Electricity Estonia (upstream) Estonia 372,045 kWh - 110 -

Electricity Estonia (upstream) Baltics 253,186 kWh - 75 -

Electricity Nordic mix (WTT) Norway 40,065,996 kWh - 509 -

Electricity Nordic mix (WTT) Sweden 8,301,860 kWh - 105 -

Petrol (WTT) Baltics 147,634 litre - 89 -

Petrol (WTT) Norway 475,368 litre - 287 -

Scope 3 cont.
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Emission source Country Consumption Unit
Energy 
(MWh)

Emissions 
tCO2e Emission share

Petrol (WTT) Sweden 343,280 litre - 207 -

CNG (WTT) Baltics 3,672,601 kWh - 144 -

CNG (WTT) Baltics 13,788 kg - 8 -

CNG (WTT) Norway 590,172 kWh - 23 -

Electricity Lithuania (upstream) Lithuania 1,534,697 kWh - 144 -

Burning oil (WTT) Baltics 139,482 kWh - 7 -

District heating NO/SE (upstream) Norway 3,661,841 kWh - 18 -

District heating NO/SE (upstream) Sweden 7,860,853 kWh - 39 -

Electricity Latvia (upstream) Latvia 1,479,767 kWh - 56 -

Biodiesel, ME (WTT) Sweden 319,570 litre - 134 -

Scope 3 total  1,384,544 99.3%

Total 116,603 1,394,871 100.0%

KJ 419,769,628,999

Marketbased emissions  
in the reporting year

Category Unit 2021

Electricity market-based tCO2e 19,347

Scope 2 market-based tCO2e 20,134

Total marketbased tCO2e 1,409,800

Scope 3 cont.
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Annual 
greenhouse gas  
emissions 

Scope 1 

Category Country 2019 2020 2021
% change from  

previous year

Total transport 8,255 5,435 5,082 6.5%

Diesel Norway 2,532 1,511 1,206 -20.2%

Petrol Norway 2,060 1,052 1,112 5.7%

Petrol Baltics 441 397 345 -13.1%

Diesel Baltics 648 350 286 -18.1%

CNG Baltics 665 614 708 15.4%

CNG Sweden 7 2 - -100.0%

CNG Norway 90 86 108 26.5%

Diesel Sweden 1,104 821 555 -32.4%

Petrol Sweden 709 602 761 26.4%

Total stationary combustion 221 94 40 57.4%

Light fuel oil Baltics 42 35 34 -2.2%

Light fuel oil Sweden 66 57 - -100.0%

Light fuel oil Norway 113 - - -

Biofuel (100%) Norway - 2 - -100.0%

Biodiesel (100%), ME, stationary Sweden - - 6 100.0%

Scope 1 total 8,476 5,529 5,122 7.4%
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Category Country 2019 2020 2021
% change from  

previous year

Total electricity 3,973 3,802 4,418 16.2%

Electricity Nordic mix Norway 1,711 1,649 1,410 -14.5%

Electricity Nordic mix Sweden 597 561 510 -9.1%

Electricity Lithuania Lithuania 296 155 137 -11.8%

Electricity Latvia Latvia 417 552 723 31.1%

Electricity Estonia Estonia 952 885 1,487 67.9%

Electricity Estonia Estonia - - 152 100.0%

Total electric vehicles 62 150 208 38.2%

Electric cars Nordics Norway 62 150 166 10.2%

Electric cars Nordics Sweden   20 100.0%

EV EU27 Estonia   5 100.0%

EV EU27 Lithuania   5 100.0%

EV EU27 Latvia   6 100.0%

EV EU27 Baltics   7 100.0%

Total district heating site total   452 

District heating Norwegian mix Norway   98 100.0%

District heating SE/Goteborg Sweden   354 100.0%

Total general district heating   127 

District heating Estonia mixed Estonia - - 41 100.0%

District heating CHP plant Latvia - - 86 100.0%

Scope 2 total 4,035 3,952 5,205 31.7%

Scope 2
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Category Country 2019 2020 2021
% change from  

previous year

Total waste 1,678 1,604 2,619 63.3%

Hazardous waste, incinerated Baltics 1,284 1,087 32 -97.1%

Hazardous waste, incinerated Norway - - 1,664 100.0%

Wastewater treatment Baltics 12 12 - -100.0%

Wastewater treatment Sweden - 0 0 -71.8%

Hazardous waste, recycled Norway 328 334 537 60.8%

Hazardous waste, recycled Sweden - 100 28 -72.4%

Hazardous waste, recycled Baltics - - 10 100.0%

Residual waste, incinerated Norway 55 56 34 -40.6%

Residual waste, incinerated Sweden - 7 9 30.7%

Residual waste, incinerated Sweden - 7 172 2.395.6%

Sorted waste, recycled Baltics - - 5 100.0%

Sorted waste, recycled Norway - - 3 100.0%

Residual waste, landfill Baltics - - 122 100.0%

Residual waste, recycled Baltics - - 6 100.0%

Total business travel 688 156 61 61.0%

Flights, Continental/Nordics Norway 541 131 40 -69.8%

Flights, Continental/Nordics Baltics 90 12 4 -64.2%

Flights, Continental/Nordics Sweden - - 4 100.0%

Hotel nights, Nordics Norway 18 5 4 -29.7%

Hotel nights, Nordics Sweden - - 6 100.0%

Hotel Nights, Europe Baltics 40 8 3 -64.3%

Hotel Nights, Europe Norway - - 0 100.0%

Hotel Nights, Europe Sweden - - 0 100.0%

Total goods and services purchased 512,936 597,575 628,768 5.2%

Car, compact (diesel) Norway 120,138 82,985 58,493 -29.5%

Car, compact (diesel) Sweden 24,572 14,995 11,258 -24.9%

Car, compact (diesel) Baltics 37,556 16,251 13,041 -19.7%

Car, compact (petrol) Norway 36,906 16,226 10,183 -37.2%

Car, compact (petrol) Sweden 20,333 12,884 14,984 16.3%

Scope 3
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Scope 3 cont.
Category Country 2019 2020 2021

% change from  
previous year

Car, compact (petrol) Baltics 28,275 20,919 28,411 35.8%

Car, compact (electric) Norway 220,982 375,466 424,555 13.1%

Car, compact (electric) Sweden 5,083 10,224 25,171 146.2%

Car, compact (electric) Baltics 691 4,766 10,325 116.6%

Car, compact (hybrid) Norway 8,164 19,062 19,007 -0.3%

Car, compact (hybrid) Sweden 10,228 22,505 5,705 -74.6%

Car, compact (hybrid) Baltics 8 1,292 7,636 490,9%

Total use of sold products 1,523,359 1,057,433 715,873 32,3 %

Volkswagen Norway 215,893 146,444 104,941 -28.3%

Volkswagen, van Norway 330,814 261,394 103,375 -60.5%

Audi Norway 48,794 27,110 14,290 -47.3%

ŠKODA Norway 188,622 146,653 68,204 -53.5%

SEAT Norway 10,150 1,209 164 -86.5%

Volkswagen Sweden 113,057 70,338 52,725 -25.0%

Volkswagen, van Sweden 75,348 50,629 15,418 -69.5%

Audi Sweden 64,992 59,650 33,969 -43.1%

ŠKODA Sweden 51,230 34,176 20,230 -40.8%

SEAT Sweden 19,260 14,837 9,979 -32.7%

Volkswagen Baltics 280,312 155,348 189,281 21.8%

Volkswagen, van Baltics 60,128 42,402 58,084 37.0%

Audi Baltics 31,962 24,288 25,542 5.2%

Car avg.
Norway (used cars, external 
brands) 32,797 22,955 19,671 -14.3%

Total upstream transport and distribution 6,943 3,005 6,058 101.6%

Tractor-trailer 33t+ Norway 1,621 1,479 4,701 217.8%

Tractor-trailer 33t+ Baltics 4,860 1,266 1,034 -18.3%

Sea cargo, avg. Baltics 462 260 317 22.0%

Domestic air freight Norway - - 7 100.0%
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Category Country 2019 2020 2021
% change from  

previous year

Total downstream leased assets 20,434 15,327 28,611 86.7%

Car, average NO fuel mix Norway (Hyre) 672 975 808 -17.1%

Car, average NO fuel mix Norway (leasing) 19,755 14,342 26,737 86.4%

EV, Nordics Norway (Hyre) 6 11 25 138.0%

EV, Nordics Norway (leasing) - - 1,041 100.0%

Total fuel and energy-related activities - - 2,554 -

Diesel (WTT) Baltics - - 67 100.0%

Diesel (WTT) Norway - - 364 100.0%

Diesel (WTT) Sweden - - 168 100.0%

Electricity Estonia (upstream) Estonia - - 110 100.0%

Electricity Estonia (upstream) Baltics - - 75 100.0%

Electricity Nordic mix (WTT) Norway - - 509 100.0%

Electricity Nordic mix (WTT) Sweden - - 105 100.0%

Petrol (WTT) Baltics - - 89 100.0%

Petrol (WTT) Norway - - 287 100.0%

Petrol (WTT) Sweden - - 207 100.0%

CNG (WTT) Baltics - - 151 100.0%

CNG (WTT) Norway - - 23 100.0%

Electricity Lithuania (upstream) Lithuania - - 144 100.0%

Burning oil (WTT) Baltics - - 7 100.0%

District heating NO/SE (upstream) Norway - - 18 100.0%

District heating NO/SE (upstream) Sweden - - 39 100.0%

Electricity Latvia (upstream) Latvia - - 56 100.0%

Biodiesel, ME (WTT) Sweden - - 134 100.0%

Scope 3 total 2,066,039 1,675,101 1,384,544 17.3%

Total 2,078,550 1,684,582 1,394,871 17.2%

Percentage change 100.0% 19.0% 17.2%

Scope 3 cont.   
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Annual marketbased 
emissions

Category Unit 2019 2020 2021

Electricity market-based tCO2e 15,194 16,964 19,347

Scope 2 market-based tCO2e 15,256 17,114 20,134

Total market-based tCO2e 2,089,771 1,697,744 1,409,800

Percentage change 100.0 18.8 17.0 
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Other information

2021
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Transparency legislation and due diligence

Møller Mobility Group is committed to ensuring accountability in all parts of our business and value chain.  
The Transparency Act entering into force on 1 July 2022 necessitates these efforts by requiring all major 
 businesses in Norway to protect universal human rights and ensure decent working conditions by 
 conducting due diligence and publicly reporting the outcomes and actions. 

Equivalent legislation is also being implemented 
in other countries in Europe. Both the UN and the 
OECD have published their own policies that mul-
tinational companies are recommended to follow. 
The EU is concurrently in the process of enacting a 
corporate due diligence directive, based on guide-
lines from the OECD and the UN.

The OECD due diligence model has been trans-
posed into Norwegian legislation; in the new 
Transparency Act. This aids performance of due dil-
igence processes for value chains linked to all busi-
ness areas and markets in Møller Mobility Group.

Due diligence is also performed for all suppliers 
under Group purchasing contracts, and we expect 
the same of our major partners and suppliers. The 
purpose of this is to ensure consistent fulfilment 
and Group-wide listing of approved suppliers and 
identification of especially high-risk products or 
suppliers. In other words, our due diligence pro-
cedures will enable us to identify, prioritise and deal 
with negative impacts on the people, societies and 
environments we directly or indirectly engage with 
through our value chains.

Our main activities in 2022 will include:

•  Analysing our own activities and business connec-
tions at a corporate level

•  Risk classification of third parties
•  Conducting risk-based background investigations 

and checks
•  Documenting all due diligence processes
•  Transparent reporting on due diligence processes 

and actions
•  Centralising and disclosing information for public 

access and publishing reports on our corporate 
websites

It is important to emphasise that even if a business 
is actively engaged in due diligence processes, this 
does not preclude its potential negative impact on 
people, society and environment. Rather, it indi-
cates that the business is open and honest about 
challenges that exist or may arise and addresses 
these based on an overall assessment and prioriti-
sation, and in consultation with the company’s key 
stakeholders.

IDENTIFY AND ASSESS 
ADVERSE IMPACTS 
in operations, supply chain 
and business relationships

PROVIDE FOR 
OR COOPERATE 
in remediation 
where appropriate

CEASE, PREVENT 
OR MITIGATE 
adverse impacts

TRACK 
implementation 

and results

COMMUNICATE 
how impacts are addressed

EMBED RESPONSIBLE BUSINESS CONDUCT
into policies and management systems

1

2

6

34

5

In the efforts to establish due diligence, Møller Mobility Group employs a model based on the OECD Due Diligence 
Guidance for Responsible Business Conduct. Implementation of this model is also a requirement when the Transpa-
rency Act comes into force in July 2022 in Norway.
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UN Global Compact

Principle What Møller Mobility Group does

Human rights

Principle 1: Businesses should support and respect the 
 protection of internationally proclaimed human rights; and

Møller Mobility Group has enshrined human rights attitudes and principles in our Code of Conduct and in our core values. All business units, 
managers, employees, board members, suppliers and contracted resources must commit to abide by our Code of Conduct. The Code is also 
part of the company’s onboarding procedures and is covered in the Group’s manuals.

As a company, we comply with all applicable laws and respect internationally proclaimed human rights.

Principle 2: make sure that they are not complicit in human 
rights abuses.

Møller Mobility Group works to promote good working and environmental conditions in our supply chains. In order to clarify what we expect 
from our suppliers, the company has developed a Supplier Code of Conduct. The Supplier Code covers fundamental requirements regarding 
human rights, labour rights and the environment as minimum requirements.

Suppliers we have major contracts with (defined as worth more than NOK 1 million) pledge to sign our Supplier Code of Conduct, but the aim 
is for all suppliers to adhere to the Code. We are working continuously to achieve this.

We expect all our suppliers to comply with applicable national and international laws and regulations, and these take precedence over our 
policies if their requirements are more stringent.

Labour

Principle 3: Businesses should uphold the freedom of asso-
ciation and the effective recognition of the right to collective 
bargaining.

Møller Mobility Group facilitates union organisation and conducts collective bargaining for all employees and at all levels, where relevant. Our 
businesses in Sweden work closely with local trade unions. We adhere to the basic labour principles in accordance with ILO Convention no. 
131 (minimum wage fixing) and nos. 1 and 14 (on hours of work and rest).

With the Møller family’s company Møller Medvind, we want to help clean up an industry where corners are often cut and things do not meet 
the standards we ought to have in Norway when it comes to working conditions. Møller Medvind gives young people and some seniors, 
recruited through the Norwegian Labour and Welfare Administration (NAV), practical work experience and vocational training before being 
offered a permanent, full-time position.

Principle 4: the elimination of all forms of forced and compul-
sory labour.

Møller Mobility Group has developed a Supplier Code of Conduct to establish procedures for supply chain control. The basis for this includes 
ILO Conventions nos. 29 and 105, which relate specifically to forced and slave labour. We only use suppliers who commit to adhere to the 
Supplier Code.

The company’s employees are accorded pay and working conditions in line with national legislation and agreements with trade unions. 

Møller Mobility Group has been a member of the United Nations Global Compact since 
 February 2016, and we are committed to doing our best to run the business in line with the 
Ten Principles in the areas of human rights, labour, environment and anti-corruption.
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Principle What Møller Mobility Group does

Principle 5: ensure the effective abolition of child labour; and Møller Mobility Group does not use child labour. The company has developed a Supplier Code of Conduct to establish procedures for 
supply chain control. The basis for this includes the UN Convention on the Rights of the Child, ILO Conventions nos. 138, 182, 79 and ILO 
Recommendation no. 146, all of which protect against child labour.

Principle 6: the elimination of discrimination in respect of 
employment and occupation.

The Møller Mobility Group prioritises inclusion, diversity and gender equality. Møller Mobility Group’s Code of Conduct is our guide to 
ensuring a working environment without discrimination, bullying and harassment. The company encourages everyone to report  irregularities 
as and when they are discovered or occur.

The routines for reporting irregularities (whistleblowing) were widely communicated in a project carried out in autumn 2018, and the Group 
has a dedicated whistleblowing channel on its intranet. Dilemmas related to discrimination were also the topic of a Group-wide joint activity 
(“The Most Valuable Day of the Year”) in 2018.

Møller Mobility Group’s Supplier Code of Conduct is based on ILO Conventions nos. 100 and 111 on discrimination and the UN Convention 
on the Elimination of all Forms of Discrimination Against Women. The company wants to increase the proportion of women it employs, and 
strives to ensure that women are included in internal management training programmes.

Environment

Principle 7: Businesses should support a precautionary approach 
to environmental challenges;

Møller Mobility Group’s operations shall be characterised by continuous efforts to limit environmental and climate impact. The Group com-
plies with national and international environmental legislation and regulations, and obtains all relevant emissions and discharge permits.

Principle 8: undertake initiatives to promote greater environmen-
tal responsibility.

Møller Mobility Group works systematically to instil the sustainability perspective throughout its value chain. The company shall serve as a 
source of information on cars and environmental issues, enable customers to make sound environmental choices, and our solutions shall 
make it easy for our customers to assume greater environmental responsibility.

Environmental protection has good buy-in throughout the Group, and considerable resources have been invested in reducing energy 
consumption and thus our environmental footprint through energy management, energy-efficiency initiatives, waste management and 
recycling, which from 2020 are documented in specific climate-related disclosures. The company has also mapped climate risks as part of 
the TCFD framework.

Principle 9: encourage the development and diffusion of 
 environmentally friendly technologies.

Møller Mobility Group is committed to electrified mobility, where new technology, pro-climate requirements and improved battery solu-
tions present new opportunities for positive change. Møller Mobility Group has worked closely with Volkswagen Group since 1948. In its 
new strategy, Volkswagen Group has set itself a target of becoming a world-leading provider of sustainable technology. 

Anticorruption

Principle 10: Businesses should combat corruption in all its forms, 
including extortion and bribery.

One of Møller Mobility Group’s four core values is “Honest and Trustworthy”. This is our foundation for building trust, demonstrating our reli-
ability, keeping our promises and not accepting bribes. This is followed up in the company’s Code of Conduct and the employee manual, 
which both stress our zero tolerance of corruption and that violations will be prosecuted. 

All companies in the Møller Mobility Group supply chain sign the Supplier Code of Conduct, which specifically states that all forms of bribery 
are unacceptable.

In order to ensure that Møller Mobility Group, our companies and employees act in compliance with competition legislation, the Group 
has conducted an e-learning course in basic competition law for key managers in collaboration with the law firm Kvale Advokatfirma. The 
course has been held for managers in Norway, Sweden, Estonia, Latvia and Lithuania.

141 CLIMATE-RELATED DISCLOSURES 2021 OTHER INFORMATION 2021SUSTAINABILITY REPORT 2021FINANCIAL STATEMENTS 2021ANNUAL REPORT 2021



Activity report

PAY STATISTICS, NORWAY
Women’s pay as percentage of men’s for different job categories (%)

Women’s percentage of men’s pay

Women’s 
percentage Fixed wage

Bonus/ 
other pay Other benefits Total

Group management 33.3 96.7 96.3 86.6 96.2

Top-50 Managers 34.1 88.4 54.3 95.1 76.5
General managers 17.5 85.5 46.0 68.8 72.8
Middle manager 17.7 105.2 77.7 93.0 98.8
Salaried, senior 22.7 96.1 71.9 74.8 90.3
Salaried employee 10.3 105.8 75.8 112.5 98.2
Garage, warehouse, 
reception 19.6 115.1 81.7 126.0 108.9
Total 15.7 110.9 78.3 105.2 102.7

The earnings statistics only include permanent employees and apprentices.
Hyre AS and Møller Bil Sør-Rogaland AS are not included in the salary calculations, as the data were not available.

Temporary employment/contract personnel and parttime employees MMG
Number Proportion of women (%)

Estonia
Contract/Temp 8 25.0
Temporary 1 100.0
Part-time 9 22.2

Lithuania*
Part-time 3 33.3
Norway
Contract/Temp 78 28.2
Temporary 130 31.5
Part-time 182 27.5
Sweden
Temporary 69 18.8
Part-time 55 20.0

*Part-time employee is defined here as someone who works less than one person-year, regardless of job category
*No temporary or contract employees were reported for Lithuania; no temporary, contract or part-time employees were reported for Latvia; 
and no contract employees were reported for Sweden  

Gender balance per legal entity in Norway
Country/ Legal entity/ Place of employment Number of employees Number of personyears Share of women (%)
Estonia 179 178.6 17.3
Moller Auto Baltic SIA (EE) 8 8.0 100.0
Moller Auto Pärnu OÜ 33 32.8 21.2
Moller Auto Tallinn OÜ 114 114.0 10.5
Moller Auto Viru OÜ 20 19.8 10.0
Moller Baltic Import SE (EE) 4 4.0 50.0
Latvia 264 264.0 21.6
Moller Auto Baltic SIA (LT) 18 18.0 77.8
Moller Auto Krasta SIA 29 29.0 3.4
Moller Auto Latvia SIA 96 96.0 11.5
Moller Auto SIA 50 50.0 8.0
Moller Auto Ventspils SIA 13 13.0 7.7
Moller Baltic Import SE (LT) 58 58.0 44.8
Lithuania 166 164.5 14.5
Moller Auto Baltic SIA (LT) 11 11.0 81.8
Moller Auto Keturi Žiedai UAB 36 36.0 11.1
Moller Auto UAB 114 112.5 8.8
Moller Baltic Import SE (LT) 5 5.0 20.0
Norway 3,101 3,032.5 15.7
Harald A. Møller AS 393 388.9 18.8
Møller Bil AS 41 41.0 26.8
Møller Bil Bergen AS 283 280.7 10.2
Møller Bil Haugesund AS 96 93.6 18.8
Møller Bil Innlandet AS 139 136.2 10.1
Møller Bil Molde AS 34 31.8 14.7
(Møller Bil Oppland AS) 89 84.8 6.7
Møller Bil Romerike AS 250 243.3 14.0
(Møller Bil Storhamar AS) 11 11.0 0.0
Møller Bil Sør-Rogaland AS 251 245.5 19.5
Møller Bil Trøndelag AS 252 247.1 9.9
Møller Bil Vest AS 335 328.9 11.6
Møller Bil Vestfold AS 187 183.7 9.6
Møller Bil Øst AS 381 368.6 8.9
Møller Bil Ålesund AS 84 83.7 9.5
Møller Digital AS 65 62.0 29.2
Møller Mobility Group AS 46 46.0 47.8
Møller Synergi AS 42 40.4 85.7
(Skaansar Auto AS) 14 12.0 0.0
Volkswagen Møller Bilfinans AS 76 75.3 48.7
Sweden 648 639.8 15.3
Möller Bil Sverige AB 648 639.8 15.0
Porsche Örebro 21 21.0 23.8
Total, all companies 4,358 4,251.4 16.0
Table presents only permanent employees + apprentices. In Estonia, the “Board Member Agreement” is also included, as this is the employ-
ment agreement drawn up for executive officers.    
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Activity report, cont.

Women’s percentage of men’s pay  
for different job categories

Percentage   
women Payroll Bonuses

Other 
benefits Total

Møller Bil Oppland AS 6.7 93.9 54.8 12.6 82.0

General Manager 0.0 N/A N/A N/A N/A

Middle manager 25.0 111.1 76.2 6.2 91.7

Salaried, senior 14.3 80.1 91.7 17.6 80.8

Salaried employee 5.4 76.3 19.4 10.4 59.7

Workshop, Warehouse and 
Reception

0.0 N/A N/A N/A N/A

Harald A. Møller AS 18.8 96.1 86.9 102.9 94.5

Group management 0.0 N/A N/A N/A N/A

Top-50 Manager 18.2 102.2 164.4 121.0 127.2

General Manager 0.0 N/A N/A N/A N/A

Middle manager 24.5 91.9 62.0 92.3 87.0

Salaried, senior 15.0 83.3 32.0 55.4 73.9

Salaried employee 23.7 93.9 112.1 106.0 97.3

Workshop, Warehouse and 
Reception

17.0 99.7 68.6 63.6 91.5

Møller Bil Bergen AS 10.2 98.6 77.0 87.3 92.5

General Manager 28.6 90.2 80.9 48.0 84.1

Middle manager 6.3 93.5 96.7 119.0 96.0

Salaried, senior 12.2 94.0 108.9 11.8 94.6

Salaried employee 5.5 97.1 88.5 189.6 97.2

Workshop, Warehouse and 
Reception

34.5 126.3 104.9 34.9 122.3

Møller Bil Haugesund AS 18.8 83.0 73.0 11.0 78.2

General Manager 0.0 N/A N/A N/A N/A

Middle manager 0.0 N/A N/A N/A N/A

Salaried, senior 43.8 84.1 62.7 7.0 76.0

Salaried employee 7.3 87.7 107.1 16.3 90.7

Workshop, Warehouse and 
Reception

35.0 111.0 119.3 143.8 112.7

Women’s percentage of men’s pay  
for different job categories

Percentage   
women Payroll Bonuses

Other 
benefits Total

Møller Bil Innlandet AS 10.1 104.5 64.7 109.7 95.2

General Manager 14.3 58.6 46.4 116.9 59.2

Middle manager 15.8 110.6 55.2 125.2 99.0

Salaried, senior 17.5 91.5 67.4 15.0 84.6

Salaried employee 4.7 85.5 62.8 64.3 78.6

Workshop, Warehouse and 
Reception

5.6 146.1 44.5 88.1 136.5

Møller Bil Romerike AS 14.0 94.7 103.4 106.3 97.5

General Manager 33.3 91.4 73.7 98.2 85.9

Middle manager 5.0 95.1 0.0 80.4 74.7

Salaried, senior 20.0 85.1 110.8 81.7 91.0

Salaried employee 8.4 89.4 124.0 232.7 104.0

Workshop, Warehouse and 

Reception

29.0 135.7 288.2 47.2 148.8

Møller Bil Trøndelag AS 9.9 93.3 67.9 50.9 85.9

General Manager 0.0 N/A N/A N/A N/A

Middle manager 6.3 93.6 44.7 136.7 89.3

Salaried, senior 14.7 95.6 79.4 12.3 90.0

Salaried employee 6.1 93.4 99.8 69.6 94.1

Workshop, Warehouse and 
Reception

28.6 114.5 55.2 139.7 106.0

Møller Bil Vest AS 11.6 99.5 43.4 62.5 83.3

General Manager 0.0 N/A N/A N/A N/A

Middle manager 9.7 100.8 31.1 70.7 84.0

Salaried, senior 23.6 96.1 53.7 16.5 85.0

Salaried employee 7.0 99.6 59.0 131.0 89.1

Workshop, Warehouse and 
Reception

21.3 119.8 48.4 100.7 112.3

Møller Bil Vestfold 9.6 104.9 65.1 115.8 96.2

General Manager 0.0 N/A N/A N/A N/A

Middle manager 15.4 89.4 8.7 25.7 71.3

Salaried, senior 24.2 100.3 83.3 258.7 99.4

Salaried employee 4.7 106.0 64.6 112.8 96.0

Workshop, Warehouse and 
Reception

11.5 124.2 126.2 111.8 124.3

Salary mapping all legal units in Norway with more than 50 employees
Women’s percentage of men’s pay  

for different job categories

Percentage   
women Payroll Bonuses

Other 
benefits Total

Møller Bil Øst AS 8.9 101.1 50.1 96.1 86.4

General Manager 14.3 68.1 26.8 103.0 57.5

Middle manager 9.4 103.0 56.0 102.3 91.8

Salaried, senior 13.0 93.7 60.5 11.6 83.1

Salaried employee 5.1 97.3 64.3 127.8 88.1

Workshop, Warehouse and 
Reception

19.7 145.5 83.2 803.7 139.7

Møller Bil Ålesund 9.5 100.0 48.8 21.2 85.4

General Manager 0.0 N/A N/A N/A N/A

Middle manager 0.0 N/A N/A N/A N/A

Salaried, senior 18.2 89.1 36.8 21.4 73.0

Salaried employee 1.9 101.3 38.9 27.2 85.8

Workshop, Warehouse and 
Reception

23.1 182.1 191.9 164.9 183.3

Møller Bil Sør-Rogaland AS 19.5 * * * *

Group management 0.0 N/A N/A N/A N/A

Top-50 Manager 26.7 28.7 54.5 19.2 103.1

Middle manager 39.4 90.2 98.0 115.0 91.7

Salaried, senior 11.2 93.7 104.7 112.1 98.8

Salaried employee 32.6 134.6 136.3 72.0 139.6

Møller Digital 29.2 123.6 127.6 100.8 122.5

Group management 100.0 N/A N/A N/A N/A

Top-50 Manager 60.0 101.9 114.6 152.6 107.2

Middle manager 28.6 105.3 157.5 115.7 113.3

Salaried, senior 19.1 97.5 76.0 85.4 92.9

Salaried employee 25.9 99.3 61.2 62.4 89.2

Volkswagen Møller Bilfinans AS 48.7 81.8 67.0 80.4 78.9

Top-50 Manager 0.0 N/A N/A N/A N/A

General Manager 20.0 90.9 76.0 95.7 88.1

Middle manager 45.5 108.6 332.4 2,466.1 141.1

Salaried, senior 56.3 81.5 72.9 60.2 79.0

Salaried employee 50.0 95.5 181.5 56.0 103.5

Listing only shows permanent employees
*Data missing for Møller Bil Sør-Rogaland AS
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ESG index
The table below indicates where you can look up relevant ESG (Environmental, Social, Governance) information in this combined annual report and 
sustainability report. 

Environmental Read Social Read Governance Read

Battery technology 28, 30, 111 Apprentices (Møller Bil School) 101 Anti-corruption 109, 117

Circular economy 110–111, 118 Covid-19 95 Code of Conduct 108–109

Climate risk 84–85, 106 Diversity and integration 12, 98–99, 102–105, 140–141 Corporate governance 80–81

Climate targets 11, 87 Employee development 12, 17, 19, 22, 46, 95–105, 
100–101

Digitalisation and innovation 13, 24, 120

Climate-related disclosures 106, 122–137 Equal pay 142–143 Due diligence 109, 139

Energy and energy management 113–115, 116 Gender balance 46, 96, 98 Materiality analysis 89

Green properties 114–115 Health, Safety and Environment (HSE) 97 Reporting standards 11, 46, 84–85, 87–88, 109–
110, 126, 140–141

Mobility 119–121 Sickness absences 46, 97 Risk management and risk factors 80–81, 82–83, 84–85

Renewable energy 91–94 Supplier monitoring 109, 116, 140 Stakeholder dialogue 89

Waste 111–112 Work experience placements 40, 101, 102, 105, 140 Strategy 6–7, 20, 31, 43, 90

Workers’ rights 140 Sustainability buy-in 46

Sustainability reporting 32–36

Sustainability strategy 25, 39, 46

The EU taxonomy 29, 88, 114

UN Sustainable Development Goals 37

Whistleblowing Scheme 97
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Companies in Møller Mobility Group as at 31.12.2021

COMPANY COUNTRY ORG. NO.

MØLLER MOBILITY GROUP AS (parent company) NO 984 599 730 

Møller Synergi AS NO 974 784 556

Møller Digital AS NO 918 320 547

Hyre AS NO 918 719 601

Harald A. Møller AS NO 943 733 988

Moller Baltic Import SE LV 40103176283

Møller Bil AS (holding company) NO 986 130 861

Møller Bil Øst AS NO 917 805 717

Møller Bil Vest AS NO 928 481 638 

Møller Bil Romerike AS NO 964 995 923 

Møller Bil Sør-Rogaland AS NO 933 625 583

Møller Bil Bergen AS NO 834 083 922

Møller Bil Vestfold AS NO 946 967 874

Møller Bil Haugesund AS NO 944 904 069 

Møller Bil Trøndelag AS NO 834 874 482 

Møller Bil Innlandet AS NO 976 951 336 

Møller Bil Storhamar AS NO 979 450 796 

Møller Bil Oppland AS NO 919 781 491 

Skaansar Auto AS NO 976 548 248

Møller Bil Ålesund AS NO 921 494 866

Møller Bil Molde AS NO 915 555 292

COMPANY COUNTRY ORG. NO.

SIA Moller Auto Latvia LV 40003055104

SIA Moller Auto Krasta LV 40003570184

SIA Moller Auto Ventspils LV 41203010445

SIA Moller Auto LV 40103847187

SIA Moller Auto Baltic LV 40203251094

UAB Moller Auto LT 110430994

UAB Moller Auto Keturi Ziedai LT 224234070

UAB Moller Auto Alytus LT 149655665

Moller Auto Tallinn OÜ EE 10195513

Moller Auto Pärnu OÜ EE 10931969

Moller Auto Viru OÜ EE 11131478

Møller Bil Sverige AB SE 556298-7510

Sportbilar i Örebro AB SE 556384-6590

Associated companies

Volkswagen Møller BilFinans AS NO 992 873 183

Mitt Dekkhotell AS NO 997 808 266

Wash Group Holding AS NO 926 916 491
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